

EVT-701: targeting electron transport chain complex I as therapeutic approach in cancer

Raquel Luna Yolba

▶ To cite this version:

Raquel Luna Yolba. EVT-701: targeting electron transport chain complex I as the rapeutic approach in cancer. Cancer. Université Paul Sabatier - Toulouse III, 2021. English. NNT: 2021 TOU
30042 . tel-03342982

HAL Id: tel-03342982 https://theses.hal.science/tel-03342982

Submitted on 13 Sep 2021

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.





En vue de l'obtention du DOCTORAT DE L'UNIVERSITÉ DE TOULOUSE

Délivré par l'Université Toulouse 3 - Paul Sabatier

Présentée et soutenue par

Raquel LUNA YOLBA

Le 19 juillet 2021

EVT-701: inhibition du complexe I de la chaine respiratoire comme stratégie thérapeutique en cancer

Ecole doctorale : BSB - Biologie, Santé, Biotechnologies

Spécialité : CANCEROLOGIE

Unité de recherche : CRCT - Centre de Recherche en Cancérologie de Toulouse

Thèse dirigée par Jean-Emmanuel SARRY et Michael PAILLASSE

Jury

Mme Vanessa Desplat, Rapporteure M. Jean-Francois Peyron, Rapporteur Mme Véronique Baud, Rapporteure Mme Alice Carrier, Examinatrice M. Jean-Emmanuel Sarry, Directeur de thèse M. Michael Paillasse, Co-directeur de thèse A mi familia, mi sur y a mis cuatro puntos cardinales

Resumé en français

Cibler le métabolisme énergétique a récemment été identifié comme une approche thérapeutique prometteuse pour lutter contre le cancer. Les cellules cancéreuses ont des caractéristiques métaboliques particulières qui les rendent différentes des cellules « normales ». Le métabolisme oxydatif mitochondrial (OxPhos) a été proposé comme une vulnérabilité métabolique et un des mécanismes de résistance thérapeutique impliquée dans la rechute pour plusieurs types de tumeurs. Le fonctionnement de la chaine respiratoire mitochondriale a pour finalité la production de l'ATP mitochondrial, source d'énergie pour les cellules. Elle a également pour but de soutenir la prolifération cellulaire grâce au maintien des niveaux des intermédiaires métaboliques essentiels pour la biosynthèse nucléotidique. Différents types de cancer du sous-type OxPhos montrent une surexpression des gènes du métabolisme mitochondrial. Ces cancers OxPhos sont ainsi plus vulnérables au ciblage thérapeutique de la respiration mitochondriale. De plus, les cellules cancéreuses peuvent augmenter leur métabolisme oxydatif en réponse à la chimiothérapie, comme démontré pour les leucémies aigües myéloïdes (LAM). Ceci ouvre une opportunité unique pour lutter contre la chimiorésistance et les rechutes. Il existe ainsi un besoin évident de développer des agents thérapeutiques sûrs et sélectifs pour cibler la dépendance à l'OxPhos des cellules cancéreuses. Ces travaux doctoraux présentent l'EVT-701, un nouvel inhibiteur du complexe I de la chaine respiratoire (ETC I) et ses effets anti-cancéreux et notamment anti-leucémiques. Ce composé est sélectif, toléré et démontre une activité significative dans plusieurs modèles de tumeurs solides. Nous avons aussi évalué l'effet de l'EVT-701 dans un contexte de chimiorésistance et caractérisé son effet immuno-modulateur dans un modèle murin de LAM. Ainsi, nous avons mis en évidence un nouveau rôle de l'ETCI dans la régulation de l'expression des immune checkpoints molécules PD-L1 et CD39 dans des cellules de LAM. Enfin, ces travaux confirment le rôle de l'ETCI dans le cancer, renforcent l'intérêt thérapeutique de moduler son activité et montrent son rôle dans l'immuno-modulation, jusqu'alors méconnu pour les LAM.

English abstract

Targeting energetic metabolism has emerged in the recent years as an attractive and promising anti-cancer therapy. Cancer cells show metabolic features that distinguish them from normal cells, going beyond the initially described Warburg effect. Reliance on oxidative phosphorylation (OxPhos) has been identified as a vulnerability of many cancer types. Functional electron transport chain (ETC) is essential for mitochondrial ATP production, as well as for supporting cell proliferation by maintaining appropriate levels of metabolic intermediates essential for nucleotide biosynthesis. Cells from different cancer types overexpress OxPhos and mitochondria genes, displaying enhanced vulnerability to the inhibition of mitochondrial respiration. Furthermore, some molecular alterations such as LKB1 deficiency also render cancer cells susceptible to ETC inhibition. Interestingly, chemotherapy has also been reported to increase OxPhos metabolism in many cancer types including acute myeloid leukemia (AML), paving the way for a novel therapeutic opportunity to eradicate chemoresistance and prevent patient relapse. Overall, this enhanced OxPhos dependence strengths the need for new selective and safe therapeutic agents. This thesis introduces a novel ETCI inhibitor, EVT-701, that is selective and safer than other drug candidates in this target class. It shows anti-cancer activity in several solid cancer tumor models as single agent. Furthermore, we assessed the anti-leukemic effects of EVT-701 in an AML model of resistance to chemotherapy and we discovered a new regulatory role of ETCI on immune checkpoints PD-L1 and CD39 in leukemic cells. In summary, my PhD work highlights the role of ETCI in cancer, the interest to target it, as well as it identifies an immunomodulatory role for ETCI in AML.

List of publications

- 1. Luna-Yolba, R., Visenstin, V., Hervé, C., Chiche, J., Ricci, J-E, Méneyrol, J., Paillase, MR. and Alet, N. (2021). EVT-701 is a novel selective and safe mitochondrial complex I inhibitor with potent anti-tumor activity in models of solid cancer. *Pharmacology Research & Perspectives*.
- Luna-Yolba, R., Marmoiton, J., Gigo, V., Boet, E., Sahal, A., Alet, N., Abramovich, I., Gottlieb, E., Visenstin, V., Paillase, MR. and Sarry J-E (2021). Disrupting mitochondrial electron transport chain complex I decreases immune checkpoints in murine and human acute myeloid leukemic cells. *Cancers*.

Oral communications

- 1. Characterization of AML resistance and evaluation of new therapeutic approaches. METACAN ITN. Leuven, September 2019
- 2. EVT-701 as therapeutic agent in AML. METACAN ITN. Zoom, September 2020

Table of contents

| Resumé en français | | |
|---|----|--|
| English abstract | | |
| List of publications | 6 | |
| Oral communications | 6 | |
| Table of contents | | |
| List of tables | | |
| List of figures | | |
| Abbreviations | 13 | |
| 1. Introduction | 17 | |
| 1.1. Metabolic adaptations in cancer | 17 | |
| 1.1.1. Glucose metabolism | 17 | |
| 1.1.2. Amino acids | 22 | |
| 1.1.1. Lipids and fatty acids | 30 | |
| 1.2. Oncogenic signaling pathways involved in the regulation of cancer metabolism | 35 | |
| 1.2.1. AMP-activated protein kinase | 35 | |
| 1.2.2. c-Myc | 37 | |
| 1.2.3. Hypoxia and hypoxia inducible factors | 39 | |
| 1.2.4. p53 | 42 | |
| 1.2.5. PI3K/AKT signaling | 44 | |
| 1.2.6. Mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) | 48 | |
| 1.3. Mitochondrial metabolism is essential in cancer | 52 | |
| 1.3.1. General overview | 52 | |
| 1.3.1.1. TCA cycle and oxidative phosphorylation | 52 | |
| 1.3.1.2. Biosynthesis of macromolecules | 57 | |
| 1.3.1.3. Redox balance and NAD^+ | 64 | |
| 1.3.1.4. Regulation of apoptosis by energetic and mitochondrial metabolism | 69 | |
| 1.3.2. Mitochondrial and ETCI dependency in cancer and leukemia | 73 | |
| 1.3.2.1. Mitochondria in cancer stem cell maintenance | 74 | |
| 1.3.2.2. Mitochondria in resistance to anti-cancer therapies. | 76 | |
| 1.3.2.3. Mitochondria in immunometabolism of tumors | 77 | |
| 1.3.2.4. Targeting mitochondrial dependency of cancer cells with ETCI inhibitors | 89 | |
| 2. Hypothesis and objectives | 95 | |
| 3. Results | 97 | |

3.1. EVT-701 is a novel selective and safe mitochondrial ETC 1 inhibitor with potent anti-tumor activity97

| Ma | jor results and conclusions | 97 |
|------------------------|---|-------------------------|
| Art | icle | 97 |
| 3.2. Mitoc and H | OxPhos is a common mechanism of response to chemotherapy in human and murine A chondrial Electron Transfer Chain Complex I disruption decreases Immune Checkpoints fuman Acute Myeloid Leukemic Cells | AML. in Murine 98 |
| Ma | jor results and conclusions | 98 |
| Art | icle | 98 |
| 3.3. | In vivo study of EVT-701 in immunocompetent model of leukemia | 99 |
| 3.3. | 1. Establishment of the leukemic syngeneic immunocompetent model | 99 |
| 3.3. | 2. In vivo efficacy assessment of EVT-701 in combination with chemotherapy | 101 |
| 3.3. | 3. <i>In vivo</i> efficacy assessment of EVT-701 in combination with immunotherapy | 106 |
| 4. I | Discussion and perspectives. | 108 |
| 4.1. defici | EVT-701 targets ETCI to exploit metabolic vulnerabilities in cancer: OxPhos subtype ency and chemoresistance as suitable contexts. | s, LKB1 108 |
| 4.2. | Metabolic mechanism of action of EVT-701 | 112 |
| 4.3. | Emerging immunomodulatory role of ETC I | 115 |
| 5. (| Conclusion | 119 |
| 6. A | Annexes | 121 |
| 6.1. | Material and methods of un-published data | 121 |
| 6.1. | .1. L120-Fluc-eGFP cell line generation | 121 |
| 6.1. | 2. C1498 leukemia syngeneic model | 121 |
| 6.1. | .3. ELISpot | 122 |
| 7. F | References | 123 |

List of tables

Table 1. Recent clinical trials with ETCI inhibitors

 Table 2. Antibodies used in the study.

List of figures

- Figure 1. Glycolysis at a glance
- Figure 2. The pentose phosphate pathway (PPP)
- Figure 3. Glutaminolysis and related pathways.
- Figure 4. Serine synthetic pathway (SSP) and regulation
- Figure 5. Overview of serine metabolism.
- Figure 6. Schematic illustration of arginine metabolism.
- Figure 7. Argininase-mediated T cell dysfunction.
- Figure 8. Lipids in cancer.
- Figure 9. Overview of *de novo* synthesis of fatty acids (FAs).
- Figure 10. Schematic representation of the β -oxidation of palmitic acid in the mitochondria.
- Figure 11. AMPK is a key regulator of energetic metabolism.
- Figure 12. Metabolic changes induced by MYC.
- Figure 13. Transcriptional and post-transcriptional regulation of HIF-1a.
- Figure 14. Metabolic target genes of HIF-1.
- Figure 15. p53 regulatory transcriptional program.
- Figure 16. PI3K/AKT pathway.
- Figure 17. AKT regulates metabolism through post-translational regulation of several metabolic enzymes.

Figure 18. mTOR complex 1 (mTORC1) and mTORC2 integrate different signals.

Figure 19. Regulation of the mTOR signaling pathway.

Figure 20. mTORC1 signaling targets to promote cell growth.

- Figure 21. Simplified view of TCA cycle and oxidative phosphorylation.
- Figure 22. Citrate as metabolic regulator.
- Figure 23. Nucleotide biosynthesis in the mitochondria.
- Figure 25. Proline cycle.
- Figure 26. Glutamine metabolic pathways.
- Figure 27. Aspartate biosynthesis requires a functional ETC
- Figure 27. Heme biosynthesis.
- Figure 28. Cellular processes affected by NAD⁺.
- Figure 29. Redox equivalents are balanced in the mitochondria through several shuttles.
- Figure 30. Apoptosis intrinsic and extrinsic pathways.
- Figure 31. Metabolic changes along T cell life.
- Figure 32. T cell dysfunction contributes to the development of many chronic infections and cancer.
- Figure 33. M1 vs M2 macrophage phenotypes.
- Figure 34. CTLA- 4 and PD-1/PD-L1 blocking antibodies
- Figure 35. Ectonucleotidases create an immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment.
- Figure 36. Immunosuppressive effects of lactate.
- Figure 37. Metformin's pleiotropic effects.
- Figure 38. Overview of Medicinal chemistry optimization of Manassantin A into EVT-701.
- Figure 39. Set up 1 of the AML syngeneic model C1498-Fluc-eGFP in C57/Bl6 females
- Figure 40. Assessment of AraC response in C1498 AML syngeneic model.
- Figure 41. Evaluation of busulfan treatment and gender in C57/Bl6 mice.
- Figure 42. L1210-fLuc-GFP cell line generation and in vivo evaluation of the engraftment.
- Figure 43. Evaluation of AraC, EVT-701 and their combination in C1498 syngeneic model.

Figure 44. Evaluation of busulfan effect on the response to treatment in C1498 syngeneic model

Figure 45. Evaluation of different EVT-701 administration schedules to find an effective combination regime in C1498 syngeneic model.

Figure 46. Low dose AraC (LDAC) regime evaluation in combination with EVT-701 in C1498 syngeneic model.

Figure 47. EVT-701 and IACS evaluation, as single agents or in combination with AraC in C1498 syngeneic model.

Figure 48. EVT-701 in combination with immune checkpoint therapy in C1498 syngeneic model.

Figure 49. EVT-701 as therapeutic agent in cancer: mechanism of action, targeted vulnerabilities and immunomodulatory effects.

Abbreviations

123456789

1,3-BPG: 1,3-biphosphoglycerate
2PG: 2-phosphoglycerate
3PG: 3-phosphoglycerate
3PHP: 3-phosphohydroxypyruvate
4E-BPs: eukaryotic initiation factor 4E-binding proteins
5mC: methlycytosine
6PGL: 6-phosphogluconolactone
6PG: 6-phosphogluconic acid

A

ACC: acetyl-CoA carboxylases ACSS2: cytoplasmic acetyl-CoA synthetase ACLY: ATP-citrate lyase ACO2: Aconitase 2 ADC: antibody drug conjugate ADC: arginine decarboxylase ADME: absorption, distribution, metabolism, and excretion ADP: Adenosine diphosphate α-KG: α-ketoglutarate AIF: Apoptosis Inducing Factor ALD: aldolase ALL: acute lymphoblastic leukemia ALT: alanine transaminase AML: acute myeloid leukemia AMPK - AMP-kinase AMP - Adenosine monophosphate AOM: azoxymethane APL: acute promyelocytic leukemia AR: allelic ratio AraC: cytosine arabinoside, cytarabine ASCT: Alanine, Serine, Cysteine Transporter ASL: argininosuccinate lyase ASNS: asparagine synthetase ASS: argininosuccinate synthase ATM: Ataxia telangiectasia mutated ATO: arsenic trioxide ATP - Adenosine triphosphate ATRA: α-trans retinoic acid AZA: azacytidine

B

BCAA: branched-chain amino acid BCL-2: B-cell CLL–lymphoma 2 BCR: B-cell receptor BCSCs: breast cancer stem cells bHLH LZ: basic-helix-loop-helix-leucine zipper BLI: bioluminescence

С

Carbamoyl-P: carbamoyl phosphate

CAC: colitis-associated colorectal cancer CAD: Carbamoyl phosphate synthase II, Aspartate transcarbamoylase and Dihydroorotase CAFs: cancer-associated fibroblasts CAMKK2/ CAMKKβ: calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase kinase 2 CASTOR1: cellular arginine sensor for mTORC1 CBF: core-binding factor cDC: conventional dendritic cell CDP: common DC progenitor CDK: cyclin-dependent kinase CDKN: cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors CEBPA: CCAAT/enhancer binding protein a ChREBP: carbohydrate-responsive element-binding protein CK: creatine kinase CLP: common lymphoid progenitor CMLP: common myelolymphoid progenitor CMP: common myeloid progenitor CMPK1: cytidine monophosphate kinase 1 CoA: coenzyme A COX: cyclooxygenase COX: cytochrome c oxidase CPGIII : coproporphyrinogen III CPOX: coproporphyrinogen oxidase CPT: carnitine palmitoyl transferase CR: complete remission CReP: constitutive repressor of eIF2a phosphorylation CT: carnitine transporter CYP: cytochrome P450 Cys: cysteine

D

d: days DAC: decitabine DC: dendritic cell DSS: dextran sodium sulfate DCK: deoxycytidine kinase dCTP: deoxycytidine triphosphate DHAP: dihydroxyacetone phosphate DHO: dihydroorotate DLBCL: Diffuse large B cell lymphoma DMPK: Drug Metabolism and PharmacoKinetics DNA: deoxyribonucleic acid DNMTs: DNA-methyltransferases DNMT3A: DNA (cytosine-5)-methyltransferase 3A DRP1: Dynamin-related protein 1

E

E4P: erythrose-4-phosphate EC: endothelial cells EF2K: elongation factor-2 kinase EFS: event-free survival EGFR: epidermal growth factor receptor ELOVLs: elongation of very long fatty acids ENO1: enolase 1 ENT1: equilibrative nucleoside transporter 1 EPO: erythropoietin ER: endoplasmic reticulum ETC: electron transport chain

F

F1P: fructose-1-phosphate F1,6BP: fructose-1,6-biphosphate F6P: fructose-6-phosphate FA: fatty acid FAB: French, American and British FABPs: FA binding proteins FAD/FADH2: flavin adenine dinucleotide FADSs: FA desaturases FAO: fatty acid oxidation FAT: FA translocase FATPs: FA transport proteins FAS: fatty acid synthesis FASN: fatty acid synthase FBS: fetal bovine serum FDA: Food and Drug Administration FDXR: Ferredoxin Reductase FECH: ferrochelatase FIHs: Factors inhibiting HIFs FLT3:- FMS-like tyrosine kinase 3 FLCN-FNIP2: folliculin- folliculin-interacting protein 2 FLVCR: feline leukaemia virus subgroup C receptor FTDH: formate dehydrogenase

G

G1P: glucose-1-phosphate G6P: glucose-6-phosphate GA3P: glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate GADD: Growth arrest DNA damage-inducible protein GAMT: guanidinoacetate methyltransferase GC: glutamate carrier GCN2: general control nonderepressible 2 G-CSF: Granulocyte colony stimulating factor GFAT: glutamine fructose-6-phosphate amidotransferase GlcN: glucosamine GlcN6P: glucosamine-6-phosphate GlcNAc-6P: N-acetylglucosamine-6-phosphate GLS: glutaminase GLUD: glutamate dehydrogenase GLUT: glucose Transporter Glu: glutamate Gly: glycine GM-CSF: granulocyte-monocyte colony-stimulating factor GMP: granulocyte and macrophage progenitor GNPNAT: glucosamine-phosphate N-acetyltransferase

GOT: glutamate-oxaloacetate transaminase GPCRs: G protein-coupled receptors GPT: glutamate-pyruvate transaminase GS: glutamine synthetase GSK3: Glycogen synthase kinase 3 GVHD: graft-versus host disease

H

2-HG: 2-hydroxyglutarate HCT: hematopoietic cell transplantation HER2: human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 HIF: hypoxia-inducible factor HK: hexokinase HLA: human leukocyte antigen HMA: hypomethylating agents HMGR: 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-CoA reductase HRI: heme-regulated inhibitor HSCs: hematopoietic stem cells HSP: heat shock protein

I

IAP: inhibitor of apoptosis IDAC: Intermediate dose AraC IDH: isocitrate dehydrogenase IL: interleukin IMP2: insulin-like growth factor 2 mRNA-binding protein 2 IRF1: Interferon regulatory factor 1 IRG1: immune-responsive gene 1 IRS-1: insulin receptor substrate 1 ISR: Integrated stress response ITD: internal tandem duplication IV: intravenous

J

JNK1: c-Jun N-terminal protein kinase 1

K

KMT2A : Lysine Methyltransferase 2A KRAS: Kirsten rat sarcoma viral oncogene homologue

L

LAT1: L-type amino acid transporter 1 LDAC: low dose cytarabine LDHA : lactate dehydrogenase-A LDLR: low-density lipoprotein receptor LSC: leukemic stem cell

M

M-CSF: monocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor Man-PMs: mannose-modified macrophages-derived microparticles MCP: mast cell progenitor MCT: monocarboxylate transporter MDM2: mouse double minute 2 homologue MDP: macrophage and DC progenitor MHC: major histocompatibility complex MIEAP: Mitochondria Eating Protein MILIP: Myc-Inducible Long noncoding RNA **Inactivating P53** MRD: minimal residual disease MDS: myelodysplasia syndrome ME: malic enzyme MEFs: mice embryonic fibroblasts MEP: megakaryocyte and erythroid progenitor MFC: multiparameter flow cytometry MFF: mitochondrial fission factor MOMP: mitochondrial outer membrane permeabilization MPN: myeloproliferative neoplasm MPT: mitochondrial permeability transition

N

NAD/NADH – Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide NADP/NADPH – Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate NAM: nicotinamide NAMPT: nicotinamide phosphoribosyltransferase NDPKs: nucleoside diphosphate kinases NHL: Non-Hodgkin lymphoma NK: natural killer NLN: neurolysin NMN: nicotinamide mononucleotide NO: nitric oxide NOS: nitric oxide synthase NPM1: Nucleophosmin 1

0

OAA: oxaloacetate OMM: outer mitochondrial membrane OS: overall survival

Р

PARP: poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase pDC, plasmacytoid DC PDGFR: platelet-derived growth factor receptor PDH: pyruvate dehydrogenase PDK: pyruvate dehydrogenase (acetyl-transferring) kinase PDPK1: phosphoinositide-dependent protein kinase 1 PEP: phosphoenolpyruvate PERK: PKR-like endoplasmic reticulum kinase PGAM: phosphoglycerate mutase PGC-1a: PPARG coactivator 1a PGDH: Phosphoglycerate dehydrogenase PGE2:Prostaglandin E2 PGI: phosphoglucose isomerase PGK: Phosphoglycerate kinase PHDs: prolyl hydrolyxases PHGDH: D-3- phosphoglycerate dehydrogenase PI3K: phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase

PIP2: phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate PIP3: phosphatidylinositol 3,4,5-trisphosphate PK: pyruvate kinase PKC: protein kinase C PKR: doublestranded RNA-dependent protein kinase PML: promyelocytic leukemia PMN: polymorphonuclear PPAR: Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors PPAT: phosphoribosyl pyrophosphate amidotransferase PPOX: protoporphyrinogen oxidase PPP: pentose phosphate pathway PRDX3: peroxiredoxin 3 PRPP: phosphoribosyl pyrophosphate PRPS: phosphoribosyl pyrophosphate synthetase PSAT: phosphoserine transaminase P-Serine: phosphoserine PSPH: phosphoserine phosphatase PTEN: phosphatase and tensin homologue PTP: permeability transition pore

Q

q: every

R

R5P: ribose-5-phosphate Ru5P: ribulose-5-phosphate RHEB: Ras-related small G protein Ras homologue enriched in brain RPE: ribulose 5-phosphate epimerase RPI: ribose-5-phosphate isomerase ROS: reactive oxygen species RSC: respiratory supercomplexes RTKs: receptors tyrosine kinases

S

S6K1: p70 S6 kinase 1 S7P: sedoheptulose-7-phosphate SAT1: spermidine/spermine N1-acetyltransferase 1 SCAFI: supercomplex assembly factor 1 SCO2: Synthesis of Cytochrome c Oxidase 2 SC: subcutaneous SCD: stearoyl-CoA desaturases S-CoA: free coenzyme A SHMT: serine hydroxymethyltransferase SIRT1: sirtuin 1 SLC1A4: Solute Carrier Family 1 member 4 SLC1A5: solute carrier family 1 member 5 SLC29A1: carrier family 29 member 1 SMARCC1: SWI/SNF Related, Matrix Associated, Actin Dependent Regulator Of Chromatin Subfamily C Member 1 SOD2: enzyme Superoxide Dismutase 2 SRC-2: steroid receptor coactivator 2 SREBPs: sterol regulatory element binding proteins

Т

TA: transaminase TAMs: tumor associated macrophages TALDO: Transaldolase TCA: tricarboxylic acid TCR: T cell receptor TDG: thymine DNA glycosylase TET: ten eleven translocation THF: tetrahydrofolate TIF-1A: transcription initiation factor 1A TIGAR: TP53-inducible glycolysis and apoptosis regulator TIL: tumor infiltrating cells TKT: Transketolase TME: tumor microenvironment TNBC: triple negative breast cancer TNF α : tumor necrosis factor α TPI: triose phosphate isomerase TSC: heterotrimeric tuberous sclerosis complex

U

UBF: factors upstream binding factor UDP-GlcNAc: uridine diphosphate N-acetylglucosamine UPR: unfold protein response

V

VDAC: voltage-dependent anion channel VEGFR: vascular endothelial growth factor receptor

W

WBC: White blood cell counts WHO: World Health Organisation

Х

X5P: xylulose-5- phosphate

Y

Y: years

Z

1. Introduction

1.1. Metabolic adaptations in cancer

Cancer cells must adapt their metabolism to meet their energetic demand, maintain viability and generate new biomass for the biosynthesis of new macromolecules needed for cell proliferation (Pavlova and Thompson, 2016; Vazquez et al., 2016). Indeed, one of the emerging hallmarks of cancer is the reprogramming of energy metabolism (Hanahan et al., 2000). It is also known that energy metabolism is modulated by proteins that are involved in one way or another in programming the core hallmarks of cancer; such as hypoxia inducible factor 1 (HIF-1) transcription factor, or oncogenes (Vazquez et al., 2016).

Since Otto Warburg described in 1925 the "aerobic glycolysis", known today as Warburg Effect, as a feature of cancer cell metabolism that supports large biosynthetic processes required for proliferation, other metabolic alterations have been identified in cancer context. Nowadays, it is accepted that cancer cells adapt their metabolism to support different biological needs along disease progression as well as during the response to therapy. Hereafter are described the three main cabon sources used by cancer cells to support tumor progression and resistance.

1.1.1. Glucose metabolism

Glycolysis

Glycolysis is the metabolic pathway that converts glucose to pyruvate and yields energy in the form of two molecules of ATP (**figure 1**). Glucose enters the cells through glucose transporters (GLUTs). Once in the cytoplasm, glucose is phosphorylated to glucose-6-phosphate (G6P) by hexokinase (HK). G6P can either enter into the pentose phosphate pathway (PPP) to generate NADPH and carbons for nucleotide biosynthesis or continue the glycolytic flux, where it will become fructose-6-phosphate (F6P) by the action the phosphoglucose isomerase (PGI), for being later on phosphorylated by the phosphofructokinase-1 (PFK-I), resulting in fructose-1,6-biphosphate (F-1,6-BP). Then, aldolase (ALD) will excise F-1,6-BP into two molecules containing three carbons each: dihydroxyacetone phosphate (DHAP) and glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate (GA3P). DHAP and GA3P can be interconverted one in another by the triose phosphate isomerase (TPI), and while DHAP can enter the synthesis of glycerol-3-phosphate for lipid biosynthesis, GA3P continues the glycolytic pathway, where glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) renders 1 NADH per molecule and 1,3-biphosphoglycerate (1,3-BPG). Phosphoglycerate kinase (PGK) will render 1 ATP per molecule in the transformation of 1,3-PG into 3phosphoglycerate by (3-PG). 3-PG can either enter the serine/glycine biosynthesis or the one carbon cycle (that provides methyl groups for several biological processes such as synthesis of DNA, polyamines, amino acids..), or be converted to 2-phosphoglyceric acid (2-PGA) by phosphoglycerate mutase (PGAM), the substrate of the enolase 1 (ENO1) that will transform it into phosphoenol pyruvate (PEP). Subsequently, PEP is converted into pyruvate by the pyruvate kinase (PKM2), producing 1 ATP per molecule of pyruvate. The NADH generated during the process, will then be oxidized to regenerate NAD⁺, either in the mitochondria during oxidative phosphorylation or by the lactate dehydrogenase-A (LDHA), which converts pyruvate to lactate (Stryer et al., 2010; Pavlova et al., 2016).

The process is regulated at several points. PFK is the rate-limiting enzyme of the glycolysis, being allosterically inhibited by high concentrations of ATP, low pH, PEP and citrate, while it is activated by high concentrations of AMP, ADP and F-2,6-BP (Hasawi et al., 2014; Lee et al., 2017). Another point of regulation is the HK, the first enzyme of glycolysis, which is inhibited by its product, glucose 6-phosphate. Also the pyruvate kinase (PKM2), the last enzyme of the process that is allosterically inhibited by ATP, which indicates that energy charge is high, as well as by alanine, which is synthesized from pyruvate by the alanine transaminase (ALT) indicating that building blocks are abundant (Li et al., 2015).

Several glycolytic enzymes have been reported to be upregulated and/or essential in cancer context. HK2 is upregulated in pancreatic cancer, lung cancer, hepatocyte cell cancer, breast cancer, and prostate cancer (Jiang et al., 2012; Patra et al., 2013; DeWaal et al., 2018), as well as in leukemia with activating mutations in the tyrosine kinase receptor FLT3, where HK2 upregulation is mediated by Akt, promoting glycolysis and rendering these cells sensitive to glycolysis inhibition (Ju et al., 2017). In human glioblastoma, AKT sustained activation derived from phosphatase and tensin homologue (PTEN) loss and epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR)-dependent phosphatidylinositol 3- kinase (PI3K) activation, phosphorylates and increases stability of PFK1, by impairing its degradation through binding to TRIM21 E3 ligase, what leads to increased PKF1 activity and cell proliferation (Lee et al., 2017). PFK1 as well as ALDA, LDHA, PGK and enolase 1 are induced by HIF-1a (Semenza et al., 1994), and are often found stabilized in hypoxic regions of solid tumors. PKM2 seems essential in lung cancer, where its deletion in xenografts of human lung cancer results in reduced tumor growth (Christofk et al., 2008). The deletion of the glycolytic enzymes pyruvate kinase isoform M2 (PKM2) or lactate dehydrogenase A (LDHA) impairs leukemia initiation (Wang et al., 2014), highlighting the involvement of the glycolytic pathway at initial phases of the disease. Interestingly, it's been also reported that leukemic cells induce a diabetic state in the host by impairing insulin sensitivity and secretion through the production of insulin-like growth factor binding protein 1 (IGFBP1). This leads to a decrease in glucose uptake by host tissues, leaving it available for the leukemic cells (Ye et al., 2018), and denotes the importance of glucose for leukemic cells. These are only a few examples of how cancer cells and glucose metabolism are closely connected.

To conclude, glycolysis is increased in many cancers due to the fact that many glycolytic intermediates are precursors for biosynthetic pathways. For example, G6P is precursor for NADPH producing PPP, which is

used to sustain redox balance protecting from oxidative stress by reducing glutathione via glutathione reductase, and ribose-5-P for nucleotide biosynthesis, both essentials to maintain cell viability and proliferation.



Figure 1. Glycolysis at a glance. Adapted from Pavlova and Thompson, 2016.

Pentose phosphate pathway

The pentose phosphate pathway (PPP), represented in **figure 2**, is a key cellular pathway for cell survival since it is the major contributor to NADPH generation within the cell. NADPH is required for fatty acid synthesis as well as for cellular protection from oxidative stress, caused by reactive oxygen species (ROS). PPP participates also in nucleotide and amino acid biosynthesis. Therefore, it is an essential pathway for proliferating cells.

PPP is divided in two parts. The first one is known as the oxidative branch of the PPP, it is unidirectional and it is critical to maintain redox balance. PPP branches from glycolysis at its first step, where hexokinase generates glucose-6-phosphate (G6P). Glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase (G6PDH) converts G6P into 6-phosphogluconolactone and yields one NADPH. 6-Phosphogluconolactone will be

hydrolyzed by phosphogluconolactonase (6PGL) into 6-phosphogluconate. Then, 6-phosphogluconate dehydrogenase (6PGDH) will generate another molecule of NADPH and ribulose-5-phosphate (Ru5P) by decarboxylation. Subsequently, Ru5P enters the non-oxidative branch, where it can be converted into ribose-5-phosphate (R5P) by the ribose-5-phosphate isomerase (RPI), essential for nucleotide biosynthesis; or into xylulose 5-phosphate by ribulose 5-phosphate epimerase (RPE). Transketolase (TKT) generates G3P and sedoheptulose 7-phosphate (S7P) or fructose 6-phosphate (F6P) from xylulose 5-phosphate and ribose 5-phosphate or erythrose 4-phosphate. Transaldolase (TALDO) generates glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate and erythrose 4-phosphate from fructose 6-phosphate and sedoheptulose 7-phosphate. TALDO and TKT are therefore the connection between glycolysis and the PPP. The non-oxidative branch is reversible and the allosteric regulation of the enzymes in the pathway allow the branch to supply glycolytic intermediates or ribose-5-P accordingly to the metabolic demands of the cell (Patra et al., 2014; Stincone et al., 2014).





Due to the involvement of PPP in the generation of NADPH, necessary for oxidative stress protection as well as in lipid synthesis, it is not strange that cancer cells make extense use of this pathway, being essential for tumor cells proliferation. G6PDH activity is regulated by oncogenes such as PI3K/AKT, Ras, Src, mTOR and by oncosuppressors such as p53 and TAp734 (Patra and Hay, 2014; Stincone et al., 2014; Mele et al., 2018). In acute myeloid leukemia (AML), it has been described that increased glycolytic flux and glucose addiction is mediated by mTOR activation, and it is used to sustain glucose for the PPP,

identifiying G6PDH as therapeutic target in AML (Poulain et al., 2017). In addition, increased expression of PPP enzymes, such as G6PDH or TKT correlate with poor prognosis in breast cancer and other cancer types (Lucarelli et al., 2015; Benito et al., 2017; Mele et al., 2018), and the inhibition of these enzymes results in decreased tumor cell growth (Benito et al., 2017). 6PGDH, the third enzyme of the PPP oxidative arm is as upregulated in colorectal cancer, thyroid tumors and lung cancer, and its suppression resulted in decreased tumor cell proliferation and tumor growth, mediated by decreased lipid and RNA biosynthesis and elevated ROS levels in cancer cells (Lin et al., 2015). In addition, the knock-down of 6-6PGDH within the oxidative branch of the PPP reduces NADPH production and has been reported to reduce AML cell growth as well (Bhanot et al., 2017), putting in evidence the importance of this pathway for maintaining redox balance to allow cancer cell proliferation. Upregulation of the fructose bisphosphatase 1 (FBP1) is important for AML induced by deregulated expression of ecotropic virus integration site 1 (EVI1). FBP1 decreases glycolysis while it enhances PPP by increasing F6P levels, and the individual knocking down of the PPP enzymes (G6PDH, 6PGDH, RPI) decreases the colony forming capacity of EVI1 transduced cells, indicating that PPP stimulation by FBP1 is essential for progression of EVI1 leukemia (Mizuno et al., 2019).

In brief

Glucose contributes to energy generation as well as it sustains the biosynthesis of numerous macromolecules in the form of glycolytic intermediates. In addition, glucose supports NADPH generation through the oxidative branch of the PPP, as well as nucleotide biosynthesis through the non-oxidative PPP branch. Glucose metabolism is thus essential to support cancer cell viability and proliferation.

1.1.2. Amino acids

Amino acids play an essential role in cancer by contributing to different biosynthetic processes of macromolecules necessaries for proliferation, serving as energy source and being involved in maintaining redox balance. In addition, they can contribute to modulation of the immune response. In the next pages, the metabolism of the main amino acids with described involvement in cancer will be described.

Glutamine

Glutamine is the most abundant amino acid circulating in blood, and it is involved in many fundamental cell functions (**figure 3**), such as generation of metabolites to maintain mitochondrial metabolism, antioxidants, non-essential amino acids, pyrimidines, purines and fatty acids, being all of these processes important for proliferating cells (Yang et al., 2017).

Glutamine enters the cell by the solute-linked carrier family A1 member 5 (SLC1A5, also known as Alanine, Serine, Cysteine Transporter 2, ASCT2). Glutamine can also be generated from the condensation of ammonia and glutamate by the glutamine synthetase (GS), consuming ATP and contributing to amonia detoxification as well as to the neurotransmitter glutamate recycling (Matthews et al., 2010; Yang et al., 2016). Once inside the cell, it can either be used for biosynthesis of different molecules or it can be exported and exchanged by other amino acids such as leucine, whose presence activates mTOR via Rheb, by the antiporter L-type amino acid transporter 1 (LAT1). Another transporter involved in glutamine export is the cystine glutamate derived from glutamine by cystine and when inside the cell, cystine, is reduced to cysteine. Cysteine, glutamate and glycine constitute the glutathione, a tripeptide (Glu-Cys-Gly) that neutralize peroxide free radicals, controlling therefore reactive oxygen species (ROS) and preventing cell damage. Cells can also get glutamine by breaking-down extracellular (micropinocytosis) or intracellular (autophagy) proteins normally under nutrient deprivation (Altman et al., 2016; Yang et al., 2017).

Once inside the cell, glutaminases (the kidney-type glutaminase is encoded by the gene GLS whereas liver-type glutaminase by the GLS2) convert glutamine into glutamate and ammonium ion (NH₄⁺). Then, glutamate can be converted into α -ketoglutarate (α -KG) by two different mechanisms: glutamate dehydrogenase (GLUD) transform glutamate into α -KG releasing ammonium or aminotransferases can transfer the amine group from glutamate to produce other amino acids and α -KG. There are different transaminases, such as the glutamate-oxaloacetate transaminase (GOT) that transfer the nitrogen from glutamate to produce aspartate, the glutamate-pyruvate transaminase (GPT) that transfer the nitrogen from glutamate to pyruvate to generate alanine, and phosphoserine transaminase (PSAT), involved in serine biosynthesis, that transfers nitrogen from glutamate to 3-phosphohydroxypyruvate to result in phosphoserine and α -KG. Then, α -KG generated by either of the before mentioned processes, can

enter the TCA cycle to produce ATP through the generation of the reducing equivalents NADH and FADH₂. This process of glutamine conversion into TCA metabolites is called glutaminolysis. Another way of generating reducing equivalents is by malic enzyme 1 (ME1): the aspartate generated by the GOT from glutamate can be transported to the cytoplasm by the mitochondrial aspartate malate shuttle, where ME1 converts it in malate generating NADPH. Alternatively, aspartate can be converted into asparagine by the asparagine synthetase (ASNS), incorporated into nucleotide synthesis or into the urea cycle. Mullen and colleagues highlighted the role of glutamine in maintaining TCA intermediate levels upon mitochondrial defects by transformation of glutamine-derived α -KG to isocitrate through a reductive carboxylation reaction catalyzed by isocitrate dehydrogenase (IDH), using NADP+/NADPH (Mullen et al., 2011, Mullen et al., 2014). Subsequently, oxaloacetate derived from glutamine can condense with acetyl-CoA, generating citrate that can be used for lipid biosynthesis via ATP-citrate lyase (ACLY) and fatty acid synthetase (FASN) (Altman et al., 2016; Yang et al., 2017). Glutamine is also involved in protein synthesis by supporting the overall amino acid pools. It also takes part in trafficking and stress responses suppression, by contributing to the synthesis of uridine diphosphate N-acetylglucosamine (UDP-GlcNAc), part of the hexosamine biosynthetic pathway, required for protein glycosylation, proper ER-Golgi trafficking and suppression of the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress pathway (Altman et al., 2016).

Silencing of the glutamine importer SLC1A5 resulted in inhibition of mTOR signaling and abrogated cell growth and survival in an osteosarcoma cell line (Durán et al., 2012). Similar effects were described in non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) cells (Hassanein et al., 2012). In the human B cell model of Burkitt lymphoma P493, the inhibition of glutamine metabolism by the GLS inhibitor BPTES (Robinson et al., 2007) resulted in diminished tumor growth in vivo, while in vitro it efficiently killed hypoxic cancer cells by increasing ROS levels and reducing ATP charge (Le et al., 2012). In the immunocompetent MYCdriven mouse model of hepatocellular carcinoma model, the loss of one GLS allelle or GLS pharmacological inhibition by BPTES resulted in blunted tumor progression (Xiang et al., 2015). Another glutaminase inhibitor, CB-839, displayed significant antitumor activity in triple negative and basal like HER2⁺ breast cancer xenograft models, both as single agent or in combination with paclitaxel (Gross et al., 2014). Glutamine is also essential for ovarian cancer, where it was shown that cancer-associated fibroblasts (CAFs) presented upregulated glutamine anabolic pathway to and support tumor cells by the secretion of glutamine. The same study also showed that targeting stromal GS resulted in tumor regression (Yang et al., 2016). Similar phenomena has been reported in prostate cancer (Mishra et al., 2018). In prostate cancer, the oncogenic steroid receptor coactivator 2 (SRC-2) transcriptional regulator was found upregulated, which stimulated reductive carboxylation of glutamine-derived α -KG to generate citrate and promote lipogenesis for cancer cell survival and metastasis (Dasgupta et al., 2015). Interestingly, epithelial-to mesenchymal transition in breast cancer was prevented by GLS inhibition, resulting in less invasive cancer and potentally impairing metastasis (Lee et al., 2016).

Targeting glutamine uptake is a therapeutic approach also in AML. Tumor formation in AML xenografts is inhibited by preventing the entry of glutamine into the cell by knocking down the glutamine transporter SLC1A5, which denotes AML dependency on glutamine for tumor progression. The same work also showed that targeting glutamine uptake or glutamine levels with L-asparaginase (that also harbors glutaminase activity) inhibited mTORC1, and induced apoptosis in primary AML cells (Willems et al., 2013). In addition, other work proposed that glutamine levels regulate oxidative phosphorylation in AML, and they showed that pharmacologic inhibition or genetic knock down of glutaminolysis via GLS1 decreased respiration and led cells to apoptosis (Jacque et al., 2015). An example of metabolic flexibility is AML with mutated FLT3-ITD, which normally relies on glucose to support central carbon metabolism, but, upon the effect of the tyrosine kinase inhibitor AC220, the glycolytic phenotype is reverted and glutamine becomes the main source to support central carbon metabolism. In addition, glutamine's role in maintenance of redox balance is essential for cell survival. This rational led to the therapeutic targeting of glutamine dependency by combining GLS inhibitors such as CB-839 with FLT3 kinase inhibitors, which have shown efficacy in vitro as well as in vivo models of AML (Gallipoli et al., 2018). Nevertheless, mechanisms of resistance arise. The expression of pyruvate carboxylase constitutes a mechanism for GLS resistance, since upon GLS suppression, cells are able to use glucose-derived pyruvate rather than glutamine for anaplerosis, by converting pyruvate into oxaloacetate that would fuel the TCA (tricarboxylic acid) cycle (Cheng et al., 2011).



Figure 3. Glutaminolysis and related pathways Adapted from Yang et al., 2017.

Serine and glycine

Serine is a non-essential amino acid that supports aminoacid and protein synthesis as well as glutathione production. It also takes part in the folate cycle as one-carbon donor, contributing to nucleotide biosynthesis, to NADPH generation and to methylation reactions. Serine can be uptaken by different neutral transporters like ASCT1/SLC1A4 or ASCT2/SLC1A5, or it can be de novo synthesized within the cell. Serine synthesis is of particular importance in brain, where presence of serine is essential for its role in neurotransmission and where due to the blood-brain barrier, the quantity of the amino acid that manage to cross the barrier is not sufficient to support normal brain function (Yang et al., 2016). De novo serine synthesis is derived from the glycolytic (or gluconeogenic) intermediate 3-PG. Then, D-3phosphoglycerate dehydrogenase (PHGDH) generates NADH in the oxidation of 3-PG into 3-phosphohydroxypyruvate (3PHP), that will be subsequently converted into 3-phosphoserine by phosphoserine aminotransferase1 (PSAT1) with the generation of α -KG from glutamate, that can further enter the TCA for energy production or for biosynthetic pathways, such as lipid biosynthesis. Phosphoserine phosphatase (PSPH) will transform 3-phosphoserine into serine (Vazquez et al., 2016; Yang et al., 2016). In terms of regulation, 2-phosphoglycerate (2-PG), the resulting product of the reaction catalyzed by the phosphoglycerate mutase 1 (PGAM1) using 3-PG as substrate, activates PHGDH, stimulating the flux of carbons to serine synthesis pathway. Serine regulates the activity of PKM2, activating it when it is abundant, and decreasing its activity when there is a drop in serine levels. Remarkably, slow glycolytic flux allows for the bifurcation of 3-PG for serine synthesis (Yang et al., 2016). Figure 4 recapitulates serine biosynthesis and its regulation.



Figure 4. Serine synthetic pathway (SSP) and regulation. Adapted from Yang and Vousden, 2016.

Serine can have different fates, summarized in **figure 5**. It can be converted into glycine by mitochondrial or cytosolic serine hydroxymethyltransferase (SHMT2 or SHMT1, respectively), releasing one carbon unit that will join the folate cycle, involved in nucleotide biosynthesis and regeneration of NADH and NADPH, as well as of ATP (Vazquez et al., 2016). Folate cycle is also coupled to methionine cycle, which supplies methyl groups for post-translational modifications of DNA, RNA, proteins and lipids. Serine is also involved in the synthesis of cysteine, a component of glutathione, essential for maintaining redox state. Serine also takes part in phospholipids synthesis, such as phosphatidylserine and sphingolipids (Yang et al., 2016). More recently, it has also been highlighted serine's role in ceramide synthesis, since under serine deprivation; a decrease in this mitochondrial membrane component concomitant to increased mitochondrial fragmentation has been described (Gao et al., 2018).



Figure 5. Overview of serine metabolism. Adapted from Yang and Vousden, 2016.

Serine biosynthesis enzymes PHGDH and PSAT are upregulated upon glutamine withdrawal in AML, which can be a mechanism of resistance to the therapies targeting glutamine (Polet et al., 2015). This study identified that increase in oxidative stress triggered the upregulation of serine metabolism, which highlights the role of serine metabolism in oxidative stress protection. In addition, GLS inhibitors in combination with serine deprivation enhanced the inhibition of leukemic growth *in vivo* (Polet et al., 2015). The first enzyme of the serine synthesis pathways is also amplified in other cancers, such as breast cancer (Possemato et al., 2011) and melanoma (Locasale et al., 2011). PSPH upregulation, induced by the ribosomal mutation RPL10 R98S, is commonly found in T-acute lymphoblastic leukemia (T-ALL) patient samples, where it associates with higher levels of serine and glycine in mouse xenografts, and the abrogation of its expression of results in suppressed proliferation of the leukemic cells (Kampen et al., 2019).

Arginine

Arginine is considered a semi-essential amino acid, because under certain physiological conditions it has to be supplied from diet to meet cellular demands, although it can be *de novo* synthesized from citrulline (Wheatley, 2005). In arginine biosynthesis, cytosolic argininosuccinate synthase (ASS1) generates argininosuccinate from aspartate and citrulline, which is generated by the ornithine transcarbamylase from ornithine and carbamoyl-phosphate. Argininosuccinate is cleaved by argininosuccinate lyase (ASL), releasing arginine and fumarate. Arginine can then be reconverted into citrulline by the arginine deiminase (ADI) releasing its amino group, or by the nitric oxide synthase (NOS) producing also nitric oxide (NO), an important mediator of inflammation. In addition, arginine is substrate for further enzymes, such as arginase II to generate ornithine that will be used for polyamines, glutamate and proline synthesis, or become urea to excrete the excess of ammonia (Miraki-Moud et al., 2015; Keshet et al., 2018). It can also be converted to agmatine by the arginine decarboxylase (ADC) or to guanidinoacetate by guanidinoacetate methyltransferase (GAMT), and participate in creatine synthesis (Morris, 2002; Keshet et al., 2018). Creatine is phosphorylated to phosphocreatine by creatine kinase (CK) to buffer cellular ATP (Fenouille et al., 2017). Mitochondrial isoform CKMT1 is a gatekeeper for the permeability transition pore, since its depletion induces mitochondrial depolarization and apoptotic cell death (Datler et al., 2014). The main metabolic processes in which arginine is involved are summarized in figure 6.



Figure 6. Schematic illustration of arginine metabolism. Adapted from Keshet and Erez, 2018.

Downregulated expression argininosuccinate synthetase-1 (ASS1) is a common feature among almost all human cancer types, and it leads to arginine auxotrophy (Cheng et al., 2018). Upon arginine starvation concomitant with ASS1 deficiency, aspartate is depleted by the induction of the asparagine synthetase

(ASNS), what leads to the disruption of malate-aspartate shuttle, the activation of the integrated stress response (ISR) and decreased cell viability (Cheng et al., 2018). These authors also showed that dietary arginine restriction reduced tumor growth in a xenograft model of ASS1-deficient breast cancer (Cheng et al., 2018). AML patient's cells are also usually deficient in ASS1, which make leukemic cells auxotrophic for arginine. The use of pegylated arginine deiminase (ADI-PEG 20) depleted arginine pool and resulted in positive response in vitro. In addition, the combination of ADI-PEG 20 with AraC was efficient at controlling the disease in vivo (Miraki-Moud et al., 2015). In ASS1 deficient bladder cancer, pre-clinical studies also showed anti-cancer effect of arginine deprivation with ADI-PEG 20 both in vitro and in vivo and identified the activation of the general control nonderepressible 2 (GCN2) kinase, involved also in integrated stress response, as the mechanism mediating therapy efficacy by inducing cell apoptosis and autophagy (Sahu et al., 2017). This results suggest a key role for the integrated stress response in driving anti-cancer effect of arginine deprivation therapies. Arginine dependency of AML cells is also manifested by the constitutive expression of the arginine transporters CAT-1 and CAT-2B, given their deficiency in the argininosuccinate synthase and ornithine transcarbamylase (Mussai et al., 2015). The same group also showed that a pegylated human recombinant arginase, BCT-100, decreased arginine levels, blocked AML proliferation and decreased engraftment in vivo (Mussai et al., 2015). However, the outcome of a clinical trial in phase II (NCT01910012) with ADI-PEG 20 in monotherapy for relapsed/ refractory or poor risk AML was less positive than expected, achieving a complete remission rate < 5%, despite the patients having ASS1 deficiency (Tsai et al., 2017). It has also been published that EVI1 overexpression reprograms arginine metabolism, energy metabolism and nucleotide biosynthesis in hematopoietic stem cells. In addition, EVI1-positive AML is dependent on mitochondrial creatine kinase CKMT1, and its inhibition compromises mitochondrial respiration and ATP production, by altering arginine-creatine pathway (Fenouille et al., 2017).

Arginine is involved in immune regulation. Cytosolic or mitochondrial arginase (Arg1 or Arg2, respectively) hydrolyze arginine to ornithine and urea, limiting arginine availability for NO synthesis (Rath et al., 2014). Mechanistically (**figure 7**), arginine depletion blocks the expression of the CD3ζ chain of the T cell receptor (TCR), which prevents its assembly in the membrane and impairs T cell function (Rodriguez et al., 2004). In addition, arginine depletion has been shown to induce cell cycle arrest in T cells by decreasing expression of cyclin D3 and cyclin-dependent kinase 4 (cdk4) via the general control non-derepressible 2 (GCND2) kinase. The lack of cdk4-cyclinD3 complex prevents Rb phosphorylation and the subsequent release and nuclear translocation of E2F transcription factors, blocking cell cycle progression to S phase (Rodriguez et al., 2007). Inhibition of arginase activity has been reported to restore T cell function through increasing available arginine as well as to induce tumor regression in several cancer models (Steggerda et al., 2017; Miret et al., 2019). Recently, it has been proposed that Arginase 1 affects not only arginine catabolism, but also aerobic glycolysis by enhancing maximal glycolytic capacity in group 2 innate lymphoid cells (ILC2s), suggesting a complex network of metabolic intermediates and a

broader role of arginase 1 beyond urea cycle (Monticelli et al., 2016). ILC2s are involved in tissue inflammation regulation and repair (Kabata et al., 2018). Arginase I expression is found in myeloid derived suppressor cells (MDSCs) (Gabrilovichet al., 2012) and M2-like phenotype macrophages (DeNardo et al., 2019; Thapa and Lee, 2019; Viola et al., 2019), whereas leukemic blasts induce an immunosuppressive microenvironment by the expression and release of arginase II (Mussai et al., 2013).



Figure 7. Argininase-mediated T cell dysfunction. Adapted from Raber et al., 2012

In brief

Amino acids support essential functionalities for cancer cells:

- They can act as anaplerotic substrates and serve as energy source to replenish the TCA cycle (glutamine)
- They protect against oxidative stress by contributing to glutathione generation (glutamine, serine, glycine) and NADPH generation (serine, glycine)
- They can modulate immune function (arginine)
- They contribute to the biosynthesis of macromolecules necessary for proliferation, such as other amino acids, nucleic acids, phospholipids.

1.1.1. Lipids and fatty acids

Lipids are hydrophobic macromolecules with essential and varied functions. They are components of the cellular membranes, they are used for energy supply and storage, they can be a source of NADPH to maintain redox balanced, and they act as signaling molecules. Due to the highly proliferative rate and energy demand of cancer cells, lipids play an important role in cancer metabolism. The roles of lipids in cancer are summarized in **figure 8** (Röhrig and Schulze, 2016).



Figure 8. Lipids in cancer. Adapted from Santos and Schulze, 2012.

Fatty acid synthesis

In human adults, physiologically, *de novo* fatty acid synthesis (FAS) is restricted to specific tissues: liver, adipose tissue and breast during lactation. However, cancer cells are able to perform FAS, connecting lipid biosynthesis to cancer development and progression (Menendez and Lupu, 2007; Röhrig and Schulze, 2016; Chen et al., 2019).

Fatty acid biosynthesis (**figure 9**) begins with the cytosolic conversion of acetyl-CoA into malonyl-CoA by acetyl-CoA-carboxylases 1 and 2 (ACC1, ACC2). Acetyl-CoA originates from the cleavage of citrate by ATP-citrate lyase (ACLY), which is phosphorylated and activated by AKT. Then, fatty acid synthase (FASN) generates palmitate from the serial NADPH-dependent condensation of 7 malonyl-CoA molecules with a priming one of acetyl-CoA. Palmitate (16:0) can then be elongated by FA elongases (elongation of very long fatty acids, ELOVLs) and desaturated at the Δ 9 position by stearoyl-CoA desaturases (SCDs) to produce other FAs at the cytoplasmic face of the endoplasmic reticulum membrane. The inhibition of SCD1 reduces monounsaturated fatty acid synthesis as has antileukemic effects (Southam et al., 2015). Other FA desaturases (FADSs) can introduce double bonds at the Δ 5 or Δ 6 position, or at Δ 9 in long-chain FAs (Carracedo et al., 2013; Röhrig et al., 2016; Kreitz et al., 2019). Short

chain FAs can passively cross the membrane and enter the cell, however, essential FAs need to be uptaken from the bloodstream via low-density lipoprotein receptor (LDLR) or other FAs transporters such as FA transport proteins (FATPs) or FA translocase (FAT) together with FA binding proteins (FABPs). Intracellular FAs pool has several and varied roles: they can be used for membrane synthesis (such as glycerophospholipids, cardiolipins and sphingolipids), for signaling processes (eicosanoids) or for the synthesis of triglycerides for energy storage (Santos and Schulze, 2012; Röhrig et al., 2016).

Numerous studies underscore the importance of FA biosynthesis for cancer cell growth and survival. One of the pioneer works in the field was the identification of the fatty acid synthase (FASN) as tumor antigen in breast cancer (Kuhajda et al., 1994). Inactivity of ACC1 (induced either by siRNA or by pharmacological drugs) caused apopotosis in prostate cancer (Brusselmans et al., 2005; Beckers et al., 2007) and in breast cancer (Chajès et al., 2006). The knockdown of ACLY impairs glucose metabolization to lipid in human adenocarcinoma cells (Hatzivassiliou et al., 2005) and murine lymphoid cells (Bauer et al., 2005), and leads to reduced tumor formation in xenografts (Bauer et al., 2005; Hatzivassiliou et al., 2008). In AML, the mitochondrial transacylase tafazzin, which generates the mature mitochondrial cardiolipin, has been reported to be essential for the growth, viability and stemness of AML cells (Seneviratne et al., 2019).



Figure 9. Overview of *de novo* synthesis of fatty acids (FAs). Adapted from Röhrig et al., 2016.

Fatty acid oxidation

Fatty acids constitute an important energy source via their catabolism by fatty acid oxidation (FAO). In some cancer types, FAO has proven to be an effective therapeutic target (Samudio et al., 2010; Duman et al., 2019).

FAs can be incorporated from the extracellular media, or obtained by hydrolysis of triglycerides in lipid droplets or by lipophagy (Carracedo et al., 2013). They enter the cell by the membrane fatty acid translocase CD36, by fatty acid binding proteins (FABP) or by different fatty acid transport proteins (FATP) (Kreitz et al., 2019). Once inside the cell, FAs are activated to acyl-CoA in a two-step reaction catalyzed by the acyl-CoA-synthetase. Acyl-CoA can enter the mitochondria by conjugating to carnitine, in a reaction catalyzed by carnitine palmitoyl transferase 1 (CPT1), the limiting-step reaction for FAO, which is inhibited by malonyl-CoA. Once the carnitine-conjugated FA is inside the mitochondria, CPT2 will release the carnitine and regenerate the CoA ester, which can undergo FAO. During FAO, each cycle will shorten by two carbons the acyl-CoA, generating NADH, FADH₂ and one acetyl-CoA per cycle. NADH and FADH₂ will enter the electron transport chain (ETC) to produce ATP (Houten and Wanders, 2010; Carracedo et al., 2013; Kreitz et al., 2019). The process of β-oxidation (FAO) consists of several steps, summarized in figure 10. First, an acyl-CoA-ester is dehydrogenated by the acyl-CoA dehydrogenase to yield a trans-2-enoyl-CoA. Then, the double bond is hydrated by the enoyl-CoA hydratase, resulting in L-3-hydroxy-acyl-CoA. In a third step, the 3- hydroxy-acyl-CoA dehydrogenase will generate 3-keto-acyl-CoA. As final step of each cycle, 3-keto-acyl-CoA thiolase will cleave the molecule, resulting in a two-carbon chain-shortened acyl-CoA and acetyl-CoA (Houten and Wanders, 2010). Acetyl-CoA would then enter the Krebs cycle, and with oxaloacetate gives rise to citrate by the action of citrate synthase. Citrate will then be exported to the cytosol to produce NADPH via IDH1 and malic enzyme (ME1) (Carracedo et al., 2013).



Figure 10. Schematic representation of the β-oxidation of palmitic acid in the mitochondria. Adapted from Carracedo et al., 2013.

FAO has been idenfitied as metabolic vulnerability in the context of cancer. In AML Inhibition of FAO with the CPT1 inhibitor etomoxir drastically reduced AML cell proliferation, and sensitized human leukemic blasts to apoptosis induction by BLC-2 inhibitors, (Samudio et al., 2010). Another CPT1 inhibitor, ST1326, induced cell cycle arrest and apoptosis in AML cells (Ricciardi et al., 2015). In addition, high CPT1A expression has been associated with negative prognosis in CN-AML (Shi et al., 2016). In the same line, Wu and colleagues showed that the carnitine transporter CT2 is overexpressed in AML and that its shRNA knockdown reduced growth in AML cells while shifting the cells to a glycolytic phenotype by decreasing oxygen consumption (Wu et al., 2015). FAO serves as main energy source in the OxPhos subtype of diffuse large B cell lymphoma (OxPhos-DLBCL, Caro et al., 2012). In glioblastoma, it has been recently reported that FAO allows cells to adapt to dynamic microenvironment, being an important node of metabolic plasticity (Kant et al., 2020). In breast cancer, it's been reported that adipocyte-derived leptin, by stimulating the transcription of CPT1B via JAK/STAT3 in breast cancer stem cells (BCSCs), activates FAO, which was essential for chemoresistance (Wang et al., 2018). Several studies have also shown that lipids can influence leukemic stem cells (LSCs) fate decisions and response to drugs, and that they are important in the tumor microenvironment. Adipocytes are the dominant stromal cells in adult bone marrow, and this increases with age, reaching the 60% of all cells by the age of 65 (Tabe et al., 2020). Cell growth and survival in AML monocytic cells is supported by bone marrow adipocytes by promoting fatty acid β -oxidation via a transcriptional network that includes Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPARg), FABP4, CD36, and BCL2 (Tabe et al., 2017). It has also been reported that, while LSCs isolated from the novo AML patients rely on amino acids for oxidative phosphorylation, LSCs from relapsed patients are more dependent on FAO, suggesting an association between FAO and chemoresistance and, more importantly, a metabolic vulnerability that can be exploited as a therapeutic opportunity (Jones et al., 2019). Remarkably, the role of the FA receptor CD36 in cancer has also been evidenced by several works. CD36 has been reported to be overexpressed in metastatic tissues of human ovarian tumors, and to be essential for the development of malignant phenotypes, Interestingly, CD36 inhibition in co-culture systems with ovarian cancer cells and adipocytes resulted in attenuated adipocyte-induced cholesterol and lipid droplet accumulation and reduced intracellular reactive oxygen species (ROS) content, as well as tumor burden in mouse xenografts (Ladanyi et al., 2018). In prostate cancer, high CD36 expression and increased lipid uptake is also associated with aggressive disease, and CD36 antibody therapy reduced cancer severity in patient-derived xenografts, identifying it as a target in prostate cancer (Watt et al., 2019). Overall, these studies underscore the importance of lipid uptake in cancer. An interesting study identified a CD36⁺-LSC subpopulation that used gonadal adipose tissue as a niche to support its metabolism as well as to evade chemotherapy, in addition to induce lipolysis in adipocytes (Ye et al., 2016).

All of these findings highlight the important and complex role of lipids in cancer, and remarkably in AML, tumor microenvironment and in chemoresistance.
Regulation of fatty acids metabolism

The equilibrium between NADPH-consuming (FAS) and NADH and NADPH-producing (FAO-derived) reactions is regulated by AMPK. NADPH is essential for the cells, since it provides redox power to neutralize oxidative stress and both NADPH and NADH are co-enzymes for many anabolic enzymes, therefore, essential to sustain cell proliferation. Low energy levels activate AMPK, which promotes FAO by phosphorylation and inhibition of acetyl-CoA carboxylase (ACC) (Mihaylova and Shaw, 2011), and potentially also through CPT1C expression and PPAR signaling (Carracedo et al., 2013). FAO promoted by promyelocytic leukemia (PML)-PPAR-δ has been described to regulate HSCs maintenance, by ensuring a correct asymmetric cell division (Ito et al., 2012). In this work, it was also suggested that the inhibition of FAO could lead to exhaustion of leukemic initiating cells (LICs) reservoirs, and therefore, be a therapeutic option. However, in a context of nutrient abundance, ACC2 is hydroxylated and activated by prolyl-hydroxylase PHD3, α -KG-dependent dioxygenase from the EGLN1 family (Kreitz et al., 2019). AML cells expressed low levels of PHD3, independently of energy status, what made the axis PHD3/ACC2 inactive and favoring FAO over FAS (German et al. 2016). In the same study, they also showed that the re-expression of PHD3 recovered ACC2 activity and inhibited FAO, which limited leukemic growth in vitro and extended survival in vivo (German et al. 2016). Expression of FAS enzymes is controlled by a family of three basic-helix-loop-helix-leucine zipper (bHLH LZ) transcription factors known as sterol regulatory element binding proteins (SREBPs) (Röhrig et al., 2016). The enzymes involved in the regeneration of NAPDH (enzymes of the PPP, ME and IDH) are also regulated by SREBPs (Düvel et al., 2010, Röhrig et al., 2016). Remarkably, SREBPs is induced by mTOR (Porstmann al., 2008), thus being a downstream mediator for anabolic gene expression programming (Düvel et al., 2010). Other transcription factors contribute as well to the regulation of FAS, such as carbohydrateresponsive element-binding protein (ChREBP) (Tong et al., 2009), or MondoA, which is induced by MYC and regulates glutaminolysis and lipogenesis in cancer cells (Carroll et al., 2015).

In brief

- Lipids can provide large quantities of reducing equivalents to feed the ETC and biomass for new membrane generation in cancer cells.
- Targeting lipid metabolism in the context of tumor microenvironment-cancer cells can be of high interest to reduce chemoresistance.

1.2. Oncogenic signaling pathways involved in the regulation of cancer metabolism

Oncogene and tumor suppressor genetic programs influence cell metabolism, having a great impact on cell proliferation and eventually, in cancer progression. The main oncogenic pathways involved in cancer metabolic regulation are discussed below.

1.2.1. AMP-activated protein kinase

The AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) is a highly conserved Ser/Thr protein kinase (Faubert et al., 2013). AMPK is considered to be the energetic sensor of the cell, playing a central role in energy homeostasis since it is the main regulator of the balance between energy demand and energy supply within cells (Carling et al., 2011). In addition, it is considered a tumor suppressor, as evidenced by the work of Faubert and colleages where they showed that inactivation of AMPK signaling accelerated Myc-induced lymphomagenesis, increased biosynthetic pathways to support proliferation and induced a metabolic switch towards aerobic glycolysis through HIF-1 α stabilization (Faubert et al., 2013).

As energy sensor, AMPK is activated by an increase in intracellular AMP/ATP or ADP/ATP ratio, caused by a drop in ATP levels (Hardie and Carling, 1997; Carling et al., 2011), such as in muscle under exercise (Winder and Hardie 1996) or upon caloric restriction (Cantó and Auwerx, 2011). AMPK is allosterically activated by AMP (Carling et al., 1987; Hardie and Carling 1997). Hormones such as leptin (Minokoshi et al., 2002) and adiponectin (Yamauchi et al., 2002) can also activate it. AMPK activation can ocurr through phosphorylation of AMPKaThr172 by the upstream kinase LKB1 (Hawley et al., 2003; Woods et al., 2003), and by calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase kinase 2 (CAMKK2/ CAMKKβ) (Hawley et al., 2005; Hurley et al., 2005; Woods et al., 2005). In addition, an increase in intracellular calcium ions induced by CAMKK2 can also activate AMPK (Hawley et al., 2005; Hurley et al., 2005; Woods et al., 2005), which appears to be specially important for the regulation of AMPK in specific tissues in response to hormones, such as ghrelin when binding its receptor in neuronal cells in the hypothalamus (Andersson et al., 2004) or thrombin in endothelial cells (Stahmann et al., 2006), as well as a protective mechanism AMPK dependent upon DNA damage (Vara-Ciruelos et al., 2017). More recently it's been reported that decreased levels of F-1,6-BP and glucose starvation can activate AMPK independently of AMP/ADP (Zhang et al., 2017). When F-1,6-BP is limiting, aldolases promote the assembly of a lysosomal complex containing several proteins (ATPase, ragulator, axin, LKB1 and AMPK) that activate AMPK (Zhang et al., 2017). Since AMPK acts as tumor suppressor, it is not strange that its upstream activator LKB1 is suppressed or diminished in some cancers, such as non-small cell lung cancer (Ji et al., 2007), ovarian cancer (Contreras et al., 2008), breast cancer (Shen et al., 2002), cervical cancer (Wingo et al., 2009; McCabe et al., 2010), and pancreatic cancer (Yang et al., 2015), what results in impaired AMPK activation. Nevertheless, the inability to activate AMPK upon certain energy stress conditions create a metabolic vulnerability in cells harbouring LKB1 mutations.

Once activated, AMPK supports mainly catabolic pathways, such as glycolysis, fatty acid oxidation and autophagy, while it suppresses anabolic processes, including macromolecules biosynthesis and proliferation, as summarized in **figure 11**.

AMPK switches on glucose catabolism by different means. First, it increases glucose uptake through GLUT1 and GLUT4. Mechanistically, AMPK phosphorylates and induce degradation of the arrestin TXNIP, what results in impaired GLUT1 internalization (Wu et al., 2013). Regarding GLUT4, AMPK induces the translocation of GLUT4-containing vesicles to the plasma membrane through phosphorylation of Rab-GAP protein TBC1D1 (Pehmøller et al., 2009) of the histone deacetylase HDAC5 (McGee et al., 2008). In some cell types, AMPK stimulates glycolytic flux by increasing cellular concentration of F-2,6-BP through phosphorylation of the 6-phosphofructo-2- kinases PFKFB2 and PFKFB3 (Marsin et al., 2000). In addition to contributing to glucose catabolism, AMPK promotes mitochondrial oxidative metabolism, more efficient in terms of ATP production and provider of less anabolic precursors. In the short term, AMPK enhances fatty acid uptake into mitochondria through phosphorylation of ACC2, which results in lower levels of malonyl-CoA and reduced FA synthesis, active CPT1 and stimulation of mitochondrial fatty acid oxidation (Merrill et al., 1997). In the longer term, AMPK activation promotes mitochondrial biogenesis through direct phosphorylation of PPARG coactivator 1α (PGC- 1α) (Jäger et al., 2007) or by inducing PGC-1a deacetylation and activation by sirtuin 1 (SIRT1), through increased cellular NAD⁺ levels (Cantó et al., 2009). AMPK also promotes both autophagy and mitophagy through ULK1 phosphorylation (Egan et al., 2010; Kim et al., 2011) or through phosphorylation and activation of the Ca^{2+} /calmodulin kinase DAPK, that will subsequently phosphorylate the key autophagy protein Beclin-1 (Shiloh et al., 2018). Mitochondrial fission is also promoted by AMPK through the direct phosphorylation of mitochondrial fission factor (MFF) (Toyama et al., 2016).

On the other hand, AMPK activation switches off main anabolic pathways. AMPK phosphorylates and inactivates ACC1 (Carling et al., 1987) and 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-CoA reductase (HMGR) (Hardie et al., 1989), dowregulating fatty acid and sterol synthesis. AMPK phosphorylates the transcription factors SREBP1c (Li et al., 2011) and ChREBP (Kawaguchi et al., 2001) as well, which results in the downregulation of the expression of ACC1 and FASN. In addition to fatty acid biosynthesis, AMPK inhibits triglyceride and phospholipid synthesis by inactivating glycerol phosphate acyl transferase (GPAT), the first enzyme of the pathway (Muoio et al., 1999). AMPK also inactivates glycogen synthase and therefore, glycogen synthesis (Bultot et al., 2012). Nucleotide biosynthesis is also impaired by AMPK through direct phosphorylation of the major isoforms of the phosphoribosyl pyrophosphate synthetase PRPS1 and PRPS2 (Qian et al., 2017), as well as ribosomal rRNA synthesis by direct phosphorylation of the transcription factor for RNA polymerase I, TIF-1 α (Hoppe et al., 2009). AMPK also switches off protein synthesis through the inactivation of mammalian target of rapamycin complex-1 (mTORC1) by phosphorylation of Raptor (Gwinn et al., 2008) and through activating phosphorylation of TSC2 that maintains the mTORC1-activating G protein Rheb in its inactive GDP- form (Inoki et al., 2003).

Elongation step is also suppressed by AMPK through phosphorylation of the elongation factor-2 kinase (EF2K), which once activated phosphorylates elongation factor-2 at Thr56 (Johanns et al., 2017). Pharmacological AMPK activation has been reported to induce cell cycle arrest through increased expression of the G1 cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors p21^{CIP1} (CDKN1A) and p27^{kip1} (CDKN1B) promoted by p53 (Imamura et al., 2001; Jones et al., 2005; Rattan et al., 2005). Overall, the regulatory role of AMPK in cell proliferation, energetics and metabolism highlights its importance in cancer therapy.



Figure 11. AMPK is a key regulator of energetic metabolism. On the left, targets and pathways activated by AMPK. On the right, targets and pathways inhibited by AMPK. Adapted from Vara-Ciruelos et al. 2019.

1.2.2. c-Myc

c-Myc is the transcription factor encoded by the oncogene *MYC*, often deregulated in cancer and associated with aggressive, poorly differenciated tumors (Pelengaris et al., 2002). c-Myc integrates cell proliferation, growth and metabolism. The main metabolic pathways regulated by c-Myc are represented in **figure 12**.

c-Myc regulates purine and pyrimidine synthesis, necessary for cell proliferation, through upregulation of the tri-functional enzyme Carbamoyl phosphate synthase II, Aspartate transcarbamoylase and Dihydroorotase (CAD) (Eberhardy et al., 2001), dihydroorotate dehydrogenase (DHODH) and phosphoribosyl pyrophosphate amidotransferase (PPAT) (Liu et al., 2008). In addition, c-Myc also activate positive cell cycle regulators, like CDK4 and CDK6 (Mateyak et al., 1999; Hermeking et al., 2000), and suppresses CDK inhibitors, like p21 (Gartel et al., 2001; Rand et al., 2018), p27 (Yang et al., 2001), and p16 (Rand et al., 2018). Interestingly, c-Myc is able to induce cell cycle even in DNA damaged condition, suggesting selection for p53 loss to fuel clonal evolution and tumor progression (Raimondi et al., 2019), classically by c-Myc induced ARF disruption (Eischen et al., 1999). In this regard, it has

recently been reported that c-Myc can also inactivate p53 through the c-Myc-Inducible Long noncoding RNA Inactivating P53 (MILIP), which promotes p53 polyubiquitination and turnover (Feng et al., 2020).

c-Myc also stimulates glucose uptake and glycolysis through transactivation of genes encoding the glucose transporter GLUT1, and the glycolytic enzymes PFK, enolase (Osthus et al., 2000), HK2 (Kim et al., 2007), LDHA (Shim et al., 1997) as well as the lactate transporter MCT1 (Doherty et al, 2014), which, as discussed later in the chapter "1.3.2.3.2.iii. Lactate", participates in the establishment of a symbiotic relationship between the cancer cells and surrounding normal cells to induce immunosuppression (Allen et al., 2016; Park et al., 2016). c-Myc also regulates PKM2 expression by controlling its splicing (David et al.,2010). Regarding induction of glycolysis, c-Myc metabolism cooperates with hypoxic metabolism mediated by HIF-1, which is evidenced by the fact that even during normoxia, c-Myc promotes HIF expression and inhibits HIF-1α degradation (Kim et al., 2007; Huang, 2008). c-Myc is also involved in glutamine addiction through transcriptional reprogramming of mitochondrial metabolism, in which glutamine sustains TCA cycle anapleurosis and provides high rates of NADPH production to fuel lipid and nucleotide biosynthesis (Wise et al., 2008). c-Myc promotes the expression of the glutamine importers SLC1A5/ ASCT2 and SLC38A5/ SN2 (Wise et al., 2008), as well as it enhances GS expression through DNA demethylation by thymine DNA glycosylase (TDG) (Bott et al., 2015) and mitochondrial glutaminase GLS1 expression, which converts glutamine to glutamate, through miR-23a/b suppression (Gao et al., 2009). Mitochondrial biogenesis is also up-regulated by c-Myc via mitochondrial transcription factor A (TFAM) (Li et al., 2005), to support glutamine catabolism. De novo synthesis of fatty acids is also enhanced by c-Myc, through increased expression of ACLY, ACC and FASN (Dejure and Eilers, 2017). c-Myc is also involved in ROS and oxidative stress control, activating pathways that support GSH and NADPH production. c-Myc triggers serine biosynthesis pathway through the regulation of SHMT, both cytosolic and mitochondrial isoforms (Nikiforov et al., 2002). Increased serine biosynthesis leads to higher GSH production, as well as cell cycle progression and nucleic acid synthesis, all processes essential for cell survival and proliferation, specially under stress conditions of limited nutrient availability (Sun et al., 2015). In addition, c-Myc induces peroxiredoxin 3 (PRDX3), which maintains mitochondrial oxidative stress homeostasis (Wonsey et al., 2002).



Figure 12. Metabolic changes induced by MYC.

MYC promotes anabolic reactions (magenta) to support proliferatiion. MYC increases glucose and glutamine uptake and uses them as building blocks for several macromolecules, such as lipids, nucleotides by promoting the expression of transporters and metabolic enzymes (turquoise). Adapted from Dejure and Eilers, 2017.

1.2.3. Hypoxia and hypoxia inducible factors

Hypoxia, reduced oxygen availability, triggers a coordinated an adaptive response to equilibrate O₂ supply with metabolic and bioenergetic demand (Semenza, 2001). In response to low oxygen tension, cells engage multiple evolutionarily conserved molecular responses, such the one mediated by the hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF), mTORC1, autophagy, endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress response, or the O₂-dependent dioxygenases (Nakazawa et al., 2016).

The transcription factor HIF-1 is the master regulator of oxygen homeostasis in the cell. HIF-1 is a heterodimer, constituted of HIF-1 β and HIF-1 α subunits, both constitutively expressed, but stability of the α subunit being highly regulated by O₂ levels. (Semenza, 2003). Under O₂ availability, HIF-1 α is hydroxylated on proline residues 402 and 564 by prolyl hydroxylase domain (PHD) proteins (mainly PHD2), which use O₂ and α -KG as substrates. (Jaakkola et al., 2001; Kaelin and Ratcliffe, 2008). The von Hippel-Lindau (VHL) protein binds to hydroxylated prolines and recruits an ubiquitin ligase complex through its interaction with Elongin C (Kamura et al., 2000). Ubiquitination tags HIF-1 α to degradation by

the proteasome (Salceda and Caro, 1997; Semenza, 2009). Factor inhibiting HIF (FIH-1) binds to HIF-1 α and hydroxylates its Asn803 to block HIF-1 α transactivation domain interaction with the coactivators p300 or CBP (Mahon et al., 2001; Lando et al., 2002). Therefore, O₂-dependent hydroxylation is a negative regulator both of HIF-1 α stability and transcriptional activity (Semenza, 2009). However, hydroxylation reactions are inhibited under hypoxia, and therefore, HIF-1 α is stabilized, binds to its coactivators and subsequently increases transcription of target genes involved in angiogenesis, glucose metabolism, cell proliferation/ survival and invasion/metastasis. HIF-1 α transcriptional and postranscriptional regulation is represented in **figure 13**.



Figure 13. Transcriptional and post-transcriptional regulation of HIF-1*a***.** Adapted from McGettrick and O'Neill, 2020.

In cancer, HIF-1 α can be stabilized under several conditions. The first one is under intratumoral hypoxia, common in solid tumors, where tumor microenvironment tends to be deprived from oxygen and nutrients (Höckel and Vaupel 2001). HIF-1 α can also be stabilized due to microenvironment alterations, like ROS, which have been reported to stabilize HIF-1 α under normoxia through PHD inhibition (Chandel et al., 2000). ROS derived from ERK axis have also been reported to stabilize HIF-1 (Lamberti et al., 2017). Cancer-specific genetic alterations like mutations in the TCA enzymes SDH and FH impair function of α -KG-dependent dioxygenases due to succinate and fumarate accumulation, and lead to stabilization HIF-1 α in an O₂ independent manner (Isaacs et al., 2005; Selak et al., 2005). Oncogenic gain of function (like PI3K/AKT/ mTOR signaling) or tumor suppressor loss (like VHL loss) have also been reported to take part in normoxic HIF-1 stabilization. Interestingly, also therapeutic resistance to both chemotherapy and radiotherapy has been linked to hypoxia (Höckel et al., 1993; Brizel et al., 1996), rendering the

pharmacological impairment of this pathway an attractive therapeutic option (Harada et al., 2009; Agani and Jiang, 2013; Semenza, 2013).

One of the first pathways found to be upregulated by HIF-1 α (figure 14) is glycolysis. In fact, the aim of HIF-1 α signaling is to use glycolysis as main source of ATP, uncoupling it from mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation (Semenza, 2011). Not surprisingly, HIF-1 is thus one of the main contributors to the Warburg effect (Denko, 2008), since it triggers the expression of glucose transporters and glycolytic enzymes (Semenza et al., 1996; Iyer et al., 1998; Seagroves et al., 2001) as well as PDK1 (Kim et al., 2006; Papandreou et al., 2006) and the lactate transporter MCT4 (Ullah et al., 2006). Thus, through upregulation of both LHDA and PDK1 (that regulates PDH), HIF-1 shunts pyruvate away from mitochondria and protects the cell from oxidative stress. Classically, HIF-1 was though to drive the switch to glycolysis because of a matter of ATP production maintenance; however, different works have shown that it's also a mechanism to reduce ROS production and oxidative stress (Kim et al., 2006, Zhang et al., 2008; Zhao et al., 2014). This was first evidenced in HIF-1 deficient mice embryonic fibroblasts (MEFs), where cell death was induced by toxic ROS due to inhability to switch to glycolytic metabolism and not by ATP depletion (Kim et al., 2006, Zhang et al., 2008). HIF-1 promotes PPP, NADPH generator pathway, through inducing O-GlcNAcylation of G6PD, the first committed step in the PPP (Rao et al., 2015), or through the mitochondrial localization of the p53 target TP53-induced glycolysis and apoptosis regulator (TIGAR) that results in high HK2 activity and also increased PPP flux (Cheung et al., 2012). Regarding mitochondria, HIF-1 triggers mitochondrial autophagy through the upregulation of the expression of BNIP3 and BNIP3L, decreasing their number and therefore, the oxidative metabolism (Zhang et al., 2008; Bellot et al., 2009). HIF-1 directly modulates ETC through the expression of NDUFA4L2, that inhibits ETCI activity (Tello et al., 2011) and through the replacement of the cytochrome c oxidase subunit COX4-1 by the more efficient COX4-2 (Fukuda et al., 2007), both resulting in decreased ROS production. HIF-1 also induces the expression of miR-210, a repressor of several ETC subunits including NDUFA4 (ETCI), SDHD (ETCII), COX10 (ETCIV) and ISCU1/2, involved in iron sulfur center synthesis (Chen et al., 2010; Puisségur et al., 2010).



Figure 14. Metabolic target genes of HIF-1.

HIF-1 promotes glycolysis, shuts down OxPhos and can inhibit apoptosis by blocking the expression of BID. Adapted from Matsuura et al., 2016. There are several HIF-1 inhibitors that are or have been evaluated in clinical trials, such as Apigenin, that reduces HIF-1 protein through impairment of PI3K/AKT signaling (Mirzoeva et al., 2008); PX-478, which is the first HIF-1 α inhibitor in clinical stage for the treatment of solid tumors (Tibes et al., 2010); Bortezomib, which is proteasome inhibitor that also represses HIF-1 α transcriptional activity and reinforce the FIH-mediated inhibition of p300 recruitment, approved for multiple myeloma and mantle cell lymphoma (O'Connor et al., 2005; Befani et al., 2011); or BAY 87-2243, an ETCI inhibitor that reduced HIF-1 α gene expression and protein levels but whose clinical trial (NCT01297530) was terminated due to toxicity (Ellinghaus et al., 2013). One of the approaches that may have higher therapeutic interest is the combination of HIF-1 inhibitors with chemotherapy/radiotherapy, given that chemotherapy and radiotherapy resistance associates with HIF-1 expression, and that it seems an efficient approach in several preclinical models (Frolova et al., 2012; Zhao et al., 2014; Smolarczyk et al., 2018; Khan et al., 2019).

1.2.4. p53

The TP53 gene encodes the transcription factor p53, a tumor suppressor classically denominated as "the guardian of the genome" due to its involvement in genome stability maintenance and cancer protection (Lane, 1992; Lakin and Jackson, 1999). TP53 mutations are the most common ones in sporadic human cancers, suggesting an important selection against p53 function in tumorigenesis (Kandoth et al., 2013). In cells exposed to stress signals, p53 drives apoptosis or senescence, restricting tumor development (Brady and Attardi, 2010). Under physiologic conditions of no cellular stress, E3 ubiquitin ligase MDM2 targets p53 for degradation. However, under a variety of stress signals, including DNA damage, ROS, hypoxia or oncogene expression, p53 binds to DNA specific sequences to reprogram cell expression (Brady et al., 2011). p53 transcription network is summarized in **figure 15**.

One of the most classic actions of p53 is the induction of cell cycle arrest at the G1 phase by stimulating transcription of the gene for the cyclin dependent kinase inhibitory protein p21, which inhibits the cyclin E/cdk2 and cyclin A/cdk2 kinases, preventing cell cycle progression. p53 can also trigger cell-cycle arrest within the G2 phase by inducing the expression of the protein 14-3-3 ζ , or alternatively, it can trigger apoptosis through stimulating the transcription of pro-apoptotic factors (Lakin and Jackson, 1999). Regarding cell death, p53 induces apoptosis through direct transcriptional activation of the pro-apoptotic BH3-only proteins PUMA and NOXA (2003; Aubrey et al., 2017). It can also induce ferroptosis, a non-apoptotic, iron-dependent cell death type (Jiang et al., 2015; Kang et al., 2019) by inhibiting the expression of the cystine-glutamate antiporter SLC7A11 (Jiang et al., 2015) or by enhancing that of SAT1 (spermidine/spermine N1-acetyltransferase 1) (Ou et al., 2016) and GLS2 (Kang et al., 2019).

More recently, the regulatory role of p53 in cell metabolism has also being recognized. p53 seems to oppose to Warburg effect by supporting oxidative phosphorylation and downregulating glucose

transporters and glycolytic enzymes (Lacroix et al., 2020). More specifically, it reduces the glucose transporters GLUT1 and GLUT4 transcriptionally (Schwartzenberg-Bar-Yoseph, et al., 2004); GLUT3 through limiting IKK-NF-kB activation (Kawauchi et al., 2008); as well as it regulates the transcription of other genes involved in glycolysis modulation, like MCT1 (Boidot et al., 2011),TP53-inducible glycolysis and apoptosis regulator (TIGAR) (Bensaad et al., 2006), PFKFB3/4 (Franklin et al., 2016; Ros et al., 2017). It also promotes the expression of the tumor suppressor miR-34a, which among other regulatory and anti-tumoral actions, decreases the expression of the glycolytic enzymes HK1, HK2, GPI, and PDK1. (Kim et al., 2013; Zhang et al., 2019).

While decreasing glycolysis, p53 promotes OxPhos by several coordinated actions. p53 downregulates PDK2, allowing PDH to fuel TCA with acetyl-CoA (Contractor and Harris, 2011). p53 enhances also glutaminolysis through increased expression of GLS2, which also contributes to ROS protection (Hu et al., 2010; Suzuki et al., 2010), and fatty acid oxidation, through CPT1 (Sanchez-Macedo et al., 2013), malonyl-CoA descarboxylase (Liu et al., 2014), acyl-CoA dehydrogenase (Jiang et al., 2015), or the phosphatidate phosphatase Lpin1 (Assaily et al., 2011), to maintain TCA cycle. By fueling TCA cycle, p53 guarantees α-KG levels to maintain cell differentiation via chromatin modification of 5hydroxymethylcytosines (Morris et al., 2019). Another mechanism exerted by p53 to maintain cell differentiation is by inducing the transcription of miR-34, which has also been involved in limiting cellular reprograming and plasticity (Choi et al., 2011). In addition, p53 promotes mitochondrial biogenesis by interacting with and stimulating TFAM (Yoshida et al., 2003; Wen et al., 2016); ROS protection and apoptosis control through Ferredoxin Reductase (FDXR) (Liu and Chen, 2002; Zhang et al., 2017) and Apoptosis Inducing Factor (AIF) (Stambolsky et al., 2006); enhanced activity of the ETC through increasing the enzyme Synthesis of Cytochrome c Oxidase 2 (SCO2) (Matoba et al., 2006); mitochondrial genome integrity through interaction with poly (Achanta et al., 2005; Bakhanashvili et al., 2008) and mitochondrial quality control through mitophagy by increasing Parkin (Zhang et al., 2011) and Mitochondria Eating Protein (MIEAP) (Kitamura et al., 2011). p53 also enhances the expression of mitochondrial protein import machinery to promote mitochondrial function, like TOM20, TIM23 and mitochondrial heat shock proteins mtHSP70 and mtHSP60 (Saleem et al., 2015), as well as it is involved in mitochondrial dynamics supporting mitochondrial fission via Dynamin-related protein 1 (DRP1) (Li et al, 2010) or fussion by participating in the processing of the long form of Opa1 (L-Opa1) (Kong et al., 2014) according to the situation.

p53 can protect from ROS by downregulating ROS-producing enzymes like nitric oxide synthase 2 (NOS2) (Forrester et al., 1996) and by inducing the expression the ROS-detoxifying enzyme Superoxide Dismutase 2 (SOD2) (Hussain et al., 2004). In addition, as previously mentioned, p53 induces the expression of TIGAR and PFKFB3, which favour NADPH production through PPP to maintain the pool of reduced GSH (Bensaad et al., 2006, Franklin et al., 2016; Ros et al., 2017).

In order to limit proliferation, p53 inhibits nucleotide synthesis by inhibiting inosine-monophosphate dehydrogenase (IMPDH) through the p53-induced microRNA-34a (miR-34a) (Kim et al., 2012) and guanosine 5'-monophosphate synthase (GMPS) (Holzer et al., 2017), while it promotes DNA repair upon DNA damage through the activation of ribonucleotide reductase (RNR) (Tanaka et al., 2000). p53 can promote autophagy by the regulation of proteins involved in the process (Kenzelmann Broz et al., 2013) or through inhibition of mTOR by AMPK s (Feng et al., 2005).

p53 has also been reported to be involved in modulation of the immune populations in the tumor microenvironment (TME). More specifically, loss of p53 increases myeloid infiltration through enhanced cytokine secretion and increase Tregs, resulting in delayed tumor rejection and highlighting the role of p53 in anti-tumor immune response (Bezzi et al., 2018; Blagih et al., 2020).

| Apoptosis | Cell cycle | DNA repair | Metabolism | Ferroptosis/ redox | Differentiation/ reprogramming | TME ∽€€€?≻⊖ |
|--|---|---|---|--|---|--|
| Apaf1 Puma Bax Siva Fas Tnfrsf10d mir-34 Noxa TP53AIP1 Traf4 Perp Pidd Pig3 | 14-3-30 Ptprv Btg2 Ptpn14 Ccng1 Reprimo Cdkn1a Zmat3 Gadd45a mir-34 Pai1 Pcna Pml Prl3 | Dbd2 Polk Ddit4 Rnf144b Ercc5 Rrm2b Fancc Ttc28 Gadd45a Xpc Ku86 Mgmt Mih1 Msh2 Polh | Abca1 Sic1a3 Acad11 Sic7a3 Gls2 Tigar Glut1 TRINGS Glut4 Idh1 Pcx Prkab1 Prkab2 Sco2 | Slc7a11 Sesn2 Sat1 Sesn3 Pank1 Pank2 Pank3 Aldh4 Trp53inp1 Tigar Gls2 Sesn1 | Cdkn1a Lif mir-145 mir-300c mir-34 Neat1 Notch1 Serpinb5 | Bai1 Pai1 Cxcl1 Tap1 Erap1 Thbs1 Icam1 Ulbp1 Irf5 Ulbp2 Irf9 Isg15 Maspin Mcp1 Ncf2 |

Figure 15. p53 regulatory transcriptional program. Adapted from Boutelle and Attardi (2021).

1.2.5. PI3K/AKT signaling

The phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase (PI3K)/AKT pathway integrates growth factor, insulin and cytokines signaling, regulating in return several processes such as cell growth and proliferation, survival, metabolism and motility (Thorpe et al., 2014).

Under physiological conditions, the above mentioned signals can activate tyrosine kinases receptors (RTKs), cytokine receptors, integrins and G protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs) that will activate PI3K (**figure 16, left**). Mutations in PI3K-activating RTKs, like epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) and human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2), appear amplificated and activated in some cancers (Yuan and Cantley, 2008). There are 3 classes of PI3K, among which PI3K class Ia (heterodimers of a catalytic subunit among p110 α , p110 β or p110 δ , associated with a regulatory subunit, p85 α or p85 β ,

which are activated by RTKs, G protein-coupled receptors and the small G protein RAS) and class Ib (consist of the catalytic subunit p110y, associated with the regulatory subunit p101, and they are are activated by GPCRs) are the more studied (Xu et al., 2020). Mutations in the gene encoding the $p110\alpha$ catalytic subunit (PIK3CA) are frequently found in cancer (Karakas et al., 2006; Samuels and Waldman, 2010). PI3K activation in the plasma membrane leads to the production of phosphatidylinositol 3,4,5trisphosphate (PIP3) through the phosphorylation of phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate (PIP2). Phosphatase and tensin homologue (PTEN) opposes to PI3K signaling by dephosphorylating PIP3 into PIP2 (Liu et al., 2009). PTEN is the second most mutated tumor suppressor in cancer, after p53, and its loss of function leads to sustained PI3K signaling activity, which highlights the involvement of the pathway in cancer (Yin and Shen, 2008). PIP3 serve as docking sites for the recruitement of PI3K downstream effector proteins with a pleckstrin homology (PH) domain, amongst which there is the ser/thr kinase AKT, also known as Protein kinase B or PKB (Fruman et al., 2017). Once AKT binds to PIP3, it is subsequently phosphorylated by phosphoinositide-dependent protein kinase 1 (PDPK1), which is essential for its activation (Le Good et al., 1998), and also by mTORC2, which enhances AKT activity (Sarbassov et al., 2005). There are 3 AKT isoforms, however, they all seem to be functionally redundant (Santi and Lee, 2010). AKT amplification and overexpression is also found in cancer (Altomare and Testa, 2005).

In this point it will only be discussed AKT downstream effects on metabolism, although its actions involve also other cellular responses, such as cell survival and proliferation. Among downstream AKT targets there are master metabolic regulators like mTORC1, glycogen synthase kinase 3 (GSK3) and transcription factors members of the forkhead box O (FOXO). Active GSK3 inhibits glycogen synthesis by phosphorylating the glycogen synthase (Cross et al., 1995; Beurel et al., 2015). In addition, GSK3 has other substrates such as MYC, SREBP, nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor (NRF2) or HIF1, which upon GSK3 phosphorylation are ubiquitinated and degraded by proteasome (Beurel et al., 2015). However, in response to growth factors and insulin, AKT phosphorylates and inhibits GSK3, stabilizing GSK3 targets. AKT also phosphorylates and inhibits TCS2, which results in mTORC1 activation (discussed in the next chapter) and leads to protein synthesis as well as to the processing and activation of sterol regulatory element binding proteins (SREBP) and the mRNA translation of the transcription factors MYC, HIF1 and ATF4 (Hoxhaj and Manning, 2019)(figure 16). FOXO is another target of AKT, and its phosphorylation results its nuclear exclusion and in the repression of its target genes, which usually are involved in the suppression of cell proliferation, growth and survival (Greer and Brunet 2005; Zhang et al., 2011). AKT regulates metabolism in the long-term by controlling several transcription factors (figure 16, right) or but also in the short term by directly phosphorylating metabolic enzymes (figure 17).

In the long term (**figure 16, right**), AKT promotes aerobic glycolysis through the induction of the expression of glucose transporters and glycolytic enzymes via HIF-1 and MYC (as described in the previous chapters) and by relieving FOXO repression of glycolytic genes (Gross et al., 2008). In addition, in order to support proliferation, anabolic programs have to be reinforced. AKT also stimulates *de novo*

lipid synthesis inducing the processing of SREBP through mTORC1 activation (Porstmann et al., 2008) and promoting stability of SREBP by inhibiting GSK3 (Sundqvist et al., 2005). It also stimulates nucleotide biosynthesis through increasing NADPH production via PPP by G6PD AKT-mTOR-SREBP expression enhancement (Düvel et al., 2010). Through MYC, AKT upregulates transcription and translation of phosphoribosyl pyrophosphate synthase 2 (PRPS2), as well as glutamine uptake though SLC1A5 and large amino acid transporter 1 (LAT1) (Wise et al., 2008; Gao et al., 2009). Lastly, PI3K/AKT signaling stimulates pyrimidine synthesis through mTORC1-S6K-mediated phosphorylation and enhancement of CAD activity, the enzyme catalyzing the first three steps of pyrimidine biosynthesis (Ben-Sahra et al., 2013; Robitaille et al., 2013). PI3K/AKT-mTORC1 also induces de novo purine biosynthesis through MYC, SREBP and ATF4, stimulating the expression of mTHF and other enzymes in the purine synthesis pathway (Ben-Sahra et al., 2013). PI3K/AKT orchestrate an increase in protein synthesis; mainly driven by mTORC activation (Wang and Proud, 2006), but also complemented by MYC through the stimulation of RNA polymerases I and III, involved in ribososome biogenesis (van Riggelen et al., 2010). Immunosuppressants that target nucleotide synthesis pathways have been used to target cancer cells, due to high proliferation shared by both cancer cells and immune cells upon activation. Interestingly, the vast majority of cellular RNA is rRNA, thus impairing nucleotide biosynthesis with drugs like mizoribine (inosine monophosphate dehydrogenase inhibitor) can be an effective therapy in tumors with upregulated MYC and mTOR, which drastically increase rRNA biogenesis (Valvezan et al., 2017; Huang et al., 2018). Regarding ROS, appart from NADPH production through PPP stimulation, AKT increases NRF2, involved in ROS detoxification by inducing the expression of several antioxidant response enzymes, like glutathione S-transferase, superoxide dismutases, and NAD(P)H:quinone oxidoreductase 1 (Kansanen et al., 2013)



Figure 16. PI3K/AKT pathway.

On the left, (a) AKT activation and (b) AKT phosphorylation of its downstream effectors FOXO, GSK3, and TSC2. On the right, transcription factors mediating the metabolic regulation exerted by AKT. Adapted from Hoxhaj and Manning, 2019 AKT also phosphorylates and acutely regulates several metabolic enzymes (figure 17). In fact, AKT activation is sufficient to promote aerobic glycolysis (Rathmell et al., 2003; Elstrom et al., 2004). More in detail, AKT promotes glucose uptake by increasing GLUT1 and GLUT4 membrane expression. Several mechanisms have been proposed, one involving AKT mediated-phosphorylation and inhibition of the GLUT4-trafficker TBC1D4 (Sakamoto and Holman, 2008), and another one involving thioredoxininteracting protein (TXNIP), which when active, promotes endocytosis of GLUT1 and GLUT4 thus inhibiting glucose uptake, but its phosphorylation by AKT results in its inhibition and in increased glucose uptake (Parikh et al., 2007; Waldhart et al., 2017). In addition, AKT also promotes activity of key glycolytic enzymes, including HK2, partly by increasing its association with voltage-dependent anion channel (VDAC) at the outer mitochondrial membrane which provides mitochondria-derived ATP to sustain glucose phosphorylation by HK2 and promote mitochondrial integrity preservation and cell survival (Gottlob et al., 2001; Pastorino et al., 2002; Majewski et al., 2004). G6P can then enter either the hexosamine pathway, PPP or glycolysis. AKT also indirectly stimulates PFK1 through the direct phosphorylation and activation of the PFKFB2, which increases the PFK1 allosteric activator fructose-2,6-BP resulting in enhanced PFK1-driven glycolytic flux (Hue, and Rider, 1987; Deprez et al., 1997; Mouton et al., 2010). PI3K signaling can also potentiate glycolytic flux independently of AKT by inducing Racdependent release of the glycolytic enzyme aldolase A from an actin-bound state (Hu et al., 2016). High aldolase A expression is correlated with poor cancer prognosis (Jiang et al., 2018; Ye et al., 2018), and it has been proposed as therapeutic target (Chang et al., 2019). AKT also activates transketolase (TKT), enhancing the non-oxidative PPP branch to support ribose-5P generation for nucleotide biosynthesis (Saha et al., 2014). In addition, AKT can phosphorylate and increase ACLY activity, boosting cytosolic acetyl-CoA production and *de novo* lipid synthesis as well as protein acetylation (Berwick et al., 2002).



Figure 17. AKT regulates metabolism through post-translational regulation of several metabolic enzymes. Adapted from Hoxhaj and Manning, 2019.

1.2.6. Mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR)

The serine/threonine kinase mTOR is the catalytic subunit of the multi-protein complexes mTORC1 and mTORC2, both composed by different subunits and divergent in substrate specificities and cellular functions (Saxton and Sabatini, 2017) (figure 18). mTOR and PI3K/AKT pathway are communicated, being mTORC2 an upstream AKT regulator which phosphorylates AKT and enhances its activity (Sarbassov et al., 2005); and mTORC1 a downstream AKT effector target, as described in the previous chapter "1.2.5. PI3K/AKT signaling". In response to growth factors, mTORC2 promotes cell survival and cytoskeletal remodeling through phosphorylation of its targets AKT, PKC and glucocorticoid-induced protein kinase 1 SGK1 (Sarbassov et al., 2005; Facchinetti et al., 2008; García-Martínez and Alessi, 2008). However, mTORC1 is activated by nutrients, amino acid, and growth factors and it is mainly involved in cell growth and division, therefore regulating anabolic pathways including lipids and nucleotides biosynthesis while suppressing catabolic pathways like authophagy (Saxton and Sabatini, 2017). Another difference between the two complexes is their sensibility to rapamycin, driven by the differences in their complex composition: mTORC1, containing Raptor, is sensitive to rapamycin whereas mTORC2, that contains rapamycin insensitive companion of mTOR (Rictor), is insensitive to acute rapamycin treatment (Jacinto et al., 2004; Sarbassov et al., 2004; Saxton and Sabatini, 2017). Due to its involvement in metabolic regulation, this chapter will be focus on mTORC1.



Figure 18. mTOR complex 1 (mTORC1) and 2 (mTORC2) integrate different signals. Adapted from Liu and Sabatini, 2020.

Several mechanism contribute to mTORC1 activation and regulation (**figure 19**). Firstly, in the presence of cytokines, growth factors and ATP, small G proteins called Rheb (Inoki et al., 2003; Long et al., 2005) and Rag GTPases (Kim et al., 2008; Sancak et al., 2008) integrate information from nutrient availability, and modulate mTOR kinase activity and intracellular localization, respectively, in order to promote cell growth. Rag can exclusively recruit mTORC1 from cytoplasm to the lysosomal membrane in the presence of nutrients, and only then mTORC1 can co-localize with GTP-Rheb (Dibble and Manning, 2013), ensuring that the anabolic program triggered by mTORC1 is only carried out under appropriate conditions to support sustained growth. Another important point of mTORC1 regulation is the heterotrimeric tuberous sclerosis complex (TSC), which regulates lysosomal Rheb by converting the active Rheb-GTP

into the inactive Rheb-GDP state, therefore, braking mTORC1 activation (Inoki et al., 2003; Tee et al., 2003). TSC is regulated at many levels. First, in response to insulin or growth factors, AKT phosphorylates and inhibits the GTPase-activating protein TSC2 (Valvezan and Manning, 2019), allowing the accumulation of Rheb-GTP which binds to and activates mTORC1 (Menon et al., 2014). TSC is inhibited by the mTOR substrate S6K1, which phosphorylates insulin receptor substrate 1 (IRS-1) in a negative feedback loop to brake PI3K/AKT pathway (Harrington et al., 2004); by Wnt (Inoki et al., 2006) and tumour necrosis factor (TNF) (Lee et al., 2007); and by the Ras downstream targets ERK (Ma et al., 2005) and p90 ribosomal S6 kinase (RSK) phosphorylation (Roux et al., 2004). In cancer, TSC function is often loss since PI3K/AKT and Ras pathways are often constituvely activated (Altomare and Testa, 2005; Yin and Shen, 2008; Pylayeva-Gupta et al., 2011; Prior et al., 2020). mTORC1 activity is also regulated by PRAS40, which in basal state associates with Raptor and blocks Rheb-mTORC1 activation, but under insulin signaling, is phosphorylated by AKT, releasing active Rheb-GTP-mTORC1 (Haar et al., 2007; Sancak et al., 2007; Wang et al., 2007). mTOR signaling is repressed upon cellular stress (Demetriades et al., 2016). AMPK indirectly activates TSC2 through Raptor phosphorylation under energy or nutrient scarcy (Gwinn et al., 2008; Inoki et al., al., 2003), shutting down anabolism and reducing ROS damaged in mitochondria by promoting its autophagy (Vara-Ciruelos et al. 2019). Independently of AMPK, hypoxia induces REDD1 expression, which can inhibit mTORC1 by activating TSC (Brugarolas et al., 2004; DeYoung et al., 2008). In addition, unfold protein response (UPR) in endoplasmic reticulum can inhibit mTORC1 by increasing transcription of the mTORC1 negative regulator Sestrin2 (Park et al., 2014; Saveljeva et al., 2016). Other cellular stresses, like DNA damage, induce the expression of TSC2 (as well as of AMPK and PTEN) to downregulate mTORC1-promoted cell proliferation and protect genome integrity (Feng et al., 2007; Budanov and Karin, 2008). In terms of nutrients, amino acids are essential for mTORC1 activation, especially leucine and arginine (Hara et al., 1998). Lysosomal recruitment of mTORC1 is dampened upon leucine starvation by the inhibitory binding of the cytosolic leucine sensor Sestrin2 to GATOR2 (Wolfson et al., 2015, Saxton et al., 2015). Cytosolic arginine levels are sensed by the cellular arginine sensor for mTORC1 (CASTOR1), which in the absence of arginine also binds to and inhibits GATOR2 (Chantranupong et al., 2016; Saxton et al., 2016). There is another arginine sensor, SLC38A9, which monitors amino acid levels inside the lysosomal lumen and effluxes neutral amino acids resulting from autophagic protein degradation outside the lysosome to activate mTORC1 pathway after prolonged starvation, by promoting GTP loading of RagA/B (Rebsamen et al., 2015; Wang et al., 2015; Shen and Sabatini, 2018). In the presence of amino acids, the folliculin-folliculin-interacting protein 2 (FLCN-FNIP2) complex sustains mTORC1 activation, acting like GTPase activating protein for Rag (Petit et al., 2013; Tsun et al., 2013). Methionine or SAM deprivation are sensed by SAMTOR, which binds to GATOR1 and KICSTOR inhibiting mTORC1 (Gu et al., 2017). Still, it is to determine whether mTORC1 can sense other essential metabolites for cell growth (Liu and Sabatini, 2020).



Figure 19. Regulation of the mTOR signaling pathway. Adapted from Liu and Sabatini, 2020.

Once activated, mTORC1 triggers an anabolic program to sustain cell growth and proliferation (figure **20**). mTORC1 promotes protein synthesis through the phosphorylation of two targets: the eukaryotic initiation factor 4E-binding proteins (4E-BPs), what leads to enhanced 5' cap-dependent translation of mRNAs through release of eIF4E (Hara et al., 1997; Gingras et al., 1999); and p70 S6 kinase 1 (S6K1) (Burnett et al., 1998), which phosphorylates ribosomal protein S6, and the regulatory factors upstream binding factor (UBF) (Hannan et al., 2003), transcription initiation factor 1A (TIF-1A)(Mayer et al., 2004) and MAF1 (Michels et al., 2010; Shor et al., 2010) promoting RNA polymerases I and III activity. S6K1 also cooperates to enhance protein synthesis through the activation of the positive regulator of capdependent translation eIF4B, and by degrading the the eIF4A inhibitor programmed cell death 4 (PDCD4) (Dorrello et al., 2006). In addition, S6K1 enhances translation elongation of spliced transcripts through SKAR (Ma, et al., 2008). mTORC1 also drives lipid synthesis to sustain membrane biogenesis. For that, mTORC1 phosphorylates the SREBP inhibitor lipin 1 to exclude it from the nucleus (Porstmann et al., 2008; Peterson et al., 2011). In addition, mTORC1 regulates the expression of lipid homeostasis genes through the nuclear receptor PPARy (Kim and Chen, 2004). To sustain nucleotide demand of proliferative cells, mTORC1 promotes purine biosynthesis through the activation of the transcription factor ATF4 and its downstream MTHFD2 (Ben-Sahra et al., 2016); as well as pyrimidine biosynthesis by S6K1-mediated CAD activation and phosphorylation (Ben-Sahra et al., 2013; Robitaille et al., 2013). mTORC1 upregulates HIF-1 α , which increases glycolytic flux and provides energy an carbon sources for macromolecules biosynthesis (Land and Tee, 2007; Düvel et al., 2010; He et al., 2018). In addition,

SREBPs are also activated by mTORC1 to increase PPP flux, rendering NADPH for lipid biosynthesis and carbon precursors for nucleotides (Düvel et al., 2010). mTORC1 also represses catabolic autophagy by phosphorylating the autophagy induction effectors ULK1 and ATG13 (Hosokawa et al., 2009; Kim et al., 2011). mTORC1 also dampens autophagosome maturation by phosphorylating UVRAG and disrupting its interaction with the HOPS complex (Kim et al., 2015). In addition, mTORC1 regulates lysosomal biogenesis by controlling the translocation of the transcription factor EB (TFEB) and the related transcription factor E3 (TFE3) (Martina et al., 2021; Settembre et al., 2012; Roczniak-Ferguson et al., 2012).

To date, several mTOR inhibitors have been developed, however, with limited anti-cancer therapeutic success. The first generation of rapamycin derivatives tested on clinic (Tabernero et al., 2008; Hsieh et al., 2012) could not inhibit the pro-survival pathways regulated by mTORC2- and, in addition, they withdrew mTORC1-brake to autophagy, leading to nourishment of cancer cells under nutrient scarcy (Palm et al., 2015). Second generation inhibitors targeting both mTORC1 and mTORC2 by competing with ATP can lead to resistance through AKT activation without mTORC2 input (Rodrik-Outmezguine et al., 2011; Ghobrial et al). Therefore, new generation therapies need to be developed (Rodrik-Outmezguine et al., 2016; Fan et al., 2017; Xu et al., 2020).



Figure 20. mTORC1 signaling targets to promote cell growth.

On the **left** mTORC1 effectors through phosphorylation; on the **right**, mTORC1 gene expression regulation. Adapted from Liu and Sabatini, 2020.

In brief

Oncogenic signaling determine important aspects of cancer cell metabolism. c-Myc, HIF-1 and the PI3K/AKT/mTORC1 axis cooperate to establish an anabolic program that allows cancer cells generating biomass for proliferation as well as ROS protection, in parallel with a limited mitochondrial catabolism. Tumor suppressors like AMPK or p53 induce a metabolic program opposed to the one exerted by oncogenes, in which mitochondrial catabolic pathways plays a central role.

1.3. Mitochondrial metabolism is essential in cancer

1.3.1. General overview

Mitochondria are essential organelles, classically known as the powerhouse of the cells due to their key role in bioenergetics. However, mitochondria involvement is not limited to ATP production through oxidative phosphorylation. They participate in the biosynthesis of numerous macromolecule precursors, as well as in the sensing and coordination to stressors such as oxidative stress, nutrient deprivation, ER stress or DNA damage, which can lead to apoptosis of damaged cells. In addition, mitochondria regulate reactive oxygen species (ROS) generation, with its implications in signaling (Eisner et al., 2018; Spinelli and Haigis, 2018). Mutations in mitochondrial enzymes, such as succinate dehydrogenase (Baysal et al., 2000; Ricketts et al., 2008; Janeway et al., 2010; Killian et al., 2013; Kim et al., 2013b), fumarate hydratase (Tomlinson et al., 2002; Sudarshan et al., 2009; Ward et al., 2010), can influence gene expression by altering the activity of chromatin remodeling enzymes (Figueroa et al., 2010; Xu et al., 2011) or by inducing specific gene programs through the establization of HIF-1 even under normoxia via PHDs inhibition (Isaacs et al., 2005; Selak et al., 2005). Thus, mitochondria is a highly important organelle within cells.

1.3.1.1. TCA cycle and oxidative phosphorylation

The tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle, also denominated Kreb's cycle or citrate acid cycle (CAC), is a central hub in cell metabolism due to the different substrates that can fuel it, as well as to the diverse functions its intermediates can play, influencing biosynthesis of macromolecules, chromatin modification, DNA methylation and protein post-translational modification.

The TCA cycle (**figure 21**) begins with the condensation of acetyl-CoA with oxaloacetate (OAA), generating citrate in a reaction catalyzed by the citrate synthase (CS). Acetyl-CoA is generated either from glucose-derived pyruvate in the reaction catalized by pyruvate dehydrogenase (PDH), or from fatty acid oxidation (FAO). Then, aconitase (ACO) isomerizes citrate generating isocitrate, which will be transformed into α -ketoglutarate (α -KG) through oxidative decarboxylation catalyzed by isocitrate dehydrogenase (IDH), generating NADH. Subsequently, α -KG is converted into succinyl-CoA in another oxidative decarboxylation reaction, catalyzed this time by α -KG dehydrogenase (α -KGDH), rendering another molecule of NADH. Next, succinyl-CoA is converted into succinate by succinyl-CoA synthase (SCS), coupled to GTP production that can be further converted int o ATP. Succinate dehydrogenase (SDH), the enzyme that takes part both in TCA cycle and in the electron transport chain as complex II (ETC II), oxidizes succinate into fumarate producing FADH₂. Fumarate will be coverted into malate by

fumarate hydratase (FH) or fumarase, and then, malate dehydrogenase (MDH) will oxidate generating NADH from NAD⁺ and OAA, reaching the origin of the cycle where another acetyl-CoA will join and the cycle will continue (Martínez-Reyes and Chandel, 2020).

Several TCA intermediates serve as building blocks for macromolecule synthesis in the cytosol, therefore, anaplerotic reactions to replenish the cycle are needed. Glutaminolysis is one of these anaplerotic mechanisms, since through the transformation of glutamine into glutamate, it regenerates α -KG by the action of glutamate dehydrogenase (GDH) that will enter into TCA cycle, usually after a decrease in mitochondrial citrate levels due to its transport to cytosol for lipid biosynthesis (DeBerardinis et al., 2007). Another anaplerotic mechanism is the one catalyzed by the pyruvate carboxylase (PC), where pyruvate is converted into OAA that will then join TCA cycle (Cheng et al., 2011). Remarkably, upon ETC function impairment, glutamine-dependent reductive carboxylation can take place to maintain citrate levels and even more strikingly, almost all the intermediates of the TCA cycle (Mullen et al., 2011, Mullen et al., 2014). More in detail, glutamine-derived α -KG is converted into isocitrate by NADPH-dependent IDH2, and by reverse function of ACO, it generates citrate (Mullen et al., 2011, Mullen et al., 2014).

The reducing equivalents produced in the TCA cycle (3 NADH and 1 FADH₂ generated per cycle) will fuel the electron transport chain, to lastly produce ATP through oxidative phosphorylation (OxPhos), creating a link between the two processes. Oxidative phosphorylation (**figure 21**) is the largest source of cellular ATP (Spinelli and Haigis, 2018). During this process, electrons from NADH and FADH₂ generated in the TCA cycle are transferred through the different complexes of the ETC (I, II, III and IV) to oxygen as final electron acceptor. Along the flow of electrons to O₂, these protein complexes pump protons from the mitochondrial matrix to the intermembrane space, generating a chemiosmotic gradient and a transmembrane electrical potential ($\Delta\psi$ m) that creates a proton-motive force. When the protons flow back to the mitochondrial matrix, ETC V (ATP synthase) uses the energy stored in the gradient to phosphorylate ADP into ATP (Stryer et al., 2010). Alternative, ATP synthase can also dissipate the proton gradient when acting in an ATP-consuming way.

In more detail, complex I (NADH-ubiquinone oxidoreductase) oxidizes NADH to NAD⁺ and transfers electrons to the ubiquinone (UbQ) carrier, reducing it to ubiquinol (UbQH2) and translocating protons across the inner mitochondrial membrane (IMM). In addition, in the electron transference, ROS can be generated in the ubiquinone binding site of complex I (IQ site), as well as in the flavin site (IF). Mammalian ETCI consists of 44 subunits, seven coded by the mitochondrial genome (ND1, ND2, ND3, ND4, ND4L, ND5 and ND6), and the others by the nuclear genome (Raimondi et al., 2019). Complex II is the succinate dehydrogenase, component also of the Krebs cycle that catalyzes the oxidation of succinate to fumarate, reducing FAD to FADH₂ and then transferring the electrons to Fe-S clusters, which will be transferred to ubiquinone, reducing it to generate UbQH2. Importantly, this electron transference does not have an associated translocation of protons (Zhao et al., 2019). Subsequently, complex III (ubiquinolcytochrome c oxidoreductase) transfers the electrons carried by UbQH2 (from complex I and II) to cytochrome c, coupling this transference with proton translocation, and sometimes, giving also rise to ROS (Raimondi et al., 2019). Complex IV (cytochrome c oxidase, COX) transfers the electrons from the cytochrome c to O₂, the terminal electron acceptor, generating H₂O and translocating protons to the intermembrane mitochondrial space (Raimondi et al., 2019; Zhao et al., 2019). One consequence of the electron transference along the ETC is the generation of superoxide (O₂⁻). It is generated upon proton leakage in the ETC I, II, and III. In addition, other ETC associated enzymes such as proline dehydrogenase (PRODH), mitochondrial glycerol-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GPDH) and dihydroorotate dehydrogenase (DHODH) that link the oxidation of their substrates to the reduction of UbQ, are also ROS-producing spots (Raimondi et al., 2019). Superoxide is converted into H₂O₂ by manganese superoxide dismutase (MnSOD), which acts as second messenger and controls cell proliferation and survival (Groeger et al., 2009).



Figure 21. Simplified view of TCA cycle and oxidative phosphorylation. Adapted from Martínez-Reyes and Chandel, 2020.

Citrate as metabolic regulator

Citrate is an important TCA-derived metabolite, since it connects carbohydrate metabolism, fatty acid metabolism, and epigenetic reprogramming, having also an impact on immune function (**figure 22**). In the context of prostate cancer, decreased citrate levels have been shown to serve as biomarker for

aggressiveness (Giskeødegård et al., 2013). Mitochondrial citrate carrier Slc25a1 exports citrate to the cytosol in exchange of malate. Cytosolic citrate is an allosteric activator of Acetyl-CoA carboxylase (ACC) and of fructose-1,6-BPase, involved in gluconeogenesis. However, it downregulates pathways that produce ATP, therefore, it inhibits phosphofructokinase (PFK) as well as pyruvate kinase (PK) by decreasing levels of the PK activator fructose-1,6-BPase (Williams and O'Neill, 2018). High citrate also decreases TCA cycle, since it inhibits SDH (Hillar and Lennox, 1975) and the acetyl-CoA producer PDH (Taylor and Halperin, 1973). Citrate is generated in the TCA from oxaloacetate and acetyl-CoA by citrate synthase (CS), or alternatively, from α -KG reductive carboxylation via NADPH dependent isocitrate dehydrogenase, in the context of cancer and mitochondrial dysfunction (Mullen et al., 2011; Mullen et al., 2014). There is still no consensus about CS effect in cancer. CS activity is increased in pancreatic and ovarian cancer, which promotes cancer cell proliferation, migration and invasive capacity (Schlichtholz et al., 2005; Chen et al., 2014). However, in cervical and breast cancer CS expression is decreased. This drives the switch from OxPhos to glycolysis, as well as it induces the transformation to epithelial-mesenchymal transition phenotype and therefore accelerates tumor malignancy (Lin et al., 2012).

By ACLY, citrate breakdown provides carbons for cholesterol, ketone bodies, and fatty acid in addition to inducing epigenetic changes through histone acetylation directed by acetyl-CoA. ACLY is a very interesting enzyme. It is involved in immune response modulation as well as in cancer. Preclinical studies have shown that the inhibition of ACLY decreases the expression of the anti-apoptotic MCL-1, arresting tumor growth and increasing sensibility to chemotherapy in gastric cancer (Icard and Lincet, 2016). ACLY also regulates glucose to acetate switch. It was shown that ACLY deficiency induced an increase in acety-CoA from acetate by upregulating ACSS2, providing subtrates for fatty acid synthesis and histone acetylation (Zhao et al., 2016). Not surprisingly, ACLY is found overexpressed and with increased activity in liver, lung, breast, gastric, prostate, colon and bladder cancer and it negatively correlates with the stage, differentiation and prognosis of cancer (Varis et al., 2002; Turyn et al., 2003; Yahagi et al., 2005; Yancy et al., 2007; Migita et al., 2008; Zaidi et al., 2012).

Mitochondrial aconitase (ACO2), mainly involved in the regulation of citrate availability (Gaude and Frezza, 2014), has also been described to be altered in several types of cancer, however resulting in different effects. Decreased levels of ACO2 in gastric cancer have been linked to negative prognosis (Wang et al., 2013). However, ACO2 activity is increased in prostate cancer, which increases citrate oxidation and provides energy for tumor cell proliferation and metastasis, essential for malignancy (Singh et al., 2006; Xue et al., 2019). Regarding immune system, citrate is an important metabolite for macrophage and DC effector function. First, fatty acid synthesis for membrane expansion is essential for antigen presentation. In addition, citrate give rise to cis-aconitate via ACO2, which is subsequently decarboxlylated by immune-responsive gene 1 (IRG1), to produce itaconate. Itaconate has antibacterial effect, in addition to be an anti-inflamatory agent by inhibiting SDH and decreasing the production of NO, IL-18, IL-18, and HIF-1α (Williams and O'Neill, 2018). Interestingly, citrate oral administration was

shown to reduce tumor growth of several mice xenografts while increasing tumor infiltrating T cells (Ren et al., 2017). In the same study, they showed that citrate can inhibit IGF-1R/PI3K/AKT axis, inducing cell differentiation and activating the immunosuppresive PTEN/eIF2a pathway (Ren et al., 2017).



Figure 22. Citrate as metabolic regulator. Figure adapted from Icard et al., 2012.

Oncogenic regulation of TCA cycle and OxPhos

Several oncogenes increase fueling of carbon sources into the TCA cycle, which results in higher electron flow through the ETC that can leak and generate ROS. Oncogenic KRAS signaling increases glutamine feeding of the TCA cycle (Weinberg et al., 2010). MYC also rewires cancer cell metabolism by stimulating glycolysis and enhancing glutaminolysis to fuel TCA cycle (Wise et al., 2008), and by increasing mitochondrial biogenesis, as denoted by an increase in mitochondrial mass and enhanced oxygen consumption in B-cells ectopically expressing MYC (Li et al., 2005). Mitochondria localized AKT has been pointed out to phosphorylate MICU1, the regulatory subunit of the mitochondrial calcium uniporter (MCU), destabilizing the heterodimer it constitutes with MICU2, leading to increased calcium levels in mitochondria (Marchi et al., 2018), which enhances TCA cycle and oxygen consumption (Brookes et al., 2004). Another key regulator of cell metabolism, mTOR, increases mitochondrial respiration by upregulating the expression of the nucleus-encoded subunits ETCI and V via 4E-BP proteins inactivation (Morita et al., 2013). Another mechanism by which mTOR controls mitochondrial gene expression is through the direct modulation of the transcription factors yin-yang 1 (YY1) and

peroxisome-proliferator-activated receptor coactivator (PGC-1 α) (Cunningham et al., 2007). The fusion protein BCR/ABL as well as the activating mutation FLT3-ITD are able to increase oxygen consumption in leukemic cells (Reddy et al., 2010). BCL-2 in leukemia upregulates mitochondrial respiration (Lagadinou et al., 2013), as well as does MCL-1 under BCL-2 expression loss as consequence of venetoclax treatment (Pei et al., 2020).

Respiratory supercomplexes

In the recent years, the existence of respiratory supercomplexes (RSC) it is becoming accepted. Until Acín-Pérez and colleagues showed in 2008 functional evidence of the activity of supercomplexes, they were considered mere structural artifacts of blue native polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (BN-PAGE) (Acín-Pérez et al., 2008). RSC are functional quaternary structures resulting from the assembly of respiratory chain complexes of varied stechiometries, located in the mitochondria cristae (Milenkovic et al., 2017). Cardiolipin is the most abundant phospholipid of the inner mitochondrial membrane (Paradies et al., 2019). Regarding the formation and stability of these supercomplexes, cardiolipin has been described as essential (Bazán et al., 2013). COX7A2- like protein (COX7A2L) (or supercomplex assembly factor 1 SCAFI) has been identified as crucial for the interaction between complexes III and IV (Lapuente-Brun et al., 2013). Respirasomes are the best characterized RSC. They contain complex I, complex III twice, and complex IV, being therefore usually referred as I/III2/IV (Schägger et al., 2004). Cristae shape and structure, regulated by the IMM protein optic atrophy 1 (OPA1), are essential for the assembly and activity of RCS, as well as for cell growth dependent on the mitochondria (Cogliati et al., 2013). The most intriguing part is the reason for the existence of supercomplexes. It has been accepted that their function was to enhance oxidation catalysis by channeling subtrates (Althoff et al., 2011; Guo et al., 2016; Sousa et al., 2016). However, this theory is challenged by recent structural and biophysical data (Letts et al., 2016; Milenkovic et al., 2017). Supercomplexes have been reported to promote breast and endometrial tumorigenesis by increasing TCA intermediates via the stabilizator factor for the respirasome assembly COX7A2L overexpression and by enhancing hypoxia tolerance (Ikeda et al., 2019). In pancreatic cancer, they allow cancer cells to support an oxidative metabolism even under severe hypoxia (Hollinshead et al., 2020), and they have been found to have enhanced assembly, correlated to neurolysin overexpression, in a subgroup of AML patients as well (Mirali et al., 2020).

1.3.1.2. Biosynthesis of macromolecules

Mitochondria participate in the biosynthesis of nucleotides, FAs, cholesterol, amino acids, glucose and heme group.

1.3.1.2.1. Nucleotides

Mitochondria is involved in the synthesis of nucleotides (figure 23). Tetrahydrofolate (THF) carries 1 carbon and transfers it for *de novo* nucleotide biosynthesis (Yang and Vousden, 2016). In addition, activated THF molecules are also involved in the synthesis of amino acids, more specifically in the catabolism of serine into glycine in the mitochondria and in serine synthesis in the cytosol, as well as in the maintenance of redox homeostasis (Yang and Vousden, 2016; Spinelli and Haigis, 2018). This set of reactions; characterized by the generation and transference of activated one-carbon units (1C) is known as the one carbon metabolic pathway or as the folate cycle, previously mentioned in the point "1.1.2.2. Serine and glycine". At a more descriptive level, THF enters the mitochondria through the carrier SLC25A32, and then, it is converted by serine hydroxymethyltransferase-2 (SHMT2) into 5,10-methylene-THF and glycine. Next, methylene-tetrahydrofolate dehydrogenase 2 (MTHFD2) generates the one-carbon-carrying 10 formyl-THF (Yang and Vousden, 2016; Spinelli and Haigis, 2018). The expression of MTHFD2 is regulated by mTORC1 and is essential for cell growth and proliferation (Ben-Sahra et al., 2016). Thus, it is not surprising that highly proliferative cells, such as human cancer cells (Nilsson et al., 2014) or T cells upon activation (Ron-Harel et al., 2016) express high levels of this enzyme. 10 formyl-THF can be used for the generation of formylmethionine tRNA for mitochondrial translation, be cleaved into formate by the MTHFD1-like (MTHFD1L), be exported to the cytosol or alternatively, it can be reconverted into THF by the 10-formyl-THF dehydrogenase. In the cytosol, 10 formyl-THF can be regenerated from formate by the MTHFD1 for *de novo* purine synthesis or 5,10 methylene-THF for pyrimidine synthesis. Then, the cycle is closed by the cytosolic conversion of glycine into serine by the SHMT1 (Yang and Vousden, 2016; Spinelli and Haigis, 2018).

De novo pyrimidine synthesis (**figure 23 right**) begins with the reactions catalyzed by the tri-functional CAD enzyme. The first step of the pathway is the generation of carbamoyl-P and aspartate from CO₂, glutamine and ATP. This reaction is catalyzed by the Carbamoyl-P synthase II activity of CAD. Then, the products of the previous reactions are transformed into carbamoyl-aspartate by the aspartate transcarbamoylase activity. Lastly, the dihydroorotase activity generates dihydroorotate, which is transformed into orotate in the outer side of the inner mitochondrial membrane by the dihydroorate dehydrogenase (DHODH). Orotate gets out of the mitochondria and the bi-functional uridine monophosphate synthase (UMPS) renders uridine-5-P after the two reactions catalyzed by the orotate phosphoribosyl transferase, which generates the intermediate orotidine-5-P, and the orotate decarboxylase (Bajzikova et al., 2019). Remarkably, DHODH transfers the electrons of the oxidation to ubiquinone, thus, its catalytic activity requires available ubiquinone, and therefore, a functional ETC (Raimondi et al., 2019). mTORC1 stimulates the *de novo* pyrimidine synthesis pathway via activation and phosphorylation of CAD by its downstream effector ribosomal protein S6 kinase 1 (S6K1) (Ben-Sahra et al., 2013). Since pyrimidine biosynthesis is essential for proliferation, DHODH is essential for T cell clonal expansion and differentiation into effector cells (Spinelli and Haigis, 2018). In addition, Bajzikova and colleagues

showed that 4T1 cells with deletion of DHODH by CRISPR/Cas9 were not able to proliferate in the absence of uridine. However, the expression of DHODH restored proliferation (Bajzikova et al., 2019). This data suggests that DHODH establishes an essential link between respiration and tumorigenesis, which makes it an interesting therapeutic target. At the gene regulation level, oncogenic MAPK, KRAS and mTOR increase DHODH activity by inducing *de novo* pyrimidine biosynthesis, while MYC increases the expression of DHODH (Raimondi et al., 2019; Mollick and Laín, 2020). DHODH activity is also increased in response to DNA damage and upon chemotherapy DNA repair (Brown et al., 2017).



Figure 23. Nucleotide biosynthesis in the mitochondria.

On the **left:** General overview of mitochondrial nucleotide biosynthesis; on the **right**, de *novo* pyrimidine synthesis. Adapted from Spinelli and Haigis, 2018; Bajzikova et al., 2019

1.3.1.2.2. Amino acids

Several amino acids are synthesized in the mitochondria.

Proline

Proline biosynthesis and degradation takes place between cytosol and mitochondria, in a process called "proline cycle" (figure 24).

Proline biosynthesis is mediated by Δ 1-pyrroline-5-carboxylate reductases (PYCRs) in the cytoplasm, which transform Δ 1-pyrroline-5-carboxylate (P5C) into proline consuming NADPH generated in the PPP. Proline biosynthesis is constitutive activated by PI3K in EGFR-mutated non-small-cell lung cancer (Angulo et al., 2007). Proline biosynthesis is also stimulated by MYC, and blockade of its biosynthetic pathway results in decreased tumor growth. (Liu et al., 2015). The same study also highlighted the essential role of proline biosynthesis at mantaining pyridine nucleotide pool, by linking this process to the oxidative arm of PPP and glycolysis (Liu et al., 2015). Proline oxidation to P5C takes place in the mitochondria, and it is catalized by proline dehydrogenase/oxidase (PRODH/POX), which is considered a tumor suppressor (Raimondi et al., 2019; Burke et al., 2020). In fact, PRODH/POX is downregulated or even absent in many cancers, such as pancreas, liver, kidney, bladder, stomach and colon cancer (Liu et al., 2012). PRODH/POX is located in the inner mitochondrial membrane. It transfers the electrons resulting from proline oxidation to UbQ through FADH₂, becoming a point of ROS generation due to electron leak, or of ATP production depending on the context (Raimondi et al., 2019). Indeed, PRODH overexpression increases ROS generation and decreases ETC respiration fitness, due to competition between PRODH and ECT II for UbQ (Hancock et al., 2015). PRODH/POX is upregulated under hypoxia or under low glucose conditions via AMPK activation, where generated ROS can induce autophagy for survival, or apoptosis and block cell proliferation and cell cycle (Liu et al., 2012). In addition, it is also upregulated by p53, being identified at one of the 14 genes most strongly induced by the famous tumor suppressor (Polyak et al., 1997; Liu et al., 2008). Interestingly, c-Myc suppresses PRODH/POX expression through the induction of miR-23b (Liu et al., 2012b). Regarding apoptosis, PRODH/POX can induce both intrinsic and extrinsic pathways: ROS generated by PRODH/POX can induce cytochrome c release from the mitochondria, and caspase-9 activation (intrinsic pathway). Alternatively, it can induce the extrinsic pathway apoptosis by stimulating tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis inducing ligand (TRAIL) and death receptor 5 (DR5) expression, which will end up with the cleavage of caspase-8 and dead receptor-mediated apoptosis (Liu et al., 2006; Liu et al., 2012; Huynh et al., 2020). Regarding proliferation, MAPK pathway, as well as cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2)/prostaglandin E₂ (PGE₂) signaling, Wnt/b-catenin signaling and EGFR pathway are inhibited by PRODH/POX (Liu et al., 2006; Liu et al., 2008; Liu et al., 2012). Cell cycle arrest is induced by stimulation of the cell cycle regulators geminin and growth arrest DNA damage inducible proteins (GADDs) by ROS PRODH/POX-derived (Liu et al., 2009; Liu et al., 2012). Proline can act also as an anaplerotic metabolite, since it can be converted to glutamate, which can enter TCA cycle after being converted to α -KG (Liu et al., 2012). By increasing α -KG, PRODH/POX increases activity PHDs, which hydroxylate HIF-1a tagging it for degradation, and thus, inhibiting HIF-1 signaling (Liu et al., 2012; Huynh et al., 2020). In addition, proline can also be converted to ornithine by ornithine aminotransferase (OAT) and enter urea cycle (Liu and Phang 2012).



Figure 24. Proline cycle. Adapted from Liu and Phang 2012.

Glutamine and glutamate

Glutamine and glutamate biosynthesis and metabolism is more extensively reviewed in the point 1.1.2.1. Figure 25 summarizes glutamine metabolism according to its subcellular localization.

GS is the enzyme which generates glutamine from the ATP dependent condensation of glutamate and ammonia (Matthews et al., 2010; Yang et al., 2016). GS can be located in mitochondria (in liver) or in the cytosol (in astrocytes) accordingly to tissue $\Delta \Psi$, and depending on its localization, it can have a different role (Matthews et al., 2010; Spinelli et al., 2018). GS-derived glutamine can have different fates depending on the pathological context. In glioblastoma, GS-generated glutamine is used for *de novo* purine synthesis (Tardito et al., 2015), while in breast cancer it is used for general biomass generation (Spinelli et al., 2017). Alternatively, glutamine can enter into the cytosol through several plasma membrane glutamine transporters, where it can take part in several processes, such as the biosynthesis of UDP-GlcNAc, asparagine or nucleotides. Glutamine can also enter the mitochondria through SLC1A5, where GLS converts it into glutamate while releasing ammonium. The three GLS isoforms (GLS1, GLS2, and GAC, a splicing isoform of GLS1) are located into the mitochondria (Wang et al., 2010; Lukey et al., 2019; Yoo et al., 2020). Mitochondrial glutamate can be converted into α -KG by GDH1 or by aminotransferases, like glutamic-oxaloacetic transaminase 2 (GOT2) or glutamic-pyruvic transaminase 2 (GPT2) to participate in the biosynthesis of non-essential amino acids (Yoo et al., 2020). Glutamatedependent transaminases have been reported to be more expressed in proliferative than in quiescent cells (Coloff et al., 2016). Since glutamate-dependent transaminases have mitochondrial and cytosolic isoforms, further research is needed to shed some light on the impact of the subcellular location of glutamate metabolism in proliferation. Glutamine-derived α -KG can fuel TCA, and eventually generate the

oncometabolite 2-HG upon IDH2 mutation or hypoxia, which can modulate demethylathing TET enzymes activity and subsequently regulate epigenetic modifications (Intlekofer et al., 2015).



Figure 1. Glutamine metabolic pathways. Adapted from Yoo et al., 2020.

Aspartate

Interestingly, two studies from 2015 showed that the biosynthesis of aspartate is an essential function of the electron transport chain in proliferating cells (Birsoy et al., 2015; Sullivan et al., 2015). Aspartate biosynthesis takes place in the mitochondria via mitochondrial malate dehydrogenase (MDH2) and its cofactor NAD⁺, using TCA-derived oxaloacetate as substrate. Subsequently, GOT2 synthetizes aspartate from oxaloacetate in mitochondria (**figure 26**). The blockage of ETC impairs mitochondrial ATP synthesis but also decreases NAD⁺ pool and, eventually, NAD⁺/NADH ratio. Therefore, under ETC impairement, citrate derived from reductive carboxylation of glutamine by ATP-citrate lyase is converted to oxaloacetate, further used by the GOT1 for cytosolic aspartate generation. Despite this switch to a reductive biosynthetic aspartate pathway, the levels obtained by this route are not enough to support cell proliferation without external supply of NAD⁺, and it leads to aspartate (Sullivan et al., 2015) can restore proliferation under ETC blockade, since these compounds act as electron acceptors and contribute to cytosolic NAD⁺ regeneration by the LDH, required for the MDH1.



Figure 26. Aspartate biosynthesis requires a functional ETC. Adapted from Van Vranken and Rutter, 2015.

1.3.1.2.3. Heme biosynthesis

Heme is a prosthetic group involved in multiple biological processes, such as cellular respiration, photosynthesis, O₂ transport in hemoglobin, NO and CO sensing in soluble guanylyl cyclase (sGC), oxygenase catalyzed reactions, peroxide production and destruction, enzyme activity regulation and xenobiotic detoxification. (Kim et al., 2012). Heme group synthesis is a highly compartimentalized process, summarized in **figure 27**.

Mitochondrial aminolevulinate synthase (ALAS) catalyses aminolevulinic acid (ALA) generation from glycine and succinyl CoA. ALAS expression, and therefore heme synthesis, has been reported to be increased in fasted liver by PGC-1 α , while glucose intake had the opposite effect, suggesting a nutritional regulation of heme synthesis (Handschin et al., 2005). Then, SLC25A38 exports ALA to cytosol, where it is converted into copro-porphyrinogen III (CPGIII) after four reactions. Subsequently, CPGIII enters mitochondrial intermembrane space through ABCB6, an ATP-dependent transporter. ABCB6 can also export coproporphyrinogen III outside the cell in order to avoid accumulation of heme intermediates. Once in the intermembrane mitochondrial space, coproporphyrinogen oxidase (CPOX) generates protoporphyrinogen IX by catalysing the oxidative decarboxylation of coproporphyrinogen III. Then, protoporphyrinogen oxidase (PPOX) catalyzes the oxidation of protoporphyrinogen-IX to protoporphyrin-IX. The final reaction is the insertion of the ferrous iron in protoporphyrin-IX by ferrochelatase (FECH), to form the heme group. This reaction takes place in the mitochondrial matrix. FECH expression has been reported to be reduced in glioblastoma (Teng et al., 2011), colorectal cancer (Kemmner et al., 2007) and bladder cancer (Hayashi et al., 2015), leading to protoporphyrin IX accumulation. Heme group is degraded to bilirubin by the NADPH consuming enzymes haem oxygenase and bilirubin reductase (Spinelli and Haigis, 2018; McNicholas et al., 2019).

Heme biosynthesis has been reported to be upregulated in high MYCN-AML, correlating with worst survival (Fukuda et al., 2017). Recent work have also shown that heme metabolism is increased in AML patients who fail to achieve remission after chemotherapy. In addition, interruption of heme biosynthesis

sensitized leukemic cells to apoptosis through ETC activity modulation, highlighting a new vulnerability of leukemic cells (Lin et al., 2019).



Figure 27. Heme biosynthesis. Adapted from Spinelli and Haigis, 2018.

1.3.1.3. Redox balance and NAD⁺

NAD⁺ is an essential metabolite, involved in a wide range of cellular processes, such as redox reactions, epigenetic modifications or DNA repair (figure 28). Despite not reaching still a consensus, some studies have shown that mammalian cell types are able to uptake NAD⁺. First evidences were provided by Bruzzone and colleagues, identifying connexin 43 as hemichannels that mediated Ca²⁺-regulated transmembrane NAD⁺ in intact cells (Bruzzone et al., 2001), relevant in neurons. Later on, Billington and colleagues showed that exogenous NAD⁺ could rescue NIH-3T3 fibroblasts from death upon NAD depletion induced by the nicotinamide phosphoribosyltransferase (NAMPT) inhibitor FK866 (Hasmann. and Schemainda, 2003; Billington et al.; 2008). In addition, it has been recently shown that NAD⁺ supplementation was able to rescue MCF-7 breast cancer cells from the block in DNA repair resulting from PARP1 inactivation induced by FK866 NAD-depletion (Wilk et al., 2020). Nevertheless, mammalian cells have several pathways to provide NAD⁺. NAD can be *de novo* synthetized from tryptophan or from nicotinic acid, or, as mainly happens in mammalian cells, recycled via the salvage pathway from nicotinamide (NAM)(Rajman et al., 2018). NAM phosphoribosyltrasferase (NAMPT) is the rate limiting enzyme in NAD⁺ salvage pathway, involved in converting NAM to nicotinamide mononucleotide (NMN), and it has been reported to be overexpressed in some cancers and to induce cancer stemmness in others (Wang et al., 2010b; Shackelford et al., 2013b, Lucena-Cacace et al., 2017). NAD⁺ is used by several enzymes, including sirtuins, Poly(ADP-ribosyl) polymerases (PARPs), the

ectoenzymes CD38, CD157 and SARM1 and Nicotinamide N-methyltransferase (NNMT), and by modulating NAD⁺ content these enzymes and several cellular processes (**figure 28**) are affected.

Sirtuins are class III histone deacetylase (HDAC) enzymes that depend on NAD⁺ for their activity (Etchegaray and Mostoslavsky, 2016). In mammalians, this family is constituted by seven sirtuins (SIRT1-7) that control different cellular processes and vary in subcellular localizacion and enzymatic activity. SIRT1 can be located either in the nucleus or in the cysotosol, SIRT2 is located in the cytosol, SIRT3 and SIRT4 in the mitochondria, SIRT5 either in the mitochondria or in the cytosol, SIRT6 is nuclear and SIRT7 found at the nucleolus (Covarrubias et al., 2020; Xie et al., 2020). Sirtuins remove acetyl groups from lysine residues of target proteins using NAD⁺: they cleave NAD⁺ into NAM and ADPribose to transfer the acetyl group, and Acetyl-ADP-ribose, where NAM and the deacetylated protein are relased as products of the reaction (Sauve, 2010). Nevertheless, some sirtuins like SIRT5 or SIRT6 have desuccinylation and defatty-acylation activities (Du et al., 2011; Jiang et al., 2013) while SIRT6 and SIRT4 can act just like ADP-ribosyltransferases liberating NAM (Liszt et al., 2005; Haigis et al., 2006), whose functions require further study. Exercise and fasting result in rised NAD⁺ levels induced by AMPK activation, what turns-on sirtuins and exerts transcriptional modulation through SIRT1-dependent deacetylation of PGC-1a and FOXO1 to boost mitochondrial biogenesis and lipid metabolism (Cantó et al., 2010). Sirtuns are also involved in the loop that modulates circadian NAD⁺ levels: SIRT1 and SIRT6 regulate circadian clock transcription factors, while SIRT1 regulates NAD⁺ synthesis via salvage pathway through regulation of NAM levels, and, in addition, NAMP is under control of circadian clock (Nakahata et al., 2009; Ramsey et al., 2009; Masri et al., 2014). SIRT1, SIRT6 and SIRT7 participate in also DNA repair (Lagunas-Rangel, 2019), while SIRT3, SIRT4 and SIRT5 and nuclear SIRT1 regulate mitochondrial homeostasis by inducing mitophagy to remove defective mitochondria and mitochondrial biogenesis trough PGC-1a (Jang et al., 2012; Sack and Finkel, 2012; Meng et al., 2019). Sirtuins have attracted great attention for their involvement in ageing, since ageing is accompanied by a gradual decline in NAD⁺ levels and it is expected to impact sirtuins activity (Covarrubias et al., 2020). However, further research needs to be done to completely understand how NAD⁺ influences the natural process of ageing.

Poly(ADP-ribosyl) polymerases (PARPs) are a family of enzymes characterized by its enzymatic activity, involved in DNA damage response and repair. Mechanistically, they mediate the cleavage of NAD⁺ into NAM yielding ADP-ribose, that will be added to PARP and to other proteins, what is known as 'poly(ADP-ribosyl)ation' (PARylation) (Covarrubias et al., 2020). In humans, there are 18 PARPs, however, PARP1 is the best characterized and the main responsible for PARP activity upon DNA damage response, thus, the main NAD⁺ consumer (Ray-Chaudhuri and Nussenzweig, 2017). Upon activation, PARP1 recruits the repair complexes to the damaged point by PARylation of histones, proteins and even itself, to elicit DNA repair (Covarrubias et al., 2020). Due to its function, PARP1 is one of the main NAD⁺ consumers (Liu et al., 2018b), antagonizing SIRT1 since PARP K_m for NAD⁺ is lower, and its kinetics

faster (Cantó et al., 2013). An evidence of this is provided by SIRT1 increased activity and improved mitochondrial function in mice fed with a high fat diet treated with PARP inhibitors (Bai et al., 2011; Pirinen et al, 2014), highlighting the NAD⁺ consumer role of PARP1 not only upon DNA damage, but also in normal conditions. Remarkably, supplementation with NAD⁺ precursors decreased the accumulation of endogenous DNA damage and improved DNA repair capacity in several neurodegenerative diseases (Scheibye-Knudsen et al., 2014; Fei Fang et al, 2016; Hou et al., 2018).

CD38, **CD157**, **SARM1** are ectoenzymes with glycohydrolase activity and also ADP-ribosyl cyclase activity. They cleave NAD⁺ generating NAM and ADP-ribose, while they can also generate cyclic ADP-ribose (Essuman et al., 2017; Covarrubias et al., 2020; Xie et al., 2020).

In addition to cyclic ADP-ribose and ADP-ribose, CD38, can also generate the nicotinic acid adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NAAD(P)) by catalizing a base exchange from NAM to NA (Cosker et al., 2010), what places it in a strategic position to activate Ca²⁺ signaling, with its implications on immune cell activation and cell metabolism (Ernst et al., 2013; Yu et al., 2019). Remarkably, it's been recently reported that CD38 can use NMN as substrate as well (Camacho-Pereira et al., 2016). Interestingly, CD157 can use NR as alternative substrate (Preugschat et al., 2014). In addition, both CD38 and CD157 are upregulated in in ageing tissues (Covarrubias et al., 2020b). Thus, several inhibitors targeting CD38 and CD157 aim to improve the efficiency of NAD⁺ precursor supplementation for restoring NAD⁺ levels in aging and neurodegenerative pathologies (Tarragó et al., 2018). SARM1 relies on Toll/interleukin receptor (TIR) domain for its activity (Carty et al., 2006). It is expressed in neurons, as well as in immune cells (Carty et al., 2006; Essuman et al., 2017). NAD⁺ degradation exterted by SARM1 triggers axonal degeneration upon axonal injury (Gerdts et al., 2015), making the inhibition of this enzyme an interesting therapeutic opportunity for neurodegenerative diseases. Regarding its role in the immune compartment, it is still controversial and further research is needed to characterize its involvement in this field, as well as upon physiologic conditions.

Nicotinamide N-methyltransferase (NNMT) constitutes the main NAM clearance pathway, by catalyzing the methylation of NAM using as donor the methyl group from S-adenosylmethionine (SAM) (Pissios, 2017). NAM methylation decreases the index of methylation capacity in tissues, mechanism that has been observed in cancer cells by enhanced NNMT expression (Ulanovskaya et al., 2013). In addition, by methylating NAM, NNMT regulates NAD⁺ biosynthesis as well as sirtuin activity, since NAM inhibits it as its resulting product (Bitterman et al., 2002; Covarrubias et al., 2020). NNMT is predominantly expressed in the liver, and it has been recently identified as a therapeutic target for treating fatty liver and fibrosis by diminishing both NAD⁺ content and FAO gene expression by inhibiting Sirt3 (Komatsu et al., 2018). Thus, NNMT connects metabolism with epigenetic regulation.



Figure 28. Cellular processes affected by NAD⁺. Adapted from Rajman et al., 2018.

Balance and compartimentalization of redox equivalents is essential for cellular homeostasis and for cell survival (Spinelli and Haigis, 2018). Due to the different nature of the reactions that take place within the mitochondria or the cytosol, both compartments have different needs for NAD. A bigger number of reductive metabolic reactions take place it mitochondria in comparison to cytosol. Thus, mitochondria has a more reductive environment than cytosol. (Stein and Imai, 2012). To support the imbalanced distribution and needs of NAD⁺ between cytosol and mitochondria, yeast have direct NAD transporters, Ntd1 and Ndt2. These two transporters exchange across the inner mitochondrial membrane NAD with AMP and GMP (Todisco et al., 2006). It's been thought for a longtime that mammalian cells lacked a direct NAD transport system and that mitochondrial membrane was impermeable to NAD (Stein and Imai, 2012; Kane, 2014; Spinelli and Haigis, 2018). However, this vision has been challenged, first by the observation of Davila and colleagues that mitochondria could uptake NAD (Davila et al. 2018), and more recently by other works that identified SLC25A51 (also known as MCART1) as a mammalian mitochondrial NAD⁺ transporter (Kory et al., 2020; Luongo et al., 2020). What has been acknowledge for longer to contribute to the exchange of reductive power by reduction-oxidation reactions between cytosol and mitochondria is the existence of redox shuttles in mammalian cells (Kane, 2014; Spinelli and Haigis, 2018). There are 4 main shuttles (figure 29), described below.



Figure 29. Redox equivalents are balanced in the mitochondria through several shuttles. Adapted from Spinelli and Haigis, 2018.

One of these shuttles is the malate-aspartate shuttle. It is the predominant shuttle in oxidative tissues (Kane, 2014). It provides cytosolic NAD⁺ and mitochondrial NADH (Schantz et al., 1986). In general, reduction of NAD⁺ to NADH transfers energy derived from catabolism to drive OxPhos-derived ATP generation (Lewis et al., 2014). This shuttle is constituted by two isoforms of the malate dehydrogenase (MDH1 is cytosolic and MDH2 mitochondrial) which catalyze the reduction or the oxidation of malate to OAA; two isoforms of the glutamate-oxaloacetate transaminase (GOT1 is cytosolic and GOT2 mitochondrial) that catalyze the transamination, the aspartate-glutamate antiporter and the malate- α -KG antiporter (Spinelli and Haigis, 2018). The malate-aspartate shuttle in essential under increased energy demand, increased glycolytic flux or hypoxia, where LDH will increase lactate and cytosolic NAD⁺ generation, and this would stimulate glucose catabolism and mitochondrial NADH for ATP production (Robergs et al., 2004). The malate-aspartate shuttle can also affect cellular amino acid compartimentalization as mentioned above with aspartate, when upon ETC blockade, cells reverse GOT1 flux to generate cytosolic aspartate (Birsoy et al., 2015; Sullivan et al., 2015). In pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma with oncogenic KRAS, malate-aspartate shuttles contribute to increase NADPH/NADP+ ratio using glutamine, which results in oxidative stress protection by for glutathione biosynthesis (Son et al., 2013).

The citrate-malate shuttle is also important, mainly relying on MDH1 and MDH2, while CS, ACLY and the malate-citrate antiporter (CIC) take also part in it (Korla et al., 2015). This shuttle favors an increase in cytosolic citrate levels, promoting FAS (Spinelli and Haigis, 2018). A recent study shows the implication in hepatocarcinogenesis of the citrate-malate shuttle by promoting lactic acid detoxification, and enhancement of lipid biosynthesis and mitochondrial integrity (Lei et al., 2020). It is possible that citrate-

malate shuttle may impact not only FAS but also epigenetic modifications, through ACLY acetyl-CoAproducer activity (Zhao et al., 2016).

α-Glycerophosphate shuttle does not directly impact NAD⁺/NADH. It is formed by cytosolic and mitochondrial α -glycerophosphate dehydrogenase (cGPDH and mGPDH). Briefly, DHAP is reduced to GAP by the NADH consuming reaction catalyzed by cGPDH, rendering cytosolic NAD⁺. Then, mGPDH oxidizes GAP to DHAP, generating FADH₂ that will transfer its electrons to the ETC (Spinelli and Haigis, 2018). The metabolic roles of the shuttle are the regeneration of cytosolic NADH in glycolytic cells, the bypass of ETC during NADH oxidation involved in thermogenesis, and the regulation G3P, conecting and modulating glycolysis, oxidative phosphorylation and lipid biosynthesis. (Mráček et al., 2013). mGPDH has been reported to regulate skeletal muscle regeneration by modulation of mitochondrial biogenesis via CaMKKβ/AMPK (Liu et al., 2018). These authors reported also that deletion of mGPDH attenuated muscle regeneration, while mGPDH rescued expression improved muscle regeneration. In terms of NADPH, the major contributors are the PPP, the malic enzyme (ME), IDH1 and MTHFD (Altman et al., 2016; Yang et al., 2017). NADPH is involved in the maintenance of reduced glutathione (GSH) and in the reductive biosynthesis, such as lipids, and it is important for proliferation and survival in response to cell stress (Lewis et al., 2014). All the isoforms of MTHFD are bi-directional enzymes, but NADP⁺ production is favoured in cytosol, whereas the mitochondrial isoform predominantly generates NADPH (Lewis et al., 2014). Upon mitochondrial DNA depletion, serine synthesis and 1C metabolism are activated by ATF4 to maintain NADPH/NADP⁺ balance (Bao et al., 2016). Also, mTOR promotes via ATF4 1C metabolism mediated by the expression of MTHFD2, in order to support cancer cell proliferation (Ben-Sahra et al., 2016; Zeng et al., 2019).

1.3.1.4. Regulation of apoptosis by energetic and mitochondrial metabolism

Deregulation of apoptosis is one of the hallmarks of cancer (Hanahan et al., 2000). Once again, the involvement of the mitochondria in cancer is undeniable, since it controls cell fate and survival in different ways: it can trigger apoptosis trough mitochondrial outer membrane permeabilization (MOMP); it can spur regulated necrosis through mitochondrial permeability transition (MPT), as well as it modulates energy suppliance and metabolites levels. Apoptosis is a programmed cell death, morphologically characterized by the nuclear and cytoplasmic condensation and breaking up of the cell into a number of membrane-bound, ultrastructurally well-preserved fragments (Kerr et al., 1972). There are two apoptotic pathways depending on the cellular stress that trigeers it: the intrinsic and the extrinsic pathways, summarized and described in **figure 30**. In the intrinsic pathway, cellular stress activates proapoptotic BH3-only proteins that will inhibit antiapoptotic BCL-2 family proteins or directly activate BAX and BAK that will inhibit antiapoptotic BCL-2 family proteins or directly activate BAX and BAK that will induce MOMP. Upon mitochondrial outer membrane permeabilization (MOMP) formation, the "no return" point for apoptosis regulated by the balance of pro- (BCL-2 family) and anti-apoptotic (BAK, BAX) proteins, cytochrome c is released, and initiator caspases (caspases 8 and 9) dimerize and
become active (Boatright et al., 2003), cleaving and activating executioner caspases (caspases 3, 6 and 7) (Riedl and Shi 2004) that will subsequently cleave protein substrates to execute apoptosis and demolish cellular components (McIlwain et al., 2013). Death receptor binding to its ligands triggers the extrinsic pathway, which induces the assembly of DISC (Death Inducing Signaling Complex) with FADD and caspase-8. Cleaved caspase-8 will activate effector caspases. (Matsuura et al., 2016)



Figure 30. Apoptosis intrinsic and extrinsic pathways. Adapted from Matsuura et al., 2016.

Metabolism is emerging as a mechanism used by cancer cells to evade apoptosis. Metabolites can regulate pro and antiapoptotic proteins, and apoptosis regulators can modulate cell metabolism. An example of metabolite that regulates apoptosis are ceramides. Ceramides, the neutral lipid block of sphingolipids, are key structural components of eukaryotic membranes, as well as regulators of apoptosis and cell proliferation, being therefore considered tumor suppresors (Morad and Cabot 2012). Ceramide production is induced under several (apoptotic) stimuli, such as TNF- α , growth factor withdrawal, Fas ligand and DNA-damaging reagents, like for example ionizing radiations and chemotherapy (Morad and Cabot 2012; Dadsena et al., 2019). In addition, overexpression of BCL-2/ BCL-xL inhibits ceramide-induced apoptosis (Ganesan and Colombini, 2010), while ceramide can bind protein phosphatase 2A (PP2A) and induce BCL-2 dephosphorylation and inactivation (Ruvolo et al., 2002). Ceramides enhance BAX MOMP through direct interaction with BAX (Ganesan and Colombini, 2010). It has recently also been reported that the voltage-dependent anion channel VDAC2 is a direct ceramide-induced cell death effector, that acts by blocking Bax retrotranslocation into cytosol (Dadsena et al., 2019). Another mechanism by which ceramides induce apoptosis is through the inhibition of AKT (Schubert et al., 2000) and subsequent activation of BAD, a member of the proapoptotic BCL-2-family (Dadsena et al., 2019).

On the other hand, apoptotic regulators influence cell metabolism. Many of the members of the BCL-2 family reside or translocate into the mitochondria and some of them have been directly reported to

modulate mitochondrial metabolism. For example, BCL-2 was already reported in 2007 to regulate mitochondrial respiration at the level of COX to overcome oxidative stress (Manfredi et al., 2003; Chen and Pervaiz, 2007). In AML, ROS-low LSC have been reported overexpress BCL-2, and the inhibition of BCL-2 with Venetoclax impairs oxidative phosphorylation and redox control, erradicating chemotherapy resistant LSCs (Lagadinou et al., 2013). In neurons, IMM localised BCL-xL interacts with F1F0 ATP synthase, enhancing its activity and stabilizying mitochondrial membrane potential ($\Delta \Psi m$) (Alavian et al., 2011; Chen et al., 2011). In breast cancer, both the expression of BCL-xL and BCL-2 have been recently described to enhance the efficiency of the mitochondrial proton motive force-coupling with ATP production, contributing to resistance of tumor cells to metabolic stress (Lucantoni et al., 2020), whereas their inhibition decreases ATP production (Lucantoni et al., 2018). MCL-1, another antiapoptotic protein member of the BCL-2 family when in the outer mitochondrial membrane (OMM), has been also identified as modulator of several mitochondrial functions when in the matrix in an amino-terminally truncated isoform (Perciavalle et al., 2012). These mitochondrial functionalities in which MCL-1 is involved are cristae ultrastructure, maintenance of oligomeric ATP synthase, ATP production, respiration and membrane potential (Perciavalle et al., 2012). MYC and MCL-1 amplification has been described to contribute to chemotherapy resistance in triple negative breast cancer (TNBC) by increasing OxPhos, ROS production and HIF-1 expression on TNBC cancer stem cells (Lee et al., 2017b). In addition, a proposed mechanism of resistance to venetoclax (BCL-2 inhibitor) for leukemic cells is the upregulation of MCL-1. Recent work has identified reliance on different BCL-2 anti-apoptotic proteins in base to differentiation state of AML cells. More specifically, phenotypically primitive AML relies on BCL-2 to induce OxPhos and survival, and therefore, it is sensitive to Venetoclax. However, monocytic AML switches from BCL-2 to MCL-1 to maintain OxPhos and cell survival (Pei et al., 2020). Considering the role of BCL-2 family members in cancer cell survival and therapy resistance, inhibitors of BCL-2 such as venetoclax (Souers et al., 2013; Dinardo, et al., 2019) or of MCL-1 (Kotschy et al., 2016; Caenepeel et al., 2018; Tron et al., 2018) are considered promising therapeutic tools to improve cancer treatment.

It is now accepted that the Warburg effect not only supports uncontrolled proliferation but it also provides cancer cells with a tool to evade apoptosis (Matsuura et al., 2016). From almost 2 decades PI3K/Akt pathway has been known to play a major role in cell survival by cell surface receptors (Datta et al., 1997; Brunet et al., 1999). Through AKT activation, HK2 binds to the voltage-dependent anion channel (VDAC) in the OMM to regulate permeability transition pore (PTP) and couples oxidative phosphorylation to glucose metabolism. More specifically, AKT increases mitochondria-associated hexokinase activity. Interestingly, this step is enough for AKT antiapoptotic activity, since it only requires only the first committed step of glucose metabolism catalyzed by hexokinase (Gottlob et al., 2001). HK2 has also been shown to inhibit the mitochondrial binding of BAX to VDAC, interfering with Bax ability to bind to the mitochondria and induce cytochrome c release (Pastorino et al., 2002). In addition, AKT, like BCL-2, inhibits BAX activation and BAK oligomerization after BID cleavage in a glucose and HK2

depedent manner (Majewski et al., 2004). Phosphorylation of BAD (BH3-only pro-apoptotic BCL-2 family protein) by the c-Jun N-terminal protein kinase 1 (JNK1) inhibits its activity while it activates PFK1, promoting glycolysis and supporting cell survival (Deng et al., 2008). Another mechanism by which glycolysis promotes cell survival is via CDK5 activation. In the presence of glucose, active CDK5 phosphorylates and inhibits the BH3-only protein NOXA, avoiding its pro-apoptotic function (Lowman et al., 2010). Another link between glucose metabolism and apoptosis is established by NADPH and its producing pathway, PPP, which contribute to redox balance of cytochrome c and suppresses apoptosis (Bensaad et al., 2006). Glucose abundance also influence the activation of caspase-2. Under glucose abundance, G6P, NADPH (Nutt et al., 2005) or CoA (McCoy et al., 2013) activate calcium-calmodulindependent kinase CaMK2, which phosphorylates and inactivates caspase-2 (Nutt et al., 2005). In addition, G6P also promotes phospho-serine binding protein 14-3-3ζ deacetylation by Sirtuin1, while caspase-2 phosphorylation by CaMK2 creates the binding site $14-3-3\zeta$ (Andersen et al., 2011). However, when the glycolytic flux is limited, 14-3-3ζ is acetylated, releasing caspase-2 that can be dephosphorylated by PP1 and be recruited to the PIDDsome (Andersen et al., 2011). GAPDH, another glycolytic enzyme has also been reported to play a role in cell survival and apoptosis. However, its role is more debated, since in some studies it is considered pro-apoptotic while in others pro-survival (Colell et al., 2009; Zhang et al., 2015). In addition, post-translational modifications of GAPDH can also influence its activity as pro- or anti-apopototic action (Colell et al., 2009; Zhang et al., 2015). HIF-1 involvement in cell death has also been controversial. On the one hand, it is stabished that HIF-1 can stabilize p53 under hypoxia and induce cell cycle arrest and apoptosis (An et al., 1998; Chandel et al., 2000). HIF-1 can also induce apoptosis by enhancing BNIP3 and NIX protein expression, which will bind to BCL-2 anti-apoptotic proteins, moving the balance to the apoptotic process (Sowter et al., 2001; Guo,. 2017). On the other hand, it is known that HIF-1 launches a transcriptional program that switches cell metabolism to glycolysis (Iyer et al., 1998) that, as mentioned above, can protect from cell death. In addition, HIF-1 can induce the expression of antiapoptotic proteins from the BCL-2 family or of inhibitor of apoptosis (IAPS) (Greijer et al., 2004; Kilic et al., 2006). Overall, there is a body of evidence that metabolism and cell death are interconnected, and that they can influence one another.

In brief

Mitochondria functions go far beyond its essential role in bioenergetics. They are metabolic hubs where the biosynthesis of numerous macromolecule precursors takes place, as well as they regulate cellular processes essential for cancer cells, including redox balance, apoptosis and even gene expression.

1.3.2. Mitochondrial and ETCI dependency in cancer and leukemia

Mitochondrial function is essential for tumor progression. In 2010, it was demonstrated that mitochondrial metabolism and ROS generation were essential for KRAS tumorigenesis, since TFAM loss resulted in reduced tumorigenesis in oncogenic KRAS -driven mouse lung cancer model (Weinberg et al., 2010). Another evidence supporting the essential role of mitochondria in cancer progression was provided by Tan and colleagues. They showed by using metastatic murine melanoma ρ^0 B16 and breast cancer ρ^0 4T1 models that cancer cells lacking mitochondrial DNA could only lead to metastasis *in vivo* if they integrated host mtDNA, which meant recovery of mitochondrial function, functional respirasome and ECTII assembly (Tan et al., 2015).

OxPhos, mitochondrial function and ETC genes were identified to be overexpressed in a set samples from newly diagnosed difuse large B cell lymphoma (DLBCL) (Monti et al., 2005), what is known nowadays as OxPhos-DLBCL. This phenotypes accounts for 30% of DLBCLs, and it is characterized by a great dependence on FAO and GSH pool maintenance for survival (Caro et al., 2012), what puts in evidence its mitochondrial dependency. Metabolically, NSCLCs tumors have been reported to have increased glycolysis and TCA cycle activity compared to non cancerous lung tissues (Hensley et al., 2016), as denoted by the enrichment in labelled lactate, alanine, succinate, glutamate, aspartate and citrate (Fan et al., 2009). Leukemic cells have also shown increased mitochondrial dependency when compared to their normal counterparts. One study of Samudio and colleagues underlined the reliance of AML cells on fatty acid oxidation (FAO) and how its targeting by blocking fatty acids entrance in the mitochondria with etomoxir (CPT1inhibitor) proved therapeutic benefit in leukemia, synergizing with AraC or BCL2 inhibition (Samudio et al., 2010). Other study has shown the dependency for mitochondria in AML by inhibiting mitochondrial protein translation by two different approaches: with the antibiotic tigecycline as well as by silencing the mitochondrial elongation factor Tu (EF-Tu). Both approaches resulted in decreased mitochondrial membrane potential and oxygen consumption rate, as well as in impaired cellular growth and viability selectively on the leukemic cells, not affecting normal hematopoietic cells (Skrtic et al. 2011). Later on, work from the same group showed that the mitochondrial protease CLPP was overexpressed in AML and that its inhibition decreased oxygen consumption by abrogating ETCII activity due to the accumulation of defective ETC proteins and showed anti-leukemic activity in mouse xenografts (Cole et al., 2015). Interestingly, AML cells are also sensitive to the hyperactivation of the CLPP by pharmacological compounds such as ONC201 and ONC212 (Ishizawa et al., 2019). CLPP locked in the active conformation resulted in increased degradation of ETC substrates and impaired OxPhos, and therefore ONC201 is under clinical trial for hematological (NCT03932643) and solid malignancies (Stein et al., 2017; Egan et al., 2021). Livanage and colleagues showed that AML cells upregulated genes of the mtDNA biosynthetic pathway in comparison to normal hematopoietic cells. Treatment with the nucleotide

analogue 2'3'-dideoxycytidine (ddC) selectively inhibited mitochondrial DNA polymerase γ and resulted in the inhibition of mtDNA replication and oxidative phosphorylation, inducing cytotoxicity in AML cell lines (Liyanage et al., 2017).

In addition, several specific contexts where susceptibility to OxPhos inhibition by using ETCI inhibitors is increased have been reported. Mutations in mtDNA affecting ETCI subunits boosted sensitivity to ETCI inhibitors by 5 to 20 fold (Birsoy et al., 2014). Loss of the tumor suppressor LKB1 in KRAS-driven NSCLC showed an enhanced sensitivity to phenformin, resulting in prolonged survival upon treatment (Shackelford et al., 2013). This highlights a specific vulnerability upon LKB1 loss of function, which leads to energetic collapse upon ETCI inhibition, due to its incapacity to activate AMPK and enhance glycolysis as compensatory mechanism. Also in NSCLC, inactivating mutations in the SWI/SNF chromatin remodeling complex component SMARCA4 resulted in increased OxPhos supported by the activation of PGC-1- α , and enhanced sensitivity to ETCI inhibition, in this case assessed with IACS-010759 (Lissanu Deribe et al., 2018). They suggested that SMARCA4 abrogated compensatory glycolysis and transcriptional adaptation in response to energy stress upon ETCI inhibition, resulting in unmet energy to support anabolic demand, thus creating a metabolic vulnerability.

1.3.2.1. Mitochondria in cancer stem cell maintenance

Cancer stem cells (CSCs) are constituted by specific poorly differenciated cell populations in cancer, and they are responsible for tumor growth, metastasis as well as for tumor recurrence after an apparent successful chemotherapy (Batlle and Clevers, 2017). Therefore, the development of therapies targeting CSCs is of extreme importance, since it would eradicate them and allow sustained responses in cancer patients.

OxPhos involvement in cancer stem cell maintenance has been reported in several cancer types. In chronic myeloid leukemia cancer stem cells, OxPhos is upregulated and involved in resistance to therapy (Kuntz et al., 2017). Pancreatic cancer stem cells have also been shown to rely on OxPhos: Sancho and colleagues showed that pancreatic CSCs were OxPhos, and identified the balance between MYC and PGC-1- α as determinant in the response to mitochondrial inhibition, by the ability of MYC to induce of compensatory glycolysis. MYC suppression and subsequent increase of PGC-1- α resulted in energetic crisis and apoptosis upon metformin treatment (Sancho et al., 2015). In addition, recent work showed that by using galactose as carbon source, pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma cells were forced to use OxPhos as main energy source, resulting in enrichment of CSC as determined by increased pluripotency gene expression and biomarkers, and greater tumorigenic as well as immune-evasive potential (Valle et al., 2020). Depletion of insulin-like growth factor 2 mRNA-binding protein 2 (IMP2) in gliomaspheres decreased oxygen consumption by affecting ETCI and ETCIV, what resulted in impaired clonogenicity *in vitro* and

decreased tumorigenicity in vivo (Janiszewska et al., 2012). Glioma stem cells have been identified also to have greater reliance on OxPhos than differentiated glioma cells, since they had higher ATP levels concomitant with reduced glucose consumption and lactate production (Vlashi et al., 2011). In lung cancer there is also some work suggesting a more OxPhos phenotype of stem cells (Gao et al., 2016). In acute myeloid leukemia (AML), numerous studies unrevealed the dependency of the leukemic stem cells for OxPhos, by targeting it with several approaches. One of the first studies to demonstrate it, was the one performed by Lagadinou and colleagues, where they showed that leukemic stem cells are characterized by low ROS levels and OxPhos dependency lead by BCL-2, given that BCL-2 inhibition impaired OxPhos and eradicate this population in pre-clinical models (Lagadinou et al., 2013). More evidence was provided by Raffel and colleagues, who demonstrated that branched chain α -amino transferase BCAT1, which transfers α -amino groups from leucine, value and isoleucine to α -KG, appeared overexpressed in AML LSCs, which altered a-KG homeostasis and deregulated DNA methylation, mimicking the effect of IDH or TET mutations (Raffel et al., 2017). Jones and colleagues pointed out that LSC at diagnosis rely on amino acids for OxPhos, whereas relapsed LSCs increase the contribution of fatty acids oxidation to maintain OxPhos activity (Jones et al., 2018). Targeting the electron transport chain has proven to be also an effective mechanism to eradicate leukemic stem cells in preclinical AML models. For example, the combination of the BLC-2 inhibitor venetoclax with the hypomethylating agent azacitidine results in decreased oxidative phosphorylation by blocking ETCII (succinate dehydrogenase), and this induces durable remissions in patients by selective targeting of LSCs (Pollyea et al., 2018). Molina and colleagues described a new ETCI inhibitor, IACS-010759, which blocks oxidative phosphorylation and decreases pyrimidine biosynthesis by decreasing aspartate levels, restricting AML proliferation and showing efficacy in vivo (Molina et al., 2018). The use of mubritinib, ERBB2 inhibitor (receptor tyrosine kinase from the EGFR family, absent in the leukemic cell line assessed in the paper, OCI-AML3) targets AML by the inhibition of the ETCI in a ubiquinone dependent manner, delaying mouse AML development in vivo without affecting normal hematopoiesis (Baccelli et al., 2019). The inhibition of the RSC modulator neurolysin (NLN) has been recently reported to decrease OxPhos in AML cells and LSCs, as well as to induce selective death of leukemic cells (Mirali et al., 2020). Another attractive target in AML is the DHODH, the flavoprotein located in the inner mitochondrial membrane, which catalyzes the fourth step in de novo pyrimidine (Evans et al., 2004). It oxidizes dihydroorotate to orotate, while the electrons are directly transferred to the respiratory chain at the level of cytochrome oxidase c (ETCIII) via coenzyme Q for further oxidation (Vélez et al., 2013). Inhibition of ETCIII causes depletion of pyrimidines through the inhibition of coupled DHODH, since ubiquinone in its reduced state (ubiquinol) is unable to accept the electrons from dihydroorotate (Khutornenko et al., 2010). Therefore, it is an interesting enzyme, since it directly links mitochondrial oxygen consumption and electron transport chain to proliferation. In AML, different DHODH inhibitors blocked proliferation by depletion of the pyrimidine pool. In addition, the inhibition of the enzyme bypasses the differentiation blockade of leukemic initiating cells, inducing a HoxA9-mediated differentiation (Sykes et al., 2016; Christian et al., 2019). A recent study in B-progenitor

acute lymphoblastic leukemia (B-ALL) shows that also in this type of leukemia, the clones present and diagnosis that initiate the relapse, referred in the paper as diagnosis Relapse Initiating clones (dRI), are transcriptomically enriched for mitochondrial metabolism (Dobson et al., 2020).

Interestingly, while many types of cancer stem cells rely on OxPhos, non-cancerous stem cells, like hematopoietic stem cells (HSC)(Takubo et al., 2013), mesenchymal stem cells or neural stem cells rely on glycolysis (Ito and Suda, 2014), what makes OxPhos targeting a selective tool to eradicate CSCs. More importantly, it's been suggested that, in parallel to present increased OxPhos and mitochondrial metabolism, cancer stem cells are metabolically inflexible, what makes them more susceptible to the inhibition of their main energy source, OxPhos (Skrtic et al. 2011; Molina et al., 2018; Pollyea et al., 2018; Baccelli et al., 2019; Panina et al., 2019, Egan et al., 2021).

1.3.2.2. Mitochondria in resistance to anti-cancer therapies.

Increased mitochondrial OxPhos has been identified as a common denominator for a wide range of anticancer therapies, both chemoresistance or targeted therapy. Interestingly, this phenotype has been observed in a variety of cancer types, with mechanisms that differ, highlighting the essential role of OxPhos in supporting resistance to cancer therapy.

In NSCLC, resistance both to cisplatin and to irinotecan has been shown have increased reliance of OxPhos through ROS and PGC- α , and therefore, targeting it with metformin or phenformin eradicated resistant cells in pre-clinical studies (Wangpaichitr et al., 2017; Cruz-Bermúdez et al., 2019). Amplification of MYC and MCL-1 has been identified to drive increased mitochondrial OxPhos and chemotherapy resistance in breast cancer (Lee et al., 2017b). Docetaxel resistance in prostate cancer also correlates with an increase in mitochondrial respiration and OxPhos (Ippolito et al., 2016). Other examples are colorectal cancer resistant to 5-fluorouracil (Denise et al., 2015) and gemcitabine resistance in a subset of high OxPhos pancreas tumors (Masoud et al., 2020). Farge and colleagues showed that leukemic cells that resisted chemotherapy in mouse xenografts displayed high levels of reactive oxygen species (ROS), increased mitochondrial mass, and had an active polarized mitochondria (Farge et al., 2017). In addition, superoxide accumulation induced by inhibition of myeloperoxidase (MPO) in chemo-resistant AML resulted in impaired mitochondrial redox balance and OxPhos, as well as in increased oxidative DNA damage, apoptosis and eradication of leukemic AraC resistant cells (Hosseini et al., 2019). MCL-1 has been involved in relapsed AML after Azacytidine + Venetoclax treatment, where cells that escape to the treatment lose BCL-2 expression as a consequence of differentiation and adopt a more monocytic phenotype, becoming reliant on MCL-1 to maintain OxPhos and survival (Pei et al., 2020).

Therapies targeting tyrosine kinase receptors also result in resistance with concomitant OxPhos upregulation. For example, resistance to epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) inhibitors in EGFR-driven lung adenocarcinoma is characterized by a switch to OxPhos and it is overcome with ETCI

inhibitors in pre-clinical models (De Rosa et al., 2015; Martin et al., 2016). In melanoma with activating BRAF mutations, it has also been observed enhanced OxPhos dependency supported by PGC-1α upon BRAF inhibition treatment (Haq et al., 2013). In AML, the mechanisms of resistance to FLT3-inhibition involve other FLT3 mutations, NRAS/KRAS mutations and the upregulation of antiapoptotic proteins, such as BCL-2 and MCL-1, which results in mitochondrial OxPhos dependency (Short et al., 2020).

In brief

Mitochondrial metabolism seems to be indispensable for cancer initiation, progression and for the adaptative response to evade chemotherapy and targeted therapies, leading to treatment resistance. Therapies targeting mitochondria show promising anti-cancer activity in preclinical models, and may achieve some selectivity towards cancer cells or CSCs.

1.3.2.3. Mitochondria in immunometabolism of tumors

In the recent years, the complex interplay between metabolic reprogramming and immunity, also called immunometabolism, has emerged as an interesting field to shed some light on immune system physiology and pathology (Mathis and Shoelson, 2011; O'Neill et al., 2016; Bader et al., 2020). Just as an example of the interconnection of immune system and metabolism, effector T cells rely on glycolysis for energy production and survival (Gubser et al., 2013) whereas memory T cells depend on oxidative metabolism (van der Windt et al., 2012) or macrophages, which adapt their metabolism depending on their activating signal: they upregulate glycolysis and fatty acid synthesis when activated by lipopolysaccharide (LPS) whereas when activated by IL-4, they rely on oxidative phosphorylation and fatty acid oxidation for energy production (Rodríguez-Prados et al., 2010). Modulation of metabolic pathways can therefore provide new therapeutic opportunities through the alteration of the immune phenotype, to boost immune system in immunosuppressive contexts like cancer or to dampen it in autoimmune diseases. Maybe, one example of this is provided by metformin. The observation from several studies that diabetic patients treated with this drug had reduced risk for several cancers (liver, pancreatic, colorectal and breast cancer) (Evans et al., 2005; Zhang et al., 2013) led to the hypothesis that metformin had a beneficial effect on the immune system. In addition to retrospectives studies, a body of evidence shows that the antitumor effect of metformin is closely related to the immune system. Pereira et al. showed that in the murine melanoma model B16F10, metformin reduced the number of lung metastasis in immunocompetent mice (C57/Bl6) whereas it proved no therapeutic effect in NSG mice (Pereira et al., 2018). Similar results were obtained with 4T1 breast tumor model, where metformin exerted tumor regression in immunocompetent mice but not in severe combined immune deficiency (SCID) mice (Cha et al., 2018). Metformin enabled C57/Bl6

mice but not T-cell-deficient SCID mice to reject solid tumors both in an intradermal model of X-rayinduced RLmale1 leukemia as well as in a melanoma model (Eikawa et al., 2015). These data highligh the essential role of the immune system in the antitumor activity of metformin in these *in vivo* models, and can arise some questions regarding lactate immunosuppressive effect.

In the next pages, the effects of metformin (molecularly described in chapter "1.3.2.4.1. Metformin: a pleiotropic ETCI inhibitor") have been studied on different immune populations and on different immune checkpoint molecules, and they will be summarized in the upcoming pages.

1.3.2.3.1. Mitochondria in the immune compartment

i. T effector and memory cells

2020).

T cells engage different metabolic states along their life cycle to support different functions (**figure 31**). When quiescent, peripheral naïve T cell rely on TCA cycle and OxPhos for ATP generation (MacIver et al., 2013). However, upon activation naïve T cells initiate a specific transcriptional program to drive their differentiation and effector function that goes along with a shift to a pro-growth metabolic state dependent on PI3K/AKT/mTOR signaling (Powell et al., 2012), engaging increased glycolysis (Frauwirth et al., 2002) and glutamine metabolism (Carr et al., 2010; Nakaya et al., 2014) to support clonal expansion. This metabolic reprograming upon TCR signaling is regulated by MYC (Wang et al., 2011) and HIF-1 (Doedens et al., 2013; Palazon et al., 2017). At the end of immune response, only memory cells reliant on FAO and OxPhos for energy production will survive (Pearce et al., 2009; MacIver et al., 2013; Field et al.,



Figure 31. Metabolic changes along T cell life. Adapted from Buck et al., 2015.

Persistent antigen exposure causes repeated TCR stimulation, which leads to immune exhaustion, characterized by a decreased ability of CD8⁺ T cells to secrete IL-2, TNF α , and IFN γ , increased expression of inhibitory markers (PD-1, Tim-3, CTLA-4), altered transcriptional program and metabolic insufficiencies (**figure 32**). These events lead to compromised CD8⁺T cell effector function (Eikawa et al., 2015; Russell et al., 2019).

Metformin has been described to reverse this exhaustion phenotype by shifting the cells to a T effector memory cell phenotype, and therefore, increasing the number of CD8⁺ effector memory cells in tumors as well as in persistent infections with AMPK activation (Eikawa et al., 2015; Russell et al., 2019). Recently, Böhme and colleagues showed that metformin specifically expanded a memory-like CD8⁺ CXCR3⁺ T cell population both in mice and in human, and that it induced FAO and enhanced spare respiratory capacity in these cells (Böhme et al., 2020). In line with these results, AMPK has been reported to regulate T cell metabolism in order to maintain cellular bioenergetics and survival (Blagih et al., 2015), as well as healthy mitochondria in this immune population (Adams et al., 2016). Metformin also potentiates CD8⁺ cytotoxic activity by increasing the Granzyme B (GB) secretion in tumors (Cha et al., 2018; Pereira et al., 2018). Another way by which metformin has been reported to stimulate T cell immunosurveillance is by inducing PD-L1 degradation (ligand of the exhaustion marker PD-1 and therefore a negative regulation (ERAD) in AMPK dependent manner (Cha et al., 2018). In addition, they showed that combination therapy consisting on metformin and α -CTLA-4 significantly increased survival proportion in mice models of breast cancer and colon carcinoma, by boosting CD8 T cell tumor infiltration (Cha et al., 2018).



Figure 32. T cell dysfunction contributes to the development of many chronic infections and cancer. Adapted from Russell et al., 2019.

Pearce and colleagues highlighted that metformin should be administered after T effector cell expansion, in order to not to alter the T effector cell response (Pearce et al., 2009). This is because metformin blocks

metabolic changes (increased glucose consumption induced by c-Myc, HIF-1 α and Glut1) necessary for T cell proliferation after T cell antigen receptor engagement (Zarrouk et al., 2014). However, in another work it has been described that when administering metformin in *in vivo* models, it is preferentially uptaken by tumor cells, since their expression of the metformin organic cation transporter (OCT1) is higher in cancer cells than in T cells. Thus, after *in vivo* treatment with metformin OCR of T cells was not affected (contrarily to what they observed *in vitro*), neither the levels of HIF-1 α protein, which were increased and directly linked to T cell activation (Scharping et al., 2016). These results may suggest that the boosting effect of metformin in T cell activity is independent from ETCI inhibition.

ii. Regulatory T cells

CD4⁺ CD25⁺ regulatory T cells (Treg) are inhibitors of the T-cell mediated response. In contrast to effector T cells, Tregs rely on OxPhos and FAO as sources of energy (Michalek et al., 2011; Beier et al., 2015; Bader et al., 2020). Kunisada et al published in 2017 that metformin downregulated Treg in number and function in tumors, linking this effect to Tregs dependency on oxidative phosphorylation (OxPhos) through fatty acid oxidation (FAO) for their survival. They also showed that the decrease in CD4⁺ CD25⁺ cells also increased the number of CD8⁺ effector cells, which enhanced the anti-tumor immune response (Kunisada et al., 2017). However, in other publications, T regs were increased after metformin treatment (Pereira et al., 2018). They tried to explain this by showing that metformin treatment also decreased Th17 cells, and that the Th17/ Treg ratio is the responsible for the attenuation of the immune response in the case of inflammatory and autoimmune diseases (Son et al., 2014; Yang et al., 2017).

To add more complexity, a recent study showed that OxPhos is essential for Th17 cell pathogenicity in a mouse model of multiple sclerosis (MS) and that by inhibiting OxPhos in Th17 cells, the CD4⁺ cells will become suppressive Treg cells by expressing Foxp3 preferentially to Th17 genes (Shin et al., 2020). They also suggested the possibility that Treg cells generated with OxPhos inhibitors under Th17 conditions may be different functionally and transcriptionally from classical Treg cells, which are known to depend on mitochondrial metabolism for their function (Angelin et al., 2017). Thus, the effect of ETCI inhibition in T regs remains still imperfectly understood.

iii. Myeloid derived suppressor cells (MDSCs)

Myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs) are a heterogeneous population of myeloid origin cells described 2 decades ago in cancer patients that gathers myeloid progenitor cells and immature macrophages, immature granulocytes and immature dendritic cells (Gabrilovich et al., 2007). MDSCs are divided into two subtypes: monocytic (M-MDSC), which are phenotypically and morphologically similar to monocytes; and granulocytic or polymorphonuclear (PMN-MDSC), phenotypically and morphologically similar to neutrophils and the majoritary in most cancer types (Gabrilovich, 2017).

MDSCs are potent suppressors of T-cell function, and they have also been reported to regulate innate immune responses through cytokine production that induce macrophages polarization to M2 phenotype (Gabrilovich et al., 2009; Veglia et al., 2018). MDSCs mediate immunosuppression by expressing inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS), IDO and arginase 1; as well by producing reactive oxygen species (ROS), TGF β and IL-10 (Gabrilovich, 2017; Veglia et al., 2018). The ectonucleotidases CD39 and CD73, responsible for the balance between proinflammatory ATP and immunosuppressive adenosine in the tumor microenvironment (TME), are also expressed by MDSCs in cancer context and contribute to immune scape (Ryzhov et al., 2011; Zhang et al., 2013).

Regarding metabolism, MDSCs are characterized by accumulation of lipids and FAO to promote their suppressive activity (Bader et al 2020; Veglia et al., 2021). MDSCs upregulate CD36 to promote lipid uptake and are reliant on FAO as main energy source (Hossain et al., 2015; Al-Khami et al., 2017). In fact, CD36 or FAO inhibition resulted in decreased immunosuppressive capacity of MDSCs as well as in delayed tumor growth and enhanced therapy response (Hossain et al., 2015; Al-Khami et al., 2017). The fatty acid transport protein 2 (FATP2) has recently been found to regulate immunosuppressive function of MDSCs, being involved in the uptake of arachidonic acid and in the subsequent synthesis of Prostaglandin E₂ (PGE₂) (Veglia et al., 2019). Increased glycolysis has also been proposed as a metabolic feature of MDSCs (Baumann et al., 2020), however its link with immunosuppression is still to be elucidated (Bader et al 2020; Veglia et al., 2021).

Metformin has shown to reduce the number MDSCs in vivo models of ovarian cancer (Li et al., 2018), melanoma (Pereira et al., 2018) and colon cancer (Xu et al., 2019). One described mechanism by which metformin exerts its suppressor effect on MDSCs is decreasing the expression of CD39 and CD73 via AMPK α activation and inhibition of HIF-1 α (Li et al., 2018).

iv. Macrophages

Macrophages are a heterogeneous group of cells that are critical mediators of tissue homeostasis. They are components of the TME, where they are called tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs). They are involved in angiogenesis, pro-fibrotic activities, as well as in tumor progession and metastasis (Mantovani et al., 2017). Their activities vary according to developmental origin, tissue of residence and microenvironment conditions. Traditionally, they are divided into M1 or M2 phenotype (**figure 33**). The M1 phenotype, or the classic activated macrophages, are considered more inflammatory and antitumorigenic, while they express high levels of tumor necrosis factor (TNF), inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS; also known as NOS2) or MHC class II molecules (Yan and Wan 2021). Metabolically speaking, M1 macrophages rely on aerobic glycolysis, FAS and amino acid metabolism to survive (Williams and O'Neill, 2018; Bader et al., 2020). In addition, upon activation, TCA cycle of M1 macrophages have 2 breakpoints (Jha et al., 2015, Ryan and O'Neill, 2020). The first one is at IDH (Tannahill et al., 2013; Jha et al., 2015; Ryan and

O'Neill, 2020), whose downregulation leads to the production of the microbicide itaconate from aconitate (Jha et al., 2015), and promotes lipid biosynthesis from citrate (Tannahill et al., 2013). The second one is at SDH (Jha et al., 2015, Ryan and O'Neill, 2020), whose activity has been proposed to be inhibited by NO (Jha et al., 2015) as well as by itaconate (Lampropoulou et al., 2016, Seim et al., 2019). However, the M2 phenotype is considered pro-tumorigenic and anti-inflammatory, it expresses high levels of arginase 1 (ARG1), the immunosuppressive IL-10, CD163, CD204 or CD206 (DeNardo et al., 2019; Thapa and Lee, 2019; Viola et al., 2019) and they make use of OxPhos, TCA cycle and FAO (Netea-Maier et al., 2018; Williams and O'Neill, 2018). Opposite to M1 phenotype, M2 macrophages present intact TCA cycle

(Viola et al., 2019).



Figure 33. M1 vs M2 macrophage phenotypes. Adapted from Viola et al., 2019.

In literature, it's been reported that metformin suppressed the polarization of macrophages towards M2 phenotype via activation of AMPK in a Lewis lung cancer model (Ding et al., 2019), which can potentially be due to the decrease in OxPhos induced by the drug. Other study shows that metformin via AMPK activation and STAT3 decrease, inhibits the monocyte to macrophage differentiation and the proinflammatory signals associated to the process (Vasamsetti et al., 2015). More recently, it's been shown that metformin can boost anti-PD-1 therapy when administered within mannose-modified macrophages-derived microparticles (Man-PMs) (Wei et al., 2021). In their work, they showed that these Man-PMs loading metformin were able to repolarized M2-like phenotype macrophages into M1 phenotype, while increasing the TME infiltration of CD8⁺ T cells and decreasing MDSCs and Tregs infiltration. They described therapeutic benefit in H22 (hepatocellular carninoma), 4T1 (breast cancer) and in azoxymethane (AOM)/dextran sodium sulfate (DSS)-induced colitis-associated colorectal cancer (CAC) murine models (Wei et al., 2021).

1.3.2.3.2. Immuno-modulation of tumor compartment: immune checkpoints and lactate

i. Classic immune checkpoints: PD-L1 and CTLA-4

Immune checkpoints are critical molecules for physiologic immune function. They generate a negative feedback loop essential to establish self-tolerance and to prevent hyperactivated immune response that could lead to excessive tissue damage (Leone et al., 2015). Physiologically, to avoid autoimmunity, naive T cells need two signals to be activated: one is the binding of the antigen dependent T cell receptor (TCR) to the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) on the antigen presenting cells (APCs), and the other is a co-stimulatory signal, normally the interaction of CD28 on T cells with CD80 (also known as B7-1) and CD86 (also known as B7-2) expressed by APCs (Lanzavecchia et al., 1999; Esensten et al., 2016). The cytotoxic T-lymphocyte antigen-4 (CTLA-4) receptor and the programmed cell death protein (PD-1) are the immune checkpoints most deeply studied and therapeutically exploited (**figure 34**).

CTLA-4 inhibits T cell activation by antagonizing CD28 and competing for binding to the costimulatory ligands CD80/B7-1 and CD86/B7-2, by preventing immune conjugate formation and by recruiting Tregs (Intlekofer and Thompson, 2013). First studies showing that CTLA-4 inhibition boosted anti-tumor immune response date to 1996 (Leach et al., 1996), and since then, it has been observed that anti-CTLA-4 treatment increased T cell effector function while depleting intratumoral immunosuppressive Tregs (Peggs et al., 2009; Sharma et al., 2019), placing the intratumoral ratio T regs/T cells as critical factor in predicting anti-CTLA-4 response (Grosso and Jure-Kunkel, 2013, Waldman et al., 2020). Several anti-CTLA-4 antibodies, like Ipilimumab, have been approved by FDA, being especially promising in melanoma (Lee et al., 2016); Hodi et al., 2010; Schadendorf et al., 2015).

PD-1 axis controls sustained activation and proliferation of effector cells. The interaction of PD-1 with its ligand PD-L1 induces exhaustion and subsequent apoptosis of antigen-specific T cells (Blank et al., 2004; Barber et al., 2005; Ostrand-Rosenberg et al., 2014) while it promotes Treg development and function (Francisco et al., 2009). PD-L1 expression is induced by IFN-γ produced by activated T cells and NK cells, acting as brake in order to stop immune activation (Garcia-Diaz et al., 2017). Thus, PD-1 axis is involved in the central-tolerance establishment within peripheral tissues (Waldman et al., 2020). Due to its involvement in the attenuation of T cell cell response, it is understandable that PD-1 axis is exploited by cancer cells to evade anti-tumor response (Ju et al., 2020). PD-1 axis has been an important target for immunotherapies in order to potentiate anti-tumor immune response (**figure 34, right**), with several antibodies like pembrolizumab, nivolumab or avelumab approved by the FDA (Hargadon et al., 2018). However, despite the initial promising effect of immunotherapy, the majority of the patients does not benefit from treatment and some patients develop acquired resistance (Sharma et al., 2017; Zhang et al., 2018).

AML, like other cancer types, also takes advantage of these immunomodulatory mechanisms and express

the ligands of these molecules to escape from the immune system (Lamble et al., 2018; Wei et al., 2018). It's been described that AML patients have increased Tregulatory cells (Dulphy et al., 2014), with increased expression of regulatory co-receptors on CD8⁺ T cells, such as PD-1, TIM and LAG3 (Williams et al., 2018). Interestingly, PD-1 is more expressed in relapse than in diagnosis (Schnorfeil et al., 2015; Williams et al., 2018). In addition, leukemic blast express PD-L1 (Zhang et al., 2009), and there is a study associating PD-L1 expression in AML with lower relapse free survival (Chen et al., 2008). Regarding CTLA-4, it's been published that the polymorphism CT60, located in the 3'-untranslated region (UTR) of the CTLA-4 gene was associated with shorter overall survival and a higher risk of relapse (Perez et al., 2008). In addition, a clinical trial with single agent ipilimumab, an anti-CTLA-4 with relapsed patients after allogeneic HSCT showed a good response, with 5/22 patients that achieved complete remission and 4/22 patients had a durable remission for 1 year. The response was associated with decreased activation of Tregs, expansion of T effector cells and infiltration of CD8⁺ cytotoxic T cells (Davis et al., 2016). Up to date, the only antibody approved for use in AML is the anti-CD33 antibody drug conjugate gemtuzumab ozogamicin (Liu et al., 2019).



Figure 34. CTLA- 4 and PD-1/PD-L1 blocking antibodies. Adapted from Waldman et al., 2020

ii. ATP, adenosine and ectonucleotidases

Nucleotides and their receptors begin to emerge as immune modulators (**figure 35**). ATP can be actively secreted, passively released or generated in the extracellular microenvironment. When in extracellular space, ATP can interact with purinergic receptors P2R or be hydrolyzed to the immunosuppressive adenosine by CD39 and CD73. There is a huge variety of P2R, that have different affinities and nucleotide selectivity that contribute to several intracellular transduction pathways and that can result in different responses. In addition, the responses can be different depending on the concentrations of extracellular ATP. Purinergic receptors regulate chemotaxis in monocytes, dendritic cells and eosinophils, as well as migration of NK cells (Junger et al., 2011). T cell activation is also regulated through the activation of

purinergic receptors P2Xs by the ATP released by Pannexin 1 (Schenk et al., 2008; Woehrle et al., 2010). However, to add some complexity, the chronic presence of extracellular ATP at low concentrations can have anti-inflammatory effects, which have been observed in dendritic cells, monocytes, CD4⁺ T cells and neutrophils (Di Virgilio et al., 2009; Junger et al., 2011; Di Virgilio et al., 2018). In addition, purinergic receptors are also involved in metabolism. The stimulation of P2X receptors (purinergic receptors that acts as ATP-gated ion channels to facilitate the influx of extracellular cations) increases oxidative phosphorylation and ATP synthesis to buffer intracellular Ca²⁺ (Di Virgilio et al., 2018). This has been described also in the context of AML (Ledderose et al., 2016), and it could be a mechanism contributing to chemoresistance.

Alternatively, several membrane ectonucleotidases can generate adenosine from the degradation of ATP or ADP, such as CD39 (also known as NTPDase1), CD39L (NTPDase2) and CD39L3 (NTPDase3), CD203a (also known as NPP1). AMP is hydrolyzed by CD73 (also known as 5'-NT) to generate adenosine. Adenosine in the microenvironment, derived from extracellular ATP, is well known by its immunosuppressive effects through its interaction with purinergic receptors P1 (also known as adenosinergic receptors) (Vijayan et al., 2017). Adenosine regulates, through its generation by ectonucleotidases and by its interaction with its receptors, the Treg population, and it suppresses T and natural killer (NK) cell functions (Young et al., 2016; Vijayan et al., 2017; Virgilio et al., 2018).

One of the most attractive and promising targets to potentiate anti-tumor response through adenosine signaling inhibition is the adenosine P1 receptor A2AR (Ohta et al., 2006; Beavis et al., 2013; Cekic et al., 2014; Young et al., 2016; Vijayan et al., 2017). A2AR deletion or pharmacologic inhibition in mice increased tumor rejection mainly by increasing CD8⁺ T cell activity in several mouse cancer models (Ohta et al., 2006; Waickman et al., 2011) and also in human refractory renal cell cancer (Fong et al., 2019). A recent study has also shown that targeting A2AR in CAR T cells improves their function and can potentiate anti-cancer response (Masoumi et al., 2020). Several A2AR antagonists or CD73 inhibitors are already in clinical phase, as single agent or in combination with immunotherapy, and clinical trials have proven that they are safe and well tolerated (Steingold and Hatfield, 2020; Willingham et al., 2020). CD39 and CD73 have been reported to be induced by hypoxia (Eltzschig et al., 2003; Eltzschig et al., 2009), and indeed, it's been suggested that adenosynergic signaling is a mechanism by which HIF-1 α suppresses antitumor response (Steingold and Hatfield, 2020; Willingham et al., 2020). CD39, and to a lesser extent CD73, expression in human AML blasts at diagnosis has been proposed to collaborate with Tregs in the production of extracellular adenosine, contributing to the regulation of the immune response in AML (Dulphy et al., 2014). In addition, CD39 has also been linked to resistance and poor response in AML, and its expression on leukemic blasts supports oxidative phosphorylation by regulation of AMP levels and activation of the cAMPK pathway, that may enhance PGC-1-mediated mitochondrial biogenesis, contributing to chemoresistance (Aroua et al., 2020).



Figure 35. Ectonucleotidases create an immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment. Adapted from Perrot et al., 2019.

iii. Lactate

Lactic acid and low pH began to be acknowledged as a tumor characteristic already in 1989 (Tannock and Rotin, 1989). Lactate production is enhanced upon OxPhos inhibition, given that cells exclusively rely on pyruvate fermentation to obtain energy (Pasteur effect). Nowadays, lactate has a recognized immunossupressive function, as summarized in **figure 36**.

In macrophages, lactate has been described to induce polarization to the M2-like phenotype through HIF-1α (Colegio et al., 2014). G-protein-coupled receptor 132 (Gpr132) senses lactate and promotes M2 phenotype polarization, and its deletion impairs breast cancer lung metastasis in mice (Chen et al., 2017). M2 macrophages have an anti-inflamatory phenotype, and they are involved in cancer immunosuppression, but also in tissue regeneration after ischemia. Indeed, lactate (produced by endothelial cells, EC) oxidation by M2 macrophages is critical for revascularization and muscle recovery after ischemia, whereas loss of PFKFB3 in EC impairs muscle recovery (Zhang et al., 2020). Regarding T cells, both glucose depletion and lactic acid impair cytotoxic and effector T cell functionality. Tumorderived lactate has been reported to suppress cytotoxic T cell proliferation and cytokine production, and therefore to dampen its cytotoxic activity, by blocking lactate export via MCT-1 in T cells through increasing extracellular lactate, which results in T cells disrupted ability to maintain glycolysis (Fischer et al., 2007). Tumor-derived lactic acid decreases NFAT, which results in impaired activation of TILs and NK cells (Brand et al., 2016). Another mechanism, pH independent, by which lactate suppresses effector T cells is through lactate-induced reductive stress, which is, the decrease in the NAD⁺/NADH ratio through NAD⁺ reduction (Quinn et al., 2020). Increased lactate leads to inhibition of GAPDH and PGDH, which depletes glycolytic intermediates beyond GAPDH, including 3-PG and therefore serine, crucial for T cell proliferation (Ma et al., 2017). Indeed, supplementation with serine restores T cell proliferation under lactate-induced reductive stress (Quinn et al., 2020). Tumor-derived lactate has been described to induce PD-L1 expression through GPR81 in lung cancer (Feng et al., 2017). Mechanistically, GPR81 inhibited PKA activity through decreasing cAMP levels; which led to the activation of the transcriptional

coactivator TAZ, which resulted in PD-L1/ PD-1 immune checkpoint establishment and impaired T cell function (Feng et al., 2017). Contrarily to effector T cells, Tregs adapt to low-glucose high-lactate environment through metabolic adjustments induced by Foxp3, which downregulates Myc and glycolysis while upregulating OxPhos and increasing NAD⁺/NADH ratio (Angelin et al., 2017). Thus, lactate favors immunosuppressive environment by suppressing cytotoxic T cells while allowing activity of immunoregulatory Tregs. Glycolysis is essential for complete T cell effector function. Without glucose, cytokine production is impaired in T cells (Chang et al., 2013). In TME, glucose competition by the tumor and tumor infiltrating cells (TILs) can impair effector T cell function even in the presence of tumor antigens robustly recognized by T cells, which resulted in tumor progression and highlighted the importance of glucose availability for T cells (Chang et al., 2015). When comparing CD4 T cells grown in glucose or in galactose, those galactose-cultured cells lost effector function and expressed higher levels of PD-1 as marker of exhaustion. This is an interesting remark that could lead to think that PD-1 expression is regulated by metabolic constraints and not only by chronic antigen stimulation (Chang et al., 2013). Interestingly, checkpoint blockade antibodies against CTLA-4, PD-1 and PD-L1 restored glucose availability in tumor microenvironment and rescued cytokine production in T cells (Chang et al., 2015).

High-LDHA melanoma is extremely metastatic, due to glucose competition and TME acidification, which have been reported to impair NK cell activation (Brand et al., 2016). In addition, tumor-secreted lactate stimulates MDSC recruitment, which dampens NK cell cytotoxic activity, marked by decreased expression of perforin and granzyme and reduced tumor progression control (Husain et al., 2013). Lactate induces NKG2D ligand expression on monocytes, which induces downregulation of NKG2D on NK cells (Crane et al., 2014). Autologus tolerogenic dendritic cells, a subtype of monocyte derived cells, produce high levels of lactate, which directs T cell response toward immunogenic tolerance by suppression of their proliferation and expansion (Marin et al., 2019). These cells can be a promising therapeutic tool for graft-versus host disease (GVHD) after transplantation, inflammatory or autoimmune diseases, as proposed by Marin and colleagues.

Metabolic symbiosis involving the cooperation of different parts of a tumor to produce and oxidate lactate has been reported to contribute to drug resistance (Allen et al., 2016; Park et al., 2016; Hayes et al., 2021). For example, metabolic symbiosis has been reported to take place upon angiogenesis inhibition is overcome by mTOR signaling inhibition (Allen et al., 2016). In more detail, hypoxic tumor cells distal to blood vessels are glycolytic, as they express high levels of GLUT1 and MCT4 induced by HIF-1 α . However, normoxic proximal tumor cells express the lactate transporter MCT1, and due to mTOR signaling, they can metabolize lactate thanks to an enhanced glutamine metabolism (Allen et al., 2016). It has also been reported that resistance to PI3K/mTOR inhibitors is associated with lactate oxidation by breast cancer cells, and the distruption of mitochondrial function using ERR α restores drug efficacy (Park et al., 2016).



Adapted from Hayes et al., 2021.

A huge effort has been invested in developing therapies targeting lactate transport and synthesis. Regarding MCTs, several inhibitors have been described, such as stilbene disulphonates (Poole and Halestrap, 1990) and organomercurials (Wilson et al., 2005). More recently, specific MCT1 targeting compounds have been developed, such as SR13800 (Doherty et al., 2014) and AZD3965 (Polański et al., 2014), which is in phase I clinical trial for adult solid tumors, diffuse large B cell lymphoma and Burkitt Lymphoma (NCT01791595). Overall, targeting lactate efflux can be an interesting therapeutic approach to reactivate immune system upon immunosuppresive lactate overload.

In brief

- Metabolism regulates functionality of immune cell populations, characterizing even immune phenotypes, like for example in the case of M1 or M2 macrophages. Importantly, metabolic modulation of the immune compartment can provide new therapeutic opportunities through the regulation of the immune function, boosting immune system in immunosuppressive contexts like cancer or dampening it in autoimmune diseases.
- Immunosuppressive populations like Tregs, M2 macrophages or MDSCs rely on OxPhos.
- Anti-tumor immune response can be dampened by immune-modulatory molecules, such as the immune checkpoints PD-L1 and CD39 or by immunossupressive lactate generated by the tumor microenvironment.
- Antitumor effect of metformin seems closely related to the immune system, since in several models its effect is lost in immunodefient preclinical models, which may question lactate immunosuppressive effect. Metformin has been shown to downregulate PD-L1 in breast cancer cells and CD39 in MDSCs, providing a mechanism by which it could boost immune system.

1.3.2.4. Targeting mitochondrial dependency of cancer cells with ETCI inhibitors

Given all the above mentioned, OxPhos inhibition has emerged in the recent years as an approach with incredible potential to target cancer initiation, progression and relapse, due to the targeting of specific vulnerabilities of some cancer types and cancer stem cells. Another complementary mechanism by which ETCI inhibitors are thought to exert their anticancer effect is by alleviating tumor hypoxia, since they reduce oxygen consumption by cells, thus increasing O₂ availability in the tissue (Ashton et al., 2018). The upcoming pages with briefly describe the different ETCI inhibitors that currently are or have been into clinical trials.

1.3.2.4.1. Metformin: a pleiotropic ETCI inhibitor

Metformin is a cationic biguanide used for the treatment of type 2 diabetes (T2D) due to its ability to modulate metabolism (Inzucchi et al., 1998; Nathan et al., 2008; Rena et al., 2017). Retrospective studies have identified that diabetic patients treated with the antidiabetic-pleiotropic drug metformin had reduced risk for several cancers (liver, pancreatic, colorectal and breast cancer) (Evans et al., 2005; Noto et al., 2012; Zhang et al., 2013), what positioned metformin as an interesting agent for cancer treatment and prevention (Saraei et al., 2019), and led to its evaluation in several clinical trials (**table 1**).

At organism level, it reduces glycemia by opposing to glucagon signaling, stimulating glucose uptake in muscle and adipocytes while decreasing hepatic gluconeogenesis, boosting insulin sensitivity and glucose utilization in extrahepatic tissues. (Rena et al., 2017; He, 2020). At the molecular level, it exerts a wide range of effects (**figure 37**), whose mediator mechanisms are still imperfectly understood. One of the most studied effects of metformin is the inhibition of the electron transport chain complex I (El-Mir et al., 2000; Owen et al., 2000). By inhibiting the oxidative phosphorylation, it induces a decrease in the ATP/AMP ratio in the cell and activates AMPK (Musi et al., 2002), the sensor of the energetic status of the cell (described in the chapter "1.2.1. AMP-activated protein kinase"). However, it has been also reported that metformin can activate AMPK independently of the adenine nucleotides ATP, ADP, AMP ratios (Fryer et al., 2002; Hawley et al., 2002). Classically, metformin effects on cancer cells can be divided into two categories: AMPK-dependent or AMPK-independent.

Through AMPK activation, metformin inhibits mTORC1 by TSC2 phosphorylation, AKT signaling, cell cyle, HIF-1α and MYC while it promotes ATM signaling and autophagy (Pernicova and Korbonits, 2014; Vancura et al., 2018; Saraei et al., 2019; Marcucci et al., 2020). Also in an AMPK dependent manner, metformin inhibits insulin-IGF-1/PI3K/AKT pathway through AMPK phosphorylation of IRS-1 (Zakikhani et al., 2010).

However, the effect of metformin can be also AMPK independent, as proven by many studies. First evidences came up in 2010, when Foretz and colleagues showed that metformin inhibited gluconeogenesis in hepatocytes independently of AMPK and LKB1 through hepatic energy state. They also showed that

the inhibition of the gluconeogenesis by metformin was preserved even under expression of gluconeogenic genes through PPAR γ coactivator 1 α (PGC-1 α) overexpression, evidencing that metformin suppressed gluconeogenesis by a mechanism independent from transcription (Foretz et al., 2010). Then, Ben Sahra and colleagues showed that metformin inhibited mTOR and induced cell cycle arrest through REDD1 by an AMPK-independent mechanism in prostate cancer (Ben Sahra et al., 2011). REDD1 (RTP801/Dig2/DDIT4) is a target of HIF-1 involved in a wide variety of functions, such as regulation of cell survival, response to DNA damage, nutrient depletion, glucocorticoid and insulin. REDD1 is an mTOR inhibitor, and it is regulated by p53 (Ben Sahra et al., 2011). Through ETCI inhibition, metformin has also been reported to reduce ROS production and related DNA damage, in an AMPK-independent manner (Algire et al., 2012). In addition, metformin can activate ataxia telangiectasia mutated (ATM), to maintain genome integrity (Vazquez-Martin et al., 2011). Interestingly, polymorphisms adjacent to the ATM locus impair glycemic response to metformin in type 2 diabetes, suggesting that ATM activation is required for the glucose-lowering effect mediated by metformin (Zhou et al., 2010). AMPK-independent metformin mechanism of action has also been observed in AML. By silencing the AMPK- α 1 and 2 subunits, Scotland and colleagues showed that cell cycle arrest and inhibition of proliferation induced by metformin in AML cells was independent of AMPK (Scotland et al., 2013). The accumulation of AMP induced by OxPhos blockade inhibits adenylate cyclase, what subsequently reduces cAMP levels and protein kinase A (PKA) activity (Miller et al., 2013). Indeed, Miller and colleagues found this mechanism to be responsible of the glucagon signaling blockade exerted by metformin.

Overall, metformin effects are wide, can be AMPK-dependent or independent, and are not exclusively a consequence of ETCI inhibition (**figure 37**).



Figure 37. Metformin's pleiotropic effects. Adapted from Pernicova and Korbonits, 2014.

1.3.2.4.2. Other ETCI inhibitors

Metformin is used in the majority of the cancer pre-clinical studies with the aim to target ETC I. Nevertheless, since it is a pleiotropic ETCI inhibitor its anticancer effect is not merely attributable to ETCI inhibition, as it exerts actions on many other cellular targets. This motivated the research and development of more specific OxPhos inhibitors, targeting selectively ETCI in order to block the electron transference from the beginning. ETCI inhibitors evaluated in clinical trials are summarized in **Table 1**.

Phenformin is another biguanide, however, contrarily to metformin, it does not need any transport protein to enter the cells (Rubiño et al., 2019). This results in higher concentrations of phenformin within cells, as well as a more global effect, being not limited to cells overexpressing OCT. However, phenformin was removed from the market due to the induction of lactic acidosis (Kwong and Brubacher, 1998).

Carboxyamidotriazole (CAI) was initially discovered as an inhibitor of calcium-mediated signal transduction that inhibits tumor angiogenesis within metastases (Luzzi et al., 1998). More recently, it was found to inhibit ETCI, and to have synergistic effect with 2-DG in lung cancer models (Ju et al., 2016). It has been reportet that CAI in combination with platinum-based chemotherapy prolonged progression free survival (PFS) and could be a useful therapeutic option to treat NSCLC (Si et al., 2020), despite previous clinical trial failing at demonstrating clinical benefit following chemotherapy in NSCLC (Johnson et al., 2008). The clinical trial NCT01107522 raised the conclusion that CAI combination with chemoradiation is safe in GBM and anaplastic gliomas, since it displayed favorable brain penetration and promising signals of activity in this difficult-to-treat population (Omuro et al., 2018).

BAY87-2243 is a very potent ETCI inhibitor that abrogates HIF-1 α and HIF-2 α protein accumulation, showing promising pre-clinical efficacy in lung cancer xenografts (Ellinghaus et al., 2013). Unfortunately, and despite apparent lack of toxicity in mice (Ellinghaus et al., 2013), the initial phase I trial in human (NCT01297530) had to be terminated due to unexpected safety issues resulting from massive emesis (Ashton et al., 2018).

IACS-010759 exerts selective inhibition of ETCI and has shown anti-cancer efficacy in several preclinical models, including glioblastoma and AML by inducing energy depletion and reducing aspartate levels, resulting in decreased nucleotide biosynthesis and proliferation of cancer cells (Molina et al., 2018). Interim results of the phase I clinical trial of IACS-010759 in solid tumors suggested acceptable toxicity and early signs of response (Yap et al., 2019). Nevertheless, 1/3 patients experienced emesis (Yap et al., 2019).

ME-344 is an isoflavone that induces cell apoptosis by enhancing ROS levels through heme oxygenase 1 (HO-1) inhibition (Zhang et al., 2019c). HO-1 inhibition reduced oxygen consumption by impairing ETCI and ETCII functionality (Carr et al., 2020). ME-344 It has shown significant antitumor activity in HER2-

negative breast cancer after treatment with bevacizumab and induced vascular normalization and tissue reoxygenation (Quintela-Fandino et al., 2019).

| Drug | Clinical trial | Indication | Phase of the trial |
|----------------------|----------------|---|--------------------|
| Metformin | NCT03137186 | Advanced Prostate cancer | 2 |
| | NCT03685409 | Oral cancer chemoprevention | 3 |
| | NCT03017833 | Solid tumor and advanced cancer in combination with TAK-228 (MLN0128) | 1 |
| | NCT03017833 | Thoracic neioplasm | 1 |
| | NCT03684707 | Oral cancer | 4 |
| | NCT03238495 | HER2-positive breast cancer with chemotherapy | 2 |
| | NCT02176161 | Prostate cancer as adjuvant | 2 |
| | NCT02945813 | Prostate cancer in combo with radiotherapy | 2 |
| | NCT01980823 | Combination of Metformin and Atorvastatin in newly diagnosed operable Breast cancer | 1 |
| | NCT02640534 | Castration resistant prostate cancer in combination with Enzalutamide | 2 |
| Phenformin | NCT03026517 | BRAF mutated Melanoma, in Combination With Dabrafenib and Trametinib | 1 |
| Carboxyamidotriazole | NCT01107522 | Solid tumors, glioblastoma, Recurrent malignant gliomas | 1 |
| IACS-010759 | NCT03291938 | Advanced cancers | 1 |
| | NCT02882321 | Refractory or Relapsed AML | 1 |
| ME-344 | NCT02806817 | HER2 negative Breast cancer | 1 |

Table 1. Recent Clinical trials with ETCI inhibitors. Adapted from Sica et al., 2020.

1.3.2.4.3. EVT-701: a new selective ETCI inhibitor

EVT-701 (**figure 38**) is a new selective inhibitor of mitochondrial complex 1, derived from manassantin A. Manassantin A is a natural compound extracted from Saururus cernuus and Saururus chinensis (Hossain et al., 2005). The extraction process is not very efficient, since from 172 g of leaves, only 11,7 mg of Manassantin can be extracted (Hodges et al., 2004). Alternatively, it can be synthetized in 19 steps (Hanessian et al., 2006). Manassantin has recognized role as HIF-1 inhibitor, since it avoids HIF-1 protein accumulation (Hossain et al., 2005). Manassantin A also affects activity of other essential signaling proteins, such as NF-κB or MAPK (Hwang et al., 2003; Lu et al., 2013). Remarkably, it is an inhibitor of the mitochondrial electron transport chain, targeting complex I (Lai et al., 2013; Ma et al., 2017b). EVT-701 is a drug-like compound, resulting from extensive medicinal chemistry campaign to facilitate synthesis path and scalability, improve ADME profile while maintaining potency of Manassantin A. More

than 300 molecules were synthesized and evaluated, to obtain final compound, using a route of only 5 steps (figure 38). This makes EVT-701 synthesis scalable for pre-clinical and clinical development. EVT-701 was selected to inhibit EPO release, decrease HIF-1 stabilization under hypoxia and mitochondrial ATP production (Meneyrol, 2016). In addition, no Drug Metabolism and Pharmacokinetics (DMPK) issues were identified for EVT-701 (Meneyrol, 2016).



Figure 38. Overview of Medicinal chemistry optimization of Manassantin A into EVT-701.

In brief

Cancer cells are dependent on ETC function for tumor initation, progression, as well as for anti-cancer therapy resistance and for cancer stem cell maintenance. Thus, targeting ETCI to block OxPhos seems a relevant therapeutic approach. At the beginning of this thesis, the available ETCI inhibitors were either pleiotropic, such as metformin, or exerted unacceptable toxicity through the induction of lactic acidosis resulting unsafe in humans, such as phenformin or BAY87-2243. This indicated the need for new, safe and selective ETCI inhibitors that would exert anti-cancer activity with limited toxicity.

Summary

It is undeniable that mitochondria play an essential role in cancer initiation and progression. Functional mitochondria sustain numerous cellular processes, both energetic and anabolic that are tightly interconnected, and key for cell proliferation and survival. For example, functional ETC is essential to support cell proliferation by enabling nucleotide production. In fact, many cancer cells show increased mitochondrial function compared to their normal counterparts in non-transformed tissue. Remarkably, OxPhos is also involved in the maintenance of cancer stem cells. Resistance to both chemotherapy and targeted therapies have been reported to be accompanied by OxPhos phenotype in several cancer types, including AML. Thus, targeting mitochondrial functions and structures (including the inhibition of the first component of the ETC) could potentially be an interesting approach to improve anti-cancer therapy. Historically, metformin has been the main drug used to target ETC in pre-clinical studies, due to its use in the treatment of type 2 diabetes (T2D), what makes it easily accessful. Nevertheless, metformin is a pleiotropic drug with a wide variety of cellular targets which makes hard to definitively and exclusively link the effects observed upon metformin treatment to ETCI inhibition. Targeting OxPhos can lead to an adaptive mechanism by which the cells upregulate lactic fermentation to try to compensate ETC blockade and maintain energy balance. This is known as Pasteur effect. Phenformin is another biguanide, more potent at inhibiting ETCI but it had to be withdraw from the market precisely due to the induction of lactic acidosis. ETCI inhibition with BAY87-2243 is reputed selective and strong, but clinicals trials had to be stopped due to unacceptable toxicity. That is why the development of novel, safe and selective ETCI inhibitors is strongly needed. EVT-701 is an optimized lead compound derivate of Manassantin A, resulting from extensive medicinal chemistry campaign executed in collaboration with Sanofi and Evotec to facilitate synthesis path and scalability, improve ADME profile while maintaining potency of the natural compound. Metformin beneficial effect in the antitumor immune response has been suggested by several studies, despite the mechanisms involved remain elusive. Importantly, many of the studies showing anti-tumor activity upon ETCI inhibition are performed in NSG mice, especially in AML. Immunodeficient mice allow the study of the disease with human cells and even with patient molecular features, at the expense of a functional immune system. Thus, the study of ETCI inhibition in AML syngeneic models is required to better characterize the effect these compounds can have in the immune compartment when administered to "immunocompetent" humans. In this field, several questions were still unadressed at the beginning of this thesis: Can the specific inhibition of ETCI be safe and show anticancer activity? How would ETCI inhibition impact the immune compartment in cancer? What other cell and non-cell autonomous functions might be controlled by ETCI activity? Does the inhibition of ETCI impact other aspects of mitochondrial, metabolic or cellular biology?

2. Hypothesis and objectives

Aiming to answer these questions, my hypothesis was that blocking oxidative phosphorylation dependency of cancer and leukemic cells by a selective electron transport chain I inhibitor may be safe and impact and re-activate immune compartment to enhance treatment efficacy in cancer.

My PhD work aimed to address the two following objectives:

- To determine whether EVT-701 is a safe selective compound with anti-cancer activity in solid tumors.
- To assess the effects of EVT-701 in a murine syngeneic model of chemoresistant leukemia.

To assess the before mentioned questions, we used three following cancer models:

Non-Hodgkin lymphoma/ Diffuse large B cell lymphoma. Lymphomas are a heterogeneous group of lymphoid malignancies characterized by the presence of tumors predominantly in lymphoid structures, but also in extranodal tissues. (Scott and Gascoyne, 2014; Jiang et al., 2017). Among the different subtypes of lymphoma, non-Hodgkin lymphoma (NHL) accounts for 90% of the cases (Shankland et al., 2012). NHL are derived from B cells in 85-90% of the cases (Armitage et al., 2017) and among them, diffuse large B cell lymphoma (DLBCL) accounts for the 30-35% of NHL cases (Scott and Gascoyne, 2014; Siegel et al., 2019). DLBCL metabolic heterogeneity was first reported in 2005, when Monti and colleagues identified by whole genome array and multiple clustering using samples from newly diagnosed DLBCL patients a subtype of DLBCL whose signature was enriched in genes involved in OxPhos, mitochondrial function and ETC subunits (Monti et al., 2005, Caro et al., 2012). To study this disease, we used Eµ-myc lymphomas isolated from transgenic mice in which normal myc gene had become coupled to the Ig heavy chain enhancer, being thus constitutively expressed and leading to the development of NHL (Adams et al., 1985). This model recapitulates metabolic heterogeneity found in DLBCL, what is of great relevance when evaluating ETC as target for the disease.

Non-small cell lung carcinoma. Non-small cell lung carcinoma (NSCLC), that constitutes 85% of lung cancer cases. Approximately 30% of lung adenocarcinomas harbor activating mutations in Kirsten rat sarcoma viral oncogene homologue (KRAS) (Yang et al., 2019), what results in its constitutive activation. Metabolically, NSCLCs tumors have been reported to have increased glycolysis and TCA cycle activity than non-cancerous lungs (Hensley et al., 2016), as denoted by the enrichment in labelled lactate, alanine, succinate, glutamate, aspartate and citrate (Fan et al., 2009). Mitochondria is essential for KRAS-driven

lung cancer, since the deletion of TFAM, involved in mtDNA copy number maintenance, resulted in diminished tumorigenicity (Weinber et al., 2010). LKB1 (also known as STK11) inactivating mutations are detected in 20% of NSCLC cases (Gill et al., 2011). As mentioned in the point "1.3.2. Mitochondrial dependency in cancer and ETCI inhibition", KRAS driven-NSCLC tumors bearing LKB1 mutations are very sensitive to phenformin treatment, due to energetic imbalance (Shackelford et al., 2013). Given NSCLC dependency on mitochondria, as well as the interesting sensibility of LKB1 mutations to ETCI inhibition, we considered it to be a suitable context to evaluate EVT-701.

Acute myeloid leukemia. Acute myeloid leukemia (AML) is a clonal hematologic malignancy characterized by a block in terminal myeloid cell differentiation and uncontrolled proliferation (Sánchez-Mendoza et al., 2017). Despite significant increase in 5 year survival rates in the recent years, reaching up to 40-45% in young individuals and almost 30% in elderly patients, there is a persistent need of suitable and more effective therapies to eradicate the disease (Dombret et al., 2016; Kantarjian et al., 2021). After intensive chemotherapy, the majority of *de novo* AML patients achieve complete remission (CR). However, approximately two-thirds of patients end up with relapse, generally within the first 18 months (Yilmaz et al., 2019). The role of mitochondria as an essential organelle for AML, as well as in involvement in chemo-resistance, has been highlighted by many works and focusing on different aspects, as previously described in the chapter "Mitochondria in resistance to cancer therapy". Remarkably, increased OxPhos is the common denominator of resistance to classical AraC chemotherapy and to new therapeutic agents making it an attractive metabolic vulnerability to exploit therapeutically.

3. Results

3.1. EVT-701 is a novel selective and safe mitochondrial ETC 1 inhibitor with potent anti-tumor activity

Major results and conclusions

EVT-701 showed good bioavailability and a safe profile, not inducing the emesis observed with other competitors. EVT-701 demonstrated to decrease mitochondrial ATP production, oxygen consumption rate and proliferation in several cancer cell lines, at concentrations below micromolar range. Furthermore, EVT-701 proved therapeutic efficacy at reducing tumor weights and volume in several cancer models, including NSCLC and DLBCL with OxPhos clones. Finally, we found LKB1 expression to be a good stratification marker to identify higher sensitivity to EVT-701 in lung cancer.

Article

Pharmacology Research & Perspectives

| STATUS | ID | TITLE | CREATED | SUBMITTED |
|---|---------------------------|---|-------------|-------------|
| EIC: Jarvis, Michael ADM: Admin, WOA Accept (13-Jul- 2021) | PRP2- 2021-07- 0368 | EVT-701 is a novel selective and safe mitochondrial complex 1 inhibitor with potent anti-tumor activity in models of solid cancers View Submission Submitting Author: Paillasse, Michael | 06-Jul-2021 | 12-Jul-2021 |
| Complete Final File Updates | | Cover Letter | | |

Contact Journal

EVT-701 is a novel selective and safe mitochondrial complex 1 inhibitor with potent anti-tumor activity in models of solid cancers

Raquel Luna Yolba¹, Virgile Visentin¹, Caroline Hervé, Johanna Chiche, Jean-Ehrland Ricci, Jérôme Méneyrol, Michaël R. Paillasse & Nathalie Alet

Evotec SE, Curie Campus, 195 route d'Espagne, 31036 - Toulouse, France (R.L.Y, V.V., C.H., J.M., M.R.P., N.A.)

Université Côte d'Azur, INSERM, C3M, Nice, France. Equipe labellisée Ligue Contre le Cancer (J.C., J-E,R.)

¹ Authors contributed equally to the work as first authors

Running Title:

EVT-701, new MC 1 inhibitor to treat solid tumors

Corresponding Author:

Michaël R Paillasse, <u>Michael.paillasse@evotec.com</u>, Evotec SE, Campus Curie, 195 route d'Espagne, 31036 Toulouse, France. Phone +33-534 632 328

Manuscript data:

Text pages: 20 (excluding Abstract, References and Figure legends)

Number of tables: 0

Number of figures: 4 + 4 supplemental

Number of references: 65

Number of words in abstract: 208

Number of words in introduction: 747 (including reference citations)

Number of words in discussion: 1003 (including reference citations)

Abbreviations:

AUC, Area Under Curve; DAPI, 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole; DLBCL, Diffuse Large B Cell Lymphoma; ETC, Electron Transport Chain; FCCP, Carbonyl cyanide-p-trifluoromethoxyphenylhydrazone; IC₅₀, half maximal inhibitory concentration; MC1, Mitochondrial Complex 1; NH, Non Hodgkin's; OCR, Oxygen Consumption Rate; OD, Optic Density; OxPhos : Oxydative Phosphorylation; PEG, PolyEthylene Glycol; TCA, TriCarboxylic Acid.

Section:

Drug Discovery and Translational Medicine

Abstract

Targeting the first protein complex of the mitochondrial electron transport chain (MC1) in cancer has become an attractive therapeutic approach in the recent years, given the metabolic vulnerabilities of cancer cells. The anticancer effect exerted by the pleiotropic drug metformin and the associated reduction in hypoxia-inducible factor 1α (HIF- 1α) levels putatively mediated by MC1 inhibition led to development of HIF- 1α inhibitors, such as BAY87-2243, with a more specific MC1 targeting. However, development of BAY87-2243 was stopped early in phase 1 due to dose-independent emesis and thus there is still no clinical proof of concept for the approach. Given the importance of mitochondrial metabolism during cancer progression, there is still a strong therapeutic need to develop specific and safe MC1 inhibitors. We recently reported the synthesis of compounds with a novel chemotype and potent action on HIF- 1α degradation and MC1 inhibition. We describe here the selectivity, safety profile and anti-cancer activity in solid tumors of lead compound EVT-701. In addition, using murine models of lung cancer and of Non-Hodgkin's B cell lymphoma we demonstrated that EVT-701 reduced tumor growth and lymph node invasion when used as a single agent therapy. Altogether these results support further evaluation of EVT-701 alone or in combination in preclinical models and eventually in patients.

Significance statement

The present study elucidates the mechanism of action and supports further preclinical and clinical investigation of EVT-701, either as a single agent or in combination for the treatment of solid tumors. LKB1 deficiency in lung cancer was identified as potential indicator of accrued sensitivity to EVT-701, allowing stratification and selection of patients in clinical trials. In addition, emesis associated with BAY87-2243 was not observed for EVT-701 at therapeutic doses, providing a key difference and a strong justification for further development.

INTRODUCTION

Since 2000, a growing body of evidence has rehabilitated the importance of mitochondrial metabolism in tumor growth, muzzled for long by Warburg effect supremacy. The very aggressive type of Non-Hodgkin's (NH) B-cell lymphoma, i.e. Diffuse Large B Cell Lymphoma (DLBCL) was the first tumor entity in which an increase in the expression of mitochondrial-related genes was identified in the so-called OxPhos-DLBCL subset (Monti *et al.*, 2005). Two other independent studies unraveled the key role of mitochondrial metabolism in supporting growth of KRAS-driven lung tumors in mouse models (Weinberg *et al.*, 2010; Guo *et al.*, 2011). Since then, many studies demonstrated increased mitochondrial metabolism in melanoma, lung and brain tumors compared to normal tissues (Maher *et al.*, 2012; Momcilovic and Shackelford, 2015; Hensley *et al.*, 2016; Ždralević *et al.*, 2018).

Furthermore, tumors seem to develop from clones with amplified and functional mitochondria (Ju *et al.*, 2014; Reznik *et al.*, 2016) while clones with mitochondrial dysfunction cannot undergo tumorigenesis (Joshi *et al.*, 2015). Recent work suggests that such metabolic reprogramming is a continuous process, allowing dynamic adaptation as tumor requirements change from initiation to metastasis (Faubert *et al.*, 2020), and in response to anti-cancer therapies (Farge *et al.*, 2017).

Mitochondrial Complex 1 (MC1) is the first and major component of the electron transport chain (ETC), oxidizing NADH from the tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle (and fatty acid β -oxidation pathway) to initiate the electron and proton transfer necessary for ATP synthesis (Brand and Nicholls, 2011; Zickermann *et al.*, 2015). It comprises 44 subunits of which 14 are necessary and sufficient for catalytic activity (Fiedorczuk *et al.*, 2016; Zhu *et al.*, 2016). Given the number of accessory subunits, its roles in metabolism and cell fitness are multiple and difficult to disentangle. Nevertheless, recent studies shed light to important roles of MC1 in tumorigenesis and tumor adaptation in nutrient- and oxygen-poor surrounding.

Firstly, the electron transport chain is operational in hypoxic environments, even at oxygen levels below 0.5% (Rumsey *et al.*, 1990) and it can still contribute to ATP production and tumor cell survival (Jain *et al.*, 2002; Le *et al.*, 2014).

Secondly, another important role of ETC is to support aspartate biosynthesis. Aspartate is a proteogenic amino acid involved in nucleotide (purines and pyrimidines) biosynthesis, and therefore in proliferation. Active ETC also favors aspartate biosynthesis in order to maintain the level of TCA cycle intermediate levels compatible with cell energetic needs. Furthermore, increased expression and activity of MC1 is correlated with resistance to chemotherapy in pancreatic cancer (Masoud *et al.*, 2020) and with metastatic potential in colon cancers (Rai *et al.*, 2020). Finally, MC1 is fully functional in moderate hypoxic conditions and so sustainably maintains low levels of oxygen in tumor. This in turn restricts damaging ROS levels and stabilizes the transcription factor HIF-1 α .

Consistent with the important role played by MC1 in tumor survival and growth, a handful of approved drugs inhibiting MC1 (among other targets) have shown anticancer effects in clinical studies. Metformin, for instance, improves survival of patients with breast, colorectal, ovarian and liver tumors (Morales and Morris, 2015; Bost *et al.*, 2016). Mechanistically, metformin prevents stabilization of HIF-1 under hypoxic conditions in hepatocellular carcinoma (Zhou *et al.*, 2016). This reprogramming of HIF1-driven metabolism eventually prevents mitochondrial-dependent biosynthesis (Griss *et al.*, 2015).

Among more specific compounds developed over the last decades, BAY87-2243 is of special interest as it was identified from a screen for inhibitors of HIF-1 α -mediated gene transcription under hypoxic conditions. This very potent compound was shown to inhibit MC1 and to induce mitochondrial depolarization and ATP depletion (Ellinghaus *et al.*, 2013). It also increased ROS production, leading to activation of AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) signaling and apoptosis (Schöckel *et al.*, 2015). Unfortunately, clinical development of BAY87-2243 was terminated at phase 1 due to massive and dose-independent induction of emesis in patients. IACS-010759 is a potent and selective MC1 inhibitor identified through a medicinal chemistry program building on the structures of HIF-1 α modulators and known to inhibit oxidative phosphorylation. The agent showed some promise in the treatment of brain tumor and leukemia (Molina *et al.*, 2018), and a recent phase 1 study in 18 patients with advanced solid tumors showed that the compound was well-tolerated, with initial indications of anti-tumor activity (Yap *et al.*, 2019). Nevertheless, the clinical potential of MC1 inhibition in cancer remains largely unexplored. Given the complex nature of the target and the limited number of specific agents available, the development of new potent and specific MC1 inhibitors based on different chemotypes is highly desirable.
MATERIAL & METHODS

Cell lines and reagents

Lewis lung carcinoma tumor cells, LL/2 (CRL-1642TM), Hep3b.1-7 (HB-8064TM), MDA-MB231 (HTB-26[™]), H460 (HTB-177[™]) and H1299 (CRL-5803[™]) cells were purchased from ATCC ® (Manassas, VA, USA), KARPAS 422 were from ECACC, purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (Saint-Quentin Fallavier, France). The NCI-H460-luc2 human lung cancer cell line was kindly provided by Dr Alain Le Pape (Research Director, Scientific Director of Centre For Small Animal Imaging, CIPA of CNRS Orleans Campus, Orléans, France). LL/2 and MDA-MB-231 were grown in DMEM, H460 and H1299 in RPMI-1640 and Hep3b in MEM, each supplemented with 10% Fetal Bovine Serum, 2 mM Glutamax, 1 mM sodium pyruvate and 1mM MEM NEAA (non-essential amino acids). ATCC-formulated DMEM, MEM-Earle's medium, RPMI1460, PBS, Hepes, sodium pyruvate, MEM NEAA trypsin, Glutamax and L-glutamine were from Gibco, fetal bovine serum (FBS), BSA, rotenone, antimycin A, iodoacetate, Carbonyl cyanide-p-trifluoromethoxy-phenylhydrazone (FCCP), sodium bicarbonate, D-glucose were from Sigma-Aldrich, Penicillin and streptomycin from Life Technologies, PBS-buffered formalin from Fisher Scientific, mouse standard diet from SAFE, Rompun®2% from Bayer Health Care, Imalgene®1000 from Merial, sodium pentobarbital from Ceva, Isoflurane® from Axience, NaCl 0.9% from Aguettant, Hexomedine® from Sanofi Aventis, Matrigel® from BD Biosciences, D-Luciferine salt from Molecular Probes, PEG200 from Alfa Aesar and Solutol®HS15 from BASF.

Mouse primary Eµ-*Myc* cells (murine malignant B-cells) obtained from B-cell lymphomas of independent C57BL/6 Eµ-*Myc* transgenic mice (line hosted at C3M), were isolated as described previously (Chiche *et al.*, 2015), maintained in DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS, 2-mercaptoethanol (50 µM), L-asparagin (0.37 mM) and HEPES (pH 7.4, 10 mM) and previously characterized as OxPhos or Glycolytic (Chiche *et al.*, 2019).

Anti-human Ki-67 (Rabbit IgG) was obtained from Abcam (all used 1/200X), anti-human carbonic anhydrase IX (Goat IgG) from R&D System (used 1/100X), anti-human Caspase-3 (Rabbit IgG) from Cell Signaling Technology (used 1/500X), anti-mouse CD31 (Rat IgG) from Biolegend (all used 1/500X); Anti-rabbit, anti-rat HQ, anti-goat HQ and anti-HQ-HRP, Ultra Map DAB kit, ChromoMap

DAB Kit, Omnimap anti-Rb HRP and haematoxylin were obtained from DISCOVERY, Roche Diagnostics (all used 1/500X).

In vitro inhibition of Complex 1

MitoTox[™] Complex I OxPhos Activity Assay Kit (ab109903), designed for testing the direct inhibitory effect of compounds on Complex I, was used according to the supplier's instruction. The assay uses Complex I purified from bovine heart, immunocaptured by specific antibodies on the plate. Complex I activity is observed as decrease in absorbance at OD 340 nm, which denotes the oxidation of NADH by mitochondrial complex I.

Mitochondria respiration profiling

20,000 cells/well were seeded in VP3-PS cell culture microplate adapted to a XF96 analyzer (Seahorse Bioscience, Billerica, MA, USA), and allow to adhere overnight. Growth medium was exchanged with pre-warmed assay medium (XF base medium supplemented with 25 mM glucose, 2 mM glutamine and 1 mM sodium pyruvate; pH 7.4) and incubated at 37 °C for 1 h without CO_2 to allow to pre-equilibration in assay medium. Pre-warmed oligomycin, FCCP and rotenone plus antimycin A were loaded into injection ports A, B and C of the sensor cartridge, respectively, to give final concentrations of 1 µg/ml oligomycin, 1 µM FCCP, 1 µM rotenone & 1 µM antimycin A. For assessment, compound was loaded into the injector port A and oligomycin, FCCP and rotenone plus antimycin A into the ports B, C and D respectively. The cartridge was calibrated by the XF96 analyzer, and the assay performed with following parameters: 4 min mix, 3 min measure. Oxygen consumption rate (OCR) was detected under basal conditions followed by the sequential addition of 10X solutions containing the different doses of the compound to evaluate, followed by 3 sequential additions of FCCP at a final concentration of 0.3 µM, 1 µM and 3 µM to uncouple mitochondria. Control injections were with medium. Data are presented as the fold of the OCR of the given dose of compound to vehicle. Supplemental figure 4 shows a representative OCR curve of a Seahorse experiment with H460 cell line.

Quantification of total and mitochondrial ATP content

Total and mitochondrial ATP content was measured by using Cell Titer Glo assay (Promega) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Iodoacetate was used as specific glycolysis inhibitor to define origin of ATP and to isolate the effect of compounds on mitochondrial function, since it inhibits glycolysis by the alkylation of the essential cysteine residue in the active center of GAPDH, which results in impaired enzyme activity (Sabri and Ochs, 1971; Schmidt, 2009). Thus, compound effect is measured on the total ATP content and on the mitochondrial ATP content (measured in the presence of 100 μ M iodoacetate). Cells were seeded at 8,000 cells/well in 80 μ l of complete medium (96 well plates) and incubated at 37 °C (95% air; 5% CO₂) for 18 h. Compounds were added (10 μ l of a 10X solution in culture media to obtain half-log dose response with final concentrations in 10 nM to 10 μ M range) to pairs of plates and the cells were incubated for 1h in presence or not of iodoacetate (addition of 10 μ l of culture media or of 10 μ l of a 10X iodoacetate solution). At the end of the incubation time, the ATP content was measured by using the Cell Titer Glo according to the manufacturer's <u>protocol</u>. The luminescence signal was recorded with a microplate reader (2103 EnVisionTM Multilabel Plate Readers – PerkinElmer). Raw data (Relative Luminescence Units) were analyzed using Microsoft Excel 2016 software; values represent mean \pm standard deviation. Mitochondrial ATP is determined with iodoacetate, global ATP without.

Proliferation & apoptosis measurement assays

Cells were seeded at 5,000 cells/well in 80 μ l/well in culture media using 96-well plates. After an overnight incubation at 37 °C (95% air, 5% CO₂), 10 μ L of 10X solutions of the compound were added to the appropriate wells (in culture media to obtain dose response with final concentrations in 10 nM to 10 μ M range). For apoptosis determination, an additional 10 μ L of Caspase-3/7 green reagent (Essen Bioscience, Catalog # 4440) diluted at 1/200 in corresponding media was added to the wells. Caspase-3/7 green reagent only emits fluorescence when it is cleaved by activated caspase-3/7, resulting in the release of the DNA dye and green fluorescent staining of nuclear DNA, which allows the monitoring of the kinetic activation of caspase-3/7. Plates were immediately placed in Incucyte live-cell, time-lapse imaging system allowing the visualization and quantification of cell proliferation and apoptosis

over time (Incucyte Zoom, Essen Bioscience Sartorius, Gottingen, Germany) for image acquisition. Two images were acquired under phase and green fluorescence (400 ms acquisition time by default) every 3 h, at 10X magnification for 96 h for the first experiment and then for 72 h for the three subsequent experiments. Assessment of cell confluence was based on phase images and apoptosis assessment was based on green fluorescence images. The Incucyte software (Incucyte ZOOM Version 2018A) was used to generate the kinetic graphs from the proliferation and apoptosis data. Changes in % of cell confluence for proliferation and of fluorescent counts for apoptosis were represented as % or fold to vehicle both for apoptosis and proliferation. Proliferation: Although there were changes in cell morphology as cells proliferate and confluence increases, we decided to use confluence as the measure of cell proliferation to assess the effect of the small molecules on cell proliferation. Cell proliferation was monitored by analyzing the occupied area (% confluence) of cell images over time. Apoptosis: Apoptosis was monitored using the caspase-3/7 green apoptosis assay reagent. When added to tissue culture medium, this inert, non-fluorescent reagent crosses the cell membrane where it is cleaved by activated caspase-3/7 that releases the DNA dye and that results green fluorescent staining of nuclear DNA. Apoptosis was determined by counting the number of fluorescence objects in each well and was expressed as cells/mm². The fluorescence threshold was set to 1 GCU, meaning that each object above this threshold were detected in the image.

In vitro cell death assay in the Eµ-Myc model

 $E\mu$ -*Myc* cells (2x10⁵) were seeded in 96 well-plates in the presence or absence of EVT-701 (at indicated doses) for 24 hours. Cells were then labeled with DAPI (Molecular Probes; 0.5 µg/mL) and analyzed immediately by flow cytometry using a MACSQuant Analyzer (Miltenyi Biotec). Cell death induction represents the percentage of DAPI positive cells in EVT-701-treated conditions divided by the percentage of DAPI positive cells in control (DMSO) conditions.

Animals

Female C57BL/6, male Balb/CJ-Nude and female CB17 SCID mice were purchased from Charles River Laboratories, France. The nycthemeral cycle in the housing room is 12-12-hour light/dark, room temperature was at 22±2 °C with 55±10% of relative humidity. The mice were fed *ad libitum* with standard diet and filtered tap water. The laboratory animal care program and the animal facility have been fully accredited by AAALAC organization. All the experimental procedures were approved by the local ethics committee of the company and were registered at the French Ministry of Higher Education and Research.

Orthotopic LL/2 lung tumor model

Cell implantation procedure: LL/2 cells were grown in a 5% CO₂ humidified atmosphere (90%) at 37°C, in DMEM medium supplemented with 3% FBS and L-glutamine 2 mM. The cells were trypsinized, washed with PBS and adjusted to a concentration of 50,000 cells/ml in Matrigel and PBS/BSA 0.1% (1:4; v:v). The cell suspension was kept at 4°C until inoculation into mice. 7-week-old female C57/Bl6 mice were anesthetized with a mixture of Rompun®2% (20 mg/kg) and Imalgene®1000 (100 mg/kg) in NaCl 0.9% at 10 mL/kg by intraperitoneal injection. A small skin incision to the left chest wall (<1 cm) was made at about 5mm tail side from the scapula. Subcutaneous fat and muscles were separated from costal bones. LL/2 cells (1,000 cells suspended in 20 µL) were directly injected through the intercostal space into the left lung. The area of injection was cleaned with Hexomedine®. The incision was closed with a surgical skin clip. At study termination, the mice were euthanized by barbiturate overdose (sodium Pentobarbital). The ribcage was opened and the left lung and the mediastinal lymph nodes were removed. Lung tumors were measured using an electronic caliper in order to determine the tumor volume (V) according to the formula: $V = l^2 x L x 0.52$ (l=width and L=length) and the mediastinal lymph nodes were weighed. Statistical analysis was performed using t-test for tumor volumes and lymph node weights. Treatment schedules: Mice were allocated to experimental groups based on body weight at the initiation of the treatment. At the end of the studies, mice without tumors were excluded from the statistical analysis. LL/2 tumor-bearing mice were dosed orally with either placebo (vehicle) or with EVT-701, 14 mice were allocated to each group. Mice received 14 (from D10 to D23 post cell inoculation) or 4 (from D19 to D22 post cell inoculation) consecutive single oral daily administrations with 10 and 30 mg/kg of compound according to the study design. EVT-701 was prepared daily as 1 and 3 mg/mL solutions in PEG200/Solutol®HS15/water (30%/5%/65%) and administered to mice at 10 mL/kg by oral gavage.

Orthotopic H460 lung tumor model

Cell implantation procedure: H460-Luc2 cells were grown in a 5% CO₂ humidified atmosphere (90%) at 37°C, in RPMI1640 medium supplemented with 10% FBS, D-Glucose (4.5 g/L), Glutamax 2mM, Sodium pyruvate 1X, sodium bicarbonate (2 mM) and Hepes buffer (10mM). The cells were trypsinized, washed with PBS and adjusted to a concentration of 20 million cells per ml in PBS. Cell suspension was kept at 4°C until inoculation into mice. 7-week-old male Balb/c Nude mice were anesthetized with a mixture of Rompun®2% (20 mg/kg) and Imalgene®1000 (100 mg/kg) in NaCl 0.9% at 10 mL/kg by intraperitoneal injection, and subsequently placed on an angular board in order to visualize the glottis using a light source, an otoscope and a modified spatula. The mice were inoculated with 25 μ L of cell suspension using a S/L First PICC 26G (1.9F) blunt-end silicon catheter inserted into the bronchus through the mouth. Tumor progression was followed by bioluminescence imaging (BLI) at D7, D14 and D21 post cell inoculation. Animals were anesthetized with isoflurane \mathbb{B} vaporized to 2.5% in O₂/Air = 1L/min. D-luciferin was applied by intraperitoneal injection (2 mg/mouse in 200 µL). Bioluminescence was measured 12 minutes after using an IVIS spectrum imager (PerkinElmer). At termination the ribcage was opened, the lungs were removed and tumors were measured as described for the LL/2 model. Statistical analysis was performed using t-test for tumor volumes and weights, and two-way repeated measures ANOVA for bioluminescence. Treatment schedule: Mice were allocated to experimental groups based on bioluminescent signal of the tumors at the initiation of the treatment (D7 post cell inoculation). H460-Luc2 tumor-bearing mice received 15 consecutive single daily oral administrations with 30 mg/kg of compound according to the study design. EVT-701 was prepared daily as 3 mg/mL solutions in PEG200/Solutol®HS15/water (30%/5%/65%) and administered to mice at 10 mL/kg by oral gavage (n=9 mice/group). Control mice received PEG200/Solutol HS15/water (30%/5%/65%) as vehicle (n=9 mice/group)

EVT-701 level assessment in plasma and tumor of LL/2 tumor-bearing mice

Blood samples were collected from the abdominal aorta and transferred into glass tubes containing lithium heparin. Immediately after sampling, the individual blood samples were centrifuged at 8000g for 10 min at 4°C. Plasma samples were frozen at - 20°C until analysis. LL/2 tumors were collected, pooled (3 mice per sampling time), weighed and frozen at -20°C until analysis. One gram of tissue being mixed with 2 mL of water for homogenization. After addition of the precipitant solution (CH₃CN), EVT-701 was quantified by LC-MS/MS. LC-MS/MS conditions: Analysis performed on Thermo Accela LC with HTC CTC-Pal autosampler. Column: Luna C18 Phenomenex (50 x 2.1 mm) 3µm; Elution conditions: Eluent A= H_2O + ammonium acetate 0.015% (w/v) + formic acid 0.2% (v/v); Eluent B= MeOH 20% (v/v) + ammonium acetate 0.015% (w/v) + formic acid 0.2% (v/v), CH₃CN to 100% volume. T= 25 °C. Gradient : 10% B for 0.5 min, to 90% in 1.5 min, 1 min 90% B, back to 10% in 0.5 min and 1.5 min 10% B; Flow rate= 0.7 ml/min; injection 5 µl, retention time 2.3 min. Analysis conditions: Thermo TSQ Quantum Ultra 4 mass spectrometer, ES+, cone tension 46 V, capillary T=350 °C, vaporizer T= 350 °C. m/z transition 630.03 => 270.05; Software : Excalibur version 2.1.0. Preparation of quality control and calibration samples: Quality Control samples and Calibration Samples were prepared daily by spiking mouse plasma with working solutions prepared from independent EVT-701 weightings. The calibration curve was calculated from calibration levels at 1 (n=3), 2.5, 5, 10, 25, 50, 100, 200 (n=3), 500, 1000 and 2000 (n=3) ng/mL. The concentrations for Quality Controls were 5, 50, 150, 450 and 1500 ng/mL. Analysis used quadratic regressions (not forced through the origin) weighted by 1/x. Limit of quantification (LOQ) was estimated to 2.5 ng/mL for the plasma and 10 ng/mL for the LL/2 tumors. The pharmacokinetic parameters were calculated from the arithmetic mean of the plasma concentrations or the LL/2 tumor concentrations using the program WinNonLin 5.2, non-compartmental model 200.

B-cell lymphoma in vivo studies

Lymphoma transfer of isolated Eµ-*Myc* clones was realized into syngeneic, non-transgenic, 6-week-old C57BL/6J Ola Hsd females (Envigo) by tail vein injection of 1×10^5 viable Eµ-*Myc* cells per recipient mouse (in 150 µL of sterile PBS). As the inguinal lymph nodes became "palpable" (six days after cell injection), the animals were treated daily with 30 mg/kg of EVT-701 (oral; 10 ml/kg) or vehicle. EVT-701 powder was dissolved daily in PEG200/Solutol HS15/water (30%/5%/65%). Control mice received PEG200/Solutol HS15/water (30%/5%/65%) as vehicle (n=10 mice/group). Food and water were given ad libitum. Mice weight and palpation of the inguinal lymph nodes were determined every two or three days. Eµ-*Myc* lymphoma-bearing animals sacrificed as soon as they presented several signs of illness. Upon sacrifice all lymph node tumors and spleens were collected and weighted. 2 hours after the last EVT-701 administration, mice were anesthetized with pentobarbital (75 mg/kg i.p). 500 µl of blood was collected for plasma isolation (lithium heparinate-coated tubes (BDMicrotainer®) were centrifuged at 6000 g for 1.5 min at room temperature, according to the manufacturer's instructions) before mice sacrifice. Upon sacrifice all lymph node tumors and spleens are immediately collected and weighted.

Mice were maintained in specific pathogen-free conditions and experimental procedures were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee and by the regional ethics committee (PEA232 from Comité Institutionnel d'Ethique Pour l'Animal de Laboratoire – AZUR).

Gene set enrichment analysis

The publicly accessible transcriptomic data from The Cancer Genome Atlas Lung Adenocarcinoma (TCGA-LUAD) and The Cancer Genome Atlas Lung Squamous Cell Carcinoma (TCGA-LUSC) cohorts were used in this study. GSEA was performed using DESEQ2 and fGSEA R packages. Gene sets were downloaded from GSEA website (https://www.gsea-msigdb.org/gsea/msigdb/). Volcano plots and enrichment maps were used for visualization of the GSEA results. For each gene signature, its Normalized Enrichment Score (NES) and False discovery rate (FDR) considering the p-adjusted values (padj) were evaluated. NES with FDR < 0.05 were considered significant.

Statistical analysis

Data are expressed as mean (\pm SD). Otherwise notified, these are means of three independent experiments, with 3 replicates per experiment. Differences in calculated means between groups were assessed by two-sided Student t tests. For time-to-event variables, the survival functions were estimated with Kaplan–Meier method and compared with log-rank tests. All statistical analyses were done with Prism software. A p-value of less than 0.05 was considered to indicate statistical significance (*p<0.05, **p<0.01 and ***p<0.001).

RESULTS

EVT-701 is a highly potent, selective and safe Mitochondrial Complex 1 inhibitor

EVT-701, 1-(3,4-dimethoxyphenyl)-2-[4-[2-[4-[2-(3,4-dimethoxyphenyl)-2-hydroxy-ethoxy]phenyl]thiazol-4-yl]-phenoxy]ethanol (Fig. 1A) results from our efforts to identify novel, potent and selective compound degrading HIF-1a (Méneyrol et al., 2016). We first investigated time- and dose-dependent effect of EVT-701 on isolated MC1 complex. EVT-701 reduces NADH abundance with an IC₅₀ of 300 nM (Fig 1B). To assess the effect of EVT-701 on respiration of isolated mitochondria, we performed polarographic studies. EVT-701 dose-dependently inhibits NADH oxidation and phosphorylation of ADP into ATP by 80% at 7.5 μ M (Fig. 1C). Next, we selected three different cancer cell lines in which metformin was reported to dose-dependently inhibit mitochondrial function and/or ATP production, namely MD-MB-231 (Gao et al., 2016), Hep3B (Gao et al., 2020) and U87 (Sesen et al., 2015) cells. While MDA-MB-231 and U87 cells mainly produce ATP through glycolysis, Hep3B cells produce only 40% of their total ATP through glycolysis (Fig. 1C). Nevertheless, EVT-701 inhibited mitochondrial ATP production at nanomolar concentrations in all cell lines (IC₅₀ of 52 ± 18 , 81 ± 12 and 74 ± 38 nM for MD-MB-231, Hep3B, and U87 respectively), regardless of their basal metabolism (Fig. 1E). Selectivity of EVT-701 was assessed on live Jurkat cells through a kinase selectivity panel from DiscoverX[®], based on the KiNativ® In situ kinase profiling assay (Patricelli et al., 2011). Among the 198 kinases evaluated in the panel, no kinase activity was inhibited by more than 30% and only MLK2 activity was increased by more than 30% by 10 µM EVT-701 (Fig. 1F), as determined by assessing the phosphorylation state of specific target peptides for each kinase. To evaluate developability of EVT-701, we performed further safety and ADME assays. The first of these was the *in vitro* safety screen from Cerep®, based on the ability of ET701 at 10 μ M to compete for the binding of reference ligands to 300 receptors. Only one receptor (A2AR) showed ligand binding decreased by more than 50%, while increase greater than 50% was only seen with CCK1R and CCK2R (Supplemental Fig. 1A). While evaluating EVT-701 in mouse acute myeloid leukemia, we verified that its inhibitory effect on respiration was rescued by succinate (Luna Yolba, in revision). Pharmacokinetic parameters of EVT-701 were determined using C57BL/6J mice following intravenous administration of EVT-701 (3 mg/kg) and escalating oral dosing (10, 30 and 75 mg/kg). Blood was sampled over 48 h to obtain key PK variables (C_{max} , t_{max} , AUC, $t_{1/2}$, t_{last} , clearance, volume of distribution, and bioavailability). The plasma concentrations of EVT-701 over the 48 h timecourse are shown in Supplemental Fig. S1B and PK parameters summarized in Supplemental Fig. 1C. Key features of the data were the extended $t_{1/2}$ (4.1 h), good bioavailability (64%) and the observation that dose-proportionality was conserved from 10 to 75 mg/kg. These measures are all supportive of further in vivo evaluation using oral route and a QD regimen. Tissue distribution was measured in the same strain of mice after single oral administration of 30 mg/kg, this showed accumulation of EVT-701 (compared to plasma) in all tissues except the brain (Supplemental Fig. 1D), making EVT-701 potentially suitable for treatment of several cancer types to the exception of CNS tumors. Specifically, tissue vs plasma AUC ratio was 5.9 for liver, 4.5 for kidney and pancreas, 4.2 for heart, 2.3 for lung and 0.25 for brain. In order to investigate the mechanism underlying this widespread distribution and address potential efflux issues, we evaluated interaction of EVT-701 with key transporters from ATP-binding cassette (ABC) and solute carrier (SLC) families, expressed either in CHO, HEK or MDCKII cells. The compound inhibited OATP1B1, OATP1B3 and BCRP-mediated transport with respective IC₅₀s of 1.1 ± 0.1 , 2.4 ± 0.2 and $4.1\pm2.7 \mu$ M, whereas IC₅₀s for OAT1, OCT1 and MRP2 were higher than 30 μ M and P-gp transport was not affected (Supplemental Fig. 1E). Collectively, these results are consistent with a massive uptake of EVT-701 in the liver, kidney, and intestine but could also provide a potent mechanism of elimination via kidney excretion. Finally, to examine to what extend safety issues reported for BAY87-2243 could be relevant for EVT-701, we tested the compounds in a ferret model of emesis at Porsolt. Ferrets were exposed to increasing doses of both compounds. For BAY87-2243, we chose as target concentration C_{max} reported in first patients treated with recommended starting dose in clinical phase 1; for EVT-701, we chose as target dose the estimated C_{max} obtained at steady state in patients to

be treated with predicted Dose-to-Man. This was assessed by allometric methods, using rat & mouse PK parameters and considering *in vitro* proliferation IC_{50} as minimum concentration at steady state. Dose escalation was eventually limited by toxicity for BAY87-2243 and by solubility for EVT-701. In conclusion, BAY87-2243 induced retches and vomits from half of the first patient C_{max} , whereas in similar conditions EVT-701 didn't, showing its safer profile.

EVT-701 reduces mitochondrial ATP production and the development of OxPhos but not of glycolytic NH B-cell lymphomas

Targeting mitochondrial metabolism of OxPhos-dependent NH B-cell lymphomas demonstrated a high potential as anti-cancer strategy (Ricci and Chiche, 2018). Accordingly, EVT-701 treatment dose-dependently inhibited mitochondrial ATP production with IC_{50} of 393±83 nM (Fig. 2A) and proliferation with IC_{50} of 188±50 nM (Fig. 2B) in the human OxPhos-DLBCL cell line KARPAS 422 (Caro *et al.*, 2012). This was accompanied by an increased glucose consumption and lactate release (Fig. 2C).

We previously established that murine primary *Myc*-driven B-cell lymphomas arising from the Eµ-*Myc* mice model (Adams *et al.*, 1985) display distinct metabolic profiles and energetic status (Chiche *et al.*, 2019). Moreover, we demonstrated that Eµ-*Myc* lymphomas relying on OxPhos for energy production are sensitive to specific inhibitors of mitochondrial metabolism such as phenformin, in *in vitro* and *in vivo* settings while glycolytic counterparts were resistant (Chiche *et al.*, 2019). *In vitro*, using five independent OxPhos-Eµ-*Myc* and five independent glycolytic-Eµ-*Myc* lymphoma cells, we show that OxPhos-Eµ-*Myc* cells are more sensitive to 10 µM EVT-701 than glycolytic-Eµ-*Myc* cells (Fig. 2D-E). To further test the specific anti-tumor efficacy of EVT-701 on B-cell lymphoma development, one OxPhos-Eµ-*Myc* (clone 506) and one glycolytic-Eµ-*Myc* (clone 504) lymphoma were transferred to syngeneic wild-type immunocompetent C57BL/6 mice. Six days after cell injection, mice were daily dosed with 30 mg/kg of EVT-701 (or Vehicle) given orally. EVT-701 treatment had no effect on the overall survival of glycolytic-Eµ-*Myc*-bearing mice (Fig. 2F) nor on the progression-free survival (data not shown). Accordingly, the weight of lymphomas from Vehicle or EVT-701-treated glycolytic-Eµ-*Myc*-bearing mice is similar (Fig. 2G). However, EVT-701 treatment significantly reduced the

progression of OxPhos-E μ -*My*c-lymphomas as shown by a significant increase in the overall survival (Fig. 2H) and in the progression-free survival (not shown) of those mice. Lymphomas harvested from EVT-701-treated OxPhos-E μ -*Myc*-bearing mice were significantly smaller than those of Vehicle-treated OxPhos-E μ -*Myc*-bearing mice (Fig. 2I). Altogether, our results demonstrated that EVT-701 holds potential as anti-cancer treatment in the context of highly aggressive type of NH B-cell lymphomas dependent on mitochondrial metabolism.

EVT-701 inhibits OxPhos metabolism and proliferation of non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) lines *in vitro* and *in vivo*

A previously published cohort study of over 7,000 patients with NSCLC identified that those receiving concomitant metformin treatment had improved outcomes, suggesting that the anti-metabolic drug could influence cancer progression (Chuang et al., 2018). We therefore considered that NSCLC was a good candidate for further evaluation of the anti-tumor potential of EVT-701. We used a syngeneic mouse model of NSCLC involving orthotropic injection of LL/2 cells. This cell line was selected as the parent line - Lewis lung carcinoma (LLC) - is reportedly relevant for assessment of both antitumor and antimetastatic effects (Doki et al., 1999). LL/2 cells poorly rely on glycolysis (18%) to produce ATP (not shown) which suggests an important role of mitochondrial metabolism. In vitro, EVT-701 dosedependently inhibited mitochondrial energetics in LL/2 cells, as shown by a reduction in ATP production with an IC₅₀ of 512 ± 109 nM (Fig. 3A) and proliferation with an apparent IC₅₀ of 295 ± 52 nM (Fig. 3B). In vivo, when used as a single agent, EVT-701 reduced tumor growth of LL/2 cells injected orthotopically into C57BL/6 mice left lung. Both doses of 10 and 30 mg/kg of EVT-701 significantly inhibited tumor growth (-57% and -69% volume respectively). PK performed during first day of treatment showed accumulation of EVT-701 in tumor compared to plasma, tumor/plasma AUC ratios being 2.9 and 2.5 for 10 and 30 mg/kg respectively (Fig. 3C-D). We then evaluated influence of time to treatment onset on metastasis in addition to tumor growth. LL/2 orthotopic tumors were treated with EVT-701 (30 mg/kg) either for 14 days from D10 (early onset) or for 4 days from D19 (late onset). The effect on primary tumor growth was similar (66% and 65% decrease of tumor volume respectively) whereas early onset gave an enhanced benefit in terms of lymph node invasion (64 vs 34% decrease of lymph node weight – Fig. 3E-F).

Among NSCLC tumors, those carrying LBK1 mutations or with LKB1 downregulation (~20% of all NSCLC) have been reported as highly sensitive to metformin and phenformin (Shackelford *et al.*, 2013). We therefore used the NCI-H460 (hereafter H460) cell line as a model of LKB1-deficient NSCLC. *In vitro*, EVT-701 not only showed dose-dependent inhibition of mitochondrial ATP production (with an IC₅₀ of 203±53 nM; Fig. 3G); OCR (Fig. 3H); and proliferation of H460 cells (with apparent IC₅₀ of 68 ± 27 nM; Fig. 3I), but also induced apoptosis with an IC₅₀ of 96 ± 28 nM (Fig. 3J) whereas no significant cell death was induced in LL/2 even at 10 μ M.

We next assessed activity of BAY87-2243 in same model under the same conditions and identified a clear discrepancy between the effects of EVT-701 and BAY87-2243. While mitochondrial ATP production, proliferation and apoptosis were significantly inhibited by BAY87-2243 at doses less than or equal to 1 nM, we only detected an effect on OCR at doses above 100 nM (Supplemental Fig. 2A-C). These findings support the hypothesis that the undesirable emetic side-effects of BAY-2243 are due to off-target effect(s) rather than inhibition of oxidative metabolism.

To evaluate *in vivo* effect of EVT-701 in LKB1-deficient NSCLC, luciferase-expressing NCI-H460 cells, hereafter H460-luc2, (Raes *et al.*, 2016)) were orthotopically injected into Balb/CJ-Nude mice and treated daily for 14 days with EVT-701 30 mg/kg starting from D7 (Supplemental Fig. 3A). Mice were randomized based on bioluminescence imaging (BLI – Supplemental Fig. 3B). Unfortunately, BLI couldn't be used to monitor tumor growth until the end of the experiment as signal was partially lost after D14 (data not shown), presumably due to large the hypoxic and apoptotic zones appearing in vehicle-treated group tumors (Supplemental Fig. 4C shows CAIX, Ki67 and Caspase 3 staining in those tumors). Nevertheless, tumors could be harvested at D21, allowing us to determine that EVT-701 significantly decreased tumor volume by 60% and weight by 57% (Supplemental Fig. 3D-E).

LKB1 status is an important factor driving sensitivity of NSCLC cells to EVT-701

Metformin and Phenformin are reportedly highly active on LKB1 mutant NSCLC models. This is potentially linked to the inability of LKB1 mutated cells to modulate AMPK signaling and adapt to

metabolic stress. According to this view, LKB1 tumor cells continue uncontrolled growth despite the inhibition of OxPhos, leading to rapid depletion of energy resources and eventually triggering apoptosis (Shackelford et al., 2013; Momcilovic and Shackelford, 2015). To evaluate LKB1 proficiency/deficiency effect on EVT-701 activity, we established LKB1-overexpressing H460 cell line (H460-LKB1) as compared to wild type H460. Both cell lines were relying more on glycolysis to produce ATP (59% and 75% respectively - not shown). In H460-LKB1, similar to the effect observed with wild type H460, EVT-701 dose-dependently inhibited mitochondrial ATP production with IC₅₀ of 232±50 nM (Fig. 4A); however, we saw no induction of apoptosis even at 10 µM in the LKB1 proficient cells oppositely to LKB1 deficient cells (Fig. 4B). In addition, we could monitor that the phosphorylation cascade downstream of AMPK is activated in EVT-701-treated H460-LKB1 cells, as shown by an increased phosphorylation state of 4E-BP1 on Serine 65, Raptor and Acetyl CoA carboxylase (ACC) within minutes after exposure to EVT-701, whereas parental H460 couldn't (Fig. 4C). A growing body of evidence is accumulating of increased TCA cycle activity, mitochondrial membrane potential and mitochondrial respiration (Faubert et al., 2014; Kaufman et al., 2014; Whang et al., 2016) in LKB1deficient cancer cells to support their proliferation and survival (Zhang et al., 2021). Borzi and colleagues proposed that even NSCLC showing low expression of wild-type LKB1 could undergo this metabolic evolution and may accordingly be more sensitive to antimetabolic drugs (Borzi et al., 2020). We therefore interrogated the TCGA database to see if there was evidence to support this metabolic evolution model in larger NSCLC patient cohorts. We addressed lung adenocarcinoma and squamous cell carcinoma cohorts (LUAD and LUSC respectively) separately. Within each cohort, patients were divided into LKB1 high and LKB1 low sub-cohorts based on median LKB1 mRNA expression levels. We performed gene set enrichment analysis (GSEA) in LKB1 low versus LKB1 high sub-cohorts and observed that mitochondrial metabolism related pathways are enriched in *LKB1* low group (Fig. 4D-E), in alignment with the conclusions reached by Kaufman and Borzi. Altogether, those results support use of EVT-701 in LKB1 deficient and LKB1-low NSCLC.

DISCUSSION

We present here the preclinical characterization of EVT-701, a structurally novel mitochondrial complex 1 inhibitor. The results demonstrate that EVT-701 is a highly potent and selective MC1 inhibitor in a range of biochemical and cell-based assays. Significantly the compound is free of the side effects that interrupted the clinical development of BAY87-2243. While first-in-human trial results with IACS-010759 were reassuring with regard to toxicity, it shares the BAY87-2243 backbone and so uncertainty about its safety remains. EVT-701 is the product of a discovery program aimed at finding HIF-1 α -destabilizers with new scaffold to circumvent the aforementioned side effects.

Pointing to the therapeutic potential of EVT-701 for solid tumor treatment, proliferation of non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) and diffuse large B-cell lymphoma (DLBCL) cell lines *in vitro* and tumor growth in syngeneic and xenograft NSCLC and NH B-cell lymphoma models were potently inhibited by EVT-701. Mice bearing NH B-cell lymphoma tumors originating from high OxPhos clones showed prolonged survival after EVT-701 treatment. Functional studies showed that reduction of tumor cell growth was correlated with inhibition of NADH oxidation, oxygen consumption rate and mitochondrial ATP formation, paralleled with increase in glucose consumption and lactate production, altogether concurring with MC1 inhibition. Using and growth of syngeneic and xenograft NSCLC and NH B-cell lymphoma models we demonstrated that EVT-701 hold potential as anti-cancer agent dedicated to OxPhos-dependent tumors since it prolonged survival of OxPhos-Eµ-*Myc* lymphoma-bearing mice, but not for glycolytic-Eµ-*Myc*-lymphoma-bearing mice.

It became clear over the last decades that despite their glucose addiction, tumors still largely use oxidative phosphorylation to support survival and growth.

Liver kinase B1 (LKB1), also known as serine/threonine kinase (STK11) has been characterized as a tumor suppressor gene. In cancer setting, LKB1 suppressed malignant cell transformation and drastically decreased tumor progression (Korsse *et al.*, 2013). Mutation in LKB1 has been identified as a possible causative factor for Peutz-Jeghers syndrome (Jenne *et al.*, 1998), a genetic disorder where patients show an increased risk of cancer (Giardiello *et al.*, 1987). This has been evidenced for pancreatic and non-small cell lung cancers, where heterozygous LKB1 cooperates with KRAS mutation to the

development and progression of tumors (Morton et al., 2010; Sanchez-Vega et al., 2018; Galan-Cobo et al., 2019; Hollstein et al., 2019). LKB1 activates members of AMP kinase family (AMPK) which in turn, phosphorylate effectors to repress anabolic and stimulate catabolic processes, thereby reestablishing energy homeostasis to overcome energetic stress. AMPK represses lipogenesis by inhibiting sterol regulatory element binding transcription factor 1c (SREBP1c) and acetyl-coenzyme A (CoA) carboxylase (ACC) and impairs cholesterol synthesis by inactivating hydroxymethylglutaryl-CoA reductase (Munday et al., 1988; Li et al., 2011; Vara-Ciruelos et al., 2019), while preventing oxidative stress secondary to defective mitochondria accumulation via ULK1-mediated mitophagy (Egan et al., 2010). The idea of inducing a "metabolic catastrophe" to attack LKB1-deficient cancers has been tested with metformin (Moro et al., 2018), phenformin (Shackelford et al., 2013) and BAY87-2243 (Ellinghaus et al., 2013). However, the poly-pharmacology of these compounds makes it hard to draw firm conclusions about how beneficial different aspects of metabolic catastrophe can be exploited to fight cancer. For example, LKB1-independent AMPK activation has been reported for metformin (Guo et al., 2016), which could offer more flexibility to cancer cells to circumvent MC1 inhibitionmediated metabolic catastrophe. In this study, we show that EVT-701 did not modulate AMPK signaling in LKB1-deficient H460 cells and could inhibit tumor growth as single agent in vivo. Our findings therefore point to EVT-701 as a valuable tool to explore the metabolic catastrophe approach, particularly in combination with other therapeutic approaches. We reported partial activation of MLK2 in kinase screen. This kinase is part of the first subgroup of Mixed Lineage Kinase family of serine/threonine protein kinases (MLK1-MLK4, sharing high sequence identity) that regulate signaling via JNK and MAPKs (Kashuba et al., 2011). MLKs role in disease has essentially been described in neurodegeneration, and potential role of MLK2 in promotion of proliferation and decrease of sensitivity to gencitabine of pancreatic cancer was also reported (An et al., 2013). Nevertheless, we do not expect this to be relevant for EVT-701 mechanism of action, since the circulating EVT-701 doses would need to be sustainably higher than 10 µM to potentially modulate MLK2, which was not the case in *in vivo* studies presented here. EVT-701-mediated HIF-1a degradation could be both MC1-dependent and independent. Indeed, it's been reported that Manassantin A, the natural compound from which EVT-701 was derived from (Méneyrol et al., 2016), directly interacts with filamin A, preventing its hypoxiainduced cleavage by calpain, and stabilizing its interaction with HIF-1 α , eventually preventing its nuclear translocation and favoring its degradation (Geer Wallace *et al.*, 2016).

In summary, EVT-701 is a novel, highly potent and selective MC1 inhibitor with original chemical scaffold. Preclinical validation has shown in vitro and in vivo efficacy on models of NSCLC and NH Bcell lymphomas. EVT-701 is well distributed in mouse and accumulated in several tissues compared to blood, which supports its use in a range of indications. Importantly, EVT-701 presents a safer profile than previous compounds specifically designed to inhibit MC1 and to induce HIF-1 α degradation. However, EVT-701 shows dose-dependent interaction with efflux pumps, which impairs its accumulation overtime when dosed chronically in QD regimen. Short-term treatments of tumors presenting *de novo* or acquired sensitivity to inhibition of respiration, and therefore vulnerable to induced metabolic catastrophe, would be preferred options. LKB1 deficiency, through mutation or low expression levels, increases sensitivity of NSCLC to EVT-701, probably due to the inability of such tumor cells to manage metabolic stress. OxPhos Non-Hodgkin's B-cell lymphomas, expressing low levels of GAPDH, are also highly susceptible to EVT-701. Patients with tumors of the aforementioned types may benefit from EVT-701 treatment. Another approach would be to combine with therapies that induce metabolic switch towards oxidative phosphorylation and so susceptibility to MC1 inhibition. EGFR inhibitor-resistant NSCLC could be a potential indication (De Rosa et al., 2015) as well as acute myeloid leukemia treated with cytarabine-containing regimens (Farge et al., 2017). Altogether, these results support further investigations of EVT-701 in additional preclinical models and, eventually, in patients.

AUTHORSHIP CONTRIBUTION

Participated in research design: Visentin, Hervé, Chiche, Ricci, Paillasse and Alet.

Conducted experiments: Luna Yolba, Visentin, Hervé, Chiche and Alet.

Contributed new reagents and analytic tools: Méneyrol.

Performed data analysis: Luna Yolba, Visentin, Hervé, Chiche, Ricci, Paillasse and Alet.

Wrote or contributed to the writing of the manuscript: Luna Yolba and Paillasse.

DISCLOSURE OF CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

Luna Yolba, Visentin, Hervé, Méneyrol, Paillasse and Alet and full time employees of Evotec. Chiche and Ricci declare no financial conflict of interest.

REFERENCES

- Adams JM, Harris AW, Pinkert CA, Corcoran LM, Alexander WS, Cory S, Palmiter RD, and Brinster RL (1985) The c-myc oncogene driven by immunoglobulin enhancers induces lymphoid malignancy in transgenic mice. *Nature* **318**:533–538.
- An Y, Cai B, Chen J, Lv N, Yao J, Xue X, Tu M, Tang D, Wei J, Jiang K, Wu J, Li Q, Gao W, and Miao Y (2013) MAP3K10 promotes the proliferation and decreases the sensitivity of pancreatic cancer cells to gemcitabine by upregulating Gli-1 and Gli-2. *Cancer Lett* 329:228–235, Elsevier Ireland Ltd.
- Borzi C, Galli G, Ganzinelli M, Signorelli D, Vernieri C, Garassino MC, Sozzi G, and Moro M (2020) Beyond lkb1 mutations in non-small cell lung cancer: Defining lkb1less phenotype to optimize patient selection and treatment. *Pharmaceuticals* **13**:1–12.
- Bost F, Decoux-Poullot A-G, Tanti JF, and Clavel S (2016) Energy disruptors: rising stars in anticancer therapy? *Oncogenesis* **5**:e188–e188, Nature Publishing Group.
- Brand MD, and Nicholls DG (2011) Assessing mitochondrial dysfunction in cells. *Biochem J* **435**:297–312.
- Caro P, Kishan AU, Norberg E, Stanley IA, Chapuy B, Ficarro SB, Polak K, Tondera D, Gounarides J,
 Yin H, Zhou F, Green MR, Chen L, Monti S, Marto JA, Shipp MA, and Danial NN (2012)
 Metabolic Signatures Uncover Distinct Targets in Molecular Subsets of Diffuse Large B Cell
 Lymphoma. *Cancer Cell* 22:547–560, Elsevier Inc.
- Chiche J, Pommier S, Beneteau M, Mondragón L, Meynet O, Zunino B, Mouchotte A, Verhoeyen E, Guyot M, Pagès G, Mounier N, Imbert V, Colosetti P, Goncalvès D, Marchetti S, Brière J, Carles M, Thieblemont C, and Ricci JE (2015) GAPDH enhances the aggressiveness and the vascularization of non-Hodgkin's B lymphomas via NF-κB-dependent induction of HIF-1α. *Leukemia* 29:1163–1176.
- Chiche J, Reverso-Meinietti J, Mouchotte A, Rubio-Patiño C, Mhaidly R, Villa E, Bossowski JP, Proics

E, Grima-Reyes M, Paquet A, Fragaki K, Marchetti S, Briere J, Ambrosetti D, Michiels JF, Molina TJ, Copie-Bergman C, Lehmann-Che J, Peyrottes I, Peyrade F, de Kerviler E, Taillan B, Garnier G, Verhoeyen E, Paquis-Flucklinger V, Shintu L, Delwail V, Delpech-Debiais C, Delarue R, Bosly A, Petrella T, Brisou G, Nadel B, Barbry P, Mounier N, Thieblemont C, and Ricci JE (2019) GAPDH Expression Predicts the Response to R-CHOP, the Tumor Metabolic Status, and the Response of DLBCL Patients to Metabolic Inhibitors. *Cell Metab* **29**:1243-1257.e10.

- Chuang MC, Yang YH, Tsai YH, Hsieh MJ, Lin YC, Lin CK, Chen PC, and Yang TM (2018) Survival benefit associated with metformin use in inoperable non-small cell lung cancer patients with diabetes: A population-based retrospective cohort study. *PLoS One* **13**:1–11.
- De Rosa V, Iommelli F, Monti M, Fonti R, Votta G, Stoppelli MP, and Del Vecchio S (2015) Reversal of warburg effect and reactivation of oxidative phosphorylation by differential inhibition of EGFR signaling pathways in non-small cell lung cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* **21**:5110–5120.
- Doki Y, Murakami K, Yamaura T, Sugiyama S, Misaki T, and Saiki I (1999) Mediastinal lymph node metastasis model by orthotopic intrapulmonary implantation of Lewis lung carcinoma cells in mice. *Br J Cancer* **79**:1121–1126.
- Egan DF, Shackelford DB, Mihaylova MM, Gelino S, Kohnz R a, Mair W, Vasquez DS, Joshi A, Gwinn DM, Taylor R, Asara JM, Fitzpatrick J, Dillin A, Viollet B, Kundu M, Hansen M, and Shaw RJ (2010) Energy Sensing to Mitophagy. *Science (80-)* **331**:456–461.
- Ellinghaus P, Heisler I, Unterschemmann K, Haerter M, Beck H, Greschat S, Ehrmann A, Summer H,
 Flamme I, Oehme F, Thierauch K, Michels M, Hess-Stumpp H, and Ziegelbauer K (2013) BAY
 87-2243, a highly potent and selective inhibitor of hypoxia-induced gene activation has antitumor activities by inhibition of mitochondrial complex I. *Cancer Med* 2:611–624.
- Farge T, Saland E, de Toni F, Aroua N, Hosseini M, Perry R, Bosc C, Sugita M, Stuani L, Fraisse M, Scotland S, Larrue C, Boutzen H, Féliu V, Nicolau-Travers ML, Cassant-Sourdy S, Broin N, David M, Serhan N, Sarry A, Tavitian S, Kaoma T, Vallar L, Iacovoni J, Linares LK, Montersino C,

Castellano R, Griessinger E, Collette Y, Duchamp O, Barreira Y, Hirsch P, Palama T, Gales L, Delhommeau F, Garmy-Susini BH, Portais JC, Vergez F, Selak M, Danet-Desnoyers G, Carroll M, Récher C, and Sarry JE (2017) Chemotherapy-resistant human acute myeloid leukemia cells are not enriched for leukemic stem cells but require oxidative metabolism. *Cancer Discov* **7**:716–735.

- Faubert B, Solmonson A, and DeBerardinis RJ (2020) Metabolic reprogramming and cancer progression. *Science (80-)* **368**.
- Faubert B, Vincent EE, Griss T, Samborska B, Izreig S, Svensson RU, Mamer OA, Avizonis D, Shackelford DB, Shaw RJ, and Jones RG (2014) Loss of the tumor suppressor LKB1 promotes metabolic reprogramming of cancer cells via HIF-1α. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 111:2554–2559.
- Fiedorczuk K, Letts JA, Degliesposti G, Kaszuba K, Skehel M, and Sazanov LA (2016) Atomic structure of the entire mammalian mitochondrial complex I. *Nature* **538**:406–410.
- Galan-Cobo A, Sitthideatphaiboon P, Qu X, Poteete A, Pisegna MA, Tong P, Chen PH, Boroughs LK, Rodriguez MLM, Zhang W, Parlati F, Wang J, Gandhi V, Skoulidis F, DeBerardinis RJ, Minna JD, and Heymach J V. (2019) LKB1 and KEAP1/NRF2 pathways cooperatively promote metabolic reprogramming with enhanced glutamine dependence inKRAS-mutant lung adenocarcinoma. *Cancer Res* **79**:3251–3267.
- Gao X, Qiao X, Xing X, Huang J, Qian J, Wang Y, Zhang Y, Zhang X, Li M, Cui J, and Yang Y (2020)
 Matrix Stiffness-Upregulated MicroRNA-17-5p Attenuates the Intervention Effects of Metformin on HCC Invasion and Metastasis by Targeting the PTEN/PI3K/Akt Pathway. *Front Oncol* 10:1–13.
- Gao ZY, Liu Z, Bi MH, Zhang JJ, Han ZQ, Han X, Wang HY, Sun GP, and Liu H (2016) Metformin induces apoptosis via a mitochondria-mediated pathway in human breast cancer cells in vitro. *Exp Ther Med* **11**:1700–1706.

Geer Wallace MA, Kwon D-Y, Weitzel DH, Lee C-T, Stephenson TN, Chi J-T, Mook RA, Dewhirst

MW, Hong J, and Fitzgerald MC (2016) Discovery of Manassantin A Protein Targets Using Large-Scale Protein Folding and Stability Measurements. *J Proteome Res* **15**:2688–2696.

- Giardiello FM, Welsh SB, Hamilton SR, Offerhaus GJA, Gittelsohn AM, Booker S V., Krush AJ, Yardley JH, and Luk GD (1987) Increased Risk of Cancer in the Peutz–Jeghers Syndrome. N Engl J Med 316:1511–1514.
- Griss T, Vincent EE, Egnatchik R, Chen J, Ma EH, Faubert B, Viollet B, DeBerardinis RJ, and Jones RG (2015) Metformin Antagonizes Cancer Cell Proliferation by Suppressing Mitochondrial-Dependent Biosynthesis. *PLoS Biol* 13:1–23.
- Guo JY, Chen HY, Mathew R, Fan J, Strohecker AM, Karsli-Uzunbas G, Kamphorst JJ, Chen G, Lemons JMS, Karantza V, Coller HA, DiPaola RS, Gelinas C, Rabinowitz JD, and White E (2011) Activated Ras requires autophagy to maintain oxidative metabolism and tumorigenesis. *Genes Dev* 25:460–470.
- Guo Q, Liu Z, Jiang L, Liu M, Ma J, Yang C, Han L, Nan K, and Liang X (2016) Metformin inhibits growth of human non-small cell lung cancer cells via liver kinase B-1-independent activation of adenosine monophosphate-activated protein kinase. *Mol Med Rep* **13**:2590–2596.
- Hensley CT, Faubert B, Yuan Q, Lev-Cohain N, Jin E, Kim J, Jiang L, Ko B, Skelton R, Loudat L,
 Wodzak M, Klimko C, McMillan E, Butt Y, Ni M, Oliver D, Torrealba J, Malloy CR, Kernstine
 K, Lenkinski RE, and DeBerardinis RJ (2016) Metabolic Heterogeneity in Human Lung Tumors. *Cell* 164:681–694, Elsevier Inc.
- Hollstein PE, Eichner LJ, Brun SN, Kamireddy A, Svensson RU, Vera LI, Ross DS, Rymoff TJ, Hutchins A, Galvez HM, Williams AE, Shokhirev MN, Screaton RA, Berdeaux R, and Shaw RJ (2019) The AMPK-related kinases SIK1 and SIK3 mediate key tumor-suppressive effects of LKB1 in NSCLC. *Cancer Discov* 9:1606–1627.
- Jain RK, Munn LL, and Fukumura D (2002) Dissecting tumour pathophysiology using intravital microscopy.

- Jenne DE, Reomann H, Nezu J, Friedel W, Loff. S, Jeschke R, Müller O, Back W, and Zimmer M (1998) Peutz-Jeghers syndrome is caused by mutations in a novel serine threoninekinase. *Nat Genet* **18**:38–43.
- Joshi S, Tolkunov D, Aviv H, Hakimi AA, Yao M, Hsieh JJ, Ganesan S, Chan CS, and White E (2015) The Genomic Landscape of Renal Oncocytoma Identifies a Metabolic Barrier to Tumorigenesis. *Cell Rep* **13**:1895–1908.
- Ju YS eo., Alexandrov LB, Gerstung M, Martincorena I, Nik-Zainal S, Ramakrishna M, Davies HR, Papaemmanuil E, Gundem G, Shlien A, Bolli N, Behjati S, Tarpey PS, Nangalia J, Massie CE, Butler AP, Teague JW, Vassiliou GS, Green AR, Du MQ, Unnikrishnan A, Pimanda JE, Teh BT ea., Munshi N, Greaves M, Vyas P, El-Naggar AK, Santarius T, Collins VP, Grundy R, Taylor JA, Hayes DN, Malkin D, Foster CS, Warren AY, Whitaker HC, Brewer D, Eeles R, Cooper C, Neal D, Visakorpi T, Isaacs WB, Bova GS, Flanagan AM, Futreal PA, Lynch AG, Chinnery PF, McDermott U, Stratton MR, and Campbell PJ (2014) Origins and functional consequences of somatic mitochondrial DNA mutations in human cancer. *Elife* 3:1–28.
- Kashuba VI, Grigorieva E V., Kvasha SM, Pavlova T V., Grigoriev V, Protopopov A, Kharchenko O, Gizatullin R, Rynditch A V., and Zabarovsky ER (2011) Cloning and Initial Functional Characterization of Mlk4a and Mlk4B. *Genomics Insights* 4:1–12.
- Kaufman JM, Amann JM, Park K, Arasada RR, Li H, Shyr Y, and Carbone DP (2014) LKB1 loss induces characteristic patterns of gene expression in human tumors associated with NRF2 activation and attenuation of PI3K-AKT. *J Thorac Oncol* 9:794–804, International Association for the Study of Lung Cancer.
- Korsse SE, Peppelenbosch MP, and Van Veelen W (2013) Targeting LKB1 signaling in cancer. *Biochim Biophys Acta Rev Cancer* 1835:194–210, Elsevier B.V.
- Le A, Stine ZE, Nguyen C, Afzal J, Sun P, Hamaker M, Siegel NM, Gouw AM, Kang BH, Yu SH, Cochran RL, Sailor KA, Song H, and Dang C V. (2014) 12486-12491 Tumorigenicity of hypoxic

respiring cancer cells revealed by a hypoxia-cell cycle dual reporter. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **111**:12486–12491.

- Li Y, Xu S, Mihaylova MM, Zheng B, Hou X, Jiang B, Park O, Luo Z, Lefai E, Shyy JYJ, Gao B, Wierzbicki M, Verbeuren TJ, Shaw RJ, Cohen RA, and Zang M (2011) AMPK phosphorylates and inhibits SREBP activity to attenuate hepatic steatosis and atherosclerosis in diet-induced insulin-resistant mice. *Cell Metab* **13**:376–388.
- Maher EA, Marin-Valencia I, Bachoo RM, Mashimo T, Raisanen J, Hatanpaa KJ, Jindal A, Jeffrey FM,
 Choi C, Madden C, Mathews D, Pascual JM, Mickey BE, Malloy CR, and DeBerardinis RJ (2012)
 Metabolism of [U- 13 C]glucose in human brain tumors in vivo. *NMR Biomed* 25:1234–1244.
- Masoud R, Reyes-Castellanos G, Lac S, Garcia J, Dou S, Shintu L, Abdel Hadi N, Gicquel T, El Kaoutari A, Diémé B, Tranchida F, Cormareche L, Borge L, Gayet O, Pasquier E, Dusetti N, Iovanna J, and Carrier A (2020) Targeting Mitochondrial Complex I Overcomes Chemoresistance in High OXPHOS Pancreatic Cancer. *Cell Reports Med* 1.
- Méneyrol J, Alet N, Barre G, Rousseaux T, and Vin V (2016) Benzylhydroxide derivatives, preparation thereof and therapeutic use thereof.
- Molina JR, Sun Y, Protopopova M, Gera S, Bandi M, Bristow C, McAfoos T, Morlacchi P, Ackroyd J, Agip ANA, Al-Atrash G, Asara J, Bardenhagen J, Carrillo CC, Carroll C, Chang E, Ciurea S, Cross JB, Czako B, Deem A, Daver N, De Groot JF, Dong JW, Feng N, Gao G, Gay J, Do MG, Greer J, Giuliani V, Han J, Han L, Henry VK, Hirst J, Huang S, Jiang Y, Kang Z, Khor T, Konoplev S, Lin YH, Liu G, Lodi A, Lofton T, Ma H, Mahendra M, Matre P, Mullinax R, Peoples M, Petrocchi A, Rodriguez-Canale J, Serreli R, Shi T, Smith M, Tabe Y, Theroff J, Tiziani S, Xu Q, Zhang Q, Muller F, Depinho RA, Toniatti C, Draetta GF, Heffernan TP, Konopleva M, Jones P, Di Francesco ME, and Marszalek JR (2018) An inhibitor of oxidative phosphorylation exploits cancer vulnerability. *Nat Med* 24:1036–1046, Springer US.

Momcilovic M, and Shackelford DB (2015) Targeting LKB1 in cancer-exposing and exploiting

vulnerabilities. Br J Cancer 113:574–584, Nature Publishing Group.

- Monti S, Savage KJ, Kutok JL, Feuerhake F, Kurtin P, Mihm M, Wu B, Pasqualucci L, Neuberg D, Aguiar RCT, Cin PD, Ladd C, Pinkus GS, Salles G, Harris NL, Dalla-Favera R, Habermann TM, Aster JC, Golub TR, and Shipp MA (2005) Molecular profiling of diffuse large B-cell lymphoma identifies robust subtypes including one characterized by host inflammatory response. *Blood* 105:1851–1861.
- Morales DR, and Morris AD (2015) Metformin in cancer treatment and prevention. *Annu Rev Med*, doi: 10.1146/annurev-med-062613-093128.
- Moro M, Caiola E, Ganzinelli M, Zulato E, Rulli E, Marabese M, Centonze G, Busico A, Pastorino U, de Braud FG, Vernieri C, Simbolo M, Bria E, Scarpa A, Indraccolo S, Broggini M, Sozzi G, and Garassino MC (2018) Metformin Enhances Cisplatin-Induced Apoptosis and Prevents Resistance to Cisplatin in Co-mutated KRAS/LKB1 NSCLC. *J Thorac Oncol* **13**:1692–1704, Elsevier Inc.
- Morton JP, Jamieson NB, Karim SA, Athineos D, Ridgway RA, Nixon C, McKay CJ, Carter R, Brunton VG, Frame MC, Ashworth A, Oien KA, Evans TRJ, and Sansom OJ (2010) LKB1 haploinsufficiency cooperates with Kras to promote pancreatic cancer through suppression of p21-dependent growth arrest. *Gastroenterology* 139:586–597, Elsevier Inc.
- Munday MR, Carling D, and Hardie DG (1988) Negative interactions between phosphorylation of acetyl-CoA carboxylase by the cyclic AMP-dependent and AMP-activated protein kinases. *FEBS Lett* **235**:144–148.
- Patricelli MP, Nomanbhoy TK, Wu J, Brown H, Zhou D, Zhang J, Jagannathan S, Aban A, Okerberg E, Herring C, Nordin B, Weissig H, Yang Q, Lee JD, Gray NS, and Kozarich JW (2011) In situ kinase profiling reveals functionally relevant properties of native kinases. *Chem Biol* 18:699–710, Elsevier Ltd.
- Raes F, Sobilo J, Le Mee M, Rétif S, Natkunarajah S, Lerondel S, and Le Pape A (2016) High resolution ultrasound and photoacoustic imaging of orthotopic lung cancer in mice: New perspectives for

onco- pharmacology. PLoS One 11:1-15.

- Rai NK, Mathur S, Singh SK, Tiwari M, Singh VK, Haque R, Tiwari S, and Sharma LK (2020) Differential regulation of mitochondrial complex I and oxidative stress based on metastatic potential of colorectal cancer cells. *Oncol Lett* 20:1–14.
- Reznik E, Miller ML, Şenbabaoğlu Y, Riaz N, Sarungbam J, Tickoo SK, Al-Ahmadie HA, Lee W, Seshan VE, Hakimi AA, and Sander C (2016) Mitochondrial DNA copy number variation across human cancers. *Elife* 5:1–20.
- Ricci JE, and Chiche J (2018) Metabolic reprogramming of non-Hodgkin's B-cell lymphomas and potential therapeutic strategies. *Front Oncol* **8**:1–23.
- Rumsey WL, Schlosser C, Nuutinen EM, Robiolio M, and Wilson DF (1990) Cellular energetics and the oxygen dependence of respiration in cardiac myocytes isolated from adult rat. *J Biol Chem* 265:15392–15399.
- Sabri MI, and Ochs S (1971) INHIBITION OF GLYCERALDEHYDE-3-PHOSPHATE DEHYDROGENASE IN MAMMALIAN NERVE BY IODOACETIC ACID. *J Neurochem*, doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.1971.tb00013.x.
- Sanchez-Vega F, Mina M, Armenia J, Chatila WK, Luna A, La KC, Dimitriadoy S, Liu DL, Kantheti HS, Saghafinia S, Chakravarty D, Daian F, Gao Q, Bailey MH, Liang WW, Foltz SM, Shmulevich I, Ding L, Heins Z, Ochoa A, Gross B, Gao J, Zhang Hongxin, Kundra R, Kandoth C, Bahceci I, Dervishi L, Dogrusoz U, Zhou W, Shen H, Laird PW, Way GP, Greene CS, Liang H, Xiao Y, Wang C, Iavarone A, Berger AH, Bivona TG, Lazar AJ, Hammer GD, Giordano T, Kwong LN, McArthur G, Huang C, Tward AD, Frederick MJ, McCormick F, Meyerson M, Caesar-Johnson SJ, Demchok JA, Felau I, Kasapi M, Ferguson ML, Hutter CM, Sofia HJ, Tarnuzzer R, Wang Z, Yang L, Zenklusen JC, Zhang J (Julia), Chudamani S, Liu J, Lolla L, Naresh R, Pihl T, Sun Q, Wan Y, Wu Y, Cho J, DeFreitas T, Frazer S, Gehlenborg N, Getz G, Heiman DI, Kim J, Lawrence MS, Lin P, Meier S, Noble MS, Saksena G, Voet D, Zhang Hailei, Bernard B, Chambwe N,

Dhankani V, Knijnenburg T, Kramer R, Leinonen K, Liu Y, Miller M, Reynolds S, Shmulevich I, Thorsson V, Zhang W, Akbani R, Broom BM, Hegde AM, et al. (2018) Oncogenic Signaling Pathways in The Cancer Genome Atlas. *Cell* **173**:321-337.e10.

- Schmidt MM (2009) Differential effects of iodoacetamide and iodoacetate on glycolysis and glutathione metabolism of cultured astrocytes. *Front Neuroenergetics*, doi: 10.3389/neuro.14.001.2009.
- Schöckel L, Glasauer A, Basit F, Bitschar K, Truong H, Erdmann G, Algire C, Hägebarth A, Willems
 PH, Kopitz C, Koopman WJ, and Héroult M (2015) Targeting mitochondrial complex I using BAY
 87-2243 reduces melanoma tumor growth. *Cancer Metab* 3:1–16, Cancer & Metabolism.
- Sesen J, Dahan P, Scotland SJ, Saland E, Dang VT, Lemarié A, Tyler BM, Brem H, Toulas C, Moyal ECJ, Sarry JE, and Skuli N (2015) Metformin inhibits growth of human glioblastoma cells and enhances therapeutic response. *PLoS One* **10**:1–24.
- Shackelford DB, Abt E, Gerken L, Vasquez DS, Seki A, Leblanc M, Wei L, Fishbein MC, Czernin J, Mischel PS, and Shaw RJ (2013) LKB1 Inactivation Dictates Therapeutic Response of Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer to the Metabolism Drug Phenformin. *Cancer Cell* 23:143–158, Elsevier Inc.
- Vara-Ciruelos D, Russell FM, and Hardie DG (2019) The strange case of AMPK and cancer: Dr Jekyll or Mr Hyde? *Open Biol* **9**:190099.
- Weinberg F, Hamanaka R, Wheaton WW, Weinberg S, Joseph J, Lopez M, Kalyanaraman B, Mutlu GM, Budinger GRS, and Chandel NS (2010) Mitochondrial metabolism and ROS generation are essential for Kras-mediated tumorigenicity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 107:8788–8793.
- Whang YM, Park SI, Trenary IA, Egnatchik RA, Fessel JP, Kaufman JM, Carbone DP, and Young JD (2016) LKB1 deficiency enhances sensitivity to energetic stress induced by erlotinib treatment in non-small-cell lung cancer (NSCLC) cells. *Oncogene* 35:856–866, Nature Publishing Group.
- Yap TA, Rodon Ahnert J, Piha-Paul SA, Fu S, Janku F, Karp DD, Naing A, Ileana Dumbrava EE, Pant S, Subbiah V, Tsimberidou AM, Hong DS, Rose KM, Xu Q, Vellano CP, Mahendra M, Jones P, Di Francesco ME, Marszalek JR, and Meric-Bernstam F (2019) Phase I trial of IACS-010759

(IACS), a potent, selective inhibitor of complex I of the mitochondrial electron transport chain, in patients (pts) with advanced solid tumors. *J Clin Oncol* **37**:3014–3014.

- Ždralević M, Brand A, Ianni L Di, Dettmer K, Reinders J, Singer K, Peter K, Schnell A, Bruss C, Decking SM, Koehl G, Felipe-Abrio B, Durivault J, Bayer P, Evangelista M, O'Brien T, Oefner PJ, Renner K, Pouysségur J, and Kreutz M (2018) Double genetic disruption of lactate dehydrogenases A and B is required to ablate the "Warburg effect" restricting tumor growth to oxidative metabolism. *J Biol Chem* 293:15947–15961.
- Zhang Y, Meng Q, Sun Q, Xu ZX, Zhou H, and Wang Y (2021) LKB1 deficiency-induced metabolic reprogramming in tumorigenesis and non-neoplastic diseases. *Mol Metab* **44**:101131, Elsevier GmbH.
- Zhou X, Chen J, Yi G, Deng M, Liu H, Liang M, Shi B, Fu X, Chen Y, Chen L, He Z, Wang J, and Liu J (2016) Metformin suppresses hypoxia-induced stabilization of HIF-1' through reprogramming of oxygen metabolism in hepatocellular carcinoma. *Oncotarget* 7:873–884.
- Zhu J, Vinothkumar KR, and Hirst J (2016) Structure of mammalian respiratory complex I. *Nature* **536**:354–358.
- Zickermann V, Wirth C, Nasiri H, Siegmund K, Schwalbe H, Hunte C, and Brandt U (2015) Mechanistic insight from the crystal structure of mitochondrial complex I. *Science* (80-) **347**:44–49.

Footnotes

This work was supported by the EU's Horizon 2020 Research and Innovation Programme under the Marie Skłodowska-Curie Grant Agreement 766214 (META-CAN). JER's lab is funded by La Ligue Contre le Cancer, le Cancéropole PACA, l'Inserm and the Agence Nationale de la Recherche (LABEX SIGNALIFE ANR-11- LABX-0028-01).

Address correspondence to:

Michaël R. Paillasse, Evotec SE, Campus Curie, 195 Route d'Espagne, 31036 Toulouse, FRANCE. Email: <u>michael.paillasse@evotec.com</u>

FIGURE LEGENDS

Figure 1. EVT-701 is a MC1 inhibitor.

(A) Chemical structure of EVT-701. (B) Dose- and time-dependent inhibition of ETC I by EVT-701, using the MitoToxTM complex 1 kit. MC1 activity is monitored by following the decrease in absorbance at OD 340 nm due to the oxidation of NADH, which correlates with reduction of ubiquinone (NADH + H^+ + ubiquinone \rightarrow NAD⁺ + ubiquinol). (C) Plot of dose-dependent modulation of oxidation and phosphorylation rates by EVT-701, measured by polarographic experiment using isolated mitochondria isolated from liver of OF1 – female from Charles Rivers. (D) Glycolytic ATP percentage in Hep3B (OxPhos high), MDA-MB231 and U87MG (OxPhos low) cell lines. (E) Dose-dependent inhibition of mitochondrial ATP in Hep3b, MDA-MB231 and U87 cell lines by EVT-701. (F) Selectivity kinase DiscoverX panel performed on Jurkat live cells using 10 μ M EVT-701, by assessing the phosphorylation state of specific substrate peptides for each kinase. DiscoverX panel has been run once, in duplicate and compared to vehicle treatment tested in duplicate or quadruplicate.

Figure 2. EVT-701 is active in vitro and in vivo in NH B-cell lymphoma models.

(A) Dose dependent inhibition of mitochondrial ATP by EVT-701 in KARPAS 422 cell line, with an IC_{50} of 394 nM. (B) Dose-dependent inhibition of KARPAS 422 proliferation by EVT-701, with an IC_{50} of 188 nM. (C) Dose-dependent modulation of glucose and lactate levels in KARPAS 422 by EVT-701. The compound induces a significant increase in glucose consumption and lactate secretion. (D) OxPhos-Eµ-*Myc* (lymphomas 249, 506, 549, 585, 508) and Glycolytic-Eµ-*Myc* (lymphomas 504, 251, 115, 136, 337) cells were seeded in the presence (EVT-701) or absence (DMSO) of indicated concentration of EVT-701 for 24 hours. Cell death was determined by DAPI staining and analyzed by FACS. Cell death induction represents the percentage of DAPI positive cells in EVT-701-treated conditions divided by the percentage of DAPI positive cells in control (DMSO) condition. (E) Summary as the mean of 4 independent experiments (n=5 independent clones per group) is presented. (F) Kaplan–Meier curve of overall survival of syngeneic C57BL/6 mice intravenously injected with glycolytic-Eµ-*Myc* lymphoma cells and treated with 30 mg/kg (p.o, QD) or vehicle until ethical endpoint was achieved. 10 mice per group were used. (G) Inguinal, submaxillary, axillary lymphomas and spleen weights upon sacrifice of glycolytic- $E\mu$ -Myc-bearing mice. (H) Kaplan–Meier curves of overall survival of syngeneic C57BL/6 mice intravenously injected with OxPhos- $E\mu$ -Myc lymphoma cells and treated with 30 mg/kg (p.o, QD) or vehicle until ethical endpoint was achieved. 10 mice per group were used. (I) Inguinal, submaxillary, axillary lymphomas and spleen weights upon sacrifice of OxPhos- $E\mu$ -Myc-bearing mice. *In vivo* data represent an average of two independent experiments.

Figure 3. In vitro and in vivo EVT-701 activity in lung cancer.

EVT-701 decreases OxPhos and proliferation in vitro in several lung cancer cell lines, and shows efficacy in vivo in LL/2 orthotopic model. (A) Dose dependent inhibition of mitochondrial ATP in LL/2 by EVT-701, with IC₅₀ of 512 nM while in same conditions global ATP remains unchanged whatever the dose of EVT-701. (B) Dose-dependent inhibition of LL/2 proliferation by EVT-701. (C) EVT-701 efficacy in LL/2 in vivo orthotopic model. Comparison of efficacy of 10 and 30 mg/kg EVT-701QD dosing for 14 days. Lower dose inhibited tumor growth by 57% while 30 mg/kg inhibited by 69% and the difference between the effects of the two doses was not statistically significant. (D) Evaluation of EVT-701 blood exposure after single administration of 10 or 30 mk/kg. Exposures and exposure ratio (AUC) were consistent with pharmacodynamics studies shown in supplementary figure 1. (E) EVT-701 4-day treatment reduced tumor growth by -65% (right) and lymph node weight by -34% (left). (F) EVT-701 14-day treatment reduced tumor growth by -66% (right) and lymph node weight by -76% (left). (G) Dose dependent inhibition of mitochondrial ATP in H460 cell line by EVT-701, with IC₅₀ of 203 nM. Under the same conditions, global ATP remains unchanged at all doses of EVT-701. (H) Dosedependent reduction of oxygen consumption in H460 cells by EVT-701 measured by Seahorse. (I) EVT-701 dose-dependent inhibition of proliferation in H460. (J) EVT-701 dose-dependent apoptosis induction in H460 cells. In vivo data represent an average of two independent experiments.

Figure 4. LKB1 expression as stratification marker.

Exploring possible target patient populations responsive to EVT-701 treatment. The importance of LKB1 expression status on sensitivity to EVT-701. (A) Dose dependent inhibition of mitochondrial ATP in LKB1-proficient H460 cells, with IC₅₀ of 230 nM. Under the same conditions, total ATP remains unchanged whatever the dose of EVT-701. (B) Comparison of the dose-dependent induction of apoptosis by EVT-701 between LKB1-proficient H460 and WT H460 cells. Absence of LKB1 expression sensitizes H460 cells to EVT-701 induced death. (C) Modulation of mTOR/AMPK pathway signaling by EVT-701 in LKB1-proficient H460 (left) or H460 WT (right) cells over 60 minutes. In LKB1-proficient H460 cells (left), 4E-BP1 and Raptor phosphorylation is increased by EVT-701 treatment whereas ACC phosphorylation is inhibited. However, in WT H460 cells (right) 4E-BP1, Raptor and ACC phosphorylation are unaffected by EVT-701 at any time point. (D) Left: volcano plot showing the signatures enriched in the low vs high LKB1 expression group in The Cancer Genome Atlas Lung Adenocarcinoma (TCGA-LUAD) cohort. The enriched OxPhos and mitochondrial gene sets are highlighted in black. Right: a plot showing differentially expressed gene sets in TCGA-LUAD low LKB1 expression group (FDR< 0.05) highlighted in the volcano plot with their normalized enrichment score (NES). (E) Left: volcano plot showing the signatures enriched in the low vs high LKB1 expression group in The Cancer Genome Atlas Lung Squamous Cell Carcinoma (TCGA-LUSC) cohort. The enriched OxPhos and mitochondrial gene sets are highlighted in black. Right: a plot showing differentially expressed gene sets in TCGA-LUSC low LKB1 expression group (FDR< 0.05) highlighted in the volcano plot with their normalized enrichment score (NES).





Figure 2



Figure 3



Ε

LUSC-TCGA


Supplementary data: EVT-701 is a novel selective and safe mitochondrial complex 1 inhibitor with potent anti-tumor activity in models of solid cancers

Raquel Luna Yolba¹, Virgile Visentin¹, Caroline Hervé, Johanna Chiche, Jean-Ehrland Ricci, Jérôme Méneyrol, Michaël R. Paillasse & Nathalie Alet

¹ Authors contributed equally to the work as first authors

Supplemental Figures & legends

Supplemental Figure 1. Pharmacology, pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of EVT-701. (A) In vitro safety screen from Cerep based on competitive binding of $10 \,\mu\text{M}$ EVT-701 with reference ligands. Only A₂AR ligand binding was inhibited by more than 50% while only binding to CCK1R & CCK2R were increased by more than 50%. (B) Pharmacokinetics study of EVT-701 plasma concentration in C57BL/6J mice. Concentrations of compound, after oral administration of 10, 30 or 75 mg/kg is plotted over time. (C) Table summarizing C_{max} , t_{max} , AUC, $t_{1/2}$ and t_{last} calculated from the study shown in B. Bioavailability (F(%)) of EVT-701 was determined by comparing AUC of the 10 mg/kg oral dose vs AUC of the 1 mg/kg intravenous dose. Dose proportionality was maintained up to 75 mg/kg dose. (D) Tissue distribution of EVT-701was evaluated in C57BL/6J male mice over 24 h after oral administration of 30 mg/kg solution. The compound showed marked accumulation in liver while brain penetration was limited. (E) Evaluation of dose-dependent in vitro transporter inhibition. MRP2 and Pgp were expressed in HEK and MDCKII respectively. All the other transporters were expressed in CHO cells. EVT-701 inhibited OATP1B1, OATP1B3 and BCRP with respective IC₅₀s of 1.1, 2.4 and 4.1 µM. (G) Evaluation of induction of emesis in ferret by EVT-701 and BAY87-2243. In vivo data represent an average of two independent experiments. Safety screen has been run once, in duplicate, and compared to activity of reference ligands tested in duplicate.



С



PK parameters of EVT-701 intravenous and oral administrations



Vd_{SS} (L/kg) Matrix C₀ AUC(0-last) AUC(0-24h) CI (L/h/kg tine t_{1/2} (ng.ł Plasma rating 4700 4700 3.0 Moderate 0.63 Moderate 1.5 Large 5280 24 AUC_(0-last) (ng.h/mL) AUC_(0-48h) (ng.h/mL) Dose (mg/kg) F (% C_{max} (ng/mL) t_{max} (h) t_{last} (h) t_{1/2} (h) "X/10 mg/kg (AUC(0-inf) ratio) 10 rating 4.1 Long . 63.8 Good 1760 1 10000 48 10000 30 rating 4.3 Long 5980 1 34000 48 34000 3.4 75 rating 7680 1 73000 48 73000 4.1 Long : 7.3





Ε

Cmax (µg/ml)

Vomits

Human Cmax (µg/ml)*





Figure S1

Supplemental Figure 2. In vitro evaluation of BAY87-2243 on H460 cancer cell line.

BAY87-2243 strongly decreases mitochondrial ATP and induces apoptosis in H460 lung cancer cell even at concentrations at which respiration is unaffected. (A) Dose dependent inhibition of mitochondrial ATP by BAY87-2243. Mitochondrial ATP is inhibited by more than 50% compared to control even at 10 pM. (B) Dose-dependent modulation of oxygen consumption in H460 cell line by BAY87-2243. (C) Dose-independent inhibition of proliferation and induction of apoptosis by BAY87-2243. Proliferation and apoptosis are inhibited by more than 50% compared to control even at dose of 1 nM. AUC: area under the curve.



Supplemental figure 3. EVT701 in vivo activity in H460 orthotopic model.

(A) Schematic view of study design. H460-Luc2 cell suspension in PBS was injected orthotopically and treated daily by oral route from D7 for 15 days. (B) Characterization of the model by immunohistochemistry. Representative images are presented, showing hypoxic, proliferating and necrotic zones, at D7 (top) and D21 (bottom), characterized by carbonic anhydrase IX, Ki67 and caspase-3 staining respectively, from left to right. (C) Representative bioluminescence imaging (BLI) used to randomize mice at D7 and monitor tumor progression, following intraperitoneal injection of luciferin. (D) Tumor growth inhibition induced by 30 mg/kg EVT-701 QD dosing for 15 days using tumor volume as readout. (E) Tumor growth was inhibited by 60% and tumor weight by 55%.



3.2. OxPhos is a common mechanism of response to chemotherapy in human and murine AML. Mitochondrial Electron Transfer Chain Complex I disruption decreases Immune Checkpoints in Murine and Human Acute Myeloid Leukemic Cells

Major results and conclusions

AML patients with a shorter overall survival displayed gene signatures enriched in OxPhos and mitochondrial metabolism. Furthermore, we identified that AraC-resistant murine leukemic exhibited an OxPhos phenotype. We also characterized the metabolic changes and compensatory reprogramming induced by selective ETC1 inhibitor EVT-701 on human and leukemic cells. Interestingly, we found that ETC I inhibition led to decreased expression of the immune checkpoint molecules PD-L1 and CD39 in murine and human leukemic cells.

Article





Article Disrupting Mitochondrial Electron Transfer Chain Complex I Decreases Immune Checkpoints in Murine and Human Acute Myeloid Leukemic Cells

Raquel Luna-Yolba ^{1,2,3,4}, Justine Marmoiton ¹, Véronique Gigo ¹, Xavier Marechal ¹, Emeline Boet ^{2,3,4}, Ambrine Sahal ^{2,3,4}, Nathalie Alet ¹, Ifat Abramovich ⁵, Eyal Gottlieb ⁵, Virgile Visentin ¹, Michael R. Paillasse ^{1,*} and Jean-Emmanuel Sarry ^{2,3,4,*}

- ¹ EVOTEC, Campus Curie, 31100 Toulouse, France; Raquel.Luna-Yolba@evotec.com (R.L.-Y.); Justine.Marmoiton@evotec.com (J.M.); Veronique.Gigo@evotec.com (V.G.); Yanim Margabal@evotec.com (Y.M.): Nathalia Alat@evotec.com (V.A.); Vingila Vingeta geneta and
- Xavier.Marechal@evotec.com (X.M.); Nathalie.Alet@evotec.com (N.A.); Virgile.Visentin@evotec.com (V.V.)
 ² Centre de Recherches en Cancérologie de Toulouse, Université de Toulouse, Inserm, CNRS, 31100 Toulouse, France; emeline.boet@inserm.fr (E.B.); ambrine.sahal@inserm.fr (A.S.)
- ³ LabEx Toucan, 31100 Toulouse, France
- ⁴ Equipe Labellisée Ligue Nationale Contre le Cancer 2018, 31100 Toulouse, France
- ⁵ Technion—Israel Institute of Technology, Haifa 3100000, Israel; ifat.a@technion.ac.il (I.A.); e.gottlieb@technion.ac.il (E.G.)
- Correspondence: michael.paillasse@evotec.com (M.R.P.); jean-emmanuel.sarry@inserm.fr (J.-E.S.); Tel.: +33-534-63-23-28 (M.R.P.); +33-582-74-16-32 (J.-E.S.)

Simple Summary: Despite all of the advancements made in recent years in the treatment of acute myeloid leukemia (AML), long-term survival is achieved by only 30–40% of AML patients. Thus, new therapeutic strategies are strongly needed. This work confirms the increase in oxidative phosphorylation upon cytarabine resistance in AML murine cells, reinforcing the interest of targeting it. In addition, it identifies a new role of the first complex of the electron transport chain (ETCI) in the regulation of the immune checkpoints PD-L1 and CD39 in murine and human leukemic cells. Thus, this work opens the door to the evaluation of ETCI inhibitors in combination with immunotherapy.

Abstract: Oxidative metabolism is crucial for leukemic stem cell (LSC) function and drug resistance in acute myeloid leukemia (AML). Mitochondrial metabolism also affects the immune system and therefore the anti-tumor response. The modulation of oxidative phosphorylation (OxPHOS) has emerged as a promising approach to improve the therapy outcome for AML patients. However, the effect of mitochondrial inhibitors on the immune compartment in the context of AML is yet to be explored. Immune checkpoints such as ectonucleotidase CD39 and programmed dead ligand 1 (PD-L1) have been reported to be expressed in AML and linked to chemo-resistance and a poor prognosis. In the present study, we first demonstrated that a novel selective electron transfer chain complex (ETC) I inhibitor, EVT-701, decreased the OxPHOS metabolism of murine and human cytarabine (AraC)-resistant leukemic cell lines. Furthermore, we showed that while AraC induced an immune response regulation by increasing CD39 expression and by reinforcing the interferon- γ /PD-L1 axis, EVT-701 reduced CD39 and PD-L1 expression in vitro in a panel of both murine and human AML cell lines, especially upon AraC treatment. Altogether, this work uncovers a non-canonical function of ETCI in controlling CD39 and PD-L1 immune checkpoints, thereby improving the anti-tumor response in AML.

Keywords: OxPHOS; Immune checkpoints; AML

1. Introduction

The overall survival in acute myeloid leukemia (AML) patients is poor due to relapses after a usually successful induction therapy [1]. This is due to residual leukemic cells



Citation: Luna-Yolba, R.; Marmoiton, J.; Gigo, V.; Marechal, X.; Boet, E.; Sahal, A.; Alet, N.; Abramovich, I.; Gottlieb, E.; Visentin, V.; et al. Disrupting Mitochondrial Electron Transfer Chain Complex I Decreases Immune Checkpoints in Murine and Human Acute Myeloid Leukemic Cells. *Cancers* **2021**, *13*, 3499. https:// doi.org/10.3390/cancers13143499

Academic Editor: Ada Funaro

Received: 7 June 2021 Accepted: 8 July 2021 Published: 13 July 2021

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



Copyright: © 2021 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/). after chemotherapy that regrow, resulting in a relapse [2]. Energy metabolism and redox homeostasis have emerged as hallmarks of carcinogenesis and their role in the response to chemotherapy in cancer cells is now fully acknowledged [3,4]. A large body of evidence links both cancer cell stemness and chemotherapy resistance to OxPHOS metabolism [5–9], rendering OxPHOS inhibitors important therapeutic agents to disrupt tumorigenesis and improve the chemotherapy outcome. Mitochondrial metabolism has been shown to be a promising target to overcome relapses in leukemia. Recent research has shown that mitochondria in AML cells surviving after chemotherapy have a higher transmembrane potential [10,11]. In B-progenitor acute lymphoblastic leukemia (B-ALL), diagnosis relapse initiating clones (dRI) transcriptionally enriched for mitochondrial metabolism are present from the diagnosis [12]. In addition, the direct or indirect inhibition of the electron transport chain (ETC) [13–15] or the oxidation of substrates such as fatty acids [16] have proven to be of therapeutic benefit in leukemia, synergizing with AraC or with BCL-2 inhibition [17,18]. One much less studied aspect is the effect of OxPHOS inhibitors in an immunocompetent context, especially in AML, as the vast majority of the studies use NSG mice to allow the study of human cell lines or samples. In other cancer types, metformin has been demonstrated to decrease the expression of immune checkpoint components such as PD-L1 [19], CD39 and CD73 [20] both in cancer and immunosuppressive cell populations, enabling a CD8 T cell cytotoxic response [19,21]. However, due to the pleiotropic effects of metformin, it is not clear if these effects are predominately mediated by ETCI inhibition. EVT-701 is a novel ETCI inhibitor that has shown efficacy in different solid tumor models but its effect on AML has not previously been evaluated [22,23].

In this study, we report that murine leukemic AML cell lines exposed to AraC behave similar to chemo-resistant human AML cells by upregulating OxPHOS to escape chemotherapy, making our murine model translational to the human pathology. We also show that AraC increased the PD-L1 and CD39 immune checkpoint expression at the cell surface membrane. Interestingly, the inhibition of the ETCI complex by EVT-701 decreased the levels of both immune checkpoints in vitro. Altogether, our findings show that disrupting mitochondrial metabolism through the inhibition of ETCI modulates the immune checkpoints PD-L1 and CD39 and may improve the anti-tumor response in AML.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Cell Culture

Leukemic cell lines were maintained in a DMEM medium containing 1 g/L of glucose, 2 mM glutamax (#35050-038), 1X NEAA (#11140-035, Gibco) and 1 mM sodium pyruvate (#11360-039), all acquired from ThermoFisher Scientific (Illkirch Graffenstaden, France) and 10% fetal bovine serum (#F7524, Sigma-Aldrich, Saint Quentin Fallavier, France). The cells were incubated at 37 °C with 5% CO₂ and split every 3 days to maintain an exponential growth phase. The cells were purchased from the American Type Culture Collection (Rockville, MD, USA). Table 1 summarizes the clinical and mutational features of the leukemic cell lines used in this study.

| | FAB | Karyotype | Sex | FLT3 | | NPM1 | IDH1 | l Kit | N/K |
|--------|--------|-----------------------|-----|------|-----|------|------|----------|-------------|
| | | | | ITD | TKD | | IDH2 | 1111 | Ras |
| Human | | | | | | | | | |
| MOLM13 | M5-AML | ins(11;9)(q23;p22p23) | М | ITD | WT | WT | WT | WT | WT |
| MV4-11 | M5-AML | Complex | М | ITD | WT | WT | WT | WT | WT |
| THP-1 | M5-AML | Complex | М | WT | WT | WT | WT | WT | NRAS p.G12D |
| U937 | M5-AML | t(10;11)(p13;q14) | М | WT | WT | WT | WT | WT | WT |

Table 1. Clinical and mutational information about the AML cell lines used in this study.

2.2. IncuCyte Assay

The cells were seeded in triplicate in 384-well ViewPlates (#6007480, Perking Elmer, Villebon sur Yvette, France) at a density of 1000 cells/well. After an overnight, the cells were stimulated with the compounds and placed into the IncuCyte Zoom (Ozyme, Saint-Cyr-l'Ecole, France) reader until the end of the experiment (5 days after). Images were taken every 3 h. The confluence for each condition was analyzed using the masks of the IncuCyte Zoom software.

2.3. TMRE and MTDR Assay

The cells were seeded in fresh media 24 h prior to FACs experiments. To prepare the samples, the cells were washed in PBS and stained to detect the live cells with violet live dead staining (#L34955, Thermo Fisher). Tetramethylrhodamine, ethyl ester (TMRE) (#T669, Thermo Fisher Scientific) was then added for the characterization of the mitochondrial membrane potential and MitoTracker Deep Red FM (#M22426, Thermo Fisher Scientific) was used for the assessment of the mitochondrial mass. After incubation at 37 °C for 20 min, the cells were washed, resuspended in a FACs buffer and analyzed in a FACs Canto (BD Biosciences, Le Pont De Claix, France). FCCP (Sigma-Aldrich) was added as a control for specific mitochondrial membrane potential staining.

2.4. ATP Content Assay

The ATP cell content was measured using Cell Titer Glo (#G7571, Promega, Charbonnières Les Bains, France). In summary, the cells were seeded at 2000 cells/well in three replicates in 384-well ViewPlates (Perking Elmer). After an overnight, oligomycin A (Sigma-Aldrich) and sodium iodoacetate (Sigma-Aldrich) were added, either both or in combination. Following a 1 h incubation, the cell confluence was assessed with IncuCyte for further normalization and 40 μ L of Cell Titer Glo reaction mix was added to each well, reaching a final volume of 80 μ L. The plates were then analyzed for luminescence with an EnVision 2105 Multimode Plate Reader (Perkin Elmer). By comparing the different conditions, the global ATP and the percentages of both glycolytic and mitochondrial ATP were determined.

2.5. Cell Proliferation

The cell proliferation was calculated by measuring the number of viable cells with trypan blue dye and Nexcelom Bioscience CellometerTM Auto T4 (Ozyme) or staining the cells with live fixable staining (#L34955, Thermo Fisher Scientific) and adding counting beads (#C36950, Thermo Fisher Scientific) for a further analysis with a BD LSR FortessaTM cell analyzer and FlowJoTM software (Version 10, Becton, Dickinson and Company, Ashland, OR, USA).

2.6. Seahorse

The cells were incubated overnight with the vehicle or with EVT-701. Following the incubation time, the cells were suspended in pre-warmed Seahorse XF media (Agilent, Les Ulis, France) containing 10 mM glucose, 2 mM glutamine and 1 mM pyruvate. A total of 10^5 cells were seeded per well of Seahorse 96-well plates, previously coated with Cell-tak (#10317081, Thermo Fisher Scientific). The Mito Stress Test was performed with 1–3 μ M oligomycin, 1–10 μ M FCCP (both optimized for each cell line), 50 μ M antimycin/rotenone and 50 mM 2-DG. The OCR and ECAR values were normalized to a cell confluence percentage with IncuCyte.

To assess the restoration of oxygen consumption by succinate in EVT-treated cells, 10⁵ cells were seeded per well in replicates of five. After plate centrifugation, the Seahorse medium was replaced by a pre-warmed mitochondria assay solution (MAS) medium containing 10 mM pyruvate, 4 mM ADP and 2 mM malate, prepared as described by Agilent (https://www.agilent.com/cs/library/usermanuals/public/insert-xf-pmp-reagent-web.pdf, 23 January 2020). A total of 10 mM of succinate was added to the wells where

the bypass of the ETCI blockade was assessed. Plasma membrane permeabilizer (PMP, Agilent) was added just before the introduction of the plates into the Seahorse reader. Unless otherwise mentioned, all reagents were bought from Sigma-Aldrich.

2.7. Western Blot

The cells were lysed with a RIPAS buffer (#98065, Cell Signaling Technology, Ozyme) containing a protease inhibitor cocktail (#5872S, Cell Signaling Technology, Ozyme). The proteins were quantified by the Pierce BCA protein assay kit (#23227, Thermo Fisher Scientific) and the protein concentration for each sample was adjusted to 500 μ g/mL by adding a loading buffer containing DTT or β -mercaptoethanol. Once reduced, the samples were heated to 55 °C to complete the protein denaturalization without affecting the thermosensitive band of the SDHB (ETCII) for the assessment of the ETC components or to 95 °C for 5 min for the assessment of STAT and p-Stat1. The samples were resolved in 4–20% Criterion[™] TGX[™] Precast Midi Protein Gels from Biorad (#5671093, Marnes-la-Coquette, France) by electrophoresis, transferred to nitrocellulose membranes and incubated with a rodent OxPHOS antibody cocktail (#ab110413) from Abcam (Amsterdam, The Netherlands) used at a dilution of 1:250, a STAT1 antibody (#9172S, Cell Signaling) used at a dilution of 1:1000, Phospho-Stat1 (Tyr701) (#9167S, Cell Signaling) used at 1:1000 or actin (#A2228, Sigma-Aldrich) diluted 1:20,000. An incubation with the secondary antibody goat antimouse IgG-HRP (#7076, Cell Signaling Technology, Ozyme) or anti-rabbit IgG HRP-linked antibody (#7074, Cell Signaling) and the further addition of a SuperSignal West Pico Chemiluminescent Substrate (#34580, Thermo Fisher Scientific) then revealed the protein bands in the membranes. Images were captured with Syngene PXi and quantified with GeneTools from Syngene (Thermo Fisher Scientific).

2.8. Data Sets and the Gene Set Enrichment Analysis (GSEA)

All publicly accessible transcriptomic data sets used in this study are listed below:

- TCGA: [24]
- GSE12417: [25]
- GSE97631: [10]
- MOLM14 treated with metformin: GSE97346.

GSEA was performed using DESEQ2 and fGSEA R packages. Gene sets were downloaded from the GSEA website (https://www.gsea-msigdb.org/gsea/msigdb/, 21 November. 2020) and the Farge_High OxPHOS signature from [10]. Volcano plots and enrichment maps were used for the visualization of the GSEA results. For each gene signature, its normalized enrichment score (NES) and false discovery rate (FDR) considering the p-adjusted values (padj) were evaluated.

2.9. Metabolomics

A total of four replicates of 7×10^5 cells/mL were seeded in 6-well plates per experiment. The cells were stimulated with EVT-701 or the vehicle. After a 24 h incubation with the compounds, 10 µL of media were sampled for metabolic extraction while the remaining media were discarded and the cells were washed with PBS. Metabolite extractions were performed by adding 1 mL of a cold extraction mix consisting of methanol (#1060351000, Sigma-Aldrich), acetonitrile (#1000291000, Sigma-Aldrich) and water (#1153331000, Sigma-Aldrich) in a proportion of 5:3:2. All solvents were LC-MS grade. The samples were vortexed for 10 min at 4 °C and then immediately centrifuged at the maximum speed for 10 min at 4 °C. Clear supernatants were transferred to Eppendorf tubes and kept at -80 °C until shipping to the Technion—Israel Institute of Technology for an LC-MS analysis. The LC-MS metabolomics analysis was performed as described previously [26]. Briefly, a Thermo Ultimate 3000 high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) system coupled to a Q-Exactive Orbitrap Mass Spectrometer (Thermo Fisher Scientific) was used with a resolution of 35,000 at 200 mass/charge ratio (m/z), electrospray ionization and polarity switching mode to enable both positive and negative ions across a mass range of 67 to 1000 m/z.

The HPLC setup consisted of a ZIC-pHILIC column (SeQuant; 150 mm \times 2.1 mm, 5 µm; Merck) with a ZIC-pHILIC guard column (SeQuant; 20 mm \times 2.1 mm). A total of 5 µL of the metabolite extracts were injected and the compounds were separated with a mobile phase gradient of 15 min, starting at 20% aqueous (20 mM ammonium carbonate adjusted to pH 0.2 with 0.1% of 25% ammonium hydroxide) and 80% organic (acetonitrile) and terminated with 20% acetonitrile. The flow rate and column temperature were maintained at 0.2 mL/min and 45 °C, respectively, for a total run time of 27 min. All metabolites were detected using mass accuracy below 5 ppm. Thermo Xcalibur was used for the data acquisition. The analyses were performed with TraceFinder 4.1 (Thermo Fisher Scientific). The peak areas of the metabolites were determined by using the exact mass of the singly charged ions. The retention time of the metabolites was predetermined on the pHILIC column by analyzing an in-house mass spectrometry metabolite library that was built by running commercially available standards. The cell number was used for data normalization.

2.10. Transcriptomics

The cells were seeded in 20 μ L at a density of 7500 cells/well in 384-well plates (#3542, Corning, Boulogne-Billancourt, France) and treated with different doses and combinations of AraC (#PHR1787, Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA), EVT-701 and IACS or DMSO for 24 h. After a 24 h incubation, the plates were centrifuged and the media were replaced by a lysis buffer containing an RNasin[®] ribonuclease inhibitor (#2511, Promega). The plates with lysates were frozen to -80 °C and sent to EVOTEC Gottingen where RNAseq was performed using Evotec's proprietary high-throughput platform, ScreenSeq.

Briefly, the plates were thawed and the oligo(dT)-containing oligos were distributed among the wells using an Agilent Bravo automated liquid handling system. Each oligo had a unique barcode specific for the particular well. In addition, there was a stretch of random nucleotides (unique molecular identifiers, UMIs) next to the barcode to uniquely label the original mRNA molecules. After the mRNAs in the wells were barcoded, all of the material from the wells of one plate was pooled together followed by the library preparation. The quality of libraries was controlled using BioAnalyzer. There was one library generated per plate.

The sequencing reaction was performed using a NovaSeq 6000 Illumina platform and paired-end reads covering the gene and the barcoded UMI parts. The raw data were processed to identify the genes, to demultiplex the samples from different wells based on the well barcodes and to identify all original mRNA/cDNA molecules based on the UMIs.

Subsequently, the demultiplexed files were aligned to the reference genome (Mus_musculus.GRCm38.97) using a STAR aligner and a table with counts per gene was obtained (the raw count matrix in the Supplementary Material).

The data analysis was performed with PanHunter (EVOTEC platform), DESEQ2 and fGSEA R packages.

2.11. NAD+/NADH Ratio Assessment

The NAD+/NADH ratio was evaluated using NAD/NADH Glo (#G9072, Promega). In summary, 4×10^5 cells/mL were seeded in 96-well plates (Perking Elmer) and stimulated with different doses of EVT-701 in a final volume of 200 µL/well. After the 24 h incubation time, the NAD+/NADH was evaluated as described (https://france.promega.com/-/media/files/resources/protocols/technical-manuals/101/nad-nadh-glo-assay-protocol.pdf?la=en, 15 December 2020). Briefly, a twice-serial 2-fold dilution of the cells was performed before diluting another 2-fold with 1% DTAB to lyse the cells. From each well, 50 µL were transferred to a microtube for NAD+ detection in acidic media (25 µL of 0.4 N HCl were added) or to an empty tube for NADH detection in basic media. The samples were heated at 60 °C for 15 min, then left for 10 min at room temperature. A total of 25 µL of Trizma-HCl were added to the acidic NAD+ sample to neutralize HCl. A total of 50 µL of Trizma-HCl were added to the basic samples containing NADH. From each tube, four replicates of 20 µL were seeded in 384-well plates (Perking Elmer). The NAD/NADH detection reagent was

prepared immediately before its addition to the well in a ratio of 1:1 (20 μ L/well). After the incubation time (30–40 min) at room temperature, the luminescence was read by using an EnVision 2105 Multimode Plate Reader (Perkin Elmer).

2.12. PD-L1 and CD39 Expression Assessment

Murine AML cell lines were seeded in fresh media 72 h prior to the FACs experiment and stimulated with murine IFN- γ at 25 ng/mL (#575306, BioLegend, Ozyme), 1 µM EVT-701, 0.03 µM (L1210) or 0.1 µM (C1498) AraC or a combination of the compounds. For human AML cell lines, the cells were seeded in fresh media 24 h prior to the FACs experiment and stimulated with human 25 ng/mL IFN- γ (#285-IF/CF, R&D Systems, Bio-Techne SAS, Noyal Châtillon sur Seiche, France), 1 µM EVT-701 or 0.3 µM AraC or a combination of the compounds. The cells were then washed in PBS and stained with violet live dead staining (#L34955, Thermo Fisher). The samples were then incubated for 30 min at 4 °C with the corresponding CD39 and PD-L1 antibody mix or the control isotypes (further detailed in Table 2). The cells were then washed and resuspended in a FACs buffer followed by an analysis on BD LSRFortessaTM (murine AML cell lines) or BD FACSCantoTM (human AML cell lines) cytometers and FlowJoTM software. For the NAD supplementation experiments, 0.5 mg/mL NAD+ (#1.24542.0005, Merk) at pH 7 was used. The median fluorescence intensity for each experiment is represented.

| Table 2. CD39 and PD-L1 antibodies used in this study |
|---|
|---|

| Antibody | Dilution | Supplier | Catalogue Number |
|-------------------------------|----------|------------------|------------------|
| Anti-mPD-L1-APC | 1:50 | Biolegend, Ozyme | #124312 |
| APC-anti-Rat IgG2b,к | 1:50 | Biolegend, Ozyme | #400611 |
| Anti-mCD39-PE-Cy7 | 1:50 | Biolegend, Ozyme | #143806 |
| PE/Cyanine7-anti-Rat IgG2a,к | 1:50 | Biolegend, Ozyme | #400522 |
| Anti-hPD-L1-APC | 1:100 | Biolegend, Ozyme | #329708 |
| APC-anti-Mouse IgG2b,к | 1:100 | Biolegend, Ozyme | #400320 |
| Anti-hCD39-PE-Cy7 | 1:100 | Biolegend, Ozyme | #328212 |
| PE/Cyanine7-anti-Mouse IgG1,к | 1:100 | Biolegend, Ozyme | #400126 |
| | | | |

2.13. Statistical Analyses

GraphPad Prism Software version 8 (La Jolla, CA, USA) was used for the statistical analysis. The results were expressed as a mean \pm SD. T-tests were used for the comparison of the two groups whereas a one-way Anova with a Tukey post-test was carried out to compare one variant in > 2 groups or a two-way Anova was used to compare more than one variant in > 2 groups. The significance is represented by stars in which * is *p* < 0.05, ** is *p* < 0.01, *** is *p* < 0.005 and **** is *p* < 0.001.

2.14. Graphical Summaries

Graphical schemes were generated using scientific illustration toolkits from Motifolio (Motifolio Inc., PO Box 2040, Ellicott City, MD, USA).

3. Results

3.1. OxPHOS Phenotype and Mitochondrial Gene Signatures Are Enriched in AML Patients with a Shorter Survival

The publically available human AML data sets from TCGA-AML [24] and the Metzeler [25] cohort were analyzed to assess whether there was an association between the mitochondrial and OxPHOS gene expression with overall survival. Briefly, each cohort was divided into short or long overall survival (OS > or < to 1 year for both cohorts; Figure 1a,b) and a gene set enrichment analysis (GSEA) was performed. In both cohorts, OxPHOS- and mitochondrial metabolism-related gene signatures were enriched in the short overall survival groups of patients (Figure 1a,b). In addition, sets of genes involved in the unfolded protein response and mitochondrial stress were also enriched in short survival patients from the TCGA cohort. Interestingly, a higher expression of OxPHOS and NADH-dehydrogenase ETCI complex-related gene signatures derived from AML patients [10] was also seen in shorter survival groups of both TCGA and Metzeler cohorts (Figure 1c), suggesting an involvement of ETCI and mitochondrial metabolism as adverse prognosticators for AML patients.



Figure 1. OxPHOS and mitochondrial gene expression is associated with a shorter overall survival in human AML. (a) Kaplan–Meier survival curves of the TCGA-AML cohort for patients with a short (OS > 1 year) or long (OS < 1 year) overall survival (**left**). Volcano plot showing GSEA results in the TCGA cohort comparing short vs. long survival (**middle**). OxPHOS-related gene sets enriched in the short survival group (FDR < 0.01) are highlighted in orange and protein folding and secretion-related gene sets are in green. On the (**right**), a plot showing TCGA short vs. long survival OxPHOS-related differentially expressed gene sets (FDR < 0.05) with their normalized enrichment scores (NES). (**b**) On the left, Kaplan–Meier survival curves of the Metzeler cohort for patients with a short (OS > 1 year) or long (OS < 1 year) overall survival. In the middle, the volcano plot showing GSEA results in the Metzeler cohort comparing short vs. long survival. OxPHOS and

mitochondria-related gene sets enriched in the short vs. long survival group (FDR < 0.05) are highlighted in orange. On the right, a plot showing short vs. long survival OxPHOS and mitochondria-related differentially expressed gene sets (FDR < 0.05) with their normalized enrichment scores (NES). (c) Gene set enrichment plots of the Farge_High OxPHOS gene signature, the GO_respiratory electron transport chain and NADH dehydrogenase complex gene signatures in the TCGA (left) and in Metzeler (right) cohorts.

3.2. AraC-Tolerant Murine Leukemic Cells Exhibit a High OxPHOS Phenotype also Seen in Drug-Resistant Human AML Cells

As we were interested in an immunocompetent context, we assessed whether the previously described high OxPHOS phenotype of AraC-resistant human cells was also observed in murine AML cells. To this end, C1498 and L1210 murine AML cell lines were grown in the presence of AraC, whose concentration was increased up to 10 μ M for C1498 and up to 0.1 μ M for L1210 (Figure 2a). AraC-tolerant cells (C1498-R, L1210-R) displayed higher basal and maximal respiratory rates as well as a higher mitochondrial membrane potential, mass and ATP levels compared with AraC-sensitive cells (C1498-S, L1210-S; Figure 2b–e). Western blots revealed a higher expression of ETC complex subunits, especially ETCI, in C1498-R-resistant cells compared with C1498-S cells (Figure 2f, Supplementary Materials Figures S3 and S4) whereas no consistent changes in ETC complex subunits were observed in L1210-R cells compared with L120-S (Figure S1a, Supplementary Materials Figures S3 and S4). In addition, AraC-resistant C1498 cells also showed an enrichment in OxPHOS-related gene sets including the high OxPHOS gene signature (Figure 2g,h). Therefore, murine leukemic cells able to grow in the presence of AraC exhibited an increased OxPHOS metabolism observed in chemo-resistant human leukemic cells.



Figure 2. Cont.



Figure 2. AraC-tolerant leukemic cells have more active mitochondria. (a) Proliferation IncuCyte assay of murine leukemic C1498 and L1210 cell lines sensitive (C1498S, L1210S) and resistant (C1498R, L1210R) to AraC. (b) Seahorse assessment of basal and maximal respiration in murine leukemic cells sensitive or tolerant to AraC (n = 4). (c) FACs assessment of mitochondrial membrane potential with the TMRE probe in AraC-sensitive vs. -resistant conditions for both cell lines (n = 4); (d) Mitochondrial mass assessment with MTDR (MitoTracker Deep Red) in both cell lines in the condition of sensitiveness and resistance to AraC (n = 4). (e) Total and mitochondrial ATP content measured by Cell Titer Glo in C1498 and L1210 cell lines sensitive and resistant to AraC (n = 4). (f) Protein expression levels assessed by Western blot of the ETC complexes in C1498 sensitive and resistant to AraC (n = 3). (g) Volcano plot showing the signatures enriched in AraC-resistant vs. -sensitive C1498 cells (FDR q-val < 0.05) on the left and a plot showing OxPHOS and mitochondrial-related gene sets differentially expressed in resistant vs. sensitive conditions with their normalized enrichment scores (NES). (h) Gene set enrichment plot of the GO oxidative phosphorylation and Farge_High OxPHOS gene signatures in resistant vs. sensitive C1498 cells. * is p < 0.05, ** is p < 0.01, *** is p < 0.05, ns is statistically non-significant.

3.3. EVT-701 Blocks OxPHOS by Inhibiting ETCI and Induces Metabolic Compensatory Reprogramming in Human and Murine AML Cells

As shown in solid tumors [23], EVT-701 was demonstrated here to inhibit oxygen consumption in both murine and human leukemic cell lines grown in the presence of glucose and pyruvate (Figure 3a,b). The blockade in mitochondrial respiration was bypassed in the presence of succinate, which donates electrons at the level of ETC complex II (Figure 3c), denoting that EVT-701 does not inhibit the electron transport chain beyond the ETCI complex. EVT-701 induced a shift toward a glycolytic phenotype as observed by an increase in glucose consumption and lactate production in the exometabolome of the murine leukemic cells (Figure 3d). EVT-701 did not affect the expression of ETC complexes assessed by Western blot on AML cells (Figure S1b, Supplementary Materials Figures S3 and S4). At the intracellular level, EVT-701 decreased the levels of glucose, UDP-GlcNAc, succinic acid, butyryl-carnitine, serine and aspartate and it increased the intracellular lactate in both the C1498 and L1210 cell lines (Figure 3e). EVT-701 decreased the cell proliferation as a single agent in murine leukemic cells (Figure 3f). Importantly, EVT-701 similarly affected the mitochondrial function of four human AML cell lines, decreasing OCR, the mitochondrial ATP level and the cellular NAD+/NADH ratio (Figure 3g-i) measured in the presence of glucose and pyruvate while it induced a decrease in cell viability (Figure 3j) and showed an additive effect to AraC to decrease the viability of human AML cells (Figure 3k).



Figure 3. EVT-701 blocks OxPHOS by inhibiting ETCI and induces a profound metabolic compensatory reprogramming. (a) Schematic representation of the mode of action of EVT-701. (b) Effect of EVT-701 on the basal oxygen consumption rate and ATP production linked to OCR in murine AML cells, assessed by Seahorse (n = 4). (c) Effect of 10 mM succinate supplementation upon ETCI inhibition with EVT-701 in permeabilized leukemic cells (n = 4 C1498, n = 3 L1201). (d) Effect of EVT-701 on lactate and glucose in the exometabolome of C1498 and L1210 after 24 h incubation (n = 3). (e) Effect of EVT-701 on intracellular metabolites in C1498 and L1210 cells after 24 h incubation (n = 3). (f) Effect of EVT-701 on C1498 and L1210 proliferation (n = 4). (g) Effect of EVT-701 on oxygen consumption rate and extracellular acidification rate in human AML cell lines assessed by Cell Titer Glo (n = 4). (i) NAD+/NADH ratio change in response to EVT-701 in human AML cell lines (n = 4). (j) Dose-response effect of EVT-701 on human AML cell line proliferation (n = 4). (k) Effect of EVT-701, AraC or their combination on human AML cell line proliferation (n = 4). (i) NAD+/NADH ratio (n = 4). (k) Effect of EVT-701, AraC or their combination on human AML cell line proliferation (n = 4). (i) AML cell line proliferation (n = 4). (i) NAD+/NADH ratio change in response to EVT-701, AraC or their combination on human AML cell line proliferation (n = 4). (i) NAD+/NADH ratio change in p < 0.005, *** is p < 0.001, ns is statistically non-significant.

3.4. EVT-701 Decreases the Expression of Immune Checkpoint Markers in Murine and Human Leukemic Cells

GSEA showed that gene sets associated with the interferon- γ response or signaling pathways that lead to an increased expression of PD-L1 were enriched in AraC-residual AML cells (Figure 4a) and in patients with a shorter overall survival (OS; Figure 4b,c), indicating a key role of immune checkpoints in a relapse to chemotherapy in AML. Interestingly, the transcriptome of murine-resistant cells was also enriched in the interferon- γ response gene signature (Figure 4 and Supplementary Material Figure S5). To confirm this observation, we assessed CD39 and inducible PD-L1 levels by flow cytometry in murine and human leukemic cell lines treated with EVT-701, AraC or their combination. AraC increased the cell surface expression of both inducible PD-L1 and CD39 in leukemic cells while EVT-701 as single agent as well as in combination with AraC decreased these proteins in the cellular membrane, suggesting potential as an immunomodulatory agent (Figure 4d–f). Interestingly, ETCI inhibition with IACS also resulted in decreased CD39 and inducible PD-L1 membrane levels (Supplementary Figure S2c,d). In addition, CD39 mRNA was also decreased by metformin (Supplementary Figure S2f). EVT-701 as single agent and in combination with AraC decreased the cellular NAD+/NADH ratio (Figure 4g), which has recently been proposed as the driving factor of inducible PD-L1 decreased expression [27]. Indeed, media supplementation with NAD+ restored PD-L1 levels in the presence of EVT-701 or IACS while CD39 levels were not altered by exogenous NAD+ in the presence of ETCI inhibitors (Figure 4h), showing a differential modulatory effect of ETCI inhibition on the two checkpoints. In addition, while PD-L1 expression was induced by IFN-γ, CD39 was unaffected (Supplementary Figure S2a,b,e), highlighting a different regulatory mechanism for both immune checkpoints. In sum, EVT-701 may be able to decrease tumor-mediated immunosuppression by decreasing inducible PD-L1 and CD39 expression on leukemic cells.



Figure 4. Cont.



Figure 4. EVT-701 decreases the immune checkpoint expression to boost the immune response and increase the therapeutic benefit. (**a**) Volcano plot showing GSEA results in the GSE97631 data set containing the transcriptomic profiles of residual AML in PDXs AraC or vehicle-treated. Immune modulation-related gene signatures are in purple. In the middle, a plot showing AraC vs. PBS-treated PDXs differentially expressed gene sets with their normalized enrichment scores (NES). On the right, the enrichment plot of the hallmark Interferon- γ gene signature compatible with PD-L1 increases after AraC in vivo. (**b**) Enrichment plots of the hallmark Interferon- γ gene signature (**left**), KEGG purine metabolism-containing CD39 (**middle**) and Reactome PD-1 signaling (**right**) in the short group survival of the TCGA cohort. (**c**) Plot showing CD39- and PD-L1-related signatures in the short group of the TCGA cohort with their normalized enrichment scores (NES). (**d**) FACS assessment of the modulation of inducible PD-L1 and CD39 membrane expression on THP1 and MOLM13 cells by EVT-701, AraC or a combination of both (n > 10). (**e**) Enrichment plot of the hallmark Interferon- γ gene signature of the modulation of inducible and CD39 membrane expression on C1498 (n = 7) and L1210 (n > 10) by EVT-701, AraC or a combination of both on the NAD+/NADH ratio in L1210 at 72 h (n = 4). (**h**) Effect of exogenous NAD+ on the modulation of PD-L1 and CD39 membrane levels by EVT-701 or with IACS (n = 6). * is p < 0.05, ** is p < 0.001, *** is p < 0.001, ns is statistically non-significant.

4. Discussion

In summary, we have demonstrated that the OxPHOS phenotype induced by the metabolic adaptation to chemotherapy is a common mechanism in murine and human AML cells and many other forms of cancer [10,11]. In addition, we have shown that the genetic signatures of shorter survival groups within human AML cohorts are enriched in OxPHOS and mitochondrial metabolism gene sets, underscoring the involvement of mitochondria in the progression and relapse of the disease. We characterized the effect of EVT-701, a new selective ETCI inhibitor, on the metabolism in human and murine AML cell lines, characterizing the metabolic reprogramming it exerts on AML cells by inducing a shift toward glycolysis, increasing glucose consumption and lactate production while decreasing mitochondrial ATP production and the cellular NAD+/NADH ratio. The metabolic changes observed upon EVT-701 suggest an impairment of the OxPHOS function and all have been previously observed with other ETCI inhibitors. The glycolytic shift upon ETCI inhibition (Pasteur effect) has been already observed with other ETCI inhibitors such as metformin [28]. In addition, a fall in aspartate levels also occurred with IACS-01759 (hereafter IACS) [15]. This is explained by the drop in the NAD+/NADH ratio induced by ETCI inhibition, which impairs aspartate biosynthesis by interfering with the mitochondrial malate dehydrogenase (MDH2) activity [29,30]. It has been also reported in several works that de novo serine biosynthesis is impaired upon ETCI inhibition [31,32] while being still catabolized via the folate pathway [32], leading to the reduction in serine levels. The decrease in succinic acid could suggest decreased TCA activity though the

levels of other TCA cycle intermediates were not consistently reduced in this study. This could be compatible with TCA replenishment through the glutamine-derived reductive carboxylation of α -KG via NADPH-dependent isocitrate dehydrogenase 1 (IDH1) to generate citrate, also observed with other ETCI inhibitors [33,34] despite the fact that EVT-701 does not stimulate glutamine uptake (Figure 3d). In addition, EVT-701 decreased the proliferation of AML cells both as a single agent and in combination with AraC. Using in vitro models, we showed that AraC increased CD39 and inducible PD-L1 at the cell surface while EVT-701 as single agent decreased the expression levels of these proteins and, when used in combination with AraC, neutralized the increase induced by the chemotherapeutic agent. In addition, we showed that the decrease of immune checkpoints is not exclusive to EVT-701 because other ETCI inhibitors such as IACS and, as reported in the literature, metformin elicited similar responses [19,20].

As NAD+ supplementation abrogated the decrease of the inducible PD-L1 expression but not that of CD39 upon ETCI inhibition and considering also that only PD-L1 is induced by IFN- γ , we propose that two different regulatory mechanisms concur to achieve the modulation of these two immune checkpoint components. It is important to remark that despite the controversy around the NAD+ uptake by mammalian cells, it has been previously reported that exogenous NAD+ can rescue cells from death upon NAD depletion induced by the nicotinamide phosphoribosyl transferase (NAMPT) inhibitor FK866 [35]. In addition, NAD+ supplementation might also rescue cells from the block in DNA repair resulting from PARP1 inactivation upon FK866 NAD depletion [36], reinforcing the assumption that NAD+ can be uptaken and used by the cells. Remarkably, MCART1/SLC25A51 has been recently identified as the NAD importer in the mitochondria of mammal cells and necessary for ETCI activity [37,38]. Interestingly, previous studies showed that exogenous NAD+ can access mammalian mitochondria and increase respiration [39]. Therefore, supplementation with NAD+ could potentially affect the intracellular NAD+/NADH ratio changes induced by ETCI inhibition in our cellular context. The proposed regulatory mechanism of PD-L1 involves ETCI-driven NAD+ as a major coordinator. NAD+ is known to be a cofactor of sirtuin 1 (SIRT1), a class III histone deacetylase involved in epigenetic control [40]. Resveratrol is a SIRT1 agonist that has been reported to stimulate ETCI activity to increase the NAD+/NADH ratio and activate SIRT1 [41]. Interestingly, several studies described that resveratrol upregulated PD-L1 expression in several cancer types including colon, breast and lung cancer [42–44]. One of these studies supported that PD-L1 expression was upregulated upon SIRT1 activation with resveratrol via NF-κB [43]. Remarkably, PD-L1 inducible expression has been reported to be upregulated through IFN- γ activation of the NF- κ B pathway [42]. Interestingly, a recent work identified that the ETCI function is essential for IFN- γ signaling because upon the genetic or pharmacological function abrogation of exclusively the first ETC complex, IFN- γ signaling is impaired and PD-L1 levels are decreased [45]. This study suggests that the NAD+ driven by the functional ETCI is essential for IFN- γ signaling as the impaired activity of exclusively ETCI is enough to decrease the IFN- γ signaling pathway and PD-L1 expression. Interestingly, it has been recently observed that OxPHOS cells have increased PD-L1 levels [46,47].

In addition, functional ETCI and NAD metabolisms have been shown to be involved in the epigenetic regulation of inducible PD-L1 expression [27]. In fact, this study proposed a mechanism by which NAD+ metabolism, via TCA intermediates such α -ketoglutarate (α -KG), activates TET1. TET1 then interacts with p-STAT1, previously phosphorylated and activated by JAK after IFN- γ IFNGR stimulation. They showed that the TET1-p-STAT1 interaction stabilized TET-1 and facilitated the TET1-mediated demethylation of the Irf1 promoter, which subsequently promotes the generation of IRF1 and induces PD-L1 expression [48–50]. The link between TET1 activity and PD-L1 expression has already been proposed in gliomas. Lower PD-L1 levels have been reported in patients bearing IDH mutations, increasing (R)-2-hydroxyglutarate (2-HG) oncometabolite production [51,52]. 2-HG is a competitive inhibitor of multiple α -KG-dependent dioxygenases, which includes the TET family of 5-methlycytosine hydroxylase [53,54] thereby explaining the loss of TET activity concomitant with IDH mutations. It has recently been reported that in response to 2-HG inhibition, the PD-L1 levels in IDH1 mutant tumors were increased to the same levels observed in WT-IDH gliomas [55]. As IDH mutations are also present in several AML patients [56,57], the same profile regarding the IDH mutational state and PD-L1 levels might also be expected although this remains to be proven. In addition, TET1 repression has also been associated with increased tumor-infiltrating immune cells in several cancer types such as basal-like breast cancer (BLBC), melanoma, ovarian, lung and thyroid cancer [58]. Considering all of the above, we propose that ETCI-NADH dehydrogenase activity regulates the level and ratios of NAD+/NADH, which is essential for SIRT1- and/or TET1-mediated PD-L1 stimulation. Recent studies showed that CD39 expression was not induced by IFN- γ [59,60] whereas it can be induced under hypoxic conditions [61,62]. ETCI inhibitors have already been reported to interfere with HIF stabilization such as IACS [15,63] and metformin [64–66]. EVT-701 was also developed from a screening campaign to characterize HIF-1 α inhibitors [22]; therefore, we propose an impairment of hypoxic signaling by interfering with HIF-1 α stabilization as the mechanism by which EVT-701 decreases CD39 expression. Importantly, EVT-701 was shown to decrease the levels of the N-glycosylation unit UDP-GlcNAc, which can impair the CD39 function and localization in the cell membrane [67], highlighting another layer of the regulation of CD39 by EVT-701. Further studies will be needed to elucidate the exact mechanism involved in the ETCI regulation of PD-L1 and CD39 (Figure 5). Future perspective research would answer the question of whether ETCI inhibition decreases immune checkpoints in patient-derived samples and, eventually, in patient-derived xenografts (PDXs).



Figure 5. Schematic view of the proposed mechanism of action of EVT-701 as modulator of the immune checkpoints PD-L1 and CD39 membrane levels.

5. Conclusions

In conclusion, this work describes the opposed actions of chemotherapy and ETCI inhibitors on immune system modulation, providing a non-canonical function of ETCI in the regulation of CD39 and PD-L1 and a rationale to improve the anti-tumor response in AML including combinations with immune checkpoint therapies.

Supplementary Materials: The following are available online at https://www.mdpi.com/article/ 10.3390/cancers13143499/s1, Figure S1: ETC complexes expression in murine AML cells, Figure S2: Modulation of immune checkpoints on leukemic cells, Supplementary Material S3: Western blot raw images, Supplementary Material S4: Densitometry readings of Western blot bands, Supplementary Material S5: Raw count and normalized count matrix of the transcriptomic data C1498 R vs. S.

Author Contributions: R.L.-Y., M.R.P., V.V., N.A. designed the studies and interpreted the data; R.L.-Y., J.-E.S. wrote the manuscript; M.R.P., V.V., J.-E.S. supervised the work; R.L.-Y. performed the experiments; X.M. contributed to the set-up, design and generation of transcriptomic samples; J.M., V.G. contributed to the Western blot experiments. E.B., A.S. contributed to the technical development and tools. E.G., I.A. supervised and helped analyze the metabolomics studies. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This study has been funded by the European Union's Horizon 2020 Research and Innovation Programme under the Marie Skłodowska-Curie Grant Agreements 766214 (META-CAN). EVT-701 and related compounds were licensed from Sanofi to Evotec in 2015.

Institutional Review Board Statement: Not applicable.

Informed Consent Statement: Not applicable.

Data Availability Statement: GEO (Gene expression Omnibus, https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/geo/, 21 November 2020) accession codes of data sets used in the study are GSE12417; GSE97631; GSE97346. The transcriptomic data C1498 R vs. S are attached in Supplementary Material Figure S5_raw_and_normalized_count_matrix.

Acknowledgments: We thank all members of Team METAML for their support and technical assistance. The authors also thank Mary Selak for critical reading of the manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest: R.L.-Y., J.M., V.G., N.A., V.V. and M.R.P. are full time employees of Evotec SE. The other authors declare no conflicting interests.

References

- 1. Döhner, H.; Weisdorf, D.J.; Bloomfield, C.D. Acute myeloid leukemia. N. Engl. J. Med. 2015, 373, 1136–1152. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Yilmaz, M.; Wang, F.; Loghavi, S.; Bueso-Ramos, C.; Gumbs, C.; Little, L.; Song, X.; Zhang, J.; Kadia, T.; Borthakur, G.; et al. Late relapse in acute myeloid leukemia (AML): Clonal evolution or therapy-related leukemia? *Blood Cancer J.* 2019, *9*, 1–6. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 3. Hanahan, D.; Weinberg, R.A. Hallmarks of cancer: The next generation. Cell 2011, 144, 646–674. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 4. Pavlova, N.; Thompson, C.B. The emerging hallmarks of cancer metabolism. Cell Metab. 2016, 23, 27–47. [CrossRef]
- 5. Lonardo, E.; Cioffi, M.; Sancho, P.; Sanchez-Ripoll, Y.; Trabulo, S.M.; Dorado, J.; Balic, A.; Hidalgo, M.; Heeschen, C. Metformin targets the metabolic Achilles heel of human pancreatic cancer stem cells. *PLoS ONE* **2013**, *8*, e76518. [CrossRef]
- Vazquez, F.; Lim, J.-H.; Chim, H.; Bhalla, K.; Girnun, G.; Pierce, K.; Clish, C.; Granter, S.R.; Widlund, H.; Spiegelman, B.M.; et al. PGC1α expression defines a subset of human melanoma tumors with increased mitochondrial capacity and resistance to oxidative stress. *Cancer Cell* 2013, 23, 287–301. [CrossRef]
- 7. Ricci, J.-E.; Chiche, J. Metabolic reprogramming of non-Hodgkin's B-cell lymphomas and potential therapeutic strategies. *Front. Oncol.* **2018**, *8*, 556. [CrossRef]
- 8. Faubert, B.; Solmonson, A.; DeBerardinis, R.J. Metabolic reprogramming and cancer progression. *Science* **2020**, *368*, eaaw5473. [CrossRef]
- Vivas-García, Y.; Falletta, P.; Liebing, J.; Louphrasitthiphol, P.; Feng, Y.; Chauhan, J.; Scott, D.; Glodde, N.; Calvo, A.C.; Bonham, S.; et al. Lineage-restricted regulation of SCD and fatty acid saturation by MITF controls melanoma phenotypic plasticity. *Mol. Cell* 2020, 77, 120–137. [CrossRef]
- Farge, T.; Saland, E.; De Toni, F.; Aroua, N.; Hosseini, M.; Perry, R.; Bosc, C.; Sugita, M.; Stuani, L.; Fraisse, M.; et al. Chemotherapyresistant human acute myeloid leukemia cells are not enriched for leukemic stem cells but require oxidative metabolism. *Cancer Discov.* 2017, 7, 716–735. [CrossRef]
- Kuntz, E.M.; Baquero, P.; Michie, A.; Dunn, K.; Tardito, S.; Holyoake, T.L.; Helgason, G.V.; Gottlieb, E. Targeting mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation eradicates therapy-resistant chronic myeloid leukemia stem cells. *Nat. Med.* 2017, 23, 1234–1240. [CrossRef]
- Dobson, S.M.; García-Prat, L.; Vanner, R.J.; Wintersinger, J.; Waanders, E.; Gu, Z.; McLeod, J.; Gan, O.I.; Grandal, I.; Payne-Turner, D.; et al. Relapse-fated latent diagnosis subclones in acute B lineage leukemia are drug tolerant and possess distinct metabolic programs. *Cancer Discov.* 2020, *10*, 568–587. [CrossRef]
- Cole, A.; Wang, Z.; Coyaud, E.; Voisin, V.; Gronda, M.; Jitkova, Y.; Mattson, R.; Hurren, R.; Babovic, S.; MacLean, N.; et al. Inhibition of the mitochondrial protease ClpP as a therapeutic strategy for human acute myeloid leukemia. *Cancer Cell* 2015, 27, 864–876. [CrossRef]

- Liyanage, S.U.; Hurren, R.; Voisin, V.; Bridon, G.; Wang, X.; Xu, C.; MacLean, N.; Siriwardena, T.P.; Gronda, M.; Yehudai, D.; et al. Leveraging increased cytoplasmic nucleoside kinase activity to target mtDNA and oxidative phosphorylation in AML. *Blood* 2017, 129, 2657–2666. [CrossRef]
- 15. Molina, J.R.; Sun, Y.; Protopopova, M.; Gera, S.; Bandi, M.; Bristow, C.; McAfoos, T.; Morlacchi, P.; Ackroyd, J.; Agip, A.-N.A.; et al. An inhibitor of oxidative phosphorylation exploits cancer vulnerability. *Nat. Med.* **2018**, *24*, 1036–1046. [CrossRef]
- Samudio, I.; Harmancey, R.; Fiegl, M.; Kantarjian, H.; Konopleva, M.; Korchin, B.; Kaluarachchi, K.; Bornmann, W.; Duvvuri, S.; Taegtmeyer, H.; et al. Pharmacologic inhibition of fatty acid oxidation sensitizes human leukemia cells to apoptosis induction. *J. Clin. Investig.* 2010, 120, 142–156. [CrossRef]
- 17. Stuani, L.; Sabatier, M.; Sarry, J.-E. Exploiting metabolic vulnerabilities for personalized therapy in acute myeloid leukemia. *BMC Biol.* **2019**, *17*, 1–17. [CrossRef]
- Bosc, C.; Gadaud, N.; Bousard, A.; Sabatier, M.; Cognet, G.; Saland, E.; Farge, T.; Boet, E.; Gotanègre, M.; Aroua, N.; et al. Mitochondrial determinants of response and resistance to venetoclax plus cytarabine duplet therapy in acute myeloid leukemia. *BioRxiv* 2020. [CrossRef]
- Cha, J.-H.; Yang, W.-H.; Xia, W.; Wei, Y.; Chan, L.-C.; Lim, S.-O.; Li, C.-W.; Kim, T.; Chang, S.-S.; Lee, H.-H.; et al. Metformin promotes antitumor immunity via endoplasmic-reticulum-associated degradation of PD-L1. *Mol. Cell* 2018, 71, 606–620. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Li, L.; Wang, L.; Li, J.; Fan, Z.; Yang, L.; Zhang, Z.; Zhang, C.; Yue, D.; Qin, G.; Zhang, T.; et al. Metformin-induced reduction of CD39 and CD73 blocks myeloid-derived suppressor cell activity in patients with ovarian cancer. *Cancer Res.* 2018, 78, 1779–1791. [CrossRef]
- Pereira, F.V.; Melo, A.C.L.; Low, J.S.; De Castro, Í.A.; Braga, T.; Almeida, D.C.; De Lima, A.G.U.B.; Hiyane, M.I.; Correa-Costa, M.; Andrade-Oliveira, V.; et al. Metformin exerts antitumor activity via induction of multiple death pathways in tumor cells and activation of a protective immune response. *Oncotarget* 2018, *9*, 25808–25825. [CrossRef]
- 22. Méneyrol, J. Benzylhydroxyde Derivatives, Preparation Thereof and Therapeutic Use Thereof. U.S. Patent 9,878,990 B2, 30 January 2018.
- Luna-Yolba, R.; Visentin, V.; Hervé, C.; Chiche, J.; Ricci, J.-E.; Méneyrol, J.; Paillasse, M.R.; Alet, N. EVT-701 is a novel selective and safe mitochondrial complex 1 inhibitor with potent anti-tumor activity in models of solid cancers. *Pharmacol. Res. Perspect.* 2021. submitted for publication.
- 24. The Cancer Genome Atlas Research Network. Genomic and epigenomic landscapes of adult de novo acute myeloid leukemia. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **2013**, *368*, 2059–2074. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Metzeler, K.; Hummel, M.; Bloomfield, C.D.; Spiekermann, K.; Braess, J.; Sauerland, M.-C.; Heinecke, A.; Radmacher, M.D.; Marcucci, G.; Whitman, S.P.; et al. An 86-probe-set gene-expression signature predicts survival in cytogenetically normal acute myeloid leukemia. *Blood* 2008, 112, 4193–4201. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 26. Mackay, G.M.; Zheng, L.; van den Broek, N.J.; Gottlieb, E. Analysis of Cell Metabolism Using LC-MS and Isotope Tracers. *Methods Enzymol.* **2015**, *561*, 171–196. [CrossRef]
- 27. Lv, H.; Lv, G.; Chen, C.; Zong, Q.; Jiang, G.; Ye, D.; Cui, X.; He, Y.; Xiang, W.; Han, Q.; et al. NAD+ metabolism maintains inducible PD-L1 expression to drive tumor immune evasion. *Cell Metab.* **2021**, *33*, 110–127. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Scotland, S.; Saland, E.; Skuli, N.; De Toni, F.; Boutzen, H.; Micklow, E.; Sénégas, I.; Peyraud, R.; Peyriga, L.; Theodoro, F.; et al. Mitochondrial energetic and AKT status mediate metabolic effects and apoptosis of metformin in human leukemic cells. *Leukemia* 2013, 27, 2129–2138. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 29. Birsoy, K.; Wang, T.; Chen, W.W.; Freinkman, E.; Abu-Remaileh, M.; Sabatini, D.M. An essential role of the mitochondrial electron transport chain in cell proliferation is to enable aspartate synthesis. *Cell* **2015**, *162*, 540–551. [CrossRef]
- 30. Sullivan, L.B.; Gui, D.Y.; Hosios, A.M.; Bush, L.N.; Freinkman, E.; Vander Heiden, M.G. Supporting aspartate biosynthesis is an essential function of respiration in proliferating cells. *Cell* **2015**, *162*, 552–563. [CrossRef]
- Diehl, F.F.; Lewis, C.A.; Fiske, B.P.; Heiden, M.G.V. Cellular redox state constrains serine synthesis and nucleotide production to impact cell proliferation. *Nat. Metab.* 2019, 1, 861–867. [CrossRef]
- 32. Yang, L.; García-Cañaveras, J.C.; Chen, Z.; Wang, L.; Liang, L.; Jang, C.; Mayr, J.A.; Zhang, Z.; Ghergurovich, J.M.; Zhan, L.; et al. Serine catabolism feeds NADH when respiration is impaired. *Cell Metab.* **2020**, *31*, 809–821. [CrossRef]
- Mullen, A.R.; Wheaton, W.W.; Jin, E.S.; Chen, P.-H.; Sullivan, L.; Cheng, T.; Yang, Y.; Linehan, W.M.; Chandel, N.S.; DeBerardinis, R.J. Reductive carboxylation supports growth in tumour cells with defective mitochondria. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 2011, 481, 385–388. [CrossRef]
- Mullen, A.R.; Hu, Z.; Shi, X.; Jiang, L.; Boroughs, L.K.; Kovacs, Z.; Boriack, R.; Rakheja, D.; Sullivan, L.B.; Linehan, W.M.; et al. Oxidation of alpha-ketoglutarate is required for reductive carboxylation in cancer cells with mitochondrial defects. *Cell Rep.* 2014, 7, 1679–1690. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 35. Billington, R.A.; Travelli, C.; Ercolano, E.; Galli, U.; Roman, C.B.; Grolla, A.; Canonico, P.L.; Condorelli, F.; Genazzani, A. Characterization of NAD uptake in mammalian cells. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2008**, *283*, 6367–6374. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Wilk, A.; Hayat, F.; Cunningham, R.; Li, J.; Garavaglia, S.; Zamani, L.; Ferraris, D.M.; Sykora, P.; Andrews, J.; Clark, J.; et al. Extracellular NAD+ enhances PARP-dependent DNA repair capacity independently of CD73 activity. *Sci. Rep.* 2020, 10, 1–21. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

- 37. Kory, N.; De Bos, J.U.; Van Der Rijt, S.; Jankovic, N.; Güra, M.; Arp, N.; Pena, I.A.; Prakash, G.; Chan, S.H.; Kunchok, T.; et al. MCART1/SLC25A51 is required for mitochondrial NAD transport. *Sci. Adv.* **2020**, *6*, eabe5310. [CrossRef]
- Luongo, T.S.; Eller, J.M.; Lu, M.-J.; Niere, M.; Raith, F.; Perry, C.; Bornstein, M.R.; Oliphint, P.; Wang, L.; McReynolds, M.R.; et al. SLC25A51 is a mammalian mitochondrial NAD+ transporter. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 2020, 588, 174–179. [CrossRef]
- 39. Davila, A.; Liu, L.; Chellappa, K.; Redpath, P.; Nakamaru-Ogiso, E.; Paolella, L.M.; Zhang, Z.; Migaud, M.E.; Rabinowitz, J.D.; Baur, J.A. Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide is transported into mammalian mitochondria. *eLife* **2018**, *7*. [CrossRef]
- 40. Etchegaray, J.-P.; Mostoslavsky, R. Interplay between metabolism and epigenetics: A nuclear adaptation to environmental changes. *Mol. Cell* **2016**, *62*, 695–711. [CrossRef]
- Desquiret-Dumas, V.; Gueguen, N.; Leman, G.; Baron, S.; Nivet-Antoine, V.; Chupin, S.; Chevrollier, A.; Vessières, E.; Ayer, A.; Ferre, M.; et al. Resveratrol induces a mitochondrial complex I-dependent increase in NADH oxidation responsible for sirtuin activation in liver cells. *J. Biol. Chem.* 2013, 288, 36662–36675. [CrossRef]
- 42. Gowrishankar, K.; Gunatilake, D.; Gallagher, S.J.; Tiffen, J.; Rizos, H.; Hersey, P. Inducible but not constitutive expression of PD-L1 in human melanoma cells is dependent on activation of NF-κB. *PLoS ONE* **2015**, *10*, e0123410. [CrossRef]
- 43. Lucas, J.; Hsieh, T.-C.; Halicka, H.D.; Darzynkiewicz, Z.; Wu, J.M. Upregulation of PD-L1 expression by resveratrol and piceatannol in breast and colorectal cancer cells occurs via HDAC3/p300-mediated NF-κB signaling. *Int. J. Oncol.* **2018**, *53*, 1469–1480. [CrossRef]
- Yang, M.; Li, Z.; Tao, J.; Hu, H.; Li, Z.; Zhang, Z.; Cheng, F.; Sun, Y.; Zhang, Y.; Yang, J.; et al. Resveratrol induces PD-L1 expression through snail-driven activation of Wnt pathway in lung cancer cells. *J. Cancer Res. Clin. Oncol.* 2021, 147, 1101–1113. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 45. Kiritsy, M.C.; Mott, D.; Behar, S.M.; Sassetti, C.M.; Olive, A.J. Mitochondrial respiration contributes to the interferon gamma response in antigen presenting cells. *bioRxiv* 2020. [CrossRef]
- 46. Wangpaichitr, M.; Kandemir, H.; Li, Y.; Wu, C.; Nguyen, D.; Feun, L.; Kuo, M.; Savaraj, N. Relationship of metabolic alterations and PD-L1 expression in cisplatin resistant lung cancer. *Cell Dev. Biol.* **2017**, *6*, 183. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Valle, S.; Alcalá, S.; Martin-Hijano, L.; Cabezas-Sáinz, P.; Navarro, D.; Muñoz, E.R.; Yuste, L.; Tiwary, K.; Walter, K.; Ruiz-Cañas, L.; et al. Exploiting oxidative phosphorylation to promote the stem and immunoevasive properties of pancreatic cancer stem cells. *Nat. Commun.* 2020, *11*, 1–19. [CrossRef]
- Garcia-Diaz, A.; Shin, D.S.; Moreno, B.H.; Saco, J.; Escuin-Ordinas, H.; Rodriguez, G.A.; Zaretsky, J.M.; Sun, L.; Hugo, W.; Wang, X.; et al. Interferon receptor signaling pathways regulating PD-L1 and PD-L2 expression. *Cell Rep.* 2017, 19, 1189–1201. [CrossRef]
- Moon, J.W.; Kong, S.-K.; Kim, B.S.; Kim, H.J.; Lim, H.; Noh, K.; Kim, Y.; Choi, J.-W.; Lee, J.-H.; Kim, Y.-S. IFNγ induces PD-L1 overexpression by JAK2/STAT1/IRF-1 signaling in EBV-positive gastric carcinoma. *Sci. Rep.* 2017, 7, 1–13. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 50. Yan, Y.; Zheng, L.; Du, Q.; Yan, B.; Geller, D.A. Interferon regulatory factor 1 (IRF-1) and IRF-2 regulate PD-L1 expression in hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) cells. *Cancer Immunol. Immunother.* **2020**, *69*, 1891–1903. [CrossRef]
- 51. Berghoff, A.S.; Kiesel, B.; Widhalm, G.; Wilhelm, D.; Rajky, O.; Kurscheid, S.; Kresl, P.; Wöhrer, A.; Marosi, C.; Hegi, M.E.; et al. Correlation of immune phenotype with IDH mutation in diffuse glioma. *Neuro. Oncol.* **2017**, *19*, 1460–1468. [CrossRef]
- 52. Mu, L.; Long, Y.; Yang, C.; Jin, L.; Tao, H.; Ge, H.; Chang, Y.E.; Karachi, A.; Kubilis, P.S.; De Leon, G.; et al. The IDH1 mutationinduced oncometabolite, 2-hydroxyglutarate, may affect DNA methylation and expression of PD-L1 in gliomas. *Front. Mol. Neurosci.* **2018**, *11*, 82. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 53. Figueroa, M.E.; Abdel-Wahab, O.; Lu, C.; Ward, P.; Patel, J.; Shih, A.; Li, Y.; Bhagwat, N.; VasanthaKumar, A.; Fernandez, H.F.; et al. Leukemic IDH1 and IDH2 mutations result in a hypermethylation phenotype, disrupt TET2 function, and impair hematopoietic differentiation. *Cancer Cell* **2010**, *18*, 553–567. [CrossRef]
- 54. Xu, W.; Yang, H.; Liu, Y.; Yang, Y.; Wang, P.; Kim, S.-H.; Ito, S.; Yang, C.; Wang, P.; Xiao, M.-T.; et al. Oncometabolite 2-hydroxyglutarate is a competitive inhibitor of α-ketoglutarate-dependent dioxygenases. *Cancer Cell* **2011**, *19*, 17–30. [CrossRef]
- Kadiyala, P.; Carney, S.V.; Gauss, J.C.; Garcia-Fabiani, M.B.; Haase, S.; Alghamri, M.S.; Núñez, F.J.; Liu, Y.; Yu, M.; Taher, A.W.; et al. Inhibition of 2-hydroxyglutarate elicits metabolic reprogramming and mutant IDH1 glioma immunity in mice. *J. Clin. Investig.* 2021, 131. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Mardis, E.R.; Ding, L.; Dooling, D.J.; Larson, D.E.; McLellan, M.D.; Chen, K.; Koboldt, D.C.; Fulton, R.S.; Delehaunty, K.D.; McGrath, S.D.; et al. Recurring mutations found by sequencing an acute myeloid leukemia genome. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 2009, 361, 1058–1066. [CrossRef]
- 57. Ward, P.; Patel, J.; Wise, D.; Abdel-Wahab, O.; Bennett, B.D.; Coller, H.A.; Cross, J.; Fantin, V.R.; Hedvat, C.; Perl, A.E.; et al. The common feature of leukemia-associated IDH1 and IDH2 mutations is a neomorphic enzyme activity converting α-ketoglutarate to 2-hydroxyglutarate. *Cancer Cell* **2010**, *17*, 225–234. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 58. Collignon, E.; Canale, A.; Al Wardi, C.; Bizet, M.; Calonne, E.; Dedeurwaerder, S.; Garaud, S.; Naveaux, C.; Barham, W.; Wilson, A.; et al. Immunity drives TET1 regulation in cancer through NF-κB. *Sci. Adv.* **2018**, *4*, eaap7309. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 59. Castro, F.; Cardoso, A.P.; Goncalves, R.M.; Serre, K.; Oliveira, M.J. Interferon-gamma at the crossroads of tumor immune surveillance or evasion. *Front. Immunol.* **2018**, *9*, 847. [CrossRef]
- Jorgovanovic, D.; Song, M.; Wang, L.; Zhang, Y. Roles of IFN-γ in tumor progression and regression: A review. *Biomark. Res.* 2020, 8, 1–16. [CrossRef]

- Eltzschig, H.K.; Ibla, J.C.; Furuta, G.T.; Leonard, M.O.; Jacobson, K.; Enjyoji, K.; Robson, S.C.; Colgan, S.P. Coordinated adenine nucleotide phosphohydrolysis and nucleoside signaling in posthypoxic endothelium. J. Exp. Med. 2003, 198, 783–796. [CrossRef]
- 62. Eltzschig, H.K.; Köhler, D.; Eckle, T.; Kong, T.; Robson, S.C.; Colgan, S.P. Central role of Sp1-regulated CD39 in hypoxia/ischemia protection. *Blood* 2009, *113*, 224–232. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 63. Rytelewski, M.; Harutyunyan, K.; Baran, N.; Mallampati, S.; Zal, M.A.; Cavazos, A.; Butler, J.M.; Konoplev, S.; El Khatib, M.; Plunkett, S.; et al. Inhibition of oxidative phosphorylation reverses bone marrow hypoxia visualized in imageable syngeneic B-ALL mouse model. *Front. Oncol.* **2020**, *10*, 991. [CrossRef]
- 64. Zhou, X.; Chen, J.; Yi, G.; Deng, M.; Liu, H.; Liang, M.; Shi, B.; Fu, X.; Chen, Y.; Chen, L.; et al. Metformin suppresses hypoxiainduced stabilization of HIF-1α through reprogramming of oxygen metabolism in hepatocellular carcinoma. *Oncotarget* 2016, 7, 873–884. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 65. Guimarães, T.A.; Farias, L.C.; Santos, E.S.; de Carvalho Fraga, C.A.; Orsini, L.A.; de Freitas Teles, L.; Feltenberger, J.D.; de Jesus, S.F.; de Souza, M.G.; Sousa Santos, S.H.; et al. Metformin increases PDH and suppresses HIF-1α under hypoxic conditions and induces cell death in oral squamous cell carcinoma. *Oncotarget* **2016**, *7*, 55057–55068. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Kocemba-Pilarczyk, K.A.; Trojan, S.; Ostrowska, B.; Lasota, M.; Dudzik, P.; Kusior, D.; Kot, M. Influence of metformin on HIF-1 pathway in multiple myeloma. *Pharmacol. Rep.* 2020, 72, 1407–1417. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 67. Zhong, X.; Malhotra, R.; Woodruff, R.; Guidotti, G. Mammalian plasma membrane ecto-nucleoside triphosphate diphosphohydrolase 1, CD39, is not active intracellularly. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2001**, *276*, 41518–41525. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

3.3. In vivo study of EVT-701 in immunocompetent model of leukemia

3.3.1. Establishment of the leukemic syngeneic immunocompetent model

We then established a leukemic syngeneic model to evaluate the compound and several combinations *in vivo*. To that end, we injected 10⁶ C1498-Fluc-eGFP cells in the lateral tail vein of C57/Bl6 mice (figure 39a). The model showed homogeneus AML progression, followed by the increase in bioluminescence signal (figure 39b). At endpoint, spleens were harvested and weighted, leading to the observation that the model was characterized by an increase in spleen weight compared to non-injected control mice (figure 39c), what had been previously reported as a characteristic of leukemia models (Jonas et al., 2016). We also observed a massive ovary size increase, resulting from the infiltration of the leukemic cells (figure 39c), making them the first homing niche for those cells in the model. This arouse the first questions regading the translationality of the model, as well as ethic concern since the increase in ovary size was tremendous. We further characterized the model, and observed a decreased lymphocyte count in blood in leukemic mice vs control mice (figure 39d).

Despite the ovary infiltration, we decided to pursue with the model and to evaluate its response to chemotherapy, to see its effect on disease clearance in combination with chemotherapy regime. With that aim, we injected C57/BI6-Ly5.1 (to allow us to discriminate leukemic cells by FACs, since the host murine cells would express CD45.1 whereas the leukemic cells express CD45.2) females, and treated with AraC for 5 consecutive days, from day 10 to day 15 (figure 40a). We observed a response to chemotherapy that mimicked the human one: after AraC treatment, there was no detectable bioluminescence signal, therefore, there were not enough leukemic cells to produce BLI signal after luciferine mice injection (figure 40b-c). However, 9 days after the end of AraC administration, BLI signal arouse, denoting progression of the disease, what we considered to be a "relapse" (figure 40b-c).



Figure 39. Set up 1 of the AML syngeneic model C1498-Fluc-eGFP in C57/Bl6 females. a) Schematic view of the study plan. b) Bioluminescence signal progression after cell injection. c) Spleen and ovary weights of C1498-injected mice vs control mice. d) HM5 measurement of White blood cells (WBC) and Lymphocyte counts in PB.



Figure 40. Assessment of AraC response in C1498 AML syngeneic model. a) Schematic view of the study plan. b) Bioluminescence signal progression upon AraC treatment vs PBS. c) BLI images at different time-points showing disease progression and AraC relapse.

We then assessed whether busulfan could impact leukemia engrafment and how did the gender of the mice affect the different organ colonization by leukemic cells (figure 41). Specifically, we wanted to assess if we could prevent ovaries to be the main homing organ for the leukemic cells. Busulfan is a myelosuppresive agent widely used to improve bone marrow engraftment and chimerism (Peake et al., 2015), so we tested it to enhance bone marrow engraftment of leukemic cells. We performed IP injections of 20 mg/kg busulfan during 3 consecutive days, reaching a final dose of 60 mg/kg. Four days after the last dose of busulfan administration, C1498 cells were injected in the lateral tail vein of female and male C57/Bl6 mice (figure 41a). Both females and males showed homogeneous AML progression (figure 41b-c). However, they main differences were observed when AML organ colonization was evaluated by FACs (as % of eGFP positive cells) (figure 41d). Bone marrow was more efficiently colonized by AML in males, and the leukemic cells were distributed among different organs (figure 41d). However, for females, ovaries were the primary niche of the leukemic cells (figure 41d). Accordingly, we focused on males for further experiments to be closer to the human disease.

We attempted to establish also the L1210 syngeneic model. For that, we infected L1210 cells with RediFect Red-Fluc-GFP lentivirus, and obtained cells that simultaneously expressed firely-luciferase and GFP (figure 42a, b) after selection of the clones that showed a similar growth pattern with the parental cell line. However, despite cells showing a linear BLI signal and the maintenance of both BLI and GFP signal along *in vitro* passages, the disease did not established *in vivo* and the BLI signal tended to decrease as time passed by (figure 42c), probably due to immune response. Since L1210 is a lymphocytic leukemia cell line, we decided to focus our *in vivo* work on the C1498 model, which is AML cell line and we had it already established and characterized.



Figure 41. Evaluation of busulfan treatment and gender in C57/Bl6 mice. a) Schematic view of the study plan. b) Bioluminescence signal progression in females and males C57Bl6-C1498-Fluc-eGFP injected mice. c) Representative BLI images showing tumor cell distribution in females and males C57/Bl6. d) Assessment of leukemic cell infiltration in bone marrow, spleen, liver, blood and ovary in male and female leukemic mice.



Figure 42. L1210-fLuc-GFP cell line generation and *in vivo* evaluation of the engraftment. a) GFP expression in L1210 infected with the retroviral particles. b) Luciferase *in vitro* expression in L1210 infected with the retroviral particles at cell passages 2 and 10. c) Bioluminescence images of C57/Bl6 mice intravenously injected with 1M L1210-fLuc-GFP cells at days 10 and 14 after cell injection.

3.3.2. In vivo efficacy assessment of EVT-701 in combination with chemotherapy

We then proceeded to the evaluation of EVT-701 in combination with chemotherapy.

The first attempt was performed in females (figure 43), and EVT-701 was administered from the first day of AraC treatment for 10 days, to abolish metabolic flexibility. However, we did not observe any benefit of the combination as measured by BLI (figure 43b). Mitochondrial membrane potential and

mitochondrial mass were also evaluated in the remaining leukemic cells in ovaries at endpoint, showing no significant difference among the different treatments (figure 43c).



Figure 43. Evaluation of AraC, EVT-701 and their combination in C1498 syngeneic model. a) Schematic view of the study plan. b) Bioluminescence signal progression upon AraC, EVT-701 or their combination. c) FACs evaluation of the mitochondrial membrane potential and mitochondrial mass in leukemic cells in ovaries.

We then investigated the effect of busulfan in the response to AraC (figure 44). Interestingly, we could observe that mice treated with busulfan before cell injection did not relapse to disease after AraC treatment, whereas mice that did not received busulfan did (figure 44c-d). Considering that we were interested in the mitigation of AML relapse, we decided not to perform busulfan treatment for the following studies. Furthermore, busulfan also impacted white blood cell and lymphocyte counts which may result in the impairment of the immunocompetent context (figure 44b).



Figure 44. Evaluation of busulfan effect on the response to treatment in C1498 syngeneic model. a) Schematic view of the study plan. b) White blood cell count and lymphocyte count in mice pre-treated or not with busulfan c) Bioluminescence signal progression upon vehicle, AraC or AraC + EVT-701 combination with or without busulfan. d) BLI image of AraC treated mice pre-treated or not with busulfan.

Since in the previous experiment EVT-701 did not show benefit in combination with AraC, we decided to explore if the treatment schedule could vary the response. With that aim, we tried 2 different treatment sequences: the first one doing a priming with EVT-701 from d12, that is, 3 days before AraC administration, and maintaining EVT-701 daily treatment until last AraC administration; and the second one consisting of beginning EVT-701 treatment concomitantly with AraC, and then maintained for 3 days upon the end of chemotherapy (figure 45a). No significant difference between the different treatment schedules could be evidenced by bioluminescence imaging (figure 45b). Since bioluminescence is based on the reaction catalized by luciferase, that uses O₂ for the ATP-dependent oxidation of luciferin, we though that maybe bioluminescence signal could be impacted by the use of an ETCI inhibitor, that should increase the oxygen available for the luciferase. Therefore, we decided to go for an overall survival study to assess if any of the combinations increased survival. Nevertheless, none of the combinations improved mice survival when compared to AraC alone (figure 45c). Interestingly, there was one mice treated with EVT-701 that survived longer than any AraC treated mice (figure 45c). However, with such a small sample size, no conclusions could be drawn.



Figure 45. Evaluation of different EVT-701 administration schedules to find an effective combination regime in C1498 syngeneic model. a) Schematic view of the study plan. b) Bioluminescence signal progression upon vehicle, AraC (from d16 to d20), EVT-701 (beginning at d12 or at d16) or AraC + EVT-701 (before or after AraC) combination with different treatment schedules. c) Kaplan-Meier survival curves of the different treatment groups.

Then, we used lower doses of AraC, to discard the possibility that the AraC dose previously used were too high and it could hide any beneficial effect of its combination with EVT-701. In this study, we evaluated 25 mg/kg and 50 mg/kg, compared to the standard 100 mg/kg previously used. Since the pre-treatment with EVT-701 showed a slightly better outcome in the previous experiment, we decided to stick to that schedule and do a 3-day pre-treatment with EVT-701 before AraC administration, and then continue with EVT-701 until ethical endpoint (figure 46a). We were not able to observe any difference in bioluminescence signal, neither in survival among the different treatment groups (figure 46b-c). However,

AraC showed a dose response effect, since the higher dose of 50mg/kg slightly improved survival and decreased BLI signal when compared to 25mg/kg dose (figure 46b-c).



Figure 46. Low dose AraC (LDAC) regime evaluation in combination with EVT-701 in C1498 syngeneic model. a) Schematic view of the study plan. b) Bioluminescence signal progression upon vehicle, AraC 25 mg/kg or 50 mg/kg, EVT-701 or their combination. c) Kaplan-Meier survival curves of the different treatment groups.

We then decided to test IACS-010759 (hereafter, IACS) as reference compound for ETCI inhibition, and whose antileukemic activity was previously reported (Molina et al., 2018), to discriminate whether if EVT-701 lack of efficacy was model-dependent or compound-dependent. We began with an early EVT-701 or IACS pre-treatment, for 10 days before AraC administration (figure 47a) that was maintained until study termination, with the aim to maximize treatment window. We decided to use IACS at a dose of 7.5mg/kg, as previously reported for leukemia treatment in syngeneic models (Molina et al., 2018). Bioluminescence images at D25 suggested a beneficial effect of combination of EVT-701 with AraC (Figure 47 b-c), however, at D27 this effect was lost, being AraC the main driver of BLI signal decrease for all the combinations (Figure 47 b, d). Compound exposures in plasma were assessed, both for EVT-701, IACS and their combinations with AraC (figure 47e). There was no difference in the plasma concentration when comparing the chronic dosing of the compound as single agent or in combination with AraC (figure 47e). In terms of circulating concentrations, the Cmax was 5.00µM for EVT-701 as single agent, and in combination 5.21 µM. For IACS, C_{max} in plasma were 0.69 µM when used as single agent and in combo it was 0.54 µM. Spleen weight was assessed, showing an increase in spleen weight upon AraC, observed in both IACS and EVT-701 combinations as well (figure 47f, left). Regarding liver, its weight was only increased upon AraC treatment and in its combination with EVT-701, but not with IACS (figure 47f, right). Viable leukemic cells in peripheral blood as well as in bone marrow were evaluated, however, the percentage of eGFP-positive cells in these tissues were low (figure 47g). Nevertheless, mice treated with either of the combinations showed lower percentage of viable leukemic cells in bone marrow (BM) (figure 47g). Immune populations upon the different treatments were also evaluated (figure 47h-l).

IACs combination increased CD8 T cells (Live/CD3⁺CD8⁺) percentage in peripheral blood, whereas in spleen, CD8 were reduced upon EVT-701 treatment as single agent (figure 47h). Regarding CD4 T (Live/CD3⁺CD4⁺) cells and Tregs (Live/CD3⁺CD4⁺CD25⁺FOXP3⁺), no significant change was observed (figure 47i-j). MDSCs were also evaluated: M-MDSCs were decreased in BM upon the IACS combination with AraC vs IACS, whereas in spleen there were no detectable changes (figure 47k). PMN-MDSCs were decreased in BM upon AraC treatment, while both IACS and EVT-701 combinations with AraC increased them in spleen (figure 47l). Expression of the immune checkpoints PD-L1, CD39 and CD73 was assessed for both populations of MDSCs in spleen, finding that EVT-701 decreased PD-L1 expression when compared to AraC, EVT-701+AraC or IACS+AraC, whereas neither CD39 nor CD73 expression were altered (figure 47m). No change was identified for any of the ICs markers in spleen assessed on PMN-MDSCs (figure 47n).





Figure 47. EVT-701 and IACS evaluation, as single agents or in combination with AraC in C1498 syngeneic model. a) Schematic view of the study plan. b) Bioluminescence signal progression upon AraC, EVT-701, IACS, or their combination with chemotherapy. c) Bioluminescence signal at D25. d) Bioluminescence signal at D27. e) EVT-701 and IACS plasma exposures, as single agents or in combination, after chronic dosing. f) Spleen (left) and liver (right) weights. g) Percentage of leukemic cells in blood and bone marrow upon the different treatments measured by FACs. h) Percentage of CD8 T cells in blood, bone marrow and spleen in the different treatment groups. i) Percentage of CD4 T cells in blood, bone marrow and spleen in the different treatment groups. l) Percentage of PMN-MDSCs cells in bone marrow and spleen in the different treatment groups. l) Percentage of PMN-MDSCs in spleen. n) PD-L1, CD39 and CD73 expression of PMN-MDSCs in spleen. Difference are ns unless otherwise specified.

3.3.3. In vivo efficacy assessment of EVT-701 in combination with immunotherapy

Since EVT-701 showed to decrease PD-L1 expression in vitro, we then proceeded to evaluate the combination of EVT-701 with immunotherapy in vivo, in our C1498-C57/Bl6 syngeneic model. We decided to combine EVT-701 with monoclonal anti-PD-1 therapy, to impair the PD-1/PD-L1 axis from "both sides" and eventually, improve immunotherapy outcome (figure 48). Mice were injected with the leukemic cells, and five days later, we began to treat with EVT-701 (figure 48a). From day 9 after cell injection, anti-PD-1 was administered each 3-4 days until day 24, while EVT-701 was dosed daily until D27 (figure 48a). BLI, monitored twice a week, showed that only a small proportion (2/15) of the mice responded to anti-PD-1 (figure 48b, d), what correlated with survival data (figure 48c). At D85 after cell injection, BLI images were taken from the remaining mice, showing that in mice treated with the combination EVT-701 + anti -PD-1 leukemia was not detectable, whereas in the remaining mouse treated with vehicle + anti-PD-1, leukemia was progressing (figure 48d-e). In addition, despite being a small sample size, the number of alive mice at D85 treated with the combination doubled that of mice treated just with immunotherapy (figure 48d-e). To further evaluate if there were any differences regarding immune response between the remaining mice, we performed ELISpot assay (Möbs and Schmidt, 2016). We observed IFN-y production (as marker of T cell activation upon antigen recognition) upon reestimulation with leukemic cells in both anti-PD1 and combo EVT-701+ anti-PD-1 groups (figure 48f,h). Nevertheless, there was no difference in IFN- γ production between the two groups (figure 48f,h). In parallel, no T cell response was detected upon C1498 stimulation of splenocytes coming from naïve mice, highlighting the specificity of the response (figure 48f,h). The positive control also worked, as anti-CD3 monoclonal antibody activated T cells in all the conditions tested (figure 48g,h). When evaluating the percentage of the different splenic T cell populations, we couldn't find either any difference between groups (figure 48i). We could conclude that in combo-treated surviving animals, immune system defeated tumors and returned to a steady state, with limited number of tumor-specific T effector memory cell

population.



Figure 48. EVT-701 in combination with immune checkpoint therapy in C1498 syngeneic model. . a) Schematic view of the study plan. b) Bioluminescence signal progression upon Vehicle, EVT-701, anti-PD-1 or isotype and their combination. c) Kaplan-Meier survival curve. d) Individual BLI signal progression over time in each group. e) BLI image of vehicle + anti-PD-1 or EVT + anti-PD-1 treated mice at D85. f) ELISpot results after C1498 reestimulation of splenocytes at D86. g) ELISpot positive control, consisting on splenocytes stimulated with anti-CD3 monoclonal antibody at a concentration of $0.5 \mu g/mL$. h) ELISpot image. i) T cell percentage in the spleen of the mice used for the ELISpot study. Difference are ns unless otherwise specified.

4. Discussion and perspectives.

4.1. EVT-701 targets ETCI to exploit metabolic vulnerabilities in cancer: OxPhos subtypes, LKB1 deficiency and chemoresistance as suitable contexts.

EVT-701 is a new, safe and selective ETCI inhibitor

This thesis was part of the preclinical development of EVT-701 as therapeutic agent in cancer. Starting just after selection of this optimized lead compound, the studies presented here altogether aim to characterize potential of EVT-701 to become a clinical asset. In brief, selectivity, distribution, safety and efficacy. First, we showed that EVT-701 is a selective compound, since even at the high dose of 10 μ M, activity of only one out of 198 kinases was affected by more than 30% (MLK2). However, as mentioned before, we do not expect any issue *in vivo* due to the high dose needed to modulate activity of this kinase. When assessing propensity of EVT-701 to compete with binding of reference ligands to their receptors as part of Cerep SafetyScreen[®], we identified that only A2AR ligand binding was inhibited by more than 50% at the high dose of 10 μ M EVT-701. Despite not being a concentration achieved *in vivo*, it may be an attractive off-target effect, due to the potential of A2AR antagonists in cancer treatment (Sitkovsky, 2020). On the distribution and bioavailability side, compound is widespread thoughout the body but in brain. Regarding safety, EVT-701 showed promises as no emesis issue was observed in ferret, as opposed to BAY 87-2243. One limitation of the compound is its interaction with efflux pumps, which makes it unsuitable for chronic QD regimens. However, this could be good to limit to maximum or even prevent any possible adverse effect, like lactic acidosis, which can be observed upon strong ETCI inhibition (Kwong and Brubacher, 1998; Misbin, 2004; Yendapally et al., 2020).

We characterized the effect of EVT-701 on metabolism in human and murine lung cancer, DLBCL and AML cell lines, leading to the conclusion that it induces a metabolic shift toward glycolysis in AML and DLBCL cells, increasing glucose consumption and lactate production while decreasing mitochondrial ATP production, and the cellular NAD⁺/NADH ratio. In addition, EVT-701 decreased *in vitro* proliferation of lung cancer, DLBCL cell lines, as well as of AML cells, where it was evaluated both as a single agent and in combination with AraC. Succinate OCR recovery experiment, as well as reduction of exogenous ETCI activity in incubation with the compound shows that EVT-701 exerts its action by blocking specifically the first complex of the ETC.

Targeting OxPhos dependency in cancer with EVT-701

OxPhos DLCBL was previously shown to be transcriptionally and phenotypically enriched in OxPhos and ETC subunits (Monti et al., 2005; Caro et al., 2012), therefore the rationale to target the first component of the ETC was evident. NSCLCs tumors were reported to show increased TCA cycle activity than non cancerous lungs (Hensley et al., 2016; Fan et al., 2009), and to depend on mitochondria for tumorigenesis in the case of KRAS-driven lung cancer (Weinber et al., 2010). In addition, upon LKB1 deficiency, energetic imbalance has been previously indentified as the driver of enhanced ETCI sensibility (Shackelford et al., 2013). This is due to the inability of cells harbouring this defect to activate AMPK upon low energy status, impairing therefore glycolytic enhacement to compensate for mitochondrial respiration inhibition. We confirmed this in our settings using H460 cells as LKB1-deficient model (Dong et al., 2012). In addition, we identified that transcriptomes of TCGA-lung cancer patients with deficiency or low expression levels of LKB1 were enriched for OxPhos and mitochondrial gene signatures, suggesting an enhanced OxPhos function for these patients. Several studies support this finding, since upregulation of OxPhos and mitochondria genes upon LKB1 deficiency have been already reported (Kaufman et al., 2014), along with enhanced TCA metabolite levels (Faubert et al., 2014), increased mitochondrial membrane potential and respiration (Whang et al., 2015). If this is the case, then LKB1 deficiency would elicit a synthetical lethal vulnerability with OxPhos inhibition, due to increased reliance of mitochondrial respiration in parallel with an abrogated energy stress response in such cells. However, literature regarding impact of LKB1 deficiency in metabolism is diverse since other studies have linked LKB1 loss to mitochondrial defects in cancer (Shackelford et al, 2013) and in murine hematopoietic stem cells (Gan et al., 2010). Overall, we have re-confirmed that certain conditions, including LKB1 deficiency in lung cancer (Shackelford et al., 2013) or increased reliance on OxPhos metabolism in Eµ-myc OxPhos clones of Non-Hodking lymphoma in murine context and its human equivalent OxPhos-DLBCL (Chiche et al., 2019), make these tumors vulnerable to ETCI inhibition, as shown by the decrease in tumor weights and increased survival observed upon EVT-701 treatment. Interestingly, LKB1 deficiency is often associated with mTOR activation (Dong et al., 2012; Shackelford et al., 2013; Faubert et al., 2014; Momcilovic and Shackelford, 2015), since functional LKB1 induces phosphorylation of TSC2 by AMPK to block mTORC1 activity (Inoki et al., 2003; Shaw et al., 2004; Gwinn et al, 2008). Remarkably, DLBCL-GAPDH^{low} expression samples also showed mTORC1 activation (Chiche et al., 2019). Therefore, mTOR inhibitors can also be of interest to target the metabolic vulnerabilities induced by LKB1 mutation, and combination studies with ETCI inhibitors could improve trial outcomes by targeting metabolic flexibility.

Targeting chemoresistance in AML with EVT-701

Another interesting setting to test EVT-701 is, without doubt, chemotherapy resistance. There is an emergency to find treatment options for patients with refractory or relapsed disease. One of the approaches to do so, is through the eradication of chemoresistant cancer cells by targeting specific

metabolic vulnerabilities. We showed that the genetic signatures of shorter survival groups within TCGA-AML and Metzeler cohorts are enriched in OxPhos and mitochondrial metabolism gene sets, underscoring the involvement of mitochondrial metabolism in disease progression and at relapse. In addition, we identified that AraC-resistant murine leukemic cells have increased oxygen consumption rate, mitochondrial mass and mitochondrial membrane potential, their transcriptomes are enriched for OxPhos gene signatures, as well as they overexpress ETC components compared to AraC-sensitive counterparts. Therefore, in summary, we have demonstrated that the OxPhos phenotype induced by metabolic adaptation to chemotherapy is a common feature of murine and human AML cells (Farge et al., 2017) as well as in other leukemias such as chronic myeloid leukemia (Kuntz et al., 2017), B-lymphoblastic leukemia (Dobson et al., 2020) and many other types of cancer (Hag et al., 2013; Vazquez et al., 2013; Vitiello et al., 2017; Fischer et al., 2019; Zhang et al., 2019b; Masoud et al., 2020). Targeting OxPhos in leukemia, in combination with other therapies such as AraC or venetoclax, has emerged in the recent years as a rather safe and promising strategy to improve treatment outcome of AML patients. With that aim, we developed and characterized the C1498 syngeneic model, showing evidence of its robustness and reproducibility. Nevertheless, we could not find the appropriate conditions in which EVT-701, nor IACS, could work in vivo in the C1498-AML syngeneic model. We tried different EVT-701 treatment onsets (day 10 vs day 5 after cell injection), different dosing schedules (priming with EVT-701 before AraC treatment, or beginning EVT-701 treatment concomitant to AraC administration), as well as we evaluated the combination with lower doses of AraC in case that any synergistic effect of the combination could be masked by high AraC doses. One of the factors that can have influenced this result is that, as it will be discussed in the next chapter of the discussion, C1498 was the EVT-701 "more resistant" cell line in terms of proliferation in vitro. Maybe other AML syngeneic murine models, such as the AML1/ETO9a or the MLL/ENL could have responded differently (Zuber et al., 2009), what would open the door to future exploration. We also tried to establish L1210 syngeneic model but, as reported in the results section, despite the maintenance of both BLI and GFP signal along in vitro passages, the disease was not established in vivo and BLI signal tended to decrease in vivo as time passed by, probably due to immune response directed towards GFP-positive cells. The use of other clones, maybe less immunogenic, can be evaluated for further development of the model.

As mentioned above, IACS-010759 was not able to induce any anti-leukemic effect in our C1498-AML syngeneic model. This is globally aligned with results from Molina and colleagues, who evaluated IACS both in syngeneneic (C57/Bl6 injected with MLL/ENL KRASG12D, p53null; MLL/ENL KRASG12D, p53wt and AML1/ETO9a, KRASG12D, p53null) and immunodeficient AML mice models (NSG mice OCI-AML3 and PDX). While IACS-010759 treatment significantly improved the survival in OCI-AML3 and PDX immunodeficient mice models (from 30 days -35 days as OS for vehicles to 70 days for IACS treated mice), IACS effect was marginal if any, increasing mice survival by maximum 2 days in the three immunocompetent models tested (Molina et al., 2018). These results, in parallel with ours, may suggest

the importance of lactate in the immune response in the context of AML. As described in the introductory chapter "1.3.2.3.2.iii. Lactate", lactate has been reported to abrogate immune function by several mechanism and targets, which can be an issue for anti-tumor efficacy approaches that target ETCI inhibition in patients. In fact, lactate increase without associated metabolic acidosis has been reported in IACS phase I clinical trials (Yap et al., 2019). It is worth to underscore that one of the risks of targeting ETCI is the induction of lactic acidosis. Phenformin was removed from the market for this reason (Kwong and Brubacher, 1998). With metformin, lactid acidosis cases are very few, and they are linked to pathological conditions such as heart failure or hypoxia (Misbin, 2004; Yendapally et al., 2020). All new ETCI inhibitors should carefully consider this potential adverse effect. Another factor is that immune landscape in AML is considered to be immunosuppressive (Isidori et al., 2014), and maybe the impact of lactate cooperates more efficiently in the disease, abrogating any beneficial effect of ETCI inhibition in AML-syngeneic models. That's why the assessment of drugs to impair lactate efflux, such as MCTs inhibitors or LDHA inhibitors, may be of great interest in combination with ETCI inhibitors.

Combination of EVT-701 with immunotherapy would require further optimization

Regarding the combination with immunotherapy, and assuming that lactate does not drive a completely immunosuppressive landscape, testing lower doses of EVT-701, different administration schedules (onand off-treatment periods), and even more importantly, different onset of EVT-701 administration can be determinant factors, since, ETCI inhibition can boost T cell response after clonal expansion has taken place, otherwise, inhibiting OxPhos can impair T cell activation and expansion due to lack of energy to support these processes (Pearce et al., 2009). Therefore, optimization of the conditions could potentially result in a more positive outcome. Another limitation regarding the in vivo response to EVT-701 in AML is the lack of biomarker specific for EVT-701 activity on tumor cells, since systemic lactate denotes a global organism response, but not directly target engagement on tumor cells. In solid tumors, the evaluation of the glycolytic ATP content in harvested and dissociated tumors is easier than in AML, where the cancer cells are more "disseminated".

Future directions: further evaluation of EVT-701 in other models of anti-cancer therapy resistance and different contexts of increased OxPhos dependency

Overall, it seems clear that EVT-701, or other ETC inhibition approaches, should be evaluated in context of high OxPhos metabolism and OxPhos dependency since, as demonstrated by us and others (Chiche et al., 2019), ETCI inhibition in cancer cells with glycolytic phenotypes did not result in improved outcome. One of these interesting contexts where EVT-701 could be further evaluated is in lung cancer with mutated components of the chromatin remodeling SWI/SNF complex. These mutations, for instance in SMARCA4 or ARID1A, have been shown to increase OxPhos both transcriptomically and phenotipically while they blunted transcriptional response to energy stress (Lissanu Deribe et al., 2019). The use of other cancer models of chemoresistance previously reported to depend on OxPhos could be appropriate settings to further evaluate combination therapies with EVT-701. Other scenario could be NSCLC resistance to
cisplatin (Wangpaichitr et al., 2017; Cruz-Bermúdez et al., 2019), chemotherapy resistance in breast cancer (Lee et al., 2017b) or gemcitabine resistance for high OxPhos pancreas tumors (Masoud et al., 2020). In addition, resistance to targeted therapy, such as to EGFR or BRAF inhibitors in EGFR- driven lung adenocarcinoma or melanoma respectively, are also interesting contexts to further evaluate EVT-701, since resistance to both inhibitors is characterized by enhanced OxPhos (Haq et al., 2013; De Rosa et al., 2015; Martin et al., 2016).

4.2. Metabolic mechanism of action of EVT-701

EVT-701 induces a glycolytic shift and decreases intracellular levels of aspartate and serine Among the changes in the metabolite content induced by EVT-701, there are several remarks. On the one hand, the increase in lactate secretion and glucose uptake is not surprising since glycolysis acts as a compensatory mechanism upon OxPhos inhibition and this mechanism has been previously described with other ETCI inhibitors such as metformin, phenformin and IACS (Scotland et al., 2013; Molina et al., 2018; Vangapandu et al., 2018, Veiga et al., 2018). As previously mentioned, a fall in aspartate levels has been observed with IACS-010759 (Molina et al., 2018). This can be explained by the drop in NAD⁺/NADH ratio levels induced upon ETCI inhibition, which impairs mitochondrial malate dehydrogenase (MDH2) activity, preventing OAA formation and thus, mitochondrial aspartate biosynthesis (Birsoy et al., 2015; Sullivan et al., 2015). To compensate this, reductive carboxylation of glutamine by ATP-citrate lyase is put in place, by which citrate lyase converts Gln-derived citrate into OAA that subsequently will generate cytosolic asparte by GOT1 action. However, aspartate levels obtained by this reductive biosynthetic pathway are lower when compared to the classical mitochondrial route, and not even enough to maintain cell proliferation without external supply of NAD⁺ source, which induces a fall in aspartate levels (Birsoy et al., 2015; Sullivan et al., 2015). We also observed a decrease in serine levels upon EVT-701 treatment. The drop in NAD+/NADH levels induced by ETCI inhibiton, this time with rotenone, has been shown to abrogate serine biosynthesis (Diehl et al., 2019). The authors also showed that upon rotenone treatment, serine biosynthesis could be restored by supplementation with an exogenous electron acceptor that regenerated NAD⁺, underscoring the role of NAD⁺ and of functional ETC for serine biosynthesis (Diehl et al., 2019). In the same line, it's been reported that upon several respiration inhibitors (metformin, phenformin and rotenone for ECT I, antimycin for ETC III and oligomycin for ETC V), mitochondrial serine catabolism via folate pathway mediated by MTHFD2 becomes the main contributor to NADH generation, since NADH production by TCA cycle is inhibited upon respiration inhibition, but not serine catabolism (Yang et al., 2020). In the same work, authors found that serine biosynthesis nearly ceased upon metformin treatment. Therefore, decreased serine and aspartate levels have been previously reported with other ECT I inhibitors. Interestingly, it resulted in auxotrophy for these amino acids as well as in diminished purine or pyrimidines (respectively)

biosynthesis (Birsoy et al., 2015; Sullivan et al., 2015; Diehl et al., 2019; Yang et al., 2020), providing a mechanism by which ETCI inhibition results in decreased proliferation.

Reductive carboxylation may explain why TCA intermediates, with the exception of succinate, are not affected by EVT-701

Perhaps one of the most unexpected metabolomic results was not to observe a global decrease in TCA cycle intermediates upon EVT-701 treatment, as reported in literature for other ETCI inhibitors (Andrzejewski et al., 2014; Janzer et al., 2014; Molina et al., 2018). However, some studies have shown different effects of ETCI inhibition in TCA intermediates. In cancer cells, it has been reported that metformin or rotenone induced no changes in TCA cycle metabolites, due to the use glutamine-derived reductive carboxylation of α -KG via NADPH-dependent isocitrate dehydrogenase (IDH) to generate citrate, acting as the carbon source to maintain TCA cycles intermediates (Mullen et al., 2011). More recent studies have proposed a bidirectional TCA cycle upon mitochondrial disfunction (upon mutations, drugs or hypoxia) that requires both oxidative and reductive pathways (Mullen et al., 2014). The oxidative pathway produces reducing equivalents at the level of α -KGDH and nicotinamide nucleotide transhydrogenase, required for NADPH generation and therefore, for IDH "reverse" function (Mullen et al., 2014). Interestingly, it's been found that succinate accumulation was not a "general" indicator of reductive carboxylation in cells (Mullen et al., 2014) as it was previously thought (Mullen et al., 2011). Upon ETC III inhibition with antimycin, or upon hypoxia, reductive carboxylation of glutamine-derived α -KG induced succinate accumulation (Mullen et al., 2014). However, an important contribution of this work is that they showed that succinate production through reductive carboxylation of glutamine requires functional ECT I (Mullen et al., 2014). Mechanistically, the reduction of fumarate to succinate catalyzed by reverse SDH constitutes the final step in the reductive carboxylation, and it requires the transference of reducing equivalents from NADH to ETC I, from here to CoQ and eventually to ETC II (SDH) to catalyze the reduction, highlighting the role of a functional ETCI for the succinate generation upon glutamine reductive carboxylation (Mullen et al., 2014). Therefore, it is to expect that cells with impaired ETCI have lower succinate levels, which is what we observed with EVT-701. Interestingly, Scotland and colleagues suggested that reductive carboxylation of glutamine-derived α -KG was the mechanism responsible for TCA intermediate replenishment upon metformin treatment in MOLM14 (Scotland et al., 2013). Interestingly, they observed that metformin had opposite effects on TCA intermediate levels in U937 and MOLM14 cells, since it decreased TCA metabolites in U937 whereas in MOLM14 they were augmented (Scotland et al., 2013). They explained the divergent response by stressing differences in the basal energetic status of both cells, as well as by the preferential use of glutamine-derived reductive carboxylation of α-KG to fuel TCA cycle by MOLM14. In spite of the compatibility of our results with glutamine reductive carboxylation, metabolomics tracing experiment with labelled glutamine should be performed to confirm if that is the case.

Overall, we showed that EVT-701 is a specific ETCI inhibitor, that metabolically induces a glycolytic shift as well as other metabolic changes resulting from the specific inhibition of ETC I.

EVT-701 decreases UDP-GlcNAc, which could explain the decreased membrane expression of PD-L1 and CD39

Remarkably, the intracellular levels of UDP-GlcNAc were decreased upon EVT-701treatment. UDP-GlcNAc is a sugar nucleotide that constitutes an essential building unit of glycosaminoglycans, proteoglycans, glycolipids, and for protein modifications by O- and N-linked protein glycosylation (Tran et al., 2020). UDP-GlcNAc synthesis requires glucose, sharing the two first steps of glycolysis, branching at F6P formation. At this point, the rate limiting enzyme glutamine fructose-6-phosphate amidotransferase (GFAT) converts F6P and glutamine to glucosamine-6-phosphate (GlcN6P) and glutamate. Alternatively, GlcNAc kinase (GNK) can generate GlcN6P from glucosamine entering the cell. Subsequently, GlcN6P and acetyl-CoA generate N-acetylglucosamine-6-phosphate (GlcNAc-6P) in a reaction catalyzed by the enzyme glucosamine-phosphate N-acetyltransferase (GNPNAT). GlcNAc-6P is isomerized into GlcNAc-1-P by the GlcNAc phosphomutase PGM3/AGM1. Lastly, UDP-N-acetylglucosamine pyrophosphorylase generates UDP-GlcNAc from GlcNAc-1P and UTP (Akella et al., 2019; Tran et al., 2020). This pathway is known as the hexosamine biosynthetic pathway, and since it requires serveral macromolecules for UDP-GlcNAc synthesis, it's being seen as a sensor of energy availability and nutritional status in the cells. As previously mentioned, UDP-GlcNAc is indispensable for O-GlcNAcylation, taking place in cytosol, nucleous and mitochondria and being catalyzed by O-GlcNAc transferase (Biwi et al., 2018); as well as for the O- and N-linked protein glycosylations that take place in the endoplasmic reticulum and the Golgi apparatus (Akella et al., 2019). N-glycosylation is an essential process for protein stability and maturation, especially for membrane proteins as well as for cellular protein quality control (Moremen et al., 2012; Lee et al., 2015; Chandler and Costello, 2016). N-linked glycosylation has been reported to stabilize PD-L1 and prevent its proteasomal degradation, as well as to enhance interaction with its ligand PD-1 on T cells (Li et al., 2016; Hsu et al., 2018). Therefore, a defect in PD-L1 glycosylation directs PD-L1 for ERassociated degradation. In the case of CD39, it's been published that only the fully glycosylated protein is active and locates to the membrane, therefore (Zhong et al., 2001), impairment in N-glycosylation prevents CD39 localization and activity. We thought that potentially, lower levels of UDP-GlcNAc induced by EVT-701 could impact PD-L1 and CD39 glycosylation state and therefore their stability. Aiming to test that, development of a proteomics-based assay has been initiated. Protein-specific peptides (for both native and glycosylated forms) have been characterized from pure protein digestion. We now need to be able to detect and quantify those from cell homogenates and then apply this to treated cells. Hopefully something to be completed in the near future.

Future directions

A remarkable observation is that EVT-701 seems to be more potent in human than in murine leukemic cells. At the same EVT-701 dose, OCR is decreased by 70% in murine leukemic cell lines, whereas in the

human cell lines, only MV4-11 inhibition is lower than 90% (75%). OCR inhibition exterted by EVT-701 reached to 95% in MOLM13, 98% in THP1, and 90% in U937. Therefore, EVT-701 exhibits greater inhibitory capacity of oxygen consumption rate in human AML cell lines than in murine counterparts. In proliferation the same pattern is repeated. EVT-701 elicited a stronger inhibition of proliferation in human AML cell lines than in murine leukemic cell lines, C1498 being the most "resistant" (% of proliferation inhibition: 47% C1498 < 66% L1210 < 70% U937 and MOLM13 < 76% MV4-11 and THP1).

Moreover, the additive effect of the EVT-701 + AraC combo to decrease viability of human AML cells is encouraging, since the response obtained with the combination of both is much greater than with the single agents. This would allow to reduce the concentration of the drugs as single agents in the combination without losing efficacy, what is of great relevance to avoid therapy toxicity and morbidity that usually appear at high doses of compounds and could make elderly people eligible to such AraC-based combinations.

Overall, these results may suggest that EVT-701 could be more potent in the human pathology than in the murine one, opening a path to future research with the compound.

4.3. Emerging immunomodulatory role of ETCI

AraC and ETCI inhibition exert opposed effects on PD-L1 and CD39 membrane levels in leukemic cells

We showed that AraC increased CD39 and inducible PD-L1 levels at cell surface, while EVT-701, as single agent decreased membrane expression levels of both of these proteins and, when used in combination with AraC, neutralized the increase induced by the chemotherapeutic agent *in vitro*. In addition, we showed that the decrease of immune checkpoints is not exclusive to EVT-701, since other ETCI inhibitors, such as IACS and, as reported in literature, metformin elicited similar responses (Cha et al., 2018; Li et al., 2018). Since NAD⁺ supplementation abrogated the decrease of inducible PD-L1 expression but not that of CD39 upon ETCI inhibition, and considering that IFN- γ only modulates inducible PD-L1 expression without affecting CD39 (Lee et al., 2006; Garcia-Diaz et al., 2017; Castro et al., 2018; Jorgovanovic et al., 2020), we propose that different regulatory mechanisms concur to achieve modulation of these two immune checkpoint components.

Inducible PD-L1 expression may be regulated by OxPhos

PD-L1 expression has been described to be regulated by several factors. Maybe one of the most characterized is the IFN regulatory factor 1 (IRF1). IRF1 is the one that binds to PD-L1 promoter, but it is involved in a bigger axis, constituted by IFN-γ-JAK1/JAK2-**STAT1**/STAT2/**STAT3**-IRF1 (Lee et al., 2006; Garcia-Diaz et al., 2017). In PD-L1 promoter, regulatory elements responsive to STAT3 have also been described (Song et al., 2018; Zerdes et al., 2019; Parackova et al., 2020). STAT1 and STAT3 have

been reported to be upregulated by IL-27 signaling, which results in increased PD-L1 expression (Parackova et al., 2020). In similar settings, expression of CD39 as well as of other immunomodulatory molecules such as IDO was increased in dendritic cells, while differentiation of naive T cells into effector T cells was decreased (Mascanfroni et al., 2013). By the way, PD-L1 inducible expression has been reported to be upregulated through IFN-γ activation of the NF-κB pathway (Gowrishankar et al., 2015). Interestingly, recent work identified ETCI function to be essential for IFN-y signaling. Indeed, genetic or pharmacological abrogation of ETCI function was sufficient to impair IFN-γ signaling as denoted by decreased levels of PD-L1 and CD40 (Kiritsy et al., 2020), whereas manipulation of other ETC complexes had no effect. This study suggests a direct link between NAD metabolism, ETCI and IFN-y signaling. In addition, it has been recently observed that pancreatic stem cells grown in galactose and therefore, with an increased OxPhos, had increased expression of PD-L1 compared to stem cells grown in glucose, suggesting a direct relationship between PD-L1 upregulation and OxPhos function (Valle et al., 2020). In NSCLC resistance to cisplatin it has also been observed an increase in PD-L1 that correlated with higher OxPhos reliance as well as with increased epithelial mesenchymal transition capacity of cells resistant to therapy (Wangpaichitr et al., 2017). Overall, these studies suggest that OxPhos, and especially ETC I, sustains upregulated PD-L1 expression.

NAD could be involved in the regulation of PD-L1 expression through the modulation of SIRT1 and or/TET1

Recent works have established a more direct connection between NAD⁺ metabolism and PD-L1 expression, however, their conclusions are not aligned. Lv and colleagues proposed that NAD⁺ pool maintains Tet1 expression and activity by sustaining α -KG levels. In parallel, IFN- γ signaling induces Stat1 phosphorylation and activation. Phospho-Stat1 stabilizes Tet1 binding to Interferon regulatory factor 1 (Irf1) promoter, which is subsequently demethylated and leads to downstream PD-L1 expression on tumors (Lv et al., 2020). Therefore, an impairment in NAD synthesis resulted in decreased PD-L1 tumor expression via low Tet1 activity, while increasing the NAD pool resulted in an enhanced PD-L1 expression in presence of IFN- γ (Lv et al., 2020). Later on the same year, Li and colleagues reported opposite observations in glioblastoma. They showed that NAD⁺ depletion induced by the NAMP inhibitor GMX1778 upregulated PD-L1 expression in glioblastoma cells (Li et al., 2020), but, surprisingly, they reported increased recruitment of CD8 and CD4 T cells as well as a reduction of M2-macrophages and FOXP3⁺ Tregs within the tumors (Li et al., 2020). Usually, PD-L1 is associated with immunosuppression, since the binding to its ligand, PD-1, on T cells induces apoptosis of antigen-specific T cells (Blank et al., 2004; Barber et al., 2005; Ostrand-Rosenberg et al., 2014) and it promotes Treg development and function (Francisco et al., 2009), therefore, the results of Li and colleagues are unexpected. Nevertheless, one interesting remark, is that Lv and colleagues focused their study on inducible PD-L1, thus, upon IFN- γ stimulation. However, Li's work is focused on constitutive PD-L1 expression, as they clearly highlighted the absence of any cytokine produced by immune cells within their study. Therefore, one can consider the

presence or absence of IFN-γ (physiologically produced by immune cells upon activation) can be a key factor for the regulation of PD-L1 expression exerted by NAD⁺. Remarkably, NAD⁺ is a necessary cofactor for the activity of the class III histone deacetylase sirtuin 1 (SIRT1, Etchegaray and Mostoslavsky, 2016). Resveratrol is a SIRT1 agonist that has been reported to stimulate ETCI activity in order to increase NAD⁺/NADH ratio and activate SIRT (Desquiret-Dumas et al., 2013). In literature, different effects of resveratrol on PD-L1 expression have been reported. However, several studies described that resveratrol upregulated PD-L1 expression (Gowrishankar et al., 2015; Yang et al., 2021). In breast and colon cancer cells, it's been reported that PD-L1 expression was upregulated upon resveratrol treatment via NF-κB (Lucas et al., 2018), and as previously mentionted, PD-L1 inducible expression has been reported to be upregulated through IFN-γ activation of the NF-κB pathway (Gowrishankar et al., 2015). Considering that EVT-701 is an ETCI inhibitor that alters NAD⁺/NADH ratio, both an impairment of TET1 and/or of SIRT1 activity could potentially explain the PD-L1 decrease we observe in the presence of EVT-701 upon IFN-γ and the rescue of PD-L1 levels when NAD⁺ is available.

It is worth to highlight that some studies have shown that mammalian cells are able to uptake NAD⁺ and that it can rescue them from cell death. Billington and colleagues showed that exogenous NAD⁺ could rescue NIH-3T3 fibroblasts from death upon NAD depletion induced by the nicotinamide phosphoribosyltransferase (NAMPT) inhibitor FK866 (Billington et al.; 2008). In addition, it has been recently shown that NAD⁺ supplementation was able to rescue MCF-7 breast cancer cells from blocking of DNA repair resulting from PARP1 inactivation induced by FK866 NAD-depletion (Wilk et al., 2020).

These studies support the idea that NAD⁺ can be uptaken by cells and exert same cellular actions as endogenous NAD⁺. In addition, the mammalian NAD⁺ mitochondrial transporter MCART1/ SLC25A51 has been recently identified by different teams (Kory et al., 2020; Luongo et al., 2020). It has also been shown that mitochondrial NAD⁺ transport is essential for ETCI activity (Kory et al., 2020), and, previously, it was shown that exogenous NAD⁺ could access mammalian mitochondria, and increase respiration (Davila et al., 2018). Therefore, supplementation with NAD⁺ could potentially affect intracellular NAD⁺/NADH ratio changes induced by ETCI inhibition.

Interestingly, epigenetic modulation of PD-L1 expression has been previously reported to be linked to TET activity. TET1 repression induced by NF-kB activation has been associated with increased tumorinfiltrating immune cells in several cancer types, such as basal-like breast cancer, melanoma, ovarian, lung and thyroid cancer (Collignon et al., 2018). Mechanistically, Collignon and colleagues showed that NF-kB activation induced p65 binding to TET1 promoter and this mediated TET1 repression, resulting in increased tumor-infiltrating immune cells (Collignon et al., 2018). In addition, glioma patients carrying IDH mutations have been described to show lower PD-L1 expression levels accompanied by higher PD-L1 gene promoter methylation (Berghoff et al., 2017; Mu et al., 2018). These results may suggest the inhibition of TET function exerted by 2-HG derived from mutant IDH. (Figueroa et al., 2010; Xu et al., 2011). Supporting this hypothesis, it has been recently reported that PD-L1 levels in IDH1 mutant tumors were increased to the same levels observed in WT-IDH gliomas upon mutant IDH inhibition, and therefore, decreased 2-HG (Kadiyala et al., 2021). A similar phenotype could be expected from AML patients carrying IDH mutations (Mardis et al., 2009; Ward et al., 2010), despite not having been reported up to date. Considering all the above mentioned, a decrease in NAD⁺/NADH induced by ECT I inhibition could affect TET1 activity and mediate the decrease of PD-L1 levels.

Irregular glycosylation through decreased levels of UDP-GlcNAc may explain the drop in CD39 membrane expression upon ETCI inhibition

As previously mentioned, ETCI inhibitors such as metformin have been reported to boost immune response, despite the lack of description of the molecular mechanisms. Cha and colleagues linked the enhanced PD-L1 degradation in breast cancer to increased ER-associated protein degradation (ERAD). This enhanced PD-L1 degradation was due to phosphorylation of PD-L1 at S195 by AMPK, which leaded to abnormal PD-L1 glycosylation and accumulation of the protein in the ER (Cha et al., 2018). One of our hypothesis is indeed that the decrease in UDP-GlcNAc levels may impact PD-L1 and CD39 glycosylation and result in abnormal glycosylated proteins that would not reach the cell membrane. However, this hypothesis only partially fits our results since it would not explain the differences observed upon NAD⁺ supplementation in the IFN- γ -inducible-expression of PD-L1 and the IFN- γ -independent expression of CD39.

ETCI inhibition could decrease CD39 expression by impairing hypoxic signaling

Hypoxia has also been reported to upregulate both CD39 (Eltzschig et al., 2003; Eltzschig et al., 2009) and PD-L1 expression (Barsoum et al., 2013; Noman et al., 2014; Cubillos-Zapata et al., 2017). Considering that ETCI inhibitors such as IACS (Molina et al., 2018; Rytelewski et al., 2020), metformin (Zhou et al., 2015; Guimarães et al., 2016; Kocemba-Pilarczyk et al., 2020), and EVT-701(Meneyrol, 2016) have been reported to impair HIF-1α stabilization, this could be another potential mechanism by which ETCI inhibition reduces both CD39 and PD-L1 membrane expression.

Future directions

Identification and characterization of the mechanisms involved in the downregulation of PD-L1 and CD39 cell membrane expression upon ECT I inhibition will deserve further studies, since this question can boost the therapeutic interest of both immunotherapy and ETCI inhibitors.

5. Conclusion

In summary, this thesis describes the mitochondrial, immunomodulatory and therapeutic effects of targeting ETCI with EVT-701 in cancer, which is summarized in the next figure (**figure 49**).





Figure 49. EVT-701 as therapeutic agent in cancer: mechanism of action, targeted vulnerabilities and immunomodulatory effects.

EVT-701 inhibits the first component of the ETC, the NADH dehydrogenase, blocking the oxidation of NADH into NAD⁺. Thus, it impairs electron transference, as well as it dampens protons pumping to the IMM, resulting in decreased chemiosmotic gradient and therefore, in diminished levels of mitochondrial ATP production. ETCI inhibition is especially efficient as anti cancer approach upon LKB1 deficiency, since cells harbouring this mutation are not able to activate AMPK and die from energetic crisis, due to decreased mitochondrial ATP production in parallel to high energetic demand of the biosynthetic processes coordinated by mTORC1, which looses also its AMPK negative regulation. ETCI inhibition is also appropriate for cancers with increased OxPhos metabolism, intrinsic to the tumor phenotype, or developed in response to chemotherapy. These high OxPhos cancer cells present increased oxygen consumption, mitochondrial membrane potential and mitochondrial ATP production, as well as increased intermediate metabolites to support proliferation. ETCI inhibition with EVT-701 abrogates oxygen consumption and decreases mitochondrial ATP production, while it also diminishes NAD⁺/NADH ratio and the levels of serine and aspartate, essential for nucleotide biosynthesis, impacting therefore tumor cell proliferation (**figure 49a**).

ETCI inhibition by EVT-701 decreases PD-L1 and CD39 expression in the membrane of leukemic cells (**figure 49b**). This can be potentially explained by several mechanisms. First, ETCI inhibitors decrease HIF-1 levels by increasing oxygen availability. Both PD-L1 and CD39 genes contain HIF response elements in their promoters, thus, a decrease in HIF-1 could explain a decrease in the transcription of these two immune checkpoints. EVT-701 decreases UDP-GcINAc levels, which can result in abrogation of N-glycosylation of membrane proteins including PD-L1 and CD39, whose N-glycosylation has been reported as essential for their membrane location and even for CD39 activity. Therefore, a defect in the N-glycosylation of PD-L1 and CD39 constitutes another potential mechanism by which EVT-701 can decrease these immune checkpoint expression. In the case of PD-L1, another potential regulatory mechanism involves NAD⁺/NADH modulation of tet1 or sirtuin activity, since decreases in NAD⁺ could impair either tet1 or sirtuin activation, leading to a downregulation of IRF1 or NF-kB responsive genes upon IFN-γ stimulation (**figure 49b**).

Overall, this work has presented the safe and selective profile the new ETCI inhibitor EVT-701, as well as its efficacy as therapeutic agent in the context of cancer, more concretely upon increased OxPhos dependency like OxPhos-DLBCL and lung cancer, including specific metabolic vulnerabilities like LKB1 deficiency. This work has also identified an increase in OxPhos as a common mechanism of resistance to therapy for human and murine leukemic cells, highlighting the potential of this approach to prevent chemoresistance, despite failing so far to identify an appropriate *in vivo* model. In addition, we report a metabolic characterization of EVT-701 effect on leukemic cells. Lastly, we unraveled a new role of ETCI as modulator of PD-L1 and CD39 expression, proposing several mechanisms to explain this interesting phenomena, and opening a promising area of research.

6. Annexes

6.1. Material and methods of un-published data

6.1.1. L120-Fluc-eGFP cell line generation

L1210 cell line transduccion was performed as described by Perkin Elmer with RediFect Red-Fluc-GFP Lentivirus particles (#CLS960003, Perkin Elmer, <u>https://www.perkinelmer.com/lab-solutions/resources/docs/SPC_RediFect_Lentiviral_Particles_Protocol_of_infection.pdf</u>).

Briefly, 50,000 cells in 500µl were seeded per well in plates of 24 wells. After 24h, RediFect lentiviral particles were added to the cells at Multiplicity Of Infection (MOIs) of 0, 25, 50, 75 and plates were incubated for 24h. The next day, the medium containing the virus was discarded, cells were washed with fresh medium, resuspended in 1mL of fresh complete culture media and incubated for 24h.

Then, cells were plated in two cell culture plates at 130 cells per plate in 150 ul of media per well (to have 1-2 cells/well) of mw96 plates, and media was changed twice a week. Wells with good cell growth were marked, and cultured and amplified. Then, once clones with good growth were selected, cells were in a dilution 1:1 with media and BLI positive clones were selected, expanded and collected in frozen vials. Cellular morphology was assessed by FACs as well as growth kinetics, to have a similar profile than with the parental cell line.

6.1.2. C1498 leukemia syngeneic model

1 million of C1498-Fluc-eFGP cells were resuspended in 100 μ L of PBS and injected in the tail vein of C57/Bl6 males. For the experiments with randomization, treatment was started at day 10 after cell injection, and randomization based on bioluminescent signal was performed at day 9 after cell injection. For early onset treatment experiments, compounds were administered on day 3 after cell injection.

Treatment administration: AraC (#PHR1787-500MG, Sigma Aldrich) was administered IP qd for 5 days at 100mg/kg (or 25 mg/kg, 50 mg/kg, as specified for each experiment) dissolved in PBS. EVT-701 was administered PO at 30 mg/kg q.d, dissolved in 30%PEG200, 5% Solutol HS15 and 65% H₂O. IACS-010759 was administered PO at 7.5 mg/kg q.d, dissolved in methylcellulose 0.5%. For α-PD-1 therapy, InVivoPlus anti-mouse PD-1/CD279(#BX-BP0146-50MG, EUROMEDEX) or InVivoPlus rat IgG2a isotype control (#BX-BP0089-50MG, EUROMEDEX) were diluted in PBS at a concentration of 10 mg/kg and injected IP at a dose of 10 mL/kg every 3-4 days, administering a final dose of 1 mg/mL. **Tumor assessment:** Tumor load was assessed *in vivo* by bioluminescence (BLI) or by FACs by monitoring eGFP⁺ cells at end-point. For BLI, mice images were taken twice a week, after IP injection of XenoLight D-Luciferin Potassium Salt (#122799, Perkin Elmer), using the IVIS Spectrum In Vivo

Imaging System (#124262, Perkin Elmer). Quantification of the bioluminescence signal was performed with Living Image software version 4.5.5 (Perkin Elmer). Blood cell counts were performed with VETSCAN® HM5 Hematology Analyzer or Procyte ProCyte Dx (from IDEXX laboratories). **FACS** *ex vivo*: When FACs was performed, organs were harvested and dissociated to single cell solution. Viability staining (#L34955, ThermoFisher) was used to gate on living cells. Blocking was performed by preparation of the staining buffer with PBS, 2% FBS, 2mM EDTA and CD16/CD32 (Fcγ III/II Receptor)-Purified Rat Anti-Mouse (#553141, Becton Dickinson France) at dilution 1/200. For FOXP3 intranuclear staining, nuclear transcription buffer set (#BLE424401, Ozyme) was used. Antibodies and their dilution used are gathered in **table 6**.

| Antibody | Conjugated | Supplier | Catalog | Dilution |
|--------------------------------------|--------------|----------|------------|----------|
| | fluorochrome | | number | |
| α-CD45.2 | APC-Cy7 | Ozyme | BLE109824 | 1:25 |
| Mouse IgG2a, κ Isotype Ctrl Antibody | APC-Cy7 | Ozyme | BLE 400229 | 1:25 |
| α-CD3 | PE | Ozyme | BLE100308 | 1:100 |
| Armenian Hamster IgG isotype control | PE | Ozyme | BLE400908 | 100 |
| α-CD4 | APC | Ozyme | BLE100412 | 1:100 |
| at IgG2b, kappa Isotype control | APC | Ozyme | BLE400612 | 1:100 |
| α-CD8 | PE-Cy7 | Ozyme | BLE100722 | 1:100 |
| Rat IgG2a, kappa Isotype Control | PE-Cy7 | Ozyme | BLE400522 | 100 |
| α-CD25 | PerCpCy5 | Ozyme | BLE101912 | 1:100 |
| α-FoxP3 | AF700 | Ozyme | BLE126422 | 1:25 |
| Rat IgG2b, kappa Isotype control. | AF 700 | Ozyme | BLE400628 | 1:25 |
| α-CD11b | PerCpCy5 | Ozyme | BLE101228 | 1:200 |
| Rat IgG2b, kappa Isotype control. | PerCP Cy5.5 | Ozyme | BLE400632 | 1:200 |
| Ly6G | BV605 | Ozyme | BLE127639 | 1:200 |
| Rat IgG2a, kappa Isotype Ctrl | BV605 | Ozyme | BLE400540 | 1:200 |
| Ly6C | AF700 | Ozyme | BLE128024 | 1:200 |
| Rat IgG2c, kappa Isotype Ctrl | AF 700 | Ozyme | BLE400729 | 1:200 |

Table 6. Antibodies used in the study.

6.1.3. ELISpot

Spleens were harvested in RPMI-1640 complete media (#21875-034, Gibco) supplemented with 10% FBS (#Sigma, F7524), 2mM Glutamax (#35050-038,Gibco,), 1mM Sodium pyruvate (#11360-039, Gibco); non essential aminoacids 1X (#11140-035, Gibco), containing 100µM Gly, Ala, Asn, Asp, Glu, Pro, Ser;

100μM β-Mercaptoethanol (Gibco 31350010) and Penicillin/Streptomycin at 100 IU/ml penicillin and 100 µg/ml streptomycin (#11074440001, Sigma). Spleens were dissociated with Gentle Macs technology (Gentle Macs C tubes #130-093-237 and Gentle Macs disociator #130-093-235). After 2 washes in comete media, lymphocytes where isolated using Lympholyte®-Mouse (#CL5031, Cederlane). Splenocytes and C1498 cells were counted and concentrations were adjusted to 10M cells/mL. In the mean time, plates mAB AN18 pre-coated (from the kit Mouse IFN-y ELISpotPLUS (ALP), #3321-3PW, Batch: 1117, Mabtech) were washed with PBS and incubated for 1h with complete medium. Then, media was removed and splenocytes where added at a concentration of 0.9x10⁶ cells/well (except for the positive control a-CD3 stimulated, where to avoid saturation, only 0.2x10⁶ cells were added per well), C1498 cells where added at 0.1x10⁶ cells/well and for the positive control, Purified Hamster anti-mouse CD3e (clone 145-2C11)(# 553058, BD Biosciences) was added at a concentration of 0.5µg/ml. Then, plates were incubated in humidified incubator at 37°C with 5% CO2 for 20 hours. After the incubation period, plates were washed 5 times with PBS and incubated with $1\mu g/ml R4-6A2$ -biotin (kit Mouse IFN- γ ELISpotPLUS (ALP), #3321-3PW, Batch: 1117, Mabtech) as detection antibody in PBS-0.5% FBS for 2h. Subsequently, plates were washed again with PBS and Streptavidine-ALP (kit Mouse IFN-y ELISpotPLUS (ALP), #3321-3PW, Batch: 1117, Mabtech) was added in a 1/1000 dilution in PBS - 0.5% FBS. Finally, filtered BCIP/NBT-plus substrate solution (kit Mouse IFN-γ ELISpotPLUS (ALP), #3321-3PW, Batch: 1117, Mabtech) was added to the wells until spot development, when the reaction was stoped by washing plates extensively in tap water. After letting the plate dry, they were analized with the device Bioreader 6000 Pro-F β by Biosys and the software Eazyreader \mathbb{R} generation 18.9, by Bio-Sys GmbH.

7. References

- Achanta, G., Sasaki, R., Feng, L., Carew, J. S., Lu, W., Pelicano, H., ... Huang, P. (2005). Novel role of p53 in maintaining mitochondrial genetic stability through interaction with DNA Pol γ. *The EMBO Journal*, 24(19), 3482–3492.
- Acín-Pérez, R., Fernández-Silva, P., Peleato, M. L., Pérez-Martos, A., and Enriquez, J. A. (2008). Respiratory Active Mitochondrial Supercomplexes. *Molecular Cell*, 32(4), 529–539.
- Adams, J. M., Harris, A. W., Pinkert, C. A., Corcoran, L. M., Alexander, W. S., Cory, S., ... Brinster, R. L. (1985). The c-myc oncogene driven by immunoglobulin enhancers induces lymphoid malignancy in transgenic mice. *Nature*, 318(6046), 533– 538.
- Adams, W. C., Chen, Y.-H., Kratchmarov, R., Yen, B., Nish, S. A., Lin, W.-H. W., ... Reiner, S. L. (2016). Anabolism-Associated Mitochondrial Stasis Driving Lymphocyte Differentiation over Self-Renewal. *Cell Reports*, 17(12), 3142–3152.

Agani, F., and Jiang, B.-H. (2013). Oxygen-independent Regulation of HIF-1: Novel Involvement of PI3K/ AKT/mTOR Pathway in Cancer. Current Cancer Drug Targets, 13(3), 245–251. https://doi.org/10.2174/1568009611313030003

- Akella, N.M., Ciraku, L. and Reginato, M.J. (2019). Fueling the fire: emerging role of the hexosamine biosynthetic pathway in cancer. *BMC Biology*, 17(1).
- Al-Khallaf, H. (2017). Isocitrate dehydrogenases in physiology and cancer: biochemical and molecular insight. *Cell and Bioscience*, 7.
- Al-Khami, A. A., Zheng, L., Del Valle, L., Hossain, F., Wyczechowska, D., Zabaleta, J., ... Ochoa, A. C. (2017). Exogenous lipid uptake induces metabolic and functional reprogramming of tumor-associated myeloid-derived suppressor cells. *OncoImmunology*, 6(10), e1344804
- Alavian, K. N., Li, H., Collis, L., Bonanni, L., Zeng, L., Sacchetti, S., ... Jonas, E. A. (2011). Bcl-xL regulates metabolic efficiency of neurons through interaction with the mitochondrial F1FO ATP synthase. *Nature Cell Biology*, 13(10), 1224– 1233.
- Algire, C., Moiseeva, O., Deschênes-Simard, X., Amrein, L., Petruccelli, L., Birman, E., ... Pollak, M. N. (2012). Metformin reduces endogenous reactive oxygen species and associated DNA damage. *Cancer Prevention Research*, 5(4), 536–543.

- Allen, E., Miéville, P., Warren, Carmen M., Saghafinia, S., Li, L., Peng, M.-W., and Hanahan, D. (2016). Metabolic Symbiosis Enables Adaptive Resistance to Anti-angiogenic Therapy that Is Dependent on mTOR Signaling. *Cell Reports*, 15(6), 1144– 1160.
- Althoff, T., Mills, D. J., Popot, J.-L., and Kühlbrandt, W. (2011). Arrangement of electron transport chain components in bovine mitochondrial supercomplex I1III2IV1. *The EMBO Journal*, 30(22), 4652–4664.
- Altman, B. J., Stine, Z. E., and Dang, C. V. (2016). From Krebs to clinic: glutamine metabolism to cancer therapy. Nature Reviews Cancer, 16(10), 619–634.
- Altomare, D. A., and Testa, J. R. (2005). Perturbations of the AKT signaling pathway in human cancer. *Oncogene*, 24(50), 7455–7464.
- An, W. G., Kanekal, M., Simon, M. C., Maltepe, E., Blagosklonny, M. V., and Neckers, L. M. (1998). Stabilization of wild-type p53 by hypoxia-inducible factor 1α. *Nature*, 392(6674), 405–408.
- Andersen, Joshua L., Thompson, J. Will, Lindblom, Kelly R., Johnson, Erika S., Yang, C.-S., Lilley,... Kornbluth, S. (2011). A Biotin Switch-Based Proteomics Approach Identifies 14-3-3ζ as a Target of Sirt1 in the Metabolic Regulation of Caspase-2. *Molecular Cell*, 43(5), 834–842.
- Andersen, J L., and Kornbluth, S. (2013). The Tangled Circuitry of Metabolism and Apoptosis. Molecular Cell, 49(3), 399-410.

Andersson, U., Filipsson, K., Abbott, C. R., Woods, A., Smith, K., Bloom, S. R., ... Small, C. J. (2004). AMP-activated Protein Kinase Plays a Role in the Control of Food Intake. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 279(13), 12005–12008.

- Andrzejewski, S., Gravel, S.-P., Pollak, M. and St-Pierre, J. (2014). Metformin directly acts on mitochondria to alter cellular bioenergetics. *Cancer and Metabolism*, 2(1), p.12.
- Angela, M., Endo, Y., Asou, H. K., Yamamoto, T., Tumes, D. J., Tokuyama, H., ... Nakayama, T. (2016). Fatty acid metabolic reprogramming via mTOR-mediated inductions of PPARy directs early activation of T cells. *Nature Communications*, 7(1)
- Angelin, A., Gil-de-Gómez, L., Dahiya, S., Jiao, J., Guo, L., Levine, M. H., ... Beier, U. H. (2017). Foxp3 Reprograms T Cell Metabolism to Function in Low-Glucose, High-Lactate Environments. *Cell Metabolism*, 25(6), 1282-1293.e7.
- Angulo, B., Suarez-Gauthier, A., Lopez-Rios, F., Medina, P., Conde, E., Tang, M., ... Sanchez-Cespedes, M. (2007). Expression signatures in lung cancer reveal a profile for EGFR-mutant tumours and identify selective PIK3CA overexpression by gene amplification. *The Journal of Pathology*, 214(3), 347–356.
- Armitage, J.O., Gascoyne, R.D., Lunning, M.A. and Cavalli, F. (2017). Non-Hodgkin lymphoma. *The Lancet, 390*(10091), pp.298–310.
- Aroua, N., Boet, E., Ghisi, M., Nicolau-Travers, M.-L., Saland, E., Gwilliam, R., ... Sarry, J.-E. (2020). Extracellular ATP and CD39 activate cAMP-mediated mitochondrial stress response to promote cytarabine resistance in acute myeloid leukemia. *Cancer Discovery*, CD-19-1008.
- Ashton, T.M., McKenna, W.G., Kunz-Schughart, L.A. and Higgins, G.S. (2018). Oxidative Phosphorylation as an Emerging Target in Cancer Therapy. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 24(11), pp.2482–2490.
- Assaily, W., Rubinger, Daniel A., Wheaton, K., Lin, Y., Ma, W., Xuan, W., ... Benchimol, S. (2011). ROS-Mediated p53 Induction of Lpin1 Regulates Fatty Acid Oxidation in Response to Nutritional Stress. *Molecular Cell*, 44(3), 491–501.
- Aubrey, B. J., Kelly, G. L., Janic, A., Herold, M. J., and Strasser, A. (2017). How does p53 induce apoptosis and how does this relate to p53-mediated tumour suppression? *Cell Death and Differentiation*, *25*(1), 104–113.
- Audrito, V., Managò, A., Gaudino, F., Sorci, L., Messana, V. G., Raffaelli, N., and Deaglio, S. (2019). NAD-Biosynthetic and Consuming Enzymes as Central Players of Metabolic Regulation of Innate and Adaptive Immune Responses in Cancer. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 10(1720).
- Baccelli, I., Gareau, Y., Lehnertz, B., Gingras, S., Spinella, J.-F., Corneau, S., ... Sauvageau, G. (2019). Mubritinib Targets the Electron Transport Chain Complex I and Reveals the Landscape of OXPHOS Dependency in Acute Myeloid Leukemia. *Cancer Cell*, 36(1), 84-99.e8.
- Bader, J. E., Voss, K., and Rathmell, J. C. (2020). Targeting Metabolism to Improve the Tumor Microenvironment for Cancer Immunotherapy. *Molecular Cell*, 78(6), 1019–1033.
- Bai, P., Cantó, C., Oudart, H., Brunyánszki, A., Cen, Y., Thomas, C., ... Auwerx, J. (2011). PARP-1 Inhibition Increases Mitochondrial Metabolism through SIRT1 Activation. *Cell Metabolism*, 13(4), 461–468.
- Bajzikova, M., Kovarova, J., Coelho, A. R., Boukalova, S., Oh, S., Rohlenova, K., ... Neuzil, J. (2019). Reactivation of Dihydroorotate Dehydrogenase-Driven Pyrimidine Biosynthesis Restores Tumor Growth of Respiration-Deficient Cancer Cells. *Cell Metabolism*, 29(2), 399-416.e10.
- Bakhanashvili, M., Grinberg, S., Bonda, E., Simon, A. J., Moshitch-Moshkovitz, S., and Rahav, G. (2008). p53 in mitochondria enhances the accuracy of DNA synthesis. *Cell Death and Differentiation*, *15*(12), 1865–1874.
- Bao, X. R., Ong, S.-E., Goldberger, O., Peng, J., Sharma, R., Thompson, D. A., ... Mootha, V. K. (2016). Mitochondrial dysfunction remodels one-carbon metabolism in human cells. *ELife*, 5, e10575.
- Barber, D. L., Wherry, E. J., Masopust, D., Zhu, B., Allison, J. P., Sharpe, A. H., ... Ahmed, R. (2005). Restoring function in exhausted CD8 T cells during chronic viral infection. *Nature*, 439(7077), 682–687.
- Barsoum, I.B., Smallwood, C.A., Siemens, D.R. and Graham, C.H. (2013). A Mechanism of Hypoxia-Mediated Escape from Adaptive Immunity in Cancer Cells. *Cancer Research*, *74*(3), pp.665–674.
- Batlle, E. and Clevers, H. (2017). Cancer stem cells revisited. Nature medicine, 23(10), pp.1124–1134.
- Bauer, D.E., Hatzivassiliou, G., Zhao, F., Andreadis, C. and Thompson, C.B. (2005). ATP citrate lyase is an important component of cell growth and transformation. *Oncogene*, 24(41), pp.6314–6322.
- Baumann, T., Dunkel, A., Schmid, C., Schmitt, S., Hiltensperger, M., Lohr, K., ... Eyerich, K. (2020). Regulatory myeloid cells paralyze T cells through cell-cell transfer of the metabolite methylglyoxal. *Nature Immunology*, 21(5), 555–566.
- Baysal, B.E., Ferrell, R.E., Willett-Brozick, J.E., Lawrence, E.C., Myssiorek, D., ...Devlin, B. (2000). Mutations in SDHD, a Mitochondrial Complex II Gene, in Hereditary Paraganglioma. *Science*, 287(5454), pp.848–851.

- Bazán, S., Mileykovskaya, E., Mallampalli, V. K. P. S., Heacock, P., Sparagna, G. C., and Dowhan, W. (2013). Cardiolipindependent Reconstitution of Respiratory Supercomplexes from Purified Saccharomyces cerevisiae Complexes III and IV. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 288(1), 401–411.
- Beavis, P. A., Divisekera, U., Paget, C., Chow, M. T., John, L. B., Devaud, C., ... Darcy, P. K. (2013). Blockade of A2Areceptors potently suppresses the metastasis of CD73+tumors. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 110(36), 14711– 14716.
- Beckers, A., Organe, S., Timmermans, L., Scheys, K., Peeters, A., Brusselmans, K., Verhoeven, G. and Swinnen, J.V. (2007). Chemical Inhibition of Acetyl-CoA Carboxylase Induces Growth Arrest and Cytotoxicity Selectively in Cancer Cells. *Cancer Research*, 67(17), pp.8180–8187.
- Befani, C. D., Vlachostergios, P. J., Hatzidaki, E., Patrikidou, A., Bonanou, S., Simos, G., ... Liakos, P. (2011). Bortezomib represses HIF-1α protein expression and nuclear accumulation by inhibiting both PI3K/Akt/TOR and MAPK pathways in prostate cancer cells. *Journal of Molecular Medicine*, *90*(1), 45–54.
- Beier, U. H., Angelin, A., Akimova, T., Wang, L., Liu, Y., Xiao, H., ... Hancock, W. W. (2015). Essential role of mitochondrial energy metabolism in Foxp3 + T-regulatory cell function and allograft survival. *The FASEB Journal*, 29(6), 2315–2326.
- Bellot, G., Garcia-Medina, R., Gounon, P., Chiche, J., RouxD., PouysségurJ., and Mazure, N. M. (2009). Hypoxia-Induced Autophagy Is Mediated through Hypoxia-Inducible Factor Induction of BNIP3 and BNIP3L via Their BH3 Domains. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 29(10), 2570–2581.
- Ben Sahra, I., Regazzetti, C., Robert, G., Laurent, K., Le Marchand-Brustel, Y., ... Bost, F. (2011). Metformin, Independent of AMPK, Induces mTOR Inhibition and Cell-Cycle Arrest through REDD1. *Cancer Research*, *71*(13), 4366–4372.
- Ben-Sahra, I., Howell, J. J., Asara, J. M., and Manning, B. D. (2013). Stimulation of de Novo Pyrimidine Synthesis by Growth Signaling Through mTOR and S6K1. *Science*, *339*(6125), 1323–1328.
- Ben-Sahra, I., Hoxhaj, G., Ricoult, S. J. H., Asara, J. M., and Manning, B. D. (2016). mTORC1 induces purine synthesis through control of the mitochondrial tetrahydrofolate cycle. *Science*, *351*(6274), 728–733.
- Benito, A., Polat, I. H., Noé, V., Ciudad, C. J., Marin, S., and Cascante, M. (2017). Glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase and transketolase modulate breast cancer cell metabolic reprogramming and correlate with poor patient outcome. *Oncotarget*, *8*(63).
- Bensaad, K., Tsuruta, A., Selak, M. A., Vidal, M. N. C., Nakano, K., Bartrons, R., ... Vousden, K. H. (2006). TIGAR, a p53inducible regulator of glycolysis and apoptosis. *Cell*, 126(1), 107–120.
- Berghoff, A. S., Kiesel, B., Widhalm, G., Wilhelm, D., Rajky, O., Kurscheid, S., ... Preusser, M. (2017). Correlation of immune phenotype with IDH mutation in diffuse glioma. *Neuro-Oncology*, 19(11), 1460–1468.
- Berwick, D. C., Hers, I., Heesom, K. J., Moule, S. K., and Tavareá, J. M. (2002). The Identification of ATP-citrate Lyase as a Protein Kinase B (Akt) Substrate in Primary Adipocytes. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277(37), 33895–33900.
- Beurel, E., Grieco, S. F., and Jope, R. S. (2015). Glycogen synthase kinase-3 (GSK3): Regulation, actions, and diseases. *Pharmacology and Therapeutics*, 148, 114–131.
- Bezzi, M., Seitzer, N., Ishikawa, T., Reschke, M., Chen, M., Wang, G., ... Pandolfi, P. P. (2018). Diverse genetic-driven immune landscapes dictate tumor progression through distinct mechanisms. *Nature Medicine*, *24*(2), 165–175.
- Bhanot, H., Weisberg, E. L., Reddy, M. M., Nonami, A., Neuberg, D., Stone, R. M., ... Sattler, M. (2017). Acute myeloid leukemia cells require 6-phosphogluconate dehydrogenase for cell growth and NADPH-dependent metabolic reprogramming. *Oncotarget*, 8(40).

Billington, R.A., Travelli, C., Ercolano, E., Galli, U., Roman, C.B., Grolla, A.A., Canonico, P.L., Condorelli, F. Genazzani, A.A. (2008). Characterization of NAD Uptake in Mammalian Cells. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 283(10), pp.6367–6374

- Biondani, G., and Peyron, J.-F. (2018). Metformin, an Anti-diabetic Drug to Target Leukemia. *Frontiers in Endocrinology*, 9(446).
- Birsoy, K., Possemato, R., Lorbeer, F.K., Bayraktar, E.C., Thiru, P., Yucel, B., Wang, T., Chen, W.W., Clish, C.B. and Sabatini, D.M. (2014). Metabolic determinants of cancer cell sensitivity to glucose limitation and biguanides. *Nature*, 508(7494), pp.108–112.
- Birsoy, K., Wang, T., Chen, W. W., Freinkman, E., Abu-Remaileh, M., and Sabatini, D. M. (2015). An Essential Role of the Mitochondrial Electron Transport Chain in Cell Proliferation Is to Enable Aspartate Synthesis. *Cell*, *162*(3), 540–551.
- Bitterman, K.J., Anderson, R.M., Cohen, H.Y., Latorre-Esteves, M. and Sinclair, D.A. (2002). Inhibition of Silencing and Accelerated Aging by Nicotinamide, a Putative Negative Regulator of Yeast Sir2 and Human SIRT1. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277(47), pp.45099–45107
- Biwi, J., Biot, C., Guerardel, Y., Vercoutter-Edouart, A.-S. and Lefebvre, T. (2018). The Many Ways by Which O-GlcNAcylation May Orchestrate the Diversity of Complex Glycosylations. *Molecules*, 23(11), p.2858.
- Blagih, J., Coulombe, F., Vincent, Emma E., Dupuy, F., Galicia-Vázquez, G., Yurchenko, E., ... Jones, Russell G. (2015). The
- Energy Sensor AMPK Regulates T Cell Metabolic Adaptation and Effector Responses In Vivo. *Immunity, 42*(1), 41–54. Blagih, J., Zani, F., Chakravarty, P., Hennequart, M., Pilley, S., Hobor, S., ... Vousden, K. H. (2020). Cancer-Specific Loss of
- p53 Leads to a Modulation of Myeloid and T Cell Responses. *Cell Reports, 30*(2), 481-496.e6. Blank, C., Brown, I., Peterson, A. C., Spiotto, M., Iwai, Y., Honjo, T., and Gajewski, T. F. (2004). PD-L1/B7H-1 Inhibits the Effector Phase of Tumor Rejection by T Cell Receptor (TCR) Transgenic CD8+T Cells. *Cancer Research, 64*(3), 1140–1145.
- Boatright, K. M., Renatus, M., Scott, F. L., Sperandio, S., Shin, H., Pedersen, I. M., ... Salvesen, G. S. (2003). A Unified Model for Apical Caspase Activation. *Molecular Cell*, 11(2), 529–541.
- Bosc, C., Selak, M. A., and Sarry, J.-E. (2017). Resistance Is Futile: Targeting Mitochondrial Energetics and Metabolism to Overcome Drug Resistance in Cancer Treatment. *Cell Metabolism*, 26(5), 705–707.
- Böhme, J., Martinez, N., Li, S., Lee, A., Marzuki, M., Tizazu, A. M., ... Kornfeld, H. (2020). Metformin enhances antimycobacterial responses by educating CD8+ T-cell immunometabolic circuits. *Nature Communications*, 11(1).

- Boidot, R., Végran, F., Meulle, A., Le Breton, A., Dessy, C., Sonveaux, P., ... Feron, O. (2011). Regulation of Monocarboxylate Transporter MCT1 Expression by p53 Mediates Inward and Outward Lactate Fluxes in Tumors. *Cancer Research*, 72(4), 939–948.
- Bott, A. J., Peng, I-C., Fan, Y., Faubert, B., Zhao, L., Li, J., ... Zong, W.-X. (2015). Oncogenic Myc Induces Expression of Glutamine Synthetase through Promoter Demethylation. Cell Metabolism, 22(6), 1068–1077.

Brady, C. A., and Attardi, L. D. (2010). p53 at a glance. Journal of Cell Science, 123(15), 2527-2532.

- Brady, Colleen A., Jiang, D., Mello, Stephano S., Johnson, Thomas M., Jarvis, Lesley A., Kozak, Margaret M., ... Attardi, Laura D. (2011). Distinct p53 Transcriptional Programs Dictate Acute DNA-Damage Responses and Tumor Suppression. *Cell*, 145(4), 571–583.
- Brand, A., Singer, K., Koehl, Gudrun E., Kolitzus, M., Schoenhammer, G., Thiel, A., ... Schmid, M. (2016). LDHA-Associated Lactic Acid Production Blunts Tumor Immunosurveillance by T and NK Cells. *Cell Metabolism*, 24(5), 657–671.
- Brizel, D. M., Scully, S. P., Harrelson, J. M., Layfield, L. J., Bean, J. M., Prosnitz, L. R., and Dewhirst, M. W. (1996). Tumor oxygenation predicts for the likelihood of distant metastases in human soft tissue sarcoma. *Cancer Research*, 56(5), 941–943.
- Brookes, P. S., Yoon, Y., Robotham, J. L., Anders, M. W., and Sheu, S.-S. (2004). Calcium, ATP, and ROS: a mitochondrial love-hate triangle. *American Journal of Physiology-Cell Physiology*, 287(4), C817–C833.
- Brown, K. K., Spinelli, J. B., Asara, J. M., and Toker, A. (2017). Adaptive Reprogramming of De Novo Pyrimidine Synthesis Is a Metabolic Vulnerability in Triple-Negative Breast Cancer. *Cancer Discovery*, 7(4), 391–399.
- Brugarolas, J., Lei, K., Hurley, R. L., Manning, B. D., Reiling, J. H., Hafen, E., ... Kaelin, W. G. (2004). Regulation of mTOR function in response to hypoxia by REDD1 and the TSC1/TSC2 tumor suppressor complex. *Genes and Development*, 18(23), 2893–2904.
- Brunet, A., Bonni, A., Zigmond, M. J., ZLin, M., Juo, P., Hu, L. S., ... Greenberg, M. (1999). Akt Promotes Cell Survival by Phosphorylating and Inhibiting a Forkhead Transcription Factor. *Cell*, *96*(6), 857–868
- Brusselmans, K., De Schrijver, E., Verhoeven, G. and Swinnen, J.V. (2005). RNA Interference–Mediated Silencing of theAcetyl-CoA-Carboxylase-αGene Induces Growth Inhibition and Apoptosis of Prostate Cancer Cells. *Cancer Research*, 65(15), pp.6719–6725.
- Bruzzone, S., Guida, L., Zocchi, E., Franco, L. and Flora, A.D. (2000). Connexin 43 hemichannels mediate Ca²⁺-regulated transmembrane NAD+ fluxes in intact cells. *The FASEB Journal*, *15*(1), pp.10–12.
- Buck, M. D., O'Sullivan, D., and Pearce, E. L. (2015). T cell metabolism drives immunity. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*, *212*(9), 1345–1360.
- Budanov, A. V., and Karin, M. (2008). p53 Target Genes Sestrin1 and Sestrin2 Connect Genotoxic Stress and mTOR Signaling. *Cell*, 134(3), 451–460.
- Bultot, L., Guigas, B., Von Wilamowitz-Moellendorff, A., Maisin, L., Vertommen, D., Hussain, N., ... Rider, Mark H. (2012). AMP-activated protein kinase phosphorylates and inactivates liver glycogen synthase. *Biochemical Journal*, 443(1), 193–203.
- Burke, L., Guterman, I., Palacios Gallego, R., Britton, R. G., Burschowsky, D., Tufarelli, C., and Rufini, A. (2020). The Januslike role of proline metabolism in cancer. *Cell Death Discovery*, *6*(1).
- Burnett, P. E., Barrow, R. K., Cohen, N. A., Snyder, S. H., and Sabatini, D. M. (1998). RAFT1 phosphorylation of the translational regulators p70 S6 kinase and 4E-BP1. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 95(4), 1432–1437.
- Caenepeel, S., Brown, S. P., Belmontes, B., Moody, G., Keegan, K. S., Chui, D., ... Zhu, L. (2018). AMG 176, a Selective MCL1 Inhibitor, is Effective in Hematological Cancer Models Alone and in Combination with Established Therapies. *Cancer Discovery*, CD–4180387.
- Camacho-Pereira, J., Tarragó, M. G., Chini, C. C. S., Nin, V., Escande, C., Warner, G. M., ... Chini, E. N. (2016). CD38 Dictates Age-Related NAD Decline and Mitochondrial Dysfunction through an SIRT3-Dependent Mechanism. *Cell Metabolism*, 23(6), 1127–1139.
- Cantó, C., Gerhart-Hines, Z., Feige, J. N., Lagouge, M., Noriega, L., Milne, J. C., ... Auwerx, J. (2009). AMPK regulates energy expenditure by modulating NAD+ metabolism and SIRT1 activity. *Nature*, *458*(7241), 1056–1060.
- Cantó, C., Jiang, L. Q., Deshmukh, A. S., Mataki, C., Coste, A., Lagouge, M., ... Auwerx, J. (2010). Interdependence of AMPK and SIRT1 for Metabolic Adaptation to Fasting and Exercise in Skeletal Muscle. *Cell Metabolism, 11*(3), 213–219.
- Cantó, C., and Auwerx, J. (2011). Calorie Restriction: Is AMPK a Key Sensor and Effector? Physiology, 26(4), 214-224.
- Cantó, C., Sauve, A. A., & Bai, P. (2013). Crosstalk between poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase and sirtuin enzymes. *Molecular Aspects of Medicine*, 34(6), 1168–1201.
- Carling, D., Zammit, V. A., and Hardie, D. Grahame. (1987). A common bicyclic protein kinase cascade inactivates the regulatory enzymes of fatty acid and cholesterol biosynthesis. *FEBS Letters*, 223(2), 217–222. =

Carling, D., Mayer, F. V., Sanders, M. J., and Gamblin, S. J. (2011). AMP-activated protein kinase: nature's energy sensor. *Nature Chemical Biology*, 7(8), 512–518.

- Caro, P., Kishan, A.U., Norberg, E., Stanley, I., Chapuy, B., Ficarro, S.B., Polak, K., ...and Danial, N.N. (2012). Metabolic Signatures Uncover Distinct Targets in Molecular Subsets of Diffuse Large B-Cell Lymphoma. *Cancer cell*, 22(4), pp.547– 560.
- Carr, E. L., Kelman, A., Wu, G. S., Gopaul, R., Senkevitch, E., Aghvanyan, A., ... Frauwirth, K. A. (2010). Glutamine Uptake and Metabolism Are Coordinately Regulated by ERK/MAPK during T Lymphocyte Activation. *The Journal of Immunology*, 185(2), 1037–1044.
- Carr, J. F., Garcia, D., Scaffa, A., Peterson, A. L., Ghio, A. J., & Dennery, P. A. (2020). Heme Oxygenase-1 Supports Mitochondrial Energy Production and Electron Transport Chain Activity in Cultured Lung Epithelial Cells. International *Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 21(18), 6941.
- Carracedo, A., Cantley, L. C., and Pandolfi, P. P. (2013). Cancer metabolism: fatty acid oxidation in the limelight. *Nature Reviews Cancer*, 13(4), 227–232.
- Carroll, P. A., Diolaiti, D., McFerrin, L., Gu, H., Djukovic, D., Du, J., ... Eisenman, R. N. (2015). Deregulated Myc Requires MondoA/Mlx for Metabolic Reprogramming and Tumorigenesis. *Cancer Cell*, 27(2), 271–285.

- Carty, M., Goodbody, R., Schröder, M., Stack, J., Moynagh, P. N., & Bowie, A. G. (2006). The human adaptor SARM negatively regulates adaptor protein TRIF-dependent Toll-like receptor signaling. *Nature Immunology*, 7(10), 1074–1081.
- Castro, F., Cardoso, A. P., Gonçalves, R. M., Serre, K., and Oliveira, M. J. (2018). Interferon-Gamma at the Crossroads of Tumor Immune Surveillance or Evasion. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 9.
- Castro-Vega, L.J., Buffet, A., De Cubas, A.A., Cascón, A., Menara, M., Khalifa, E., Amar, L., Azriel, S., Bourdeau, I., Chabre, O., Currás-Freixes, M., Franco-Vidal, V., Guillaud-Bataille, M., Simian, C., Morin, A., Letón, R., Gómez-Graña, Á., Pollard, P.J., Rustin, P. and Robledo, M. (2013). Germline mutations in FH confer predisposition to malignant pheochromocytomas and paragangliomas. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 23(9), pp.2440–2446.
- Cekic, C., Day, Y.-J., Sag, D., and Linden, J. (2014). Myeloid Expression of Adenosine A2A Receptor Suppresses T and NK Cell Responses in the Solid Tumor Microenvironment. *Cancer Research*, *74*(24), 7250–7259.
- Cervera, A.M., Bayley, J.-P., Devilee, P. and McCreath, K.J. (2009). Inhibition of succinate dehydrogenase dysregulates histone modification in mammalian cells. *Molecular Cancer*, 8(1), p.89.
- Cha, J.-H., Yang, W.-H., Xia, W., Wei, Y., Chan, L.-C., Lim, S.-O., ... Hung, M.-C. (2018). Metformin Promotes Antitumor Immunity via Endoplasmic-Reticulum-Associated Degradation of PD-L1. *Molecular Cell*, 71(4), 606-620.e7.
- Chajès, V., Cambot, M., Moreau, K., Lenoir, G.M. and Joulin, V. (2006). Acetyl-CoA Carboxylase α Is Essential to Breast Cancer Cell Survival. *Cancer Research*, 66(10), pp.5287–5294.
- Chandel, N. S., McClintock, D. S., Feliciano, C. E., Wood, T. M., Melendez, J. A., Rodriguez, A. M., and Schumacker, P. T. (2000). Reactive Oxygen Species Generated at Mitochondrial Complex III Stabilize Hypoxia-inducible Factor-1α during Hypoxia. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 275(33), 25130–25138. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.m001914200
- Chandel, N. S., Vander Heiden, M. G., Thompson, C. B., and Schumacker, P. T. (2000). Redox regulation of p53 during hypoxia. Oncogene, 19(34), 3840-3848.
- Chandler, K.B. and Costello, C.E. (2016). Glycomics and glycoproteomics of membrane proteins and cell-surface receptors: Present trends and future opportunities. *Electrophoresis*, *37*(11), pp.1407–1419.
- Chang, C.-H., Curtis, Jonathan D., Maggi, Leonard B., Faubert, B., Villarino, Alejandro V., O'Sullivan, D., ... Pearce, Erika L. (2013). Posttranscriptional Control of T Cell Effector Function by Aerobic Glycolysis. *Cell*, 153(6), 1239–1251.
- Chang, C.-H., Qiu, J., O'Sullivan, D., Buck, M. D., Noguchi, T., Curtis, J. D., ... Pearce, E. L. (2015). Metabolic Competition in the Tumor Microenvironment Is a Driver of Cancer Progression. *Cell*, 162(6), 1229–1241.
- Chang, C.-H., and Pearce, E. L. (2016). Emerging concepts of T cell metabolism as a target of immunotherapy. *Nature Immunology*, *17*(4), 364–368.
- Chang, Y.-C., Chiou, J., Yang, Y.-F., Su, C.-Y., Lin, Y.-F., Yang, C.-N., ... Hsiao, M. (2019). Therapeutic Targeting of Aldolase A Interactions Inhibits Lung Cancer Metastasis and Prolongs Survival. *Cancer Research*, 79(18)
- Chantranupong, L., Scaria, S. M., Saxton, R. A., Gygi, M. P., Shen, K., Wyant, G. A., ... Sabatini, D. M. (2016). The CASTOR Proteins Are Arginine Sensors for the mTORC1 Pathway. *Cell*, *165*(1), 153–164.
- Chapuis, N., Poulain, L., Birsen, R., Tamburini, J., and Bouscary, D. (2019). Rationale for Targeting Deregulated Metabolic Pathways as a Therapeutic Strategy in Acute Myeloid Leukemia. *Frontiers in Oncology*, *9*.
- Chen, L., Liu, T., Zhou, J., Wang, Y., Wang, X., Di, W., and Zhang, S. (2014). Citrate Synthase Expression Affects Tumor Phenotype and Drug Resistance in Human Ovarian Carcinoma. *PLoS ONE*, *9*(12), e115708.
- Chen, R. R., Yung, M. M. H., Xuan, Y., Zhan, S., Leung, L. L., Liang, R. R., ... Chan, D. W. (2019). Targeting of lipid metabolism with a metabolic inhibitor cocktail eradicates peritoneal metastases in ovarian cancer cells. *Communications Biology*, 2(1).
- Chen, P., Zuo, H., Xiong, H., Kolar, M. J., Chu, Q., Saghatelian, A., ... Wan, Y. (2017). Gpr132 sensing of lactate mediates tumor-macrophage interplay to promote breast cancer metastasis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 114(3), 580–585.
- Chen, X., Liu, S., Wang, L., Zhang, W.-G., Ji, Y., and Ma, X. (2008). Clinical significance of B7-H1 (PD-L1) expression in human acute leukemia. *Cancer Biology and Therapy*, 7(5), 622–627.
- Chen, Y., Aon, M. A., Hsu, Y.-T., Soane, L., Teng, X., McCaffery, J. M., ... Hardwick, J. M. (2011). Bcl-xL regulates mitochondrial energetics by stabilizing the inner membrane potential. *Journal of Cell Biology*, 195(2), 263–276.
- Chen, Z., Li, Y., Zhang, H., Huang, P., and Luthra, R. (2010). Hypoxia-regulated microRNA-210 modulates mitochondrial function and decreases ISCU and COX10 expression. *Oncogene*, *29*(30), 4362–4368.
- Chen, Z. X., and Pervaiz, S. (2007). Bcl-2 induces pro-oxidant state by engaging mitochondrial respiration in tumor cells. *Cell Death and Differentiation*, 14(9), 1617–1627.
- Cheng, T., Sudderth, J., Yang, C., Mullen, A.R., Jin, E.S., Mates, J.M. and DeBerardinis, R.J. (2011). Pyruvate carboxylase is required for glutamine-independent growth of tumor cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 108(21), pp.8674–8679.
- Cheng, C.-T., Qi, Y., Wang, Y.-C., Chi, K.K., Chung, Y., Ouyang, C., Chen, Y.-R., ... and Chu, P. (2018). Arginine starvation kills tumor cells through aspartate exhaustion and mitochondrial dysfunction. *Communications Biology*, *1*(1)
- Cheung, E. C., Ludwig, R. L., and Vousden, K. H. (2012). Mitochondrial localization of TIGAR under hypoxia stimulates HK2 and lowers ROS and cell death. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *109*(50), 20491–20496.
- Chiche, J., Reverso-Meinietti, J., Mouchotte, A., Rubio-Patiño, C., Mhaidly, R., ...Ricci, J-E. (2019). GAPDH Expression Predicts the Response to R-CHOP, the Tumor Metabolic Status, and the Response of DLBCL Patients to Metabolic Inhibitors. *Cell Metabolism*, 29(6), pp.1243-1257.e10.
- Christofk, H.R., Vander Heiden, M.G., Harris, M.H., Ramanathan, A., Gerszten, R.E., Wei, R., Fleming, M.D., Schreiber, S.L. and Cantley, L.C. (2008). The M2 splice isoform of pyruvate kinase is important for cancer metabolism and tumour growth. *Nature*, *452*(7184), pp.230–233.
- Choi, Y. J., Lin, C.-P., Ho, J. J., He, X., Okada, N., Bu, P., ... He, L. (2011). miR-34 miRNAs provide a barrier for somatic cell reprogramming. *Nature Cell Biology*, 13(11), 1353–1360.

- Ciavardelli, D., Rossi, C., Barcaroli, D., Volpe, S., Consalvo, A., Zucchelli, M., De Cola, A., Scavo, E., Carollo, R., D'Agostino, D., Forli, F., D'Aguanno, S., Todaro, M., Stassi, G., Di Ilio, C., De Laurenzi, V. and Urbani, A. (2014). Breast cancer stem cells rely on fermentative glycolysis and are sensitive to 2-deoxyglucose treatment. *Cell Death and Disease*, 5(7), pp.e1336–e1336.
- Cogliati, S., Frezza, C., Soriano, M., Varanita, T., Quintana-Cabrera, R., Corrado, M., ... Scorrano, L. (2013). Mitochondrial Cristae Shape Determines Respiratory Chain Supercomplexes Assembly and Respiratory Efficiency. *Cell*, 155(1), 160–171.
- Cole, A., Wang, Z., Coyaud, E., Voisin, V., Gronda, M., Jitkova, Y., ... Schimmer, A. D. (2015). Inhibition of the Mitochondrial Protease ClpP as a Therapeutic Strategy for Human Acute Myeloid Leukemia. *Cancer Cell*, 27(6), 864–876.
- Colegio, O. R., Chu, N.-Q., Szabo, A. L., Chu, T., Rhebergen, A. M., Jairam, V., ... Medzhitov, R. (2014). Functional polarization of tumour-associated macrophages by tumour-derived lactic acid. *Nature*, *513*(7519), 559–563.
- Colell, A., Green, D. R., and Ricci, J-E. (2009). Novel roles for GAPDH in cell death and carcinogenesis. *Cell Death and Differentiation*, 16(12), 1573–1581.
- Collignon, E., Canale, A., Al Wardi, C., Bizet, M., Calonne, E., Dedeurwaerder, S., ... Fuks, F. (2018). Immunity drives TET1 regulation in cancer through NF-KB. *Science Advances*, 4(6), eaap7309.
- Coloff, Jonathan L., Murphy, J. Patrick, Braun, Craig R., Harris, Isaac S., Shelton, Laura M., Kami, K., ... Brugge, Joan S. (2016). Differential Glutamate Metabolism in Proliferating and Quiescent Mammary Epithelial Cells. *Cell Metabolism*, 23(5), 867–880.
- Contractor, T., and Harris, C. R. (2011). p53 Negatively Regulates Transcription of the Pyruvate Dehydrogenase Kinase Pdk2. *Cancer Research*, 72(2), 560–567.
- Cosker, F., Cheviron, N., Yamasaki, M., Menteyne, A., Lund, F. E., Moutin, M.-J., ... Cancela, J.-M. (2010). The Ecto-enzyme CD38 Is a Nicotinic Acid Adenine Dinucleotide Phosphate (NAADP) Synthase That Couples Receptor Activation to Ca2+ Mobilization from Lysosomes in Pancreatic Acinar Cells*. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 285(49), 38251–38259.
- Covarrubias, A.J., Perrone, R., Grozio, A. and Verdin, E. (2020). NAD+ metabolism and its roles in cellular processes during ageing. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology*, 22(2), pp.119-141.
- Covarrubias, A. J., Kale, A., Perrone, R., Lopez-Dominguez, J. A., Pisco, A. O., Kasler, H. G., ... Lee, Y.-M. (2020). Senescent cells promote tissue NAD+ decline during ageing via the activation of CD38+ macrophages. *Nature Metabolism, 2*(11), 1265–1283.
- Crane, C. A., Austgen, K., Haberthur, K., Hofmann, C., Moyes, K. W., Avanesyan, L., ... Lanier, L. L. (2014). Immune evasion mediated by tumor-derived lactate dehydrogenase induction of NKG2D ligands on myeloid cells in glioblastoma patients. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 111(35), 12823–12828.
- Cross, D. A. E., Alessi, D. R., Cohen, P., Andjelkovich, M., and Hemmings, B. A. (1995). Inhibition of glycogen synthase kinase-3 by insulin mediated by protein kinase B. *Nature*, 378(6559), 785–789.
- Cruz-Bermúdez, A., Laza-Briviesca, R., Vicente-Blanco, R.J., García-Grande, A., Coronado, M.J., Laine-Menéndez, S., Palacios-Zambrano, S., Moreno-Villa, M.R., Ruiz-Valdepeñas, A.M., Lendinez, C., Romero, A., Franco, F., Calvo, V., Alfaro, C., Acosta, P.M., Salas, C., Garcia, J.M. and Provencio, M. (2019). Cisplatin resistance involves a metabolic reprogramming through ROS and PGC-1α in NSCLC which can be overcome by OXPHOS inhibition. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*, *135*, pp.167–181.
- Cubillos-Zapata, C., Avendaño-Ortiz, J., Hernandez-Jimenez, E., Toledano, V., Casas-Martin, J... and García-Rio, F. (2017). Hypoxia-induced PD-L1/PD-1 crosstalk impairs T-cell function in sleep apnoea. *European Respiratory Journal*, *50*(4), p.1700833.
- Cunningham, J. T., Rodgers, J. T., Arlow, D. H., Vazquez, F., Mootha, V. K., and Puigserver, P. (2007). mTOR controls mitochondrial oxidative function through a YY1–PGC-1α transcriptional complex. *Nature*, 450(7170), 736–740.
- Dadsena, S., Bockelmann, S., Mina, J. G. M., Hassan, D. G., Korneev, S., Razzera, G., ... Holthuis, J. C. M. (2019). Ceramides bind VDAC2 to trigger mitochondrial apoptosis. *Nature Communications, 10*(1).
- D'Arcy, M. S. (2019). Cell death: a review of the major forms of apoptosis, necrosis and autophagy. *Cell Biology International*, 43(6), 582–592.
- Dang, L., White, D. W., Gross, S., Bennett, B. D., Bittinger, M. A., Driggers, E. M., ... Su, S. M. (2009). Cancer-associated IDH1 mutations produce 2-hydroxyglutarate. *Nature*, 462(7274), 739–744.
- Datta, S. R., Dudek, H., Tao, X., Masters, S., Fu, H., Gotoh, Y., and Greenberg, M. E. (1997). Akt phosphorylation of BAD couples survival signals to the cell-intrinsic death machinery. *Cell*, 91(2), 231–241.
- Datler, C., Pazarentzos, E., Mahul-Mellier, A.-L., Chaisaklert, W., Hwang, M.-S., Osborne, F., and Grimm, S. (2014). CKMT1 regulates the mitochondrial permeability transition pore in a process that provides evidence for alternative forms of the complex. *Journal of Cell Science*, 127(8), 1816–1828.
- Dasgupta, S., Putluri, N., Long, W., Zhang, B., Wang, J., Kaushik, A.K., Arnold, J.M., ... and O'Malley, B.W. (2015). Coactivator SRC-2–dependent metabolic reprogramming mediates prostate cancer survival and metastasis. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 125(3), pp.1174–1188.
- David, C. J., Chen, M., Assanah, M., Canoll, P., and Manley, J. L. (2010). HnRNP proteins controlled by c-Myc deregulate pyruvate kinase mRNA splicing in cancer. Nature, 463(7279), 364–368.
- Davids, M. S., Kim, H. T., Bachireddy, P., Costello, C., Liguori, R., Savell, A., ... Leukemia and Lymphoma Society Blood Cancer Research Partnership. (2016). Ipilimumab for Patients with Relapse after Allogeneic Transplantation. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 375(2), 143–153.
- Davidson-Moncada, J., Viboch, E., Church, S., Warren, S., and Rutella, S. (2018). Dissecting the Immune Landscape of Acute Myeloid Leukemia. *Biomedicines*, 6(4), 110.
- Davila, A., Liu, L., Chellappa, K., Redpath, P., Nakamaru-Ogiso, E., Paolella, L. M., ... Baur, J. A. (2018). Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide is transported into mammalian mitochondria. *ELife*, *7*.

- DeBerardinis, R.J., Mancuso, A., Daikhin, E., Nissim, I., Yudkoff, M., Wehrli, S. and Thompson, C.B. (2007). Beyond aerobic glycolysis: Transformed cells can engage in glutamine metabolism that exceeds the requirement for protein and nucleotide synthesis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 104*(49), pp.19345–19350.
- Dejure, F. R., and Eilers, M. (2017). MYC and tumor metabolism: chicken and egg. The EMBO Journal, 36(23), 3409-3420.
- DeNardo, D. G., and Ruffell, B. (2019). Macrophages as regulators of tumour immunity and immunotherapy. *Nature Reviews Immunology*.
- De Rosa, V., Iommelli, F., Monti, M., Fonti, R., Votta, G., Stoppelli, M.P. and Del Vecchio, S. (2015). Reversal of Warburg Effect and Reactivation of Oxidative Phosphorylation by Differential Inhibition of EGFR Signaling Pathways in Non–Small Cell Lung Cancer. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 21(22), pp.5110–5120.
- Demetriades, C., Plescher, M., and Teleman, A. A. (2016). Lysosomal recruitment of TSC2 is a universal response to cellular stress. *Nature Communications*, 7(1).
- Deng, H., Yu, F., Chen, J., Zhao, Y., Xiang, J., and Lin, A. (2008). Phosphorylation of Bad at Thr-201 by JNK1 Promotes Glycolysis through Activation of Phosphofructokinase-1. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 283(30), 20754–20760. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.m800024200
- Denise, C., Paoli, P., Calvani, M., Taddei, M.L., Giannoni, E., Kopetz, S., Kazmi, S.M.A., Pia, M.M., Pettazzoni, P., Sacco, E., Caselli, A., Vanoni, M., Landriscina, M., Cirri, P. and Chiarugi, P. (2015). 5-Fluorouracil resistant colon cancer cells are addicted to OXPHOS to survive and enhance stem-like traits. *Oncotarget*, 6(39), pp.41706–41721.
- Denko, N. C. (2008). Hypoxia, HIF1 and glucose metabolism in the solid tumour. Nature Reviews Cancer, 8(9), 705-713.
- Deprez, J., Vertommen, D., Alessi, D. R., Hue, L., and Rider, M. H. (1997). Phosphorylation and Activation of Heart 6-Phosphofructo-2-kinase by Protein Kinase B and Other Protein Kinases of the Insulin Signaling Cascades. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 272(28), 17269–17275.
- Desquiret-Dumas, V., Gueguen, N., Leman, G., Baron, S., Nivet-Antoine, V., Chupin, S., and Procaccio, V. (2013). Resveratrol Induces a Mitochondrial Complex I-dependent Increase in NADH Oxidation Responsible for Sirtuin Activation in Liver Cells. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 288(51), pp.36662–36675.
- DeWaal, D., Nogueira, V., Terry, A. R., Patra, K. C., Jeon, S.-M., Guzman, G., ... Hay, N. (2018). Hexokinase-2 depletion inhibits glycolysis and induces oxidative phosphorylation in hepatocellular carcinoma and sensitizes to metformin. *Nature Communications*, 9(1).
- DeYoung, M. P., Horak, P., Sofer, A., Sgroi, D., and Ellisen, L. W. (2008). Hypoxia regulates TSC1/2 mTOR signaling and tumor suppression through REDD1-mediated 14 3 3 shuttling. Genes and Development, 22(2), 239–251.
- Di Virgilio, F., Boeynaems, J.-M., and Robson, S. C. (2009). Extracellular nucleotides as negative modulators of immunity. *Current Opinion in Pharmacology*, 9(4), 507–513.
- Di Virgilio, F., Sarti, A. C., Falzoni, S., De Marchi, E., and Adinolfi, E. (2018). Extracellular ATP and P2 purinergic signalling in the tumour microenvironment. *Nature Reviews Cancer*, *18*(10), 601–618.
- Dibble, C. C., and Manning, B. D. (2013). Signal integration by mTORC1 coordinates nutrient input with biosynthetic output. *Nature Cell Biology*, 15(6), 555–564.
- Diehl, F.F., Lewis, C.A., Fiske, B.P. and Vander Heiden, M.G. (2019). Cellular redox state constrains serine synthesis and nucleotide production to impact cell proliferation. *Nature Metabolism*, 1(9), pp.861–867.
- Ding L, Liang G, Yao Z, Zhang J, Liu R, Chen H, Zhou Y, Wu H, Yang B, He Q (2015). Metformin prevents cancer metastasis by inhibiting M2-like polarization of tumor associated macrophages. *Oncotarget*.; 6:36441–55.
- Dobson, S. M., García-Prat, L., Vanner, R. J., Wintersinger, J., Waanders, E., Gu, Z., ... Dick, J. E. (2020). Relapse-Fated Latent Diagnosis Subclones in Acute B Lineage Leukemia Are Drug Tolerant and Possess Distinct Metabolic Programs. *Cancer Discovery*, 10(4), 568–587.
- Doedens, A. L., Phan, A. T., Stradner, M. H., Fujimoto, J. K., Nguyen, J. V., Yang, E., ... Goldrath, A. W. (2013). Hypoxiainducible factors enhance the effector responses of CD8+ T cells to persistent antigen. *Nature Immunology*, 14(11), 1173– 1182.
- Doherty, J. R., Yang, C., Scott, K. E. N., Cameron, M. D., Fallahi, M., Li, W., ... Unsal-Kacmaz, K. (2014). Blocking Lactate Export by Inhibiting the Myc Target MCT1 Disables Glycolysis and Glutathione Synthesis. *Cancer Research*, 74(3), 908– 920.
- Döhner, H., Weisdorf, D. J., and Bloomfield, C. D. (2015). Acute Myeloid Leukemia. New England Journal of Medicine, 373(12), 1136–1152.
- Dombret, H., and Gardin, C. (2016). An update of current treatments for adult acute myeloid leukemia. *Blood*, 127(1), 53-61.
- Dong, L., Sun, L., Zhang, X., Pan, L., Lian, L., Chen, Z. and Zhong, D. (2012). Negative regulation of mTOR activity by LKB1-AMPK signaling in non-small cell lung cancer cells. *Acta Pharmacologica Sinica*, *34*(2), pp.314–318.
- Dorrello, N. V., Peschiaroli, A., Guardavaccaro, D., Colburn, N. H., Sherman, N. E., and Pagano, M. (2006). S6K1- and
- betaTRCP-mediated degradation of PDCD4 promotes protein translation and cell growth. *Science*, *314*(5798), 467–471.
 Du, J., Zhou, Y., Su, X., Yu, J. J., Khan, S., Jiang, H., ... Lin, H. (2011). Sirt5 is a NAD-dependent protein lysine demalonylase and desuccinylase. *Science*, *334*(6057), 806–809.
- Dulphy, N., Henry, G., Hemon, P., Khaznadar, Z., Dombret, H., Boissel, N., ... Toubert, A. (2014). Contribution of CD39 to the immunosuppressive microenvironment of acute myeloid leukaemia at diagnosis. *British Journal of Haematology*, 165(5), 722–725.
- Duman, C., Yaqubi, K., Hoffmann, A., Acikgöz, A. A., Korshunov, A., Bendszus, M., ... Alfonso, J. (2019). Acyl-CoA-Binding Protein Drives Glioblastoma Tumorigenesis by Sustaining Fatty Acid Oxidation. *Cell Metabolism*, 30(2), 274-289.e5.
- Durán, R. V., Oppliger, W., Robitaille, Aaron M., Heiserich, L., Skendaj, R., Gottlieb, E. and Hall, M. N. (2012). Glutaminolysis Activates Rag-mTORC1 Signaling. *Molecular Cell*, 47(3), pp.349–358.
- Düvel, K., Yecies, J. L., Menon, S., Raman, P., Lipovsky, A. I., Souza, A. L., ... Manning, B. D. (2010). Activation of a Metabolic Gene Regulatory Network Downstream of mTOR Complex 1. *Molecular Cell*, 39(2), 171–183.

- Eberhardy, S. R., and Farnham, P. J. (2001). c-Myc Mediates Activation of thecadPromoter via a Post-RNA Polymerase II Recruitment Mechanism. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 276(51), 48562–48571.
- Egan, D. F., Shackelford, D. B., Mihaylova, M. M., Gelino, S., Kohnz, R. A., Mair, W., ... Shaw, R. J. (2010). Phosphorylation of ULK1 (hATG1) by AMP-Activated Protein Kinase Connects Energy Sensing to Mitophagy. *Science*, *331*(6016), 456–461.
- Egan, G., Khan, D. H., Lee, J. B., Mirali, S., Zhang, L., and Schimmer, A. D. (2021). Mitochondrial and Metabolic Pathways Regulate Nuclear Gene Expression to Control Differentiation, Stem Cell Function, and Immune Response in Leukemia. *Cancer Discovery*.
- Eikawa, S., Nishida, M., Mizukami, S., Yamazaki, C., Nakayama, E., and Udono, H. (2015). Immune-mediated antitumor effect by type 2 diabetes drug, metformin. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *112*(6), 1809–1814.
- Eischen, C. M., Weber, J. D., Roussel, M. F., Sherr, C. J., and Cleveland, J. L. (1999). Disruption of the ARF–Mdm2–p53 tumor suppressor pathway in Myc-induced lymphomagenesis. *Genes and Development*, 13(20), 2658–2669.
- Eisfeld, A.-K., Kohlschmidt, J., Mrózek, K., Blachly, J. S., Walker, C. J., Nicolet, D., ... Bloomfield, C. D. (2018). Mutation patterns identify adult patients with de novo acute myeloid leukemia aged 60 years or older who respond favorably to standard chemotherapy: an analysis of Alliance studies. *Leukemia*, 32(6), 1338–1348.
- Eisner, V., Picard, M., and Hajnóczky, G. (2018). Mitochondrial dynamics in adaptive and maladaptive cellular stress responses. *Nature Cell Biology*, 20(7), 755–765.
- El-Mir, M.-Y., Nogueira, V., Fontaine, E., Avéret, N., Rigoulet, M., and Leverve, X. (2000). Dimethylbiguanide Inhibits Cell Respiration via an Indirect Effect Targeted on the Respiratory Chain Complex I. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 275(1), 223–228.
- Ellinghaus, P., Heisler, I., Unterschemmann, K., Haerter, M., Beck, H., Greschat, S., ... Ziegelbauer, K. (2013). BAY 87-2243, a highly potent and selective inhibitor of hypoxia-induced gene activation has antitumor activities by inhibition of mitochondrial complex I. *Cancer Medicine*, 2(5), 611–624.
- Elstrom, R. L., Bauer, D. E., Buzzai, M., Karnauskas, R., Harris, M. H., Plas, D. R., ... Thompson, C. B. (2004). Akt Stimulates Aerobic Glycolysis in Cancer Cells. *Cancer Research*, 64(11), 3892–3899.
- Eltzschig, H. K., Ibla, J. C., Furuta, G. T., Leonard, M. O., Jacobson, K. A., Enjyoji, K., ... Colgan, S. P. (2003). Coordinated Adenine Nucleotide Phosphohydrolysis and Nucleoside Signaling in Posthypoxic Endothelium. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 198(5), 783–796.
- Eltzschig, H. K., Köhler, D., Eckle, T., Kong, T., Robson, S. C., and Colgan, S. P. (2009). Central role of Sp1-regulated CD39 in hypoxia/ischemia protection. *Blood*, *113*(1), 224–232.
- Ernst, I. M. A., Fliegert, R., & Guse, A. H. (2013). Adenine Dinucleotide Second Messengers and T-lymphocyte Calcium Signaling. *Frontiers in Immunology, 4.*
- Esensten, J. H., Helou, Y. A., Chopra, G., Weiss, A., and Bluestone, Jeffrey A. (2016). CD28 Costimulation: From Mechanism to Therapy. *Immunity*, *44*(5), 973–988.
- Essuman, K., Summers, D. W., Sasaki, Y., Mao, X., DiAntonio, A., & Milbrandt, J. (2017). The SARM1 Toll/Interleukin-1 Receptor Domain Possesses Intrinsic NAD + Cleavage Activity that Promotes Pathological Axonal Degeneration. *Neuron*, 93(6), 1334-1343.e5.
- Etchegaray, J.-P. and Mostoslavsky, R. (2016). Interplay between Metabolism and Epigenetics: A Nuclear Adaptation to Environmental Changes. *Molecular Cell*, *62*(5), pp.695–711.
- Evans, J. M. M., Donnelly, L. A., Emslie-Smith, A. M., Alessi, D. R., and Morris, A. D. (2005). Metformin and reduced risk of cancer in diabetic patients. *BMJ*, 330(7503), 1304–1305.
- Evans, D. R., and Guy, H. I. (2004). Mammalian Pyrimidine Biosynthesis: Fresh Insights into an Ancient Pathway. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 279(32), 33035–33038.
- Facchinetti, V., Ouyang, W., Wei, H., Soto, N., Lazorchak, A., Gould, C., ... Jacinto, E. (2008). The mammalian target of rapamycin complex 2 controls folding and stability of Akt and protein kinase C. *The EMBO Journal*, 27(14), 1932–1943.
- Fan, T.W., Lane, A.N., Higashi, R.M., Farag, M.A., Gao, H., Bousamra, M. and Miller, D.M. (2009). Altered regulation of metabolic pathways in human lung cancer discerned by 13C stable isotope-resolved metabolomics (SIRM). *Molecular Cancer*, 8(1), p.41.
- Fan, Q., Aksoy, O., Wong, R. A., Ilkhanizadeh, S., Novotny, C. J., Gustafson, W. C., ... Weiss, W. A. (2017). A Kinase Inhibitor Targeted to mTORC1 Drives Regression in Glioblastoma. *Cancer Cell*, 31(3), 424–435.
- Farge, T., Saland, E., de Toni, F., Aroua, N., Hosseini, M., Perry, R., ... Sarry, J.-E. (2017). Chemotherapy-Resistant Human Acute Myeloid Leukemia Cells Are Not Enriched for Leukemic Stem Cells but Require Oxidative Metabolism. *Cancer Discovery*, 7(7), 716–735.
- Faubert, B., Boily, G., Izreig, S., Griss, T., Samborska, B., Dong, Z., ... Jones, Russell G. (2013). AMPK Is a Negative Regulator of the Warburg Effect and Suppresses Tumor Growth In Vivo. *Cell Metabolism*, 17(1), 113–124.
- Faubert, B., Vincent, E.E., Griss, T., Samborska, B., Izreig, S., Svensson, R.U., Mamer, O.A., Avizonis, D., Shackelford, D.B., Shaw, R.J. and Jones, R.G. (2014). Loss of the tumor suppressor LKB1 promotes metabolic reprogramming of cancer cells via HIF-1. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 111(7), pp.2554–2559.
- Fei Fang, E., Kassahun, H., Croteau, D.L., Scheibye-Knudsen, M., Marosi, K., Lu, H., ... Bohr, V.A. (2016). NAD⁺ Replenishment Improves Lifespan and Healthspan in Ataxia Telangiectasia Models via Mitophagy and DNA Repair. *Cell Metabolism, 24*(4), pp.566–581.
- Feng, Z., Zhang, H., Levine, A. J., and Jin, S. (2005). The coordinate regulation of the p53 and mTOR pathways in cells. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 102(23), 8204–8209.
- Feng, Z., Hu, W., de Stanchina, E., Teresky, A. K., Jin, S., Lowe, S., and Levine, A. J. (2007). The Regulation of AMPK β1, TSC2, and PTEN Expression by p53: Stress, Cell and Tissue Specificity, and the Role of These Gene Products in Modulating the IGF-1-AKT-mTOR Pathways. *Cancer Research*, 67(7), 3043–3053.
- Feng, J., Yang, H., Zhang, Y., Wei, H., Zhu, Z., Zhu, B., ... Wu, Z. (2017). Tumor cell-derived lactate induces TAZ-dependent upregulation of PD-L1 through GPR81 in human lung cancer cells. *Oncogene*, *36*(42), 5829–5839.

- Feng, Y. C., Liu, X. Y., Teng, L., Ji, Q., Wu, Y., Li, J. M., ... Jin, L. (2020). c-Myc inactivation of p53 through the pan-cancer IncRNA MILIP drives cancer pathogenesis. *Nature Communications*, 11(1).
- Fenouille, N., Bassil, C. F., Ben-Sahra, I., Benajiba, L., Alexe, G., Ramos, A., ... Stegmaier, K. (2017). The creatine kinase pathway is a metabolic vulnerability in EVI1-positive acute myeloid leukemia. *Nature Medicine*, 23(3), 301–313.
- Field, C. S., Baixauli, F., Kyle, R. L., Puleston, D. J., Cameron, A. M., Sanin, D. E., ... Pearce, E. L. (2020). Mitochondrial Integrity Regulated by Lipid Metabolism Is a Cell-Intrinsic Checkpoint for Treg Suppressive Function. *Cell Metabolism*, 31(2), 422-437.e5.
- Figueroa, M. E., Abdel-Wahab, O., Lu, C., Ward, P. S., Patel, J., Shih, A., ... Melnick, A. (2010). Leukemic IDH1 and IDH2 mutations result in a hypermethylation phenotype, disrupt TET2 function, and impair hematopoietic differentiation. *Cancer Cell*, 18(6), 553–567.
- Fischer, K., Hoffmann, P., Voelkl, S., Meidenbauer, N., Ammer, J., Edinger, M., ... Kreutz, M. (2007). Inhibitory effect of tumor cell-derived lactic acid on human T cells. *Blood*, 109(9), 3812–3819.
- Fischer, G.M., Jalali, A., Kircher, D.A., Lee, W.-C., McQuade, J.L., Haydu, L.E., Joon, A.Y., Reuben, A., de Macedo, M.P., Carapeto, F.C.L., Yang, C., Srivastava, A., Ambati, C.R., Sreekumar, A., Hudgens, C.W., Knighton, B., Deng, W., Ferguson, S.D., Tawbi, H.A. and Glitza, I.C. (2019). Molecular Profiling Reveals Unique Immune and Metabolic Features of Melanoma Brain Metastases. *Cancer Discovery*, 9(5), pp.628–645.
- Fong, L., Hotson, A., Powderly, J. D., Sznol, M., Heist, R. S., Choueiri, T. K., ... Brody, J. D. (2019). Adenosine 2A Receptor Blockade as an Immunotherapy for Treatment-Refractory Renal Cell Cancer. *Cancer Discovery*, 10(1), 40–53.
- Foretz, M., Hébrard, S., Leclerc, J., Zarrinpashneh, E., Soty, M., Mithieux, G., ... Viollet, B. (2010). Metformin inhibits hepatic gluconeogenesis in mice independently of the LKB1/AMPK pathway via a decrease in hepatic energy state. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 120(7), 2355–2369.
- Forrester, K., Ambs, S., Lupold, S. E., Kapust, R. B., Spillare, E. A., Weinberg, W. C., ... Harris, C. C. (1996). Nitric oxideinduced p53 accumulation and regulation of inducible nitric oxide synthase expression by wild-type p53. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 93(6), 2442–2447.
- Francisco, L. M., Salinas, V. H., Brown, K. E., Vanguri, V. K., Freeman, G. J., Kuchroo, V. K., and Sharpe, A. H. (2009). PD-L1 regulates the development, maintenance, and function of induced regulatory T cells. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 206(13), 3015–3029.
- Franklin, D. A., He, Y., Leslie, P. L., Tikunov, A. P., Fenger, N., Macdonald, J. M., and Zhang, Y. (2016). p53 coordinates DNA repair with nucleotide synthesis by suppressing PFKFB3 expression and promoting the pentose phosphate pathway. *Scientific Reports*, 6(1).
- Frauwirth, K. A., Riley, J. L., Harris, M. H., Parry, R. V., Rathmell, J. C., Plas, D. R., ... Thompson, C. B. (2002). The CD28 Signaling Pathway Regulates Glucose Metabolism. *Immunity*, 16(6), 769–777.
- Fridman, J. S., and Lowe, S. W. (2003). Control of apoptosis by p53. Oncogene, 22(56), 9030-9040.
- Frolova, O., Samudio, I., Benito, J. M., Jacamo, R., Kornblau, S. M., Markovic, A., ... Konopleva, M. (2012). Regulation of HIF-1α signaling and chemoresistance in acute lymphocytic leukemia under hypoxic conditions of the bone marrow microenvironment. *Cancer Biology and Therapy*, 13(10), 858–870.
- Fruman, D. A., Chiu, H., Hopkins, B. D., Bagrodia, S., Cantley, L. C., and Abraham, R. T. (2017). The PI3K Pathway in Human Disease. *Cell*, *170*(4), 605–635.
- Fryer, L. G. D., Parbu-Patel, A., and Carling, D. (2002). The Anti-diabetic Drugs Rosiglitazone and Metformin Stimulate AMPactivated Protein Kinase through Distinct Signaling Pathways. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277(28), 25226–25232.
- Fukuda, R., Zhang, H., Kim, J., Shimoda, L., Dang, C. V., and Semenza, Gregg L. (2007). HIF-1 Regulates Cytochrome Oxidase Subunits to Optimize Efficiency of Respiration in Hypoxic Cells. *Cell*, 129(1), 111–122.
- Fukuda, Y., Wang, Y., Lian, S., Lynch, J., Nagai, S., Fanshawe, B., ... Schuetz, J. D. (2017). Upregulated heme biosynthesis, an exploitable vulnerability in MYCN-driven leukemogenesis. *JCI Insight*, 2(15).
- Gabrilovich, D. I., Bronte, V., Chen, S.-H., Colombo, M. P., Ochoa, A., Ostrand-Rosenberg, S., and Schreiber, H. (2007). The Terminology Issue for Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells. *Cancer Research*, 67(1), 425–425.
- Gabrilovich, D. I., and Nagaraj, S. (2009). Myeloid-derived suppressor cells as regulators of the immune system. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 9(3), 162–174.
- Gabrilovich, D. I. (2017). Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells. Cancer Immunology Research, 5(1), 3-8.
- Gallipoli, P., Giotopoulos, G., Tzelepis, K., Costa, A. S. H., Vohra, S., Medina-Perez, P., ... Huntly, B. J. P. (2018). Glutaminolysis is a metabolic dependency in FLT3ITD acute myeloid leukemia unmasked by FLT3 tyrosine kinase inhibition. *Blood*, 131(15), 1639–1653.
- Gan, B., Hu, J., Jiang, S., Liu, Y., Sahin, E., Zhuang, L., Fletcher-Sananikone, E., Colla, S., Wang, Y.A., Chin, L. and DePinho, R.A. (2010). Lkb1 regulates quiescence and metabolic homeostasis of haematopoietic stem cells. *Nature*, 468(7324), pp.701– 704.
- Ganesan, V., and Colombini, M. (2010). Regulation of ceramide channels by Bcl-2 family proteins. *FEBS Letters*, 584(10), 2128–2134.
- Gao, P., Tchernyshyov, I., Chang, T.-C., Lee, Y.-S., Kita, K., Ochi, T., ... Dang, C. V. (2009). c-Myc suppression of miR-23a/b enhances mitochondrial glutaminase expression and glutamine metabolism. *Nature*, *458*(7239), 762–765.
- Gao, C., Shen, Y., Jin, F., Miao, Y. and Qiu, X. (2016). Cancer Stem Cells in Small Cell Lung Cancer Cell Line H446: Higher Dependency on Oxidative Phosphorylation and Mitochondrial Substrate-Level Phosphorylation than Non-Stem Cancer Cells. *PLOS ONE*, 11(5), p.e0154576.
- Gao, X., Lee, K., Reid, M. A., Sanderson, S. M., Qiu, C., Li, S., ... Locasale, J. W. (2018). Serine Availability Influences Mitochondrial Dynamics and Function through Lipid Metabolism. *Cell Reports*, 22(13), 3507–3520.
- Garcia-Diaz, A., Shin, D. S., Moreno, B. H., Saco, J., Escuin-Ordinas, H., Rodriguez, G. A., ... Ribas, A. (2017). Interferon Receptor Signaling Pathways Regulating PD-L1 and PD-L2 Expression. *Cell Reports*, 19(6), 1189–1201.

García-Martínez, J. M., and Alessi, D. R. (2008). mTOR complex 2 (mTORC2) controls hydrophobic motif phosphorylation and activation of serum- and glucocorticoid-induced protein kinase 1 (SGK1). *The Biochemical Journal*, 416(3), 375–385.

Gartel, A. L., Ye, X., Goufman, E., Shianov, P., Hay, N., Najmabadi, F., and Tyner, A. L. (2001). Myc represses the p21(WAF1/CIP1) promoter and interacts with Sp1/Sp3. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 98(8), 4510–4515.

Gaude, E. and Frezza, C. (2014). Defects in mitochondrial metabolism and cancer. *Cancer and Metabolism, 2*(1).
Geltink, R. I. K., Kyle, R. L., and Pearce, E. L. (2018). Unraveling the Complex Interplay Between T Cell Metabolism and Function. *Annual Review of Immunology, 36*(1), 461–488.

Gerdts, J., Brace, E. J., Sasaki, Y., DiAntonio, A., & Milbrandt, J. (2015). SARM1 activation triggers axon degeneration locally via NAD+ destruction. *Science*, 348(6233), 453–457.

German, N. J., Yoon, H., Yusuf, R. Z., Murphy, J. P., Finley, L. W. S., Laurent, G., ... Haigis, M. C. (2016). PHD3 Loss in Cancer Enables Metabolic Reliance on Fatty Acid Oxidation via Deactivation of ACC2. *Molecular Cell*, 63(6), 1006–1020.

Ghobrial, I. M., Siegel, D. S., Vij, R., Berdeja, J. G., Richardson, P. G., Neuwirth, R., ... Wolf, J. L. (2016). TAK-228 (formerly MLN0128), an investigational oral dual TORC1/2 inhibitor: A phase I dose escalation study in patients with relapsed or refractory multiple myeloma, non-Hodgkin lymphoma, or Waldenström's macroglobulinemia. *American Journal of Hematology*, 91(4), 400–405.

Giannopoulos, K. (2019). Targeting Immune Signaling Checkpoints in Acute Myeloid Leukemia. *Journal of Clinical Medicine*, 8(2), 236.

Gill, R.K., Yang, S-H., Meerzaman, D., Mechanic, L.E., Bowman, E.D., Jeon, H-S., ...and Jen, J. (2011). Frequent homozygous deletion of the LKB1/STK11 gene in non-small cell lung cancer. *Oncogene*, *30*(35), pp.3784–3791.

Gingras, A.-C., Gygi, S. P., Raught, B., Polakiewicz, R. D., Abraham, R. T., Hoekstra, M. F., ... Sonenberg, N. (1999). Regulation of 4E-BP1 phosphorylation: a novel two-step mechanism. *Genes and Development*, 13(11), 1422–1437.

Giskeødegård, G. F., Bertilsson, H., Selnæs, K. M., Wright, A. J., Bathen, T. F., Viset, T., ... Tessem, M.-B. (2013). Spermine and Citrate as Metabolic Biomarkers for Assessing Prostate Cancer Aggressiveness. *PLoS ONE*, 8(4), e62375.

Gottlob, K., Majewski, N., Kennedy, S., Kandel, E., Robey, R. B., and Hay, N. (2001). Inhibition of early apoptotic events by Akt/PKB is dependent on the first committed step of glycolysis and mitochondrial hexokinase. *Genes and Development*, *15*(11), 1406–1418.

Gowrishankar, K., Gunatilake, D., Gallagher, S.J., Tiffen, J., Rizos, H. and Hersey, P. (2015). Inducible but Not Constitutive Expression of PD-L1 in Human Melanoma Cells Is Dependent on Activation of NF- κ B. *PLOS ONE*, *10*(4), p.e0123410.

Green, D. R., Galluzzi, L., and Kroemer, G. (2014). Metabolic control of cell death. Science, 345(6203), 1250256-1250256.

Greer, E. L., and Brunet, A. (2005). FOXO transcription factors at the interface between longevity and tumor suppression. *Oncogene*, 24(50), 7410–7425.

Greijer, A. E., and van der Wall, E. (2004). The role of hypoxia inducible factor 1 (HIF-1) in hypoxia induced apoptosis. *Journal of Clinical Pathology*, 57(10), 1009–1014.

Groeger, G., Quiney, C., and Cotter, T. G. (2009). Hydrogen Peroxide as a Cell-Survival Signaling Molecule. *Antioxidants and Redox Signaling*, 11(11), 2655–2671.

Gross, D. N., van den Heuvel, A. P. J., and Birnbaum, M. J. (2008). The role of FoxO in the regulation of metabolism. *Oncogene*, 27(16), 2320–2336.

Gross, M.I., Demo, S.D., Dennison, J.B., Chen, L., Chernov-Rogan, T., Goyal, B.,... and Bennett, M.K. (2014). Antitumor Activity of the Glutaminase Inhibitor CB-839 in Triple-Negative Breast Cancer. Molecular Cancer Therapeutics, 13(4), pp.890–901.

Grosso, J. F., and Jure-Kunkel, M. N. (2013). CTLA-4 blockade in tumor models: an overview of preclinical and translational research. *Cancer Immunity*, 13, 5

Gu, X., Orozco, J. M., Saxton, R. A., Condon, K. J., Liu, G. Y., Krawczyk, P. A., ... Sabatini, D. M. (2017). SAMTOR is an Sadenosylmethionine sensor for the mTORC1 pathway. *Science*, 358(6364), 813–818.

Gubser, P. M., Bantug, G. R., Razik, L., Fischer, M., Dimeloe, S., Hoenger, G., ... Hess, C. (2013). Rapid effector function of memory CD8+ T cells requires an immediate-early glycolytic switch. *Nature Immunology*, 14(10), 1064–1072.

Guimarães, T. A., Farias, L. C., Santos, E. S., de Carvalho Fraga, C. A., Orsini, L. A., de Freitas Teles, L., ... Guimarães, A. L. S. (2016). Metformin increases PDH and suppresses HIF-1α under hypoxic conditions and induces cell death in oral squamous cell carcinoma. *Oncotarget*, 7(34), 55057–55068.

Guo, J.Y., Karsli-Uzunbas, G., Mathew, R., Aisner, S.C., Kamphorst, J.J., Strohecker, A.M., Chen, G., Price, S., Lu, W., Teng, X., Snyder, E., Santanam, U., DiPaola, R.S., Jacks, T., Rabinowitz, J.D. and White, E. (2013). Autophagy suppresses progression of K-ras-induced lung tumors to oncocytomas and maintains lipid homeostasis. *Genes and Development*, 27(13), pp.1447–1461

Guo, R., Gu, J., Wu, M., and Yang, M. (2016). Amazing structure of respirasome: unveiling the secrets of cell respiration. *Protein* and Cell, 7(12), 854–865.

Guo, Y. (2017). Role of HIF-1a in regulating autophagic cell survival during cerebral ischemia reperfusion in rats. *Oncotarget*, 8(58).

Gwinn, D. M., Shackelford, D. B., Egan, D. F., Mihaylova, M. M., Mery, A., Vasquez, D. S., ... Shaw, R. J. (2008). AMPK Phosphorylation of Raptor Mediates a Metabolic Checkpoint. *Molecular Cell*, 30(2), 214–226.

Haar, E. V., Lee, S., Bandhakavi, S., Griffin, T. J., and Kim, D.-H. (2007). Insulin signalling to mTOR mediated by the Akt/PKB substrate PRAS40. *Nature Cell Biology*, *9*(3), 316–323.

Haigis, M. C., Mostoslavsky, R., Haigis, K. M., Fahie, K., Christodoulou, D. C., Murphy, A. J., ... Guarente, L. (2006). SIRT4 inhibits glutamate dehydrogenase and opposes the effects of calorie restriction in pancreatic beta cells. *Cell*, 126(5), 941–954.

Hanahan, D., and Weinberg, R. A. (2000). The Hallmarks of Cancer. Cell, 100(1), 57-70.

Hancock, C. N., Liu, W., Alvord, W. G., and Phang, J. M. (2015). Co-regulation of mitochondrial respiration by proline dehydrogenase/oxidase and succinate. *Amino Acids*, 48(3), 859–872.

- Handschin, C., Lin, J., Rhee, J., Peyer, A.-K., Chin, S., Wu, P.-H., ... Spiegelman, B. M. (2005). Nutritional Regulation of Hepatic Heme Biosynthesis and Porphyria through PGC-1a. *Cell*, 122(4), 505–515.
- Hanessian, S., Reddy, G. J., & Chahal, N. (2006). Total Synthesis and Stereochemical Confirmation of Manassantin A, B, and B1. Organic Letters, 8(24), 5477–5480.
- Hannan, K. M., Brandenburger, Y., Jenkins, A., Sharkey, K., Cavanaugh, A., Rothblum, L., ... Hannan, R. D. (2003). mTOR-Dependent Regulation of Ribosomal Gene Transcription Requires S6K1 and Is Mediated by Phosphorylation of the Carboxy-Terminal Activation Domain of the Nucleolar Transcription Factor UBF[†]. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 23(23), 8862– 8877.
- Haq, R., Shoag, J., Andreu-Perez, P., Yokoyama, S., Edelman, H., Rowe, Glenn C., Frederick, Dennie T., Hurley, Aeron D., Nellore, A., Kung, Andrew L., Wargo, Jennifer A., Song, Jun S., Fisher, David E., Arany, Z. and Widlund, Hans R. (2013). Oncogenic BRAF Regulates Oxidative Metabolism via PGC1a and MITF. *Cancer Cell*, 23(3), pp.302–315.
- Hara, K., Yonezawa, K., Kozlowski, M. T., Sugimoto, T., Andrabi, K., Weng, Q.-P., ... Avruch, J. (1997). Regulation of eIF-4E BP1 Phosphorylation by mTOR. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 272(42), 26457–26463.
- Hara, K., Yonezawa, K., Weng, Q.-P., Kozlowski, M. T., Belham, C., and Avruch, J. (1998). Amino Acid Sufficiency and mTOR Regulate p70 S6 Kinase and eIF-4E BP1 through a Common Effector Mechanism. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 273(23), 14484–14494.
- Harada, H., Itasaka, S., Kizaka-Kondoh, S., Shibuya, K., Morinibu, A., Shinomiya, K., and Hiraoka, M. (2009). The Akt/mTOR Pathway Assures the Synthesis of HIF-1α Protein in a Glucose- and Reoxygenation-dependent Manner in Irradiated Tumors. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 284(8), 5332–5342.
- Hardie, D. G., Carling, D., and T.R. Sim, A. (1989). The AMP-activated protein kinase: a multisubstrate regulator of lipid metabolism. *Trends in Biochemical Sciences*, 14(1), 20–23.
- Hardie, D. G., and Carling, D. (1997). The AMP-Activated Protein Kinase. Fuel Gauge of the Mammalian Cell? European Journal of Biochemistry, 246(2), 259–273.
- Hargadon, K. M., Johnson, C. E., and Williams, C. J. (2018). Immune checkpoint blockade therapy for cancer: An overview of FDA-approved immune checkpoint inhibitors. *International Immunopharmacology*, 62, 29–39.
- Harrington, L. S., Findlay, G. M., Gray, A., Tolkacheva, T., Wigfield, S., Rebholz, H., ... Lamb, R. F. (2004). The TSC1-2 tumor suppressor controls insulin–PI3K signaling via regulation of IRS proteins. *Journal of Cell Biology*, 166(2), 213–223.
- Hasawi, N.A., Alkandari, M.F. and Luqmani, Y.A. (2014). Phosphofructokinase: A mediator of glycolytic flux in cancer progression. *Critical Reviews in Oncology/Hematology*, 92(3), pp.312–321.
- Hasmann, M. and Schemainda, I. (2003). FK866, a Highly Specific Noncompetitive Inhibitor of Nicotinamide Phosphoribosyltransferase, Represents a Novel Mechanism for Induction of Tumor Cell Apoptosis. *Cancer Research*, 63(21), pp.7436–7442.
- Hassanein, M., Hoeksema, M.D., Shiota, M., Qian, J., Harris, B.K., Chen, H., Clark, J.E., Alborn, W.E., Eisenberg, R. and Massion, P.P. (2012). SLC1A5 Mediates Glutamine Transport Required for Lung Cancer Cell Growth and Survival. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 19(3), pp.560–570.
- Hatzivassiliou, G., Zhao, F., Bauer, D.E., Andreadis, C., Shaw, A.N., Dhanak, D., Hingorani, S.R., Tuveson, D.A. and Thompson, C.B. (2005). ATP citrate lyase inhibition can suppress tumor cell growth. *Cancer Cell*, 8(4), pp.311–321.
- Hawley, S. A., Gadalla, A. E., Olsen, G. S., and Hardie, D. G. (2002). The Antidiabetic Drug Metformin Activates the AMP-Activated Protein Kinase Cascade via an Adenine Nucleotide-Independent Mechanism. *Diabetes*, *51*(8), 2420–2425.
- Hawley, S. A., Boudeau, J., Reid, J. L., Mustard, K. J., Udd, L., Mäkelä, T. P., ... Hardie, D. G. (2003). Complexes between the LKB1 tumor suppressor, STRAD alpha/beta and MO25 alpha/beta are upstream kinases in the AMP-activated protein kinase cascade. *Journal of Biology*, 2(4), 28
- Hayashi, M., Fukuhara, H., Inoue, K., Shuin, T., Hagiya, Y., Nakajima, M., ... Ogura, S. (2015). The Effect of Iron Ion on the Specificity of Photodynamic Therapy with 5-Aminolevulinic Acid. *PLOS ONE*, *10*(3), e0122351.
- Hayes, C., Donohoe, C. L., Davern, M., and Donlon, N. E. (2021). The oncogenic and clinical implications of lactate induced immunosuppression in the tumour microenvironment. *Cancer Letters*, 500, 75–86.
- He, L., Gomes, A. P., Wang, X., Yoon, S. O., Lee, G., Nagiec, M. J., ... Blenis, J. (2018). mTORC1 Promotes Metabolic Reprogramming by the Suppression of GSK3-Dependent Foxk1 Phosphorylation. *Molecular Cell*, 70(5), 949-960.e4.

He, L. (2020). Metformin and Systemic Metabolism. Trends in Pharmacological Sciences.

- Hensley, C. T., Faubert, B., Yuan, Q., Lev-Cohain, N., Jin, E., Kim, J.,... Robert E. (2016). Metabolic Heterogeneity in Human Lung Tumors. *Cell*, *164*(4), pp.681–694.
- Hermeking, H., Rago, C., Schuhmacher, M., Li, Q., Barrett, J. F., Obaya, A. J., ... Kinzler, K. W. (2000). Identification of CDK4 as a target of c-MYC. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *97*(5), 2229–2234.
- Hillar, M., Lott, V., and Lennox, B. (1975). Correlation of the effects of citric acid cycle metabolites on succinate oxidation by rat liver mitochondria and submitochondrial particles. *Journal of Bioenergetics*, 7(1), 1–15.
- Höckel, M., Knoop, C., Schlenger, K., Vorndran, B., Bauβnann, E., Mitze, M., ... Vaupel, P. (1993). Intratumoral pO2 predicts survival in advanced cancer of the uterine cervix. *Radiotherapy and Oncology*, 26(1), 45–50.
- Höckel, M., and Vaupel, P. (2001). Tumor Hypoxia: Definitions and Current Clinical, Biologic, and Molecular Aspects. JNCI: Journal of the National Cancer Institute, 93(4), 266–276.
- Hodges, T. W., Hossain, C. F., Kim, Y.-P., Zhou, Y.-D., & Nagle, D. G. (2004). Molecular-Targeted Antitumor Agents: TheSaururuscernuusDineolignans Manassantin B and 4-O-Demethylmanassantin B Are Potent Inhibitors of Hypoxia-Activated HIF-1. Journal of Natural Products, 67(5), 767–771.
- Hodi, F. S., O'Day, S. J., McDermott, D. F., Weber, R. W., Sosman, J. A., Haanen, J. B., ... Peschel, C. (2010). Improved Survival with Ipilimumab in Patients with Metastatic Melanoma. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 363(8), 711–723.
- Hollinshead, K. E. R., Parker, S. J., Eapen, V. V., Encarnacion-Rosado, J., Sohn, A., Oncu, T., ... Kimmelman, A. C. (2020). Respiratory Supercomplexes Promote Mitochondrial Efficiency and Growth in Severely Hypoxic Pancreatic Cancer. *Cell Reports*, 33(1), 108231.

- Holzer, K., Drucker, E., Roessler, S., Dauch, D., Heinzmann, F., Waldburger, N., ... Singer, S. (2017). Proteomic Analysis Reveals GMP Synthetase as p53 Repression Target in Liver Cancer. *The American Journal of Pathology*, 187(2), 228–235.
- Hoppe, S., Bierhoff, H., Cado, I., Weber, A., Tiebe, M., Grummt, I., and Voit, R. (2009). AMP-activated protein kinase adapts rRNA synthesis to cellular energy supply. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 106(42), 17781–17786.
- Hosokawa, N., Hara, T., Kaizuka, T., Kishi, C., Takamura, A., Miura, Y., ... Mizushima, N. (2009). Nutrient-dependent mTORC1 Association with the ULK1–Atg13–FIP200 Complex Required for Autophagy. *Molecular Biology of the Cell*, 20(7), 1981–1991.
- Hossain, C. F., Kim, Y.-P., Baerson, S. R., Zhang, L., Bruick, R. K., Mohammed, K. A., ... Zhou, Y.-D. (2005). Saururus cernuus lignans—Potent small molecule inhibitors of hypoxia-inducible factor-1. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 333(3), 1026–1033.)
- Hossain, F., Al-Khami, A. A., Wyczechowska, D., Hernandez, C., Zheng, L., Reiss, K., ... Ochoa, A. C. (2015). Inhibition of Fatty Acid Oxidation Modulates Immunosuppressive Functions of Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells and Enhances Cancer Therapies. *Cancer Immunology Research*, 3(11), 1236–1247. https://doi.org/10.1158/2326-6066.cir-15-0036
- Hosseini, M., Rezvani, H. R., Aroua, N., Bosc, C., Farge, T., Saland, E., ... Sarry, J.-E. (2019). Targeting Myeloperoxidase Disrupts Mitochondrial Redox Balance and Overcomes Cytarabine Resistance in Human Acute Myeloid Leukemia. *Cancer Research*, 79(20), 5191–5203.
- Hou, Y., Lautrup, S., Cordonnier, S., Wang, Y., Croteau, D.L., Zavala, E., Zhang, Y., Moritoh, K., ...Bohr, V.A. (2018). NAD+ supplementation normalizes key Alzheimer's features and DNA damage responses in a new AD mouse model with introduced DNA repair deficiency. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 115(8), pp.E1876–E1885.
- Houten, S. M., and Wanders, R. J. A. (2010). A general introduction to the biochemistry of mitochondrial fatty acid β-oxidation. *Journal of Inherited Metabolic Disease*, 33(5), 469–477.
- Hoxhaj, G., and Manning, B. D. (2019). The PI3K–AKT network at the interface of oncogenic signalling and cancer metabolism. *Nature Reviews Cancer*, 20(2), 74–88.
- Hsieh, A. C., Liu, Y., Edlind, M. P., Ingolia, N. T., Janes, M. R., Sher, A., ... Ruggero, D. (2012). The translational landscape of mTOR signalling steers cancer initiation and metastasis. *Nature*, 485(7396), 55–61.
- Hsu, J.-M., Li, C.-W., Lai, Y.-J., and Hung, M.-C. (2018). Posttranslational Modifications of PD-L1 and Their Applications in Cancer Therapy. *Cancer Research*, 78(22), 6349–6353
- Hu, W., Zhang, C., Wu, R., Sun, Y., Levine, A., and Feng, Z. (2010). Glutaminase 2, a novel p53 target gene regulating energy metabolism and antioxidant function. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 107(16), 7455–7460.
- Hu, S., Xu-Monette, Z.Y., Tzankov, A., Green, T., Wu, L., Balasubramanyam, A., Liu, W. ., ...and Zhao, X. (2013). MYC/BCL2 protein coexpression contributes to the inferior survival of activated B-cell subtype of diffuse large B-cell lymphoma and demonstrates high-risk gene expression signatures: a report from The International DLBCL Rituximab-CHOP Consortium Program. *Blood*, 121(20), pp.4021–4031.
- Hu, H., Juvekar, A., Lyssiotis, Costas A., Lien, Evan C., Albeck, John G., Oh, D., ... Wulf, Gerburg M. (2016). Phosphoinositide
 3-Kinase Regulates Glycolysis through Mobilization of Aldolase from the Actin Cytoskeleton. *Cell*, 164(3), 433–446.
- Huang, L. E. (2008). Carrot and stick: HIF-α engages c-Myc in hypoxic adaptation. *Cell Death and Differentiation*, 15(4), 672–677.
- Huang, F., Ni, M., Chalishazar, M. D., Huffman, K. E., Kim, J., Cai, L., ... DeBerardinis, R. J. (2018). Inosine Monophosphate Dehydrogenase Dependence in a Subset of Small Cell Lung Cancers. *Cell Metabolism*, 28(3), 369-382.e5.
- Hue, L., and Rider, M. H. (1987). Role of fructose 2,6-bisphosphate in the control of glycolysis in mammalian tissues. *Biochemical Journal*, 245(2), 313–324.
- Hurley, R. L., Anderson, K. A., Franzone, J. M., Kemp, B. E., Means, A. R., and Witters, L. A. (2005). The Ca2+/Calmodulindependent Protein Kinase Kinases Are AMP-activated Protein Kinase Kinases. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 280(32), 29060–29066.
- Husain, Z., Huang, Y., Seth, P., and Sukhatme, V. P. (2013). Tumor-Derived Lactate Modifies Antitumor Immune Response: Effect on Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells and NK Cells. *The Journal of Immunology*, 191(3), 1486–1495.
- Hussain, S. P., Amstad, P., He, P., Robles, A., Lupold, S., Kaneko, I., ... Harris, C. C. (2004). p53-Induced Up-Regulation of MnSOD and GPx but not Catalase Increases Oxidative Stress and Apoptosis. *Cancer Research*, *64*(7), 2350–2356.
- Huynh, T. Y. L., Zareba, I., Baszanowska, W., Lewoniewska, S., and Palka, J. (2020). Understanding the role of key amino acids in regulation of proline dehydrogenase/proline oxidase (prodh/pox)-dependent apoptosis/autophagy as an approach to targeted cancer therapy. *Molecular and Cellular Biochemistry*, 466(1-2), 35–44.
- Hwang, B. Y., Lee, J.-H., Nam, J. B., Hong, Y.-S., & Lee, J. J. (2003). Lignans from Saururus chinensis inhibiting the transcription factor NF-κB. *Phytochemistry*, *64*(3), 765–771.
- Icard, P., Poulain, L., and Lincet, H. (2012). Understanding the central role of citrate in the metabolism of cancer cells. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Reviews on Cancer, 1825*(1), 111–116.
- Icard, P., and Lincet, H., (2016). The reduced concentration of citrate in cancer cells: An indicator of cancer aggressiveness and a possible therapeutic target. *Drug Resistance Updates*, *29*, 47–53.
- Ikeda, K., Horie-Inoue, K., Suzuki, T., Hobo, R., Nakasato, N., Takeda, S., and Inoue, S. (2019). Mitochondrial supercomplex assembly promotes breast and endometrial tumorigenesis by metabolic alterations and enhanced hypoxia tolerance. *Nature Communications, 10*(1).
- Imamura, K., Ogura, T., Kishimoto, A., Kaminishi, M., and Esumi, H. (2001). Cell Cycle Regulation via p53 Phosphorylation by a 5'-AMP Activated Protein Kinase Activator, 5-Aminoimidazole- 4-Carboxamide-1-β--Ribofuranoside, in a Human Hepatocellular Carcinoma Cell Line. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 287(2), 562–567.
- Inoki, K., Zhu, T., and Guan, K.-L. (2003). TSC2 Mediates Cellular Energy Response to Control Cell Growth and Survival. *Cell*, 115(5), 577–590.
- Inoki, K., Li, Y., Xu, T., and Guan, K.-L. (2003). Rheb GTPase is a direct target of TSC2 GAP activity and regulates mTOR signaling. *Genes and Development*, 17(15), 1829–1834.

- Inoki, K., Ouyang, H., Zhu, T., Lindvall, C., Wang, Y., Zhang, X., ... Guan, K.-L. (2006). TSC2 Integrates Wnt and Energy Signals via a Coordinated Phosphorylation by AMPK and GSK3 to Regulate Cell Growth. *Cell*, 126(5), 955–968.
- Intlekofer, A. M., and Thompson, C. B. (2013). At the Bench: Preclinical rationale for CTLA-4 and PD-1 blockade as cancer immunotherapy. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, *94*(1), 25–39.
- Intlekofer, Andrew M., Dematteo, Raymond G., Venneti, S., Finley, Lydia W. S., Lu, C., Judkins, Alexander R., ... Thompson, Craig B. (2015). Hypoxia Induces Production of L-2-Hydroxyglutarate. *Cell Metabolism*, 22(2), 304–311.
- Inzucchi, S. E., Maggs, D. G., Spollett, G. R., Page, S. L., Rife, F. S., Walton, V., and Shulman, G. I. (1998). Efficacy and Metabolic Effects of Metformin and Troglitazone in Type II Diabetes Mellitus. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 338(13), 867–873.
- Ippolito, L., Marini, A., Cavallini, L., Morandi, A., Pietrovito, L., Pintus, G., Giannoni, E., Schrader, T., Puhr, M., Chiarugi, P. and Taddei, M.L. (2016). Metabolic shift toward oxidative phosphorylation in docetaxel resistant prostate cancer cells. *Oncotarget*, 7(38), pp.61890–61904.
- Isaacs, J. S., Jung, Y. J., Mole, D. R., Lee, S., Torres-Cabala, C., Chung, Y.-L., ... Neckers, L. (2005). HIF overexpression correlates with biallelic loss of fumarate hydratase in renal cancer: Novel role of fumarate in regulation of HIF stability. *Cancer Cell*, 8(2), 143–153.
- Ishizawa, J., Zarabi, S. F., EricDavis, R., Halgas, O., Nii, T., Jitkova, Y., ... Kojima, K. (2019). Mitochondrial ClpP-Mediated Proteolysis Induces Selective Cancer Cell Lethality. *Cancer Cell*, *35*(5), 721-737.e9.
- Isidori, A., Salvestrini, V., Ciciarello, M., Loscocco, F., Visani, G., Parisi, S., ... Curti, A. (2014). The role of the immunosuppressive microenvironment in acute myeloid leukemia development and treatment. Expert Review of Hematology, 7(6), 807–818.
- Ito, K., Carracedo, A., Weiss, D., Arai, F., Ala, U., Avigan, D. E., ... Pandolfi, P. P. (2012). A PML–PPAR-δ pathway for fatty acid oxidation regulates hematopoietic stem cell maintenance. *Nature Medicine*, *18*(9), 1350–1358.
- Ito, K. and Suda, T. (2014). Metabolic requirements for the maintenance of self-renewing stem cells. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology*, *15*(4), pp.243–256.
- Iyer, N. V., Kotch, L. E., Agani, F., Leung, S. W., Laughner, E., Wenger, R. H., ... Semenza, G. L. (1998). Cellular and developmental control of O2 homeostasis by hypoxia-inducible factor 1alpha. *Genes and Development*, 12(2), 149–162.
- Jacinto, E., Loewith, R., Schmidt, A., Lin, S., Rüegg, M. A., Hall, A., and Hall, M. N. (2004). Mammalian TOR complex 2 controls the actin cytoskeleton and is rapamycin insensitive. *Nature Cell Biology*, *6*(11), 1122–1128.
- Jacque, N., Ronchetti, A. M., Larrue, C., Meunier, G., Birsen, R., Willems, L., ... Bouscary, D. (2015). Targeting glutaminolysis has antileukemic activity in acute myeloid leukemia and synergizes with BCL-2 inhibition. *Blood*, *126*(11), 1346–1356.
- Jäger, S., Handschin, C., St-Pierre, J., and Spiegelman, B. M. (2007). AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) action in skeletal muscle via direct phosphorylation of PGC-1alpha. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 104(29), 12017–12022.
- Jaakkola, P., Mole, D. R., Tian, Y.-M., Wilson, M. I., Gielbert, J., Gaskell, S. J., ... Ratcliffe, P. J. (2001). Targeting of HIF-α to the von Hippel-Lindau Ubiquitylation Complex by O2-Regulated Prolyl Hydroxylation. *Science*, *292*(5516), 468–472.
- Janeway, K.A., Kim, S.Y., Lodish, M., Nosé, V., Rustin, P., Gaal, J., Dahia, P.L.M., Liegl, B., Ball, E.R., Raygada, M., Lai, A.H., Kelly, L., Hornick, J.L., O'Sullivan, M., de Krijger, R.R., Dinjens, W.N.M., Demetri, G.D., Antonescu, C.R., Fletcher, J.A. and Helman, L. (2010). Defects in succinate dehydrogenase in gastrointestinal stromal tumors lackingKITandPDGFRAmutations. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 108(1), pp.314–318.
- Jang, S., Kang, H. T., & Hwang, E. S. (2012). Nicotinamide-induced Mitophagy. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 287(23), 19304–19314.
- Janiszewska, M., Suva, M.L., Riggi, N., Houtkooper, R.H., Auwerx, J., Clement-Schatlo, V., Radovanovic, I., Rheinbay, E., Provero, P. and Stamenkovic, I. (2012). Imp2 controls oxidative phosphorylation and is crucial for preserving glioblastoma cancer stem cells. *Genes and Development*, 26(17), pp.1926–1944.
- Janzer, A., German, N.J., Gonzalez-Herrera, K.N., Asara, J.M., Haigis, M.C. and Struhl, K. (2014). Metformin and phenformin deplete tricarboxylic acid cycle and glycolytic intermediates during cell transformation and NTPs in cancer stem cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 111(29), pp.10574–10579.
- Jha, A.K., Huang, S.-C., Sergushichev, A., Lampropoulou, V., Ivanova, Y., Loginicheva, E., ... Artyomov, Maxim N. (2015). Network Integration of Parallel Metabolic and Transcriptional Data Reveals Metabolic Modules that Regulate Macrophage Polarization. *Immunity*, 42(3), 419–430.
- Ji, H., Ramsey, M. R., Hayes, D. N., Fan, C., McNamara, K., Kozlowski, P., ... Chirieac, L. R. (2007). LKB1 modulates lung cancer differentiation and metastasis. *Nature*, 448(7155), 807–810.
- Jiang, S., Zhang, L.-F., Zhang, H.-W., Hu, S., Lu, M.-H., Liang, S., Li, B., Li, Y., Li, D., Wang, E.-D. and Liu, M.-F. (2012). A novel miR-155/miR-143 cascade controls glycolysis by regulatinghexokinase 2in breast cancer cells. *The EMBO Journal*, 31(8), pp.1985–1998.
- Jiang, H., Khan, S., Wang, Y., Charron, G., He, B., Sebastian, C., ... Lin, H. (2013). SIRT6 regulates TNF-α secretion through hydrolysis of long-chain fatty acyl lysine. *Nature*, *496*(7443), 110–113.
- Jiang, D., LaGory, Edward L., Kenzelmann Brož, D., Bieging, Kathryn T., Brady, Colleen A., Link, N., ... Attardi, Laura D. (2015). Analysis of p53 Transactivation Domain Mutants Reveals Acad11 as a Metabolic Target Important for p53 Pro-Survival Function. Cell Reports, 10(7), 1096–1109.
- Jiang, L., Kon, N., Li, T., Wang, S.-J., Su, T., Hibshoosh, H., ... Gu, W. (2015). Ferroptosis as a p53-mediated activity during tumour suppression. *Nature*, 520(7545), 57–62.
- Jiang, M., Bennani, N.N. and Feldman, A.L. (2017). Lymphoma classification update: T-cell lymphomas, Hodgkin lymphomas, and histiocytic/dendritic cell neoplasms. *Expert Review of Hematology*, 10(3), pp.239–249.
- Jiang, Z., Wang, X., Li, J., Yang, H., and Lin, X. (2018). Aldolase A as a prognostic factor and mediator of progression via inducing epithelial-mesenchymal transition in gastric cancer. *Journal of Cellular and Molecular Medicine*, 22(9), 4377–4386.

- Jonas, B.A., Johnson, C., Gratzinger, D. and Majeti, R. (2016). Alkylator-Induced and Patient-Derived Xenograft Mouse Models of Therapy-Related Myeloid Neoplasms Model Clinical Disease and Suggest the Presence of Multiple Cell Subpopulations with Leukemia Stem Cell Activity. *PLoS ONE 11*(7).
- Jones, R. G., Plas, D. R., Kubek, S., Buzzai, M., Mu, J., Xu, Y., ... Thompson, C. B. (2005). AMP-Activated Protein Kinase Induces a p53-Dependent Metabolic Checkpoint. *Molecular Cell*, 18(3), 283–293.
- Jones, C. L., Stevens, B. M., D'Alessandro, A., Reisz, J. A., Culp-Hill, R., Nemkov, T., ... Jordan, C. T. (2018). Inhibition of Amino Acid Metabolism Selectively Targets Human Leukemia Stem Cells. *Cancer Cell*, 34(5), 724-740.e4.
- Johnson, E.A., Marks, R.S., Mandrekar, S.J., Hillman, S.L., Hauge, M.D., Bauman, M.D., ... and Perez, E.A. (2008). Phase III randomized, double-blind study of maintenance CAI or placebo in patients with advanced non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) after completion of initial therapy (NCCTG 97-24-51). *Lung Cancer*, 60(2), pp.200–207.
- Jorgovanovic, D., Song, M., Wang, L., and Zhang, Y. (2020). Roles of IFN-γ in tumor progression and regression: a review. *Biomarker Research*, 8(1).
- Ju, R., Guo, L., Li, J., Zhu, L., Yu, X., Chen, C., Chen, W., Ye, C. and Zhang, D. (2016). Carboxyamidotriazole inhibits oxidative phosphorylation in cancer cells and exerts synergistic anti-cancer effect with glycolysis inhibition. *Cancer Letters*, 370(2), pp.232–241.
- Ju, H.-Q., Zhan, G., Huang, A., Sun, Y., Wen, S., Yang, J., ... Hu, Y. (2017). ITD mutation in FLT3 tyrosine kinase promotes Warburg effect and renders therapeutic sensitivity to glycolytic inhibition. *Leukemia*, *31*(10), 2143–2150.
- Ju, X., Zhang, H., Zhou, Z., and Wang, Q. (2020). Regulation of PD-L1 expression in cancer and clinical implications in immunotherapy. *American Journal of Cancer Research*, *10*(1), 1–11.
- Junger, W. G. (2011). Immune cell regulation by autocrine purinergic signalling. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 11(3), 201–212.
 Kabata, H., Moro, K., and Koyasu, S. (2018). The group 2 innate lymphoid cell (ILC2) regulatory network and its underlying mechanisms. *Immunological Reviews*, 286(1), 37–52.
- Kadiyala, P., Carney, S. V., Gauss, J. C., Garcia-Fabiani, M. B., Haase, S., Alghamri, M. S., ... Lowenstein, P. R. (2021). Inhibition of 2-hydroxyglutarate elicits metabolic reprogramming and mutant IDH1 glioma immunity in mice. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 131(4).
- Kaelin, W. G., and Ratcliffe, P. J. (2008). Oxygen Sensing by Metazoans: The Central Role of the HIF Hydroxylase Pathway. *Molecular Cell*, 30(4), 393–402.
- Kampen, K. R., Fancello, L., Girardi, T., Rinaldi, G., Planque, M., Sulima, S. O., ... De Keersmaecker, K. (2019). Translatome analysis reveals altered serine and glycine metabolism in T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells. *Nature Communications*, 10(1).
- Kamura, T., Sato, S., Iwai, K., Czyzyk-Krzeska, M., Conaway, R. C., and Conaway, J. W. (2000). Activation of HIF1alpha ubiquitination by a reconstituted von Hippel-Lindau (VHL) tumor suppressor complex. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences of the United States of America, 97(19), 10430–10435.
- Kandoth, C., McLellan, M. D., Vandin, F., Ye, K., Niu, B., Lu, C., ... Ding, L. (2013). Mutational landscape and significance across 12 major cancer types. *Nature*, 502(7471), 333–339.
- Kane, D. A. (2014). Lactate oxidation at the mitochondria: a lactate-malate-aspartate shuttle at work. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 8.
- Kang, R., Kroemer, G., and Tang, D. (2019). The Tumor Suppressor Protein p53 and the Ferroptosis Network. Free Radical Biology and Medicine, 133, 162–168.
- Kansanen, E., Kuosmanen, S. M., Leinonen, H., and Levonen, A.-L. (2013). The Keap1-Nrf2 pathway: Mechanisms of activation and dysregulation in cancer. *Redox Biology*, 1(1), 45–49.
- Kant, S., Kesarwani, P., Prabhu, A., Graham, S.F., Buelow, K.L., Nakano, I. and Chinnaiyan, P. (2020). Enhanced fatty acid oxidation provides glioblastoma cells metabolic plasticity to accommodate to its dynamic nutrient microenvironment. *Cell Death and Disease*, 11(4).
- Kantarjian, H., Kadia, T., DiNardo, C., Daver, N., Borthakur, G., Jabbour, E., ... Ravandi, F. (2021). Acute myeloid leukemia: current progress and future directions. *Blood Cancer Journal*, 11(2).
- Karakas, B., Bachman, K. E., and Park, B. H. (2006). Mutation of the PIK3CA oncogene in human cancers. *British Journal of Cancer*, *94*(4), 455–459.
- Kaufman, J.M., Amann, J.M., Park, K., Arasada, R.R., Li, H., Shyr, Y. and Carbone, D.P. (2014). LKB1 Loss Induces Characteristic Patterns of Gene Expression in Human Tumors Associated with NRF2 Activation and Attenuation of PI3K-AKT. *Journal of Thoracic Oncology*, 9(6), pp.794–804.
- Kawaguchi, T., Osatomi, K., Yamashita, H., Kabashima, T., and Uyeda, K. (2001). Mechanism for Fatty Acid "Sparing" Effect on Glucose-induced Transcription. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277(6), 3829–3835.
- Kawauchi, K., Araki, K., Tobiume, K., and Tanaka, N. (2008). p53 regulates glucose metabolism through an IKK-NF-κB pathway and inhibits cell transformation. *Nature Cell Biology*, *10*(5), 611–618.
- Kemmner, W., Wan, K., Rüttinger, S., Ebert, B., Macdonald, R., Klamm, U., and Moesta, K. T. (2007). Silencing of human ferrochelatase causes abundant protoporphyrin-IX accumulation in colon cancer. *The FASEB Journal*, 22(2), 500–509.
- Kenzelmann Broz, D., Spano Mello, S., Bieging, K. T., Jiang, D., Dusek, R. L., Brady, C. A., ... Attardi, L. D. (2013). Global genomic profiling reveals an extensive p53-regulated autophagy program contributing to key p53 responses. *Genes and Development*, 27(9), 1016–1031.
- Kerr, J. F. R., Wyllie, A. H., and Currie, A. R. (1972). Apoptosis: A Basic Biological Phenomenon with Wideranging Implications in Tissue Kinetics. *British Journal of Cancer*, 26(4), 239–257. https://doi.org/10.1038/bjc.1972.33
- Keshet, R., and Erez, A. (2018). Arginine and the metabolic regulation of nitric oxide synthesis in cancer. *Disease Models and Mechanisms*, *11*(8), dmm033332.
- Khan, H., Anshu, A., Prasad, A., Roy, S., Jeffery, J., Kittipongdaja, W., ... Schieke, S. M. (2019). Metabolic Rewiring in Response to Biguanides Is Mediated by mROS/HIF-1a in Malignant Lymphocytes. *Cell Reports, 29*(10), 3009-3018.e4.

- Khutornenko, A. A., Roudko, V. V., Chernyak, B. V., Vartapetian, A. B., Chumakov, P. M., and Evstafieva, A. G. (2010). Pyrimidine biosynthesis links mitochondrial respiration to the p53 pathway. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 107(29), 12828–12833.
- Kilic, M., Kasperczyk, H., Fulda, S., and Debatin, K-M. (2006). Role of hypoxia inducible factor-1 alpha in modulation of apoptosis resistance. Oncogene, 26(14), 2027–2038.
- Killian, J.K., Kim, S.Y., Miettinen, M., Smith, C., Merino, M., Tsokos, M., Quezado, M., ... and Waterfall, J.J. (2013). Succinate Dehydrogenase Mutation Underlies Global Epigenomic Divergence in Gastrointestinal Stromal Tumor. *Cancer Discovery*, 3(6), pp.648–657.
- Kim, J. E., and Chen, J. (2004). Regulation of Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated Receptor- Activity by Mammalian Target of Rapamycin and Amino Acids in Adipogenesis. *Diabetes*, 53(11), 2748–2756. https://doi.org/10.2337/diabetes.53.11.2748
- Kim, E., Goraksha-Hicks, P., Li, L., Neufeld, T. P., and Guan, K.-L. (2008). Regulation of TORC1 by Rag GTPases in nutrient response. *Nature Cell Biology*, 10(8), 935–945.
- Kim, J., Tchernyshyov, I., Semenza, G. L., and Dang, C. V. (2006). HIF-1-mediated expression of pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase: a metabolic switch required for cellular adaptation to hypoxia. *Cell Metabolism, 3*(3), 177–185.
- Kim, J., Gao, P., Liu, Y.-C., Semenza, G. L., and Dang, C. V. (2007). Hypoxia-Inducible Factor 1 and Dysregulated c-Myc Cooperatively Induce Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor and Metabolic Switches Hexokinase 2 and Pyruvate Dehydrogenase Kinase 1. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 27(21), 7381–7393.
- Kim, J., Kundu, M., Viollet, B., and Guan, K.-L. (2011). AMPK and mTOR regulate autophagy through direct phosphorylation of Ulk1. *Nature Cell Biology*, 13(2), 132–141.
- Kim, H. J., Khalimonchuk, O., Smith, P. M., and Winge, D. R. (2012). Structure, function, and assembly of heme centers in mitochondrial respiratory complexes. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Molecular Cell Research*, 1823(9), 1604–1616.
- Kim, H.-R., Roe, J.-S., Lee, J.-E., Hwang, I.-Y., Cho, E.-J., and Youn, H.-D. (2012b). A p53-inducible microRNA-34a downregulates Ras signaling by targeting IMPDH. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 418(4), 682–688.
- Kim, H.-R., Roe, J.-S., Lee, J.-E., Cho, E.-J., and Youn, H.-D. (2013). p53 regulates glucose metabolism by miR-34a. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications, 437(2), 225–231.
- Kim, S., Kim, D.H., Jung, W.-H. and Koo, J.S. (2013b). Succinate dehydrogenase expression in breast cancer. SpringerPlus, 2(1).
- Kim, Y.-M., Jung, C., Seo, M., Kim, E., Park, J.-M., Bae, S., and Kim, D.-H. (2015). mTORC1 Phosphorylates UVRAG to Negatively Regulate Autophagosome and Endosome Maturation. *Molecular Cell*, 57(2), 207–218.
- Kiritsy, M.C., Mott, D., Behar, S.M., Sassetti, C.M. and Olive, A.J. (2020). Mitochondrial respiration contributes to the interferon gamma response in antigen presenting cells. *bioRxiv*.
- Kitamura, N., Nakamura, Y., Miyamoto, Y., Miyamoto, T., Kabu, K., Yoshida, M., ... Arakawa, H. (2011). Mieap, a p53-Inducible Protein, Controls Mitochondrial Quality by Repairing or Eliminating Unhealthy Mitochondria. *PLoS ONE*, *6*(1), e16060.
- Knaus, H. A., Berglund, S., Hackl, H., Blackford, A. L., Zeidner, J. F., Montiel-Esparza, R., ... Gojo, I. (2018). Signatures of CD8+ T cell dysfunction in AML patients and their reversibility with response to chemotherapy. *JCI Insight*, *3*(21).
- Ko, M., Huang, Y., Jankowska, A. M., Pape, U. J., Tahiliani, M., Bandukwala, H. S., ... Rao, A. (2010). Impaired hydroxylation of 5-methylcytosine in myeloid cancers with mutant TET2. *Nature*, 468(7325), 839–843.
- Kocemba-Pilarczyk, K. A., Trojan, S., Ostrowska, B., Lasota, M., Dudzik, P., Kusior, D., and Kot, M. (2020). Influence of metformin on HIF-1 pathway in multiple myeloma. *Pharmacological Reports*, 72(5), 1407–1417.
- Komatsu, M., Kanda, T., Urai, H., Kurokochi, A., Kitahama, R., Shigaki, S., Ono, T., Yukioka, H., ... Itoh, H. (2018). NNMT activation can contribute to the development of fatty liver disease by modulating the NAD ⁺ metabolism. *Scientific Reports*, 8(1).
- Kong, B., Wang, Q., Fung, E., Xue, K., and Tsang, B. K. (2014). p53 Is Required for Cisplatin-induced Processing of the Mitochondrial Fusion Protein L-Opa1 That Is Mediated by the Mitochondrial Metallopeptidase Oma1 in Gynecologic Cancers. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 289(39), 27134–27145.
- Koivunen, P., Lee, S., Duncan, C. G., Lopez, G., Lu, G., Ramkissoon, S., ... Kaelin Jr, W. G. (2012). Transformation by the (R)enantiomer of 2-hydroxyglutarate linked to EGLN activation. *Nature*, 483(7390), 484–488
- Korla, K., Vadlakonda, L., and Mitra, C. K. (2015). Kinetic simulation of malate-aspartate and citrate-pyruvate shuttles in association with Krebs cycle. *Journal of Biomolecular Structure and Dynamics*, 33(11), 2390–2403.
- Kory, N., uit de Bos, J., van der Rijt, S., Jankovic, N., Güra, M., Arp, N., ... Sabatini, D. M. (2020). MCART1/SLC25A51 is required for mitochondrial NAD transport. *Science Advances*, 6(43), eabe5310.
- Kotschy, A., Szlavik, Z., Murray, J., Davidson, J., Maragno, A. L., Le Toumelin-Braizat, G., ... Blasko, G. (2016). The MCL1 inhibitor S63845 is tolerable and effective in diverse cancer models. *Nature*, *538*(7626), 477–482.
- Kreitz, J., Schönfeld, C., Seibert, M., Stolp, V., Alshamleh, I., Oellerich, T., ... Serve, H. (2019). Metabolic Plasticity of Acute Myeloid Leukemia. *Cells*, 8(8), 805.
- Kuhajda, F.P., Jenner, K., Wood, F.D., Hennigar, R.A., Jacobs, L.B., Dick, J.D. and Pasternack, G.R. (1994). Fatty acid synthesis: a potential selective target for antineoplastic therapy. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 91(14), pp.6379– 6383.
- Kunisada, Y., Eikawa, S., Tomonobu, N., Domae, S., Uehara, T., Hori, S., ... Udono, H. (2017). Attenuation of CD4 + CD25 + Regulatory T Cells in the Tumor Microenvironment by Metformin, a Type 2 Diabetes Drug. *EBioMedicine*, *25*, 154–164.
- Kurelac, I., Umesh Ganesh, N., Iorio, M., Porcelli, A. M., and Gasparre, G. (2020). The multifaceted effects of metformin on tumor microenvironment. *Seminars in Cell and Developmental Biology*, *98*, 90–97.
- Kwong, S.C. and Brubacher, J. (1998). Phenformin and lactic acidosis: a case report and review. *The Journal of Emergency Medicine*, 16(6), pp.881–886.
- Lacroix, M., Riscal, R., Arena, G., Linares, L. K., and Le Cam, L. (2020). Metabolic functions of the tumor suppressor p53: Implications in normal physiology, metabolic disorders, and cancer. *Molecular Metabolism*, 33, 2–22.

- Ladanyi, A., Mukherjee, A., Kenny, H.A., Johnson, A., Mitra, A.K., ...and Lengyel, E. (2018). Adipocyte-induced CD36 expression drives ovarian cancer progression and metastasis. *Oncogene*, *37*(17), pp.2285–2301.
- Lagadinou, E. D., Sach, A., Callahan, K., Rossi, R. M., Neering, S. J., Minhajuddin, M., ... Jordan, C. T. (2013). BCL-2 Inhibition Targets Oxidative Phosphorylation and Selectively Eradicates Quiescent Human Leukemia Stem Cells. *Cell Stem Cell*, 12(3), 329–341.
- Lagunas-Rangel, F. A. (2019). Current role of mammalian sirtuins in DNA repair. DNA Repair, 80, 85-92.
- Lai, K., Selinger, D. W., Solomon, J. M., Wu, H., Schmitt, E., Serluca, F. C., ... Benson, J. D. (2012). Integrated Compound Profiling Screens Identify the Mitochondrial Electron Transport Chain as the Molecular Target of the Natural Products Manassantin, Sesquicillin, and Arctigenin. ACS Chemical Biology, 8(1), 257–267.
- Lakin, N. D., and Jackson, S. P. (1999). Regulation of p53 in response to DNA damage. Oncogene, 18(53), 7644–7655.
- Lamberti, M. J., Pansa, M. F., Vera, R. E., Fernández-Zapico, M. E., Rumie Vittar, N. B., and Rivarola, V. A. (2017). Transcriptional activation of HIF-1 by a ROS-ERK axis underlies the resistance to photodynamic therapy. *PLOS ONE*, 12(5), e0177801.
- Lamble, A. J., and Lind, E. F. (2018). Targeting the Immune Microenvironment in Acute Myeloid Leukemia: A Focus on T Cell Immunity. *Frontiers in Oncology*, 8.
- Lampropoulou, V., Sergushichev, A., Bambouskova, M., Nair, S., Vincent, Emma E., Loginicheva, E., ... Artyomov, Maxim N. (2016). Itaconate Links Inhibition of Succinate Dehydrogenase with Macrophage Metabolic Remodeling and Regulation of Inflammation. *Cell Metabolism*, 24(1), 158–166.
- Lando, D., Peet, D. J., Gorman, J. J., Whelan, D. A., Whitelaw, M. L., and Bruick, R. K. (2002). FIH-1 is an asparaginyl hydroxylase enzyme that regulates the transcriptional activity of hypoxia-inducible factor. *Genes and Development*, *16*(12), 1466–1471.
- Lane, D. P. (1992). p53, guardian of the genome. Nature, 358(6381), 15-16.
- Lapuente-Brun, E., Moreno-Loshuertos, R., Acín-Pérez, R., Latorre-Pellicer, A., Colás, C., Balsa, E., ... Enríquez, J. A. (2013). Supercomplex Assembly Determines Electron Flux in the Mitochondrial Electron Transport Chain. *Science*, 340(6140), 1567–1570.
- Le, A., Lane, Andrew N., Hamaker, M., Bose, S., Gouw, A., Barbi, J., Tsukamoto, T., and Dang, C. V. (2012). Glucose-Independent Glutamine Metabolism via TCA Cycling for Proliferation and Survival in B Cells. *Cell Metabolism*, 15(1), pp.110–121.
- Le Good, J. A., Ziegler, W. H., Parekh, D. B., Alessi, D. R., Cohen, P., and Parker, P. J. (1998). Protein Kinase C Isotypes Controlled by Phosphoinositide 3-Kinase Through the Protein Kinase PDK1. *Science*, 281(5385), 2042–2045.
- Leach, D. R., Krummel, M. F., and Allison, J. P. (1996). Enhancement of Antitumor Immunity by CTLA-4 Blockade. *Science*, 271(5256), 1734–1736.
- Ledderose, C., Woehrle, T., Ledderose, S., Strasser, K., Seist, R., Bao, Y., ... Junger, W. G. (2016). Cutting off the power: inhibition of leukemia cell growth by pausing basal ATP release and P2X receptor signaling? *Purinergic Signalling*, *12*(3), 439–451.
- Lee, S.-J., Jang, B.-C., Lee, S.-W., Yang, Y.-I., Suh, S.-I., Park, Y.-M., Oh, S., Shin, J.-G., Yao, S., Chen, L. and Choi, I.-H. (2006). Interferon regulatory factor-1 is prerequisite to the constitutive expression and IFN-γ-induced upregulation of B7-H1 (CD274). *FEBS Letters*, 580(3), pp.755–762.
- Lee, D.-F., Kuo, H.-P., Chen, C.-T., Hsu, J.-M., Chou, C.-K., Wei, Y., ... Tsai, C.-H. (2007). IKKβ Suppression of TSC1 Links Inflammation and Tumor Angiogenesis via the mTOR Pathway. *Cell*, *130*(3), 440–455.
- Lee, H.S., Qi, Y. and Im, W. (2015). Effects of N-glycosylation on protein conformation and dynamics: Protein Data Bank analysis and molecular dynamics simulation study. *Scientific Reports*, 5(1).
- Lee, S.Y., Jeon, H.M., Ju, M.K., Jeong, E.K., Kim, C.H., Park, H.G., Han, S.I. and Kang, H.S. (2016). Dlx-2 and glutaminase upregulate epithelial-mesenchymal transition and glycolytic switch. *Oncotarget*, 7(7), pp.7925–7939.
- Lee, S., Moon, J. S., Lee, C.-R., Kim, H.-E., Baek, S.-M., Hwang, S., ... Choi, M. (2016b). Abatacept alleviates severe autoimmune symptoms in a patient carrying a de novo variant in CTLA-4. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, 137(1), 327–330.
- Lee, J.-H., Liu, R., Li, J., Zhang, C., Wang, Y., Cai, Q., Qian, X., Xia, Y., Zheng, Y., Piao, Y., Chen, Q., de Groot, J.F., Jiang, T. and Lu, Z. (2017). Stabilization of phosphofructokinase 1 platelet isoform by AKT promotes tumorigenesis. Nature Communications, 8(1).
- Lee, K., Giltnane, J. M., Balko, J. M., Schwarz, L. J., Guerrero-Zotano, A. L., Hutchinson, K. E., ... Arteaga, C. L. (2017b). MYC and MCL1 Cooperatively Promote Chemotherapy-Resistant Breast Cancer Stem Cells via Regulation of Mitochondrial Oxidative Phosphorylation. *Cell Metabolism*, 26(4), 633-647.e7.
- Lei, C., Chen, J., Li, H., Fan, T., Zheng, X., Wang, H., ... Wang, A. (2020). Role of the Mitochondrial Citrate-malate Shuttle in Hras12V-Induced Hepatocarcinogenesis: A Metabolomics-Based Analysis. *Metabolites*, 10(5), 193.
- Leone, R. D., Lo, Y.-C., and Powell, J. D. (2015). A2aR antagonists: Next generation checkpoint blockade for cancer immunotherapy. *Computational and Structural Biotechnology Journal*, 13, 265–272.
- Letts, J. A., Fiedorczuk, K., and Sazanov, L. A. (2016). The architecture of respiratory supercomplexes. *Nature*, 537(7622), 644-648.
- Lewis, C. A., Parker, S. J., Fiske, B. P., McCloskey, D., Gui, D. Y., Green, C. R., ... Metallo, C. M. (2014). Tracing Compartmentalized NADPH Metabolism in the Cytosol and Mitochondria of Mammalian Cells. *Molecular Cell*, 55(2), 253– 263.
- Li, F., Wang, Y., Zeller, K. I., Potter, J. J., Wonsey, D. R., O'Donnell, K. A., ... Dang, C. V. (2005). Myc Stimulates Nuclearly Encoded Mitochondrial Genes and Mitochondrial Biogenesis. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 25(14), 6225–6234.
- Li, J., Donath, S., Li, Y., Qin, D., Prabhakar, B. S., and Li, P. (2010). miR-30 Regulates Mitochondrial Fission through Targeting p53 and the Dynamin-Related Protein-1 Pathway. *PLoS Genetics*, *6*(1), e1000795.

- Li, Y., Xu, S., Mihaylova, M. M., Zheng, B., Hou, X., Jiang, B., ... Zang, M. (2011). AMPK Phosphorylates and Inhibits SREBP Activity to Attenuate Hepatic Steatosis and Atherosclerosis in Diet-Induced Insulin-Resistant Mice. *Cell Metabolism*, 13(4), 376–388.
- Li, X., Gu, J., and Zhou, Q. (2015). Review of aerobic glycolysis and its key enzymes new targets for lung cancer therapy. *Thoracic Cancer*, 6(1), 17–24.
- Li, C.-W., Lim, S.-O., Xia, W., Lee, H.-H., Chan, L.-C., Kuo, C.-W., Khoo, K.-H., Chang, S.-S., Cha, J.-H., Kim, T., Hsu, J.L., Wu, Y., Hsu, J.-M., Yamaguchi, H., Ding, Q., Wang, Y., Yao, J., Lee, C.-C., Wu, H.-J. and Sahin, A.A. (2016). Glycosylation and stabilization of programmed death ligand-1 suppresses T-cell activity. *Nature Communications*, 7(1)
- Li, J., Wang, L., Chen, X., Li, L., Li, Y., Ping, Y., ... Zhang, Y. (2017). CD39/CD73 upregulation on myeloid-derived suppressor cells via TGF-β-mTOR-HIF-1 signaling in patients with non-small cell lung cancer. *OncoImmunology*, 6(6), e1320011.
- Li, L., Wang, L., Li, J., Fan, Z., Yang, L., Zhang, Z., ... Zhang, Y. (2018). Metformin-Induced Reduction of CD39 and CD73 Blocks Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cell Activity in Patients with Ovarian Cancer. *Cancer Research*, *78*(7), 1779–1791.
- Li, M., Kirtane, A.R., Kiyokawa, J., Nagashima, H., Lopes, A., Tirmizi, Z.A., Lee, C.K., Traverso, G., Cahill, D.P. and Wakimoto, H. (2020). Local Targeting of NAD+ Salvage Pathway Alters the Immune Tumor Microenvironment and Enhances Checkpoint Immunotherapy in Glioblastoma. *Cancer Research*, *80*(22), pp.5024–5034.
- Lin, C.-C., Cheng, T.-L., Tsai, W.-H., Tsai, H.-J., Hu, K.-H., Chang, H.-C., ... Chang, W.-T. (2012). Loss of the respiratory enzyme citrate synthase directly links the Warburg effect to tumor malignancy. *Scientific Reports*, 2(1).
- Lin, K. H., Xie, A., Rutter, J. C., Ahn, Y., Lloyd-Cowden, J. M., Nichols, A. G., ... Wood, K. C. (2019). Systematic Dissection of the Metabolic-Apoptotic Interface in AML Reveals Heme Biosynthesis to Be a Regulator of Drug Sensitivity. *Cell Metabolism, 29*(5), 1217-1231.e7.
- Lin, R., Elf, S., Shan, C., Kang, H.-B., Ji, Q., Zhou, L., ... Chen, J. (2015). 6-Phosphogluconate dehydrogenase links oxidative PPP, lipogenesis and tumour growth by inhibiting LKB1–AMPK signalling. *Nature Cell Biology*, *17*(11), 1484–1496.
- Lissanu Deribe, Y., Sun, Y., Terranova, C., Khan, F., Martinez-Ledesma, J., Gay, J., Gao, G., ...and Moran, C. (2018). Mutations in the SWI/SNF complex induce a targetable dependence on oxidative phosphorylation in lung cancer. *Nature Medicine*, 24(7), pp.1047–1057.
- Liszt, G., Ford, E., Kurtev, M., & Guarente, L. (2005). Mouse Sir2 homolog SIRT6 is a nuclear ADP-ribosyltransferase. The Journal of Biological Chemistry, 280(22), 21313–21320. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M413296200
- Liu, G., and Chen, X. (2002). The ferredoxin reductase gene is regulated by the p53 family and sensitizes cells to oxidative stressinduced apoptosis. *Oncogene*, 21(47), 7195–7204.
- Liu, Y., Borchert, G. L., Surazynski, A., Hu, C.-A. ., and Phang, J. M. (2006). Proline oxidase activates both intrinsic and extrinsic pathways for apoptosis: the role of ROS/superoxides, NFAT and MEK/ERK signaling. *Oncogene*, *25*(41), 5640–5647.
- Liu, Y.-C., Li, F., Handler, J., Huang, C. R. L., Xiang, Y., Neretti, N., ... Dang, C. V. (2008). Global Regulation of Nucleotide Biosynthetic Genes by c-Myc. *PLoS ONE*, *3*(7), e2722.
- Liu, Y., Borchert, G. L., Surazynski, A., and Phang, J. M. (2008). Proline oxidase, a p53-induced gene, targets COX-2/PGE2 signaling to induce apoptosis and inhibit tumor growth in colorectal cancers. *Oncogene*, *27*(53), 6729–6737.
- Liu, P., Cheng, H., Roberts, T. M., and Zhao, J. J. (2009). Targeting the phosphoinositide 3-kinase pathway in cancer. *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery*, 8(8), 627–644.
- Liu, Y., Borchert, G. L., Donald, S. P., Diwan, B. A., Anver, M., and Phang, J. M. (2009). Proline Oxidase Functions as a Mitochondrial Tumor Suppressor in Human Cancers. *Cancer Research*, 69(16), 6414–6422.
- Liu, W., and Phang, J. M. (2012). Proline dehydrogenase (oxidase) in cancer. *BioFactors*, 38(6), 398–406.
- Liu, W., Glunde, K., Bhujwalla, Z. M., Raman, V., Sharma, A., and Phang, J. M. (2012). Proline Oxidase Promotes Tumor Cell Survival in Hypoxic Tumor Microenvironments. *Cancer Research*, 72(14), 3677–3686.
- Liu, W., Le, A., Hancock, C., Lane, A.N., Dang, C.V., Fan, T.W. M. and Phang, J.M. (2012b). Reprogramming of proline and glutamine metabolism contributes to the proliferative and metabolic responses regulated by oncogenic transcription factor c-MYC. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 109(23), pp.8983–8988.
- Liu, Y., He, Y., Jin, A., Tikunov, A. P., Zhou, L., Tollini, L. A., ... Zhang, Y. (2014). Ribosomal protein-Mdm2-p53 pathway coordinates nutrient stress with lipid metabolism by regulating MCD and promoting fatty acid oxidation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 111(23), E2414–E2422. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1315605111
- Liu, W., Hancock, C. N., Fischer, J. W., Harman, M., and Phang, J. M. (2015). Proline biosynthesis augments tumor cell growth and aerobic glycolysis: involvement of pyridine nucleotides. *Scientific Reports*, 5(1).
- Liu, X., Qu, H., Zheng, Y., Liao, Q., Zhang, L., Liao, X., ... Zheng, H. (2018). Mitochondrial glycerol 3-phosphate dehydrogenase promotes skeletal muscle regeneration. *EMBO Molecular Medicine*, 10(12).
- Liu, L., Su, X., Quinn, W. J., Hui, S., Krukenberg, K., Frederick, D. W., ... Rabinowitz, J. D. (2018b). Quantitative Analysis of NAD Synthesis-Breakdown Fluxes. *Cell Metabolism*, 27(5), 1067-1080.e5.
- Liu, Y., Bewersdorf, J. P., Stahl, M., and Zeidan, A. M. (2019). Immunotherapy in acute myeloid leukemia and myelodysplastic syndromes: The dawn of a new era? *Blood Reviews*, *34*, 67–83. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.blre.2018.12.001
- Liu, G. Y., and Sabatini, D. M. (2020). mTOR at the nexus of nutrition, growth, ageing and disease. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology*.
- Liyanage, S. U., Hurren, R., Voisin, V., Bridon, G., Wang, X., Xu, C., ... Schimmer, A. D. (2017). Leveraging increased cytoplasmic nucleoside kinase activity to target mtDNA and oxidative phosphorylation in AML. *Blood*, *129*(19), 2657–2666.
- Locasale, J. W., Grassian, A. R., Melman, T., Lyssiotis, C. A., Mattaini, K. R., Bass, A. J., ... Vander Heiden, M. G. (2011). Phosphoglycerate dehydrogenase diverts glycolytic flux and contributes to oncogenesis. *Nature Genetics*, 43(9), 869–874.
- Long, X., Lin, Y., Ortiz-Vega, S., Yonezawa, K., and Avruch, J. (2005). Rheb Binds and Regulates the mTOR Kinase. Current Biology, 15(8), 702–713.

- Lowman, X. H., McDonnell, M. A., Kosloske, A., Odumade, O. A., Jenness, C., Karim, C. B., ... Kelekar, A. (2010). The Proapoptotic Function of Noxa in Human Leukemia Cells Is Regulated by the Kinase Cdk5 and by Glucose. *Molecular Cell*, 40(5), 823–833.
- Lu, C., Ward, P. S., Kapoor, G. S., Rohle, D., Turcan, S., Abdel-Wahab, O., ... Thompson, C. B. (2012). IDH mutation impairs histone demethylation and results in a block to cell differentiation. *Nature*, *483*(7390), 474–478.
- Lu, Y., Hwang, S.-L., Son, J. K., & Chang, H. W. (2013). Manassantin B Isolated from Saururus chinensis Inhibits Cyclooxygenase-2-Dependent Prostaglandin D2 Generation by Blocking Fyn-Mediated Nuclear Factor-kappaB and Mitogen Activated Protein Kinase Pathways in Bone Marrow Derived-Mast Cells. *Biological and Pharmaceutical Bulletin*, 36(8), 1370–1374.
- Lucantoni, F., Düssmann, H., Llorente-Folch, I., and Prehn, J. H. M. (2018). BCL2 and BCL(X)L selective inhibitors decrease mitochondrial ATP production in breast cancer cells and are synthetically lethal when combined with 2-deoxy-D-glucose. *Oncotarget*, 9(40), 26046–26063.
- Lucantoni, F., Salvucci, M., Düssmann, H., Lindner, A. U., Lambrechts, D., and Prehn, J. H. M. (2020). BCL(X)L and BCL2 increase the metabolic fitness of breast cancer cells: a single-cell imaging study. *Cell Death and Differentiation*.
- Lucarelli, G., Galleggiante, V., Rutigliano, M., Sanguedolce, F., Cagiano, S., Bufo, P., ... Ditonno, P. (2015). Metabolomic profile of glycolysis and the pentose phosphate pathway identifies the central role of glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase in clear cell-renal cell carcinoma. *Oncotarget*, *6*(15).
- Lucas, J., Hsieh, T.-C., Halicka, H.D., Darzynkiewicz, Z. and Wu, J. (2018). Upregulation of PD-L1 expression by resveratrol and piceatannol in breast and colorectal cancer cells occurs via HDAC3/p300-mediated NF-κB signaling. *International Journal of Oncology*.
- Lucena-Cacace, A., Otero-Albiol, D., Jiménez-García, M.P., Peinado-Serrano, J. and Carnero, A. (2017). NAMPT overexpression induces cancer stemness and defines a novel tumor signature for glioma prognosis. *Oncotarget*, 8(59), pp.99514–99530.
- Lukey, M. J., Cluntun, A. A., Katt, W. P., Lin, M. J., Druso, J. E., Ramachandran, S., ... Cerione, R. A. (2019). Liver-Type Glutaminase GLS2 Is a Druggable Metabolic Node in Luminal-Subtype Breast Cancer. *Cell Reports*, 29(1), 76-88.e7.
- Luongo, T. S., Eller, J. M., Lu, M.-J., Niere, M., Raith, F., Perry, C., ... Baur, J. A. (2020). SLC25A51 is a mammalian mitochondrial NAD+ transporter. *Nature*, 588(7836), 174–179.
- Luzzi, K.J., Varghese, H.J., MacDonald, I.C., Schmidt, E.E., Kohn, E.C., Morris, V.L., Marshall, K.E., Chambers, A.F. and Groom, A.C. (1998). Inhibition of angiogenesis in liver metastases by carboxyamidotriazole (CAI). *Angiogenesis*, 2(4), pp.373–379.
- Lv, H., Lv, G., Chen, C., Zong, Q., Jiang, G., Ye, D., ... Wang, H. (2020). NAD+ Metabolism Maintains Inducible PD-L1 Expression to Drive Tumor Immune Evasion. *Cell Metabolism*.
- Ma, X. M., Yoon, S.-O., Richardson, C. J., Jülich, K., and Blenis, J. (2008). SKAR Links Pre-mRNA Splicing to mTOR/S6K1-Mediated Enhanced Translation Efficiency of Spliced mRNAs. Cell, 133(2), 303–313.
- Ma, L., Chen, Z., Erdjument-Bromage, H., Tempst, P., and Pandolfi, P. P. (2005). Phosphorylation and Functional Inactivation of TSC2 by Erk. Cell, 121(2), 179–193.
- Ma, E. H., Bantug, G., Griss, T., Condotta, S., Johnson, R. M., Samborska, B., ... Richer, M. J. (2017). Serine Is an Essential Metabolite for Effector T Cell Expansion. *Cell Metabolism*, 25(2), 345–357.
- Ma, Y., Min, H.-K., Oh, U., Hawkridge, A. M., Wang, W., Mohsin, A. A., ... Fang, X. (2017b). The lignan manassantin is a potent and specific inhibitor of mitochondrial complex I and bioenergetic activity in mammals. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 292(51), 20989–20997.
- MacIver, N. J., Michalek, R. D., and Rathmell, J. C. (2013). Metabolic Regulation of T Lymphocytes. *Annual Review of Immunology*, *31*(1), 259–283.
- Mackay, G. M., Zheng, L., van den Broek, N. J. F., and Gottlieb, E. (2015). Analysis of Cell Metabolism Using LC-MS and Isotope Tracers. *Methods in Enzymology*, 561, 171–196.
- Mahon, P. C., Hirota, K., and Semenza, G. L. (2001). FIH-1: a novel protein that interacts with HIF-1alpha and VHL to mediate repression of HIF-1 transcriptional activity. *Genes and Development*, *15*(20), 2675–2686.
- Majewski, N., Nogueira, V., Robey, R. B., and Hay, N. (2004). Akt Inhibits Apoptosis Downstream of BID Cleavage via a Glucose-Dependent Mechanism Involving Mitochondrial Hexokinases. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 24(2), 730–740.
- Manfredi, G., Kwong, J. Q., Oca-CossioJ. A., Woischnik, M., Gajewski, C. D., Martushova, K., ... Moraes, C. T. (2003). BCL-2 Improves Oxidative Phosphorylation and Modulates Adenine Nucleotide Translocation in Mitochondria of Cells Harboring Mutant mtDNA. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 278(8), 5639–5645.
- Mantovani, A., Marchesi, F., Malesci, A., Laghi, L., and Allavena, P. (2017). Tumour-associated macrophages as treatment targets in oncology. *Nature Reviews Clinical Oncology*, 14(7), 399–416.
- Marchi, S., Corricelli, M., Branchini, A., Vitto, V. A. M., Missiroli, S., Morciano, G., ... Pinton, P. (2018). Akt-mediated phosphorylation of MICU 1 regulates mitochondrial Ca2+ levels and tumor growth. *The EMBO Journal*, 38(2).
- Marcucci, F., Romeo, E., Caserta, C. A., Rumio, C., and Lefoulon, F. (2020). Context-Dependent Pharmacological Effects of Metformin on the Immune System. *Trends in Pharmacological Sciences*, *41*(3), 162–171.
- Mardis, E. R., Ding, L., Dooling, D. J., Larson, D. E., McLellan, M. D., Chen, K., ... Ley, T. J. (2009). Recurring Mutations Found by Sequencing an Acute Myeloid Leukemia Genome. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *361*(11), 1058–1066.
- Marin, E., Bouchet-Delbos, L., Renoult, O., Louvet, C., Nerriere-Daguin, V., Managh, A. J., ... Blancho, G. (2019). Human Tolerogenic Dendritic Cells Regulate Immune Responses through Lactate Synthesis. *Cell Metabolism*, 30(6), 1075-1090.e8.
- Marsin, A-S., Bertrand[†], L., Rider, M. H., Deprez, J., Beauloye, C., Vincent[‡], M. F., ... Hue, L. (2000). Phosphorylation and activation of heart PFK-2 by AMPK has a role in the stimulation of glycolysis during ischaemia. *Current Biology*, 10(20), 1247–1255.
- Martin, M.J., Eberlein, C., Taylor, M., Ashton, S., Robinson, D. and Cross, D. (2016). Inhibition of oxidative phosphorylation suppresses the development of osimertinib resistance in a preclinical model of EGFR-driven lung adenocarcinoma. *Oncotarget*, 7(52), pp.86313–86325.

- Martina, J. A., Chen, Y., Gucek, M., and Puertollano, R. (2012). MTORC1 functions as a transcriptional regulator of autophagy by preventing nuclear transport of TFEB. *Autophagy*, 8(6), 903–914.
- Martínez-Reyes, I. and Chandel, N.S. (2020). Mitochondrial TCA cycle metabolites control physiology and disease. *Nature Communications*, 11(1), pp.1–11.
- Mascanfroni, I.D., Yeste, A., Vieira, S.M., Burns, E.J., Patel, B., Sloma, I., Wu, Y., Mayo, L.,...and Quintana, F.J. (2013). IL-27 acts on DCs to suppress the T cell response and autoimmunity by inducing expression of the immunoregulatory molecule CD39. *Nature Immunology*, 14(10), pp.1054–1063.
- Masoud, R., Reyes-Castellanos, G., Lac, S., Garcia, J., Dou, S., Shintu, L., Abdel Hadi, N., Gicquel, T., El Kaoutari, A., Diémé, B., Tranchida, F., Cormareche, L., Borge, L., Gayet, O., Pasquier, E., Dusetti, N., Iovanna, J. and Carrier, A. (2020). Targeting Mitochondrial Complex I Overcomes Chemoresistance in High OXPHOS Pancreatic Cancer. *Cell Reports Medicine*, 1(8), p.100143.
- Masoumi, E., Jafarzadeh, L., Mirzaei, H. R., Alishah, K., Fallah-Mehrjardi, K., Rostamian, H., ... Hadjati, J. (2020). Genetic and pharmacological targeting of A2a receptor improves function of anti-mesothelin CAR T cells. *Journal of Experimental and Clinical Cancer Research*, 39(1).
- Masri, S., Rigor, P., Cervantes, M., Ceglia, N., Sebastian, C., Xiao, C., ... Sassone-Corsi, P. (2014). Partitioning Circadian Transcription by SIRT6 Leads to Segregated Control of Cellular Metabolism. *Cell*, 158(3), 659–672.
- Mateyak, M. K., Obaya, A. J., and Sedivy, J. M. (1999). c-Myc Regulates Cyclin D-Cdk4 and -Cdk6 Activity but Affects Cell Cycle Progression at Multiple Independent Points. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, *19*(7), 4672–4683.
- Mathis, D., and Shoelson, S. E. (2011). Immunometabolism: an emerging frontier. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 11(2), 81–83.

Matoba, S., Kang, J.-G., Patino, W. D., Wragg, A., Boehm, M., Gavrilova, O., ... Hwang, P. M. (2006). p53 Regulates Mitochondrial Respiration. *Science*, 312(5780), 1650–1653.

- Matsuura, K., Canfield, K., Feng, W., and Kurokawa, M. (2016). Metabolic Regulation of Apoptosis in Cancer. International Review of Cell and Molecular Biology, 43–87.
- Matthews, G. D., Gur, N., Koopman, W. J. H., Pines, O., and Vardimon, L. (2010). Weak mitochondrial targeting sequence determines tissue-specific subcellular localization of glutamine synthetase in liver and brain cells. *Journal of Cell Science*, 123(3), 351–359.
- Mayer, C., Zhao, J., Yuan, X., and Grummt, I. (2004). mTOR-dependent activation of the transcription factor TIF-IA links rRNA synthesis to nutrient availability. *Genes and Development*, *18*(4), 423–434.
- McCabe, M. T., Powell, D. R., Zhou, W., and Vertino, P. M. (2010). Homozygous deletion of the STK11/LKB1 locus and the generation of novel fusion transcripts in cervical cancer cells. *Cancer Genetics and Cytogenetics*, 197(2), 130–141.
- McGee, S. L., van Denderen, B. J. W., Howlett, K. F., Mollica, J., Schertzer, J. D., Kemp, B. E., and Hargreaves, M. (2008). AMP-Activated Protein Kinase Regulates GLUT4 Transcription by Phosphorylating Histone Deacetylase 5. *Diabetes*, *57*(4), 860–867.
- McCoy, F., Darbandi, R., Lee, H., Bharatham, K., Moldoveanu, T., Grace, C. R., ... Nutt, Leta K. (2013). Metabolic Activation of CaMKII by Coenzyme A. *Molecular Cell*, 52(3), 325–339.
- McGettrick, A. F., and O'Neill, L. A. J. (2020). The Role of HIF in Immunity and Inflammation. Cell Metabolism.
- McIlwain, D. R., Berger, T., and Mak, T. W. (2013). Caspase functions in cell death and disease. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology*, *5*(4), a008656.
- McNicholas, K., MacGregor, M. N., and Gleadle, J. M. (2019). In order for the light to shine so brightly, the darkness must be present—why do cancers fluoresce with 5-aminolaevulinic acid? *British Journal of Cancer*, *121*(8), 631–639.
- Mele, L., Paino, F., Papaccio, F., Regad, T., Boocock, D., Stiuso, P., ... Desiderio, V. (2018). A new inhibitor of glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase blocks pentose phosphate pathway and suppresses malignant proliferation and metastasis in vivo. *Cell Death and Disease*, *9*(5).
- Meneyrol, J. (2016). Benzylhydroxyde derivatives, preparation thereof and therapeutic use thereof.(EU Patent No:
- WO2016066742A1). European Patent Office. https://register.epo.org/ipfwretrieve?apn=EP.2015075112.Wandlng=en Menendez, J. A., and Lupu, R. (2007). Fatty acid synthase and the lipogenic phenotype in cancer pathogenesis. *Nature Reviews Cancer*, 7(10), 763–777.
- Meng, H., Yan, W.-Y., Lei, Y.-H., Wan, Z., Hou, Y.-Y., Sun, L.-K., & Zhou, J.-P. (2019). SIRT3 Regulation of Mitochondrial Quality Control in Neurodegenerative Diseases. *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience*, 11.
- Menon, S., Dibble, Christian C., Talbott, G., Hoxhaj, G., Valvezan, Alexander J., Takahashi, H., ... Manning, Brendan D. (2014). Spatial Control of the TSC Complex Integrates Insulin and Nutrient Regulation of mTORC1 at the Lysosome. *Cell*, 156(4), 771–785.
- Merrill, G. F., Kurth, E. J., Hardie, D. G., and Winder, W. W. (1997). AICA riboside increases AMP-activated protein kinase, fatty acid oxidation, and glucose uptake in rat muscle. *The American Journal of Physiology*, 273(6), E1107-12.
- Michalek, R. D., Gerriets, V. A., Jacobs, S. R., Macintyre, A. N., MacIver, N. J., Mason, E. F., ... Rathmell, J. C. (2011). Cutting Edge: Distinct Glycolytic and Lipid Oxidative Metabolic Programs Are Essential for Effector and Regulatory CD4+ T Cell Subsets. *The Journal of Immunology*, 186(6), 3299–3303.
- Michels, A. A., Robitaille, A. M., Buczynski-Ruchonnet, D., Hodroj, W., Reina, J. H., Hall, M. N., and Hernandez, N. (2010). mTORC1 Directly Phosphorylates and Regulates Human MAF1. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, *30*(15), 3749–3757.
- Migita, T., Narita, T., Nomura, K., Miyagi, E., Inazuka, F., Matsuura, M., ... Ishikawa, Y. (2008). ATP Citrate Lyase: Activation and Therapeutic Implications in Non–Small Cell Lung Cancer. *Cancer Research*, 68(20), 8547–8554.
- Mihaylova, M. M., and Shaw, R. J. (2011). The AMPK signalling pathway coordinates cell growth, autophagy and metabolism. *Nature Cell Biology*, 13(9), 1016–1023.
- Milenkovic, D., Blaza, J. N., Larsson, N.-G., and Hirst, J. (2017). The Enigma of the Respiratory Chain Supercomplex. *Cell Metabolism*, 25(4), 765–776.
- Miller, R. A., and Birnbaum, M. J. (2010). An energetic tale of AMPK-independent effects of metformin. Journal of Clinical Investigation, 120(7), 2267–2270.

- Miller, R. A., Chu, Q., Xie, J., Foretz, M., Viollet, B., and Birnbaum, M. J. (2013). Biguanides suppress hepatic glucagon signalling by decreasing production of cyclic AMP. *Nature*, 494(7436), 256–260.
- Mills, E. L., Kelly, B., Logan, A., Costa, A. S. H., Varma, M., Bryant, C. E., ... O'Neill, L. A. (2016). Succinate Dehydrogenase Supports Metabolic Repurposing of Mitochondria to Drive Inflammatory Macrophages. *Cell*, *167*(2), 457-470.e13.
- Minokoshi, Y., Kim, Y.-B., Peroni, O. D., Fryer, L. G. D., Müller, C., Carling, D., and Kahn, B. B. (2002). Leptin stimulates fatty-acid oxidation by activating AMP-activated protein kinase. *Nature*, *415*(6869), 339–343.
- Miraki-Moud, F., Ghazaly, E., Ariza-McNaughton, L., Hodby, K. A., Clear, A., Anjos-Afonso, F., ... Taussig, D. C. (2015). Arginine deprivation using pegylated arginine deiminase has activity against primary acute myeloid leukemia cells in vivo. *Blood*, 125(26), 4060–4068.
- Mirali, S., Botham, A., Voisin, V., Xu, C., St-Germain, J., Sharon, D., ... Bader, G. D. (2020). The mitochondrial peptidase, neurolysin, regulates respiratory chain supercomplex formation and is necessary for AML viability. *Science Translational Medicine*, 12(538).
- Mirzoeva, S., Kim, N. D., Chiu, K., Franzen, C. A., Bergan, R. C., and Pelling, J. C. (2008). Inhibition of HIF-1 alpha and VEGF expression by the chemopreventive bioflavonoid apigenin is accompanied by Akt inhibition in human prostate carcinoma PC3-M cells. *Molecular Carcinogenesis*, 47(9), 686–700.
- Misbin, R.I. (2004). The Phantom of Lactic Acidosis due to Metformin in Patients With Diabetes. *Diabetes Care*, 27(7), pp.1791–1793.
- Mishra, R., Haldar, S., Placencio, V., Madhav, A., Rohena-Rivera, K., Agarwal, P.,...and Bhowmick, N.A. (2018). Stromal epigenetic alterations drive metabolic and neuroendocrine prostate cancer reprogramming. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *128*(10), pp.4472–4484
- Mizuno, H., Kagoya, Y., Chiba, A., Koya, J., Masamoto, Y., and Kurokawa, M. (2019). Activated pentose phosphate pathway mediated by FBP1 upregulation supports progression of acute myeloid leukemia with high EVI1 expression [abstract]. In: Proceedings of the American Association for Cancer Research Annual Meeting 2019; 2019 Mar 29-Apr 3; Atlanta, GA. Philadelphia (PA): AACR; Cancer Res 2019;79(13 Suppl):Abstract nr 2611
- Möbs, C., and Schmidt, T. (2016). Research Techniques Made Simple: Monitoring of T-Cell Subsets using the ELISPOT Assay. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*, *136*(6), e55–e59.
- Mollick, T., & Laín, S. (2020). Modulating pyrimidine ribonucleotide levels for the treatment of cancer. *Cancer & Metabolism*, 8(1).
- Molina, J. R., Sun, Y., Protopopova, M., Gera, S., Bandi, M., Bristow, C., ... Marszalek, J. R. (2018). An inhibitor of oxidative phosphorylation exploits cancer vulnerability. *Nature Medicine*, 24(7), 1036–1046.
- Momcilovic, M. and Shackelford, D.B. (2015). Targeting LKB1 in cancer exposing and exploiting vulnerabilities. *British Journal of Cancer*, 113(4), pp.574–584.
- Monti, S., Savage, K.J., Kutok, J.L., Feuerhake, F., Kurtin, P., Mihm, M., Wu, B., Pasqualucci, L., ... and Shipp, M.A. (2005). Molecular profiling of diffuse large B-cell lymphoma identifies robust subtypes including one characterized by host inflammatory response. *Blood*, 105(5), pp.1851–1861.
- Monticelli, L. A., Buck, M. D., Flamar, A.-L., Saenz, S. A., Tait Wojno, E. D., Yudanin, N. A., ... Artis, D. (2016). Arginase 1 is an innate lymphoid-cell-intrinsic metabolic checkpoint controlling type 2 inflammation. *Nature Immunology*, 17(6), 656–665.
- Morad, S. A. F., and Cabot, M. C. (2012). Ceramide-orchestrated signalling in cancer cells. *Nature Reviews Cancer*, 13(1), 51–65.ttps://doi.org/10.1038/nrc3398
- Moremen, K.W., Tiemeyer, M. and Nairn, A.V. (2012). Vertebrate protein glycosylation: diversity, synthesis and function. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology*, 13(7), pp.448–462.
- Morita, M., Gravel, S.-P., Chénard, V., Sikström, K., Zheng, L., Alain, T., ... Sonenberg, N. (2013). mTORC1 Controls Mitochondrial Activity and Biogenesis through 4E-BP-Dependent Translational Regulation. *Cell Metabolism*, 18(5), 698– 711.
- Morris, S. M. (2002). Regulation of enzymes of the urea cycle and arginine metabolism. *Annual Review of Nutrition*, 22(1), 87–105.
- Morris, J. P., Yashinskie, J. J., Koche, R., Chandwani, R., Tian, S., Chen, C.-C., ... Lowe, S. W. (2019). α-Ketoglutarate links p53 to cell fate during tumour suppression. *Nature*, *573*(7775), 595–599.
- Mouton, V., Toussaint, L., Vertommen, D., Gueuning, M.-A., Maisin, L., Havaux, X., ... Rider, Mark H. (2010). Heart 6phosphofructo-2-kinase activation by insulin requires PKB (protein kinase B), but not SGK3 (serum- and glucocorticoidinduced protein kinase 3). *Biochemical Journal*, 431(2), 267–275.
- Mráček, T., Drahota, Z., and Houštěk, J. (2013). The function and the role of the mitochondrial glycerol-3-phosphate dehydrogenase in mammalian tissues. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) Bioenergetics, 1827*(3), 401–410.
- Mu, L., Long, Y., Yang, C., Jin, L., Tao, H., Ge, H., ... Huang, J. (2018). The IDH1 Mutation-Induced Oncometabolite, 2-Hydroxyglutarate, May Affect DNA Methylation and Expression of PD-L1 in Gliomas. *Frontiers in Molecular Neuroscience*, 11.
- Mullen, A.R., Wheaton, W.W., Jin, E.S., Chen, P.-H., Sullivan, L.B., Cheng, T., Yang, Y., Linehan, W.M., Chandel, N.S. and DeBerardinis, R.J. (2011). Reductive carboxylation supports growth in tumour cells with defective mitochondria. *Nature*, 481(7381), pp.385–388.
- Mullen, Andrew R., Hu, Z., Shi, X., Jiang, L., Boroughs, Lindsey K., Kovacs, Z., Boriack, R., ...and DeBerardinis, Ralph J. (2014). Oxidation of Alpha-Ketoglutarate Is Required for Reductive Carboxylation in Cancer Cells with Mitochondrial Defects. *Cell Reports*, 7(5), pp.1679–1690.
- Münch, C., and Harper, J. W. (2016). Mitochondrial unfolded protein response controls matrix pre-RNA processing and translation. *Nature*, 534(7609), 710–713.
- Muoio, D. M., Seefeld, K., Witters, L. A., and Coleman, R. A. (1999). AMP-activated kinase reciprocally regulates triacylglycerol synthesis and fatty acid oxidation in liver and muscle: evidence that sn-glycerol-3-phosphate acyltransferase is a novel target. *Biochemical Journal*, *338*(3), 783–791.

- Musi, N., Hirshman, M. F., Nygren, J., Svanfeldt, M., Bavenholm, P., Rooyackers, O., ... Goodyear, L. J. (2002). Metformin Increases AMP-Activated Protein Kinase Activity in Skeletal Muscle of Subjects With Type 2 Diabetes. *Diabetes*, 51(7), 2074–2081.
- Mussai, F., De Santo, C., Abu-Dayyeh, I., Booth, S., Quek, L., McEwen-Smith, R. M., ... Cerundolo, V. (2013). Acute myeloid leukemia creates an arginase-dependent immunosuppressive microenvironment. *Blood*, 122(5), 749–758.
- Mussai, F., Egan, S., Higginbotham-Jones, J., Perry, T., Beggs, A., Odintsova, E., ... De Santo, C. (2015). Arginine dependence of acute myeloid leukemia blast proliferation: a novel therapeutic target. *Blood*, *125*(15), 2386–2396.
- Nakahata, Y., Sahar, S., Astarita, G., Kaluzova, M., & Sassone-Corsi, P. (2009). Circadian Control of the NAD+ Salvage Pathway by CLOCK-SIRT1. *Science*, 324(5927), 654–657.
- Nakaya, M., Xiao, Y., Zhou, X., Chang, J.-H., Chang, M., Cheng, X., ... Sun, S.-C. (2014). Inflammatory T cell responses rely on amino acid transporter ASCT2 facilitation of glutamine uptake and mTORC1 kinase activation. *Immunity*, 40(5), 692–705.
- Nakazawa, M. S., Keith, B., and Simon, M. C. (2016). Oxygen availability and metabolic adaptations. *Nature Reviews Cancer*, *16*(10), 663–673.
- Nathan, D. M., Buse, J. B., Davidson, M. B., Ferrannini, E., Holman, R. R., Sherwin, R., and Zinman, B. (2008). Medical Management of Hyperglycemia in Type 2 Diabetes: A Consensus Algorithm for the Initiation and Adjustment of Therapy: A consensus statement of the American Diabetes Association and the European Association for the Study of Diabetes. *Diabetes Care*, 32(1), 193–203.
- Netea-Maier, R. T., Smit, J. W. A., and Netea, M. G. (2018). Metabolic changes in tumor cells and tumor-associated macrophages: A mutual relationship. *Cancer Letters*, 413, 102–109.
- Nikiforov, M. A., Chandriani, S., O'Connell, B., Petrenko, O., Kotenko, I., Beavis, A., ... Cole, M. D. (2002). A Functional Screen for Myc-Responsive Genes Reveals Serine Hydroxymethyltransferase, a Major Source of the One-Carbon Unit for Cell Metabolism. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 22(16), 5793–5800.
- Nilsson, R., Jain, M., Madhusudhan, N., Sheppard, N. G., Strittmatter, L., Kampf, C., ... Mootha, V. K. (2014). Metabolic enzyme expression highlights a key role for MTHFD2 and the mitochondrial folate pathway in cancer. *Nature Communications*, 5(1).
- Noman, M.Z., Desantis, G., Janji, B., Hasmim, M., Karray, S., Dessen, P., Bronte, V. and Chouaib, S. (2014). PD-L1 is a novel direct target of HIF-1α, and its blockade under hypoxia enhanced MDSC-mediated T cell activation. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 211(5), pp.781–790.
- Noto, H., Goto, A., Tsujimoto, T. and Noda, M. (2012). Cancer Risk in Diabetic Patients Treated with Metformin: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *PLoS ONE*, 7(3), p.e33411.
- Nutt, L. K., Margolis, S. S., Jensen, M., Herman, C. E., Dunphy, W. G., Rathmell, J. C., and Kornbluth, S. (2005). Metabolic Regulation of Oocyte Cell Death through the CaMKII-Mediated Phosphorylation of Caspase-2. *Cell*, 123(1), 89–103.
- O'Brien, K. L., and Finlay, D. K. (2019). Immunometabolism and natural killer cell responses. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 19(5), 282–290.
- O'Connor, O. A., Wright, J., Moskowitz, C., Muzzy, J., MacGregor-Cortelli, B., Stubblefield, M., ... Zelenetz, A. D. (2005). Phase II Clinical Experience With the Novel Proteasome Inhibitor Bortezomib in Patients With Indolent Non-Hodgkin's Lymphoma and Mantle Cell Lymphoma. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 23(4), 676–684.
- O'Neill, L. A. J., Kishton, R. J., and Rathmell, J. (2016). A guide to immunometabolism for immunologists. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, *16*(9), 553–565.
- Ohta, A., Gorelik, E., Prasad, S. J., Ronchese, F., Lukashev, D., Wong, M. K. K., ... Sitkovsky, M. (2006). A2A adenosine receptor protects tumors from antitumor T cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 103(35), 13132–13137.
- Omuro, A., Beal, K., McNeill, K., Young, R.J., Thomas, A., Lin, X., Terziev, R., Kaley, T.J., DeAngelis, L.M., Daras, M., Gavrilovic, I.T., Mellinghoff, I., Diamond, E.L., McKeown, A., Manne, M., Caterfino, A., Patel, K., Bavisotto, L., Gorman, G. and Lamson, M. (2018). Multicenter Phase IB Trial of Carboxyamidotriazole Orotate and Temozolomide for Recurrent and Newly Diagnosed Glioblastoma and Other Anaplastic Gliomas. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, *36*(17), pp.1702–1709.
- Osthus, R. C., Shim, H., Kim, S., Li, Q., Reddy, R., Mukherjee, M., ... Dang, C. V. (2000). Deregulation of Glucose Transporter 1 and Glycolytic Gene Expression by c-Myc. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 275(29), 21797–21800.
- Ostrand-Rosenberg, S., Horn, L. A., and Haile, S. T. (2014). The Programmed Death-1 Immune-Suppressive Pathway: Barrier to Antitumor Immunity. *The Journal of Immunology*, *193*(8), 3835–3841. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1401572
- Ou, Y., Wang, S.-J., Li, D., Chu, B., and Gu, W. (2016). Activation of SAT1 engages polyamine metabolism with p53-mediated ferroptotic responses. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *113*(44), E6806–E6812.
- Owen, M. R., Doran, E., and Halestrap, A. P. (2000). Evidence that metformin exerts its anti-diabetic effects through inhibition of complex 1 of the mitochondrial respiratory chain. *Biochemical Journal*, *348*(Pt 3), 607–614.
- Padanad, M.S., Konstantinidou, G., Venkateswaran, N., Melegari, M., Rindhe, S., Mitsche, M., Yang, C., Batten, K., Huffman, K.E., Liu, J., Tang, X., Rodriguez-Canales, J., Kalhor, N., Shay, J.W., Minna, J.D., McDonald, J., Wistuba, I.I., DeBerardinis, R.J. and Scaglioni, P.P. (2016). Fatty Acid Oxidation Mediated by Acyl-CoA Synthetase Long Chain 3 Is Required for Mutant KRAS Lung Tumorigenesis. *Cell Reports*, 16(6), pp.1614–1628.
- Palm, W., Park, Y., Wright, K., Pavlova, N. N., Tuveson, D. A., and Thompson, C. B. (2015). The Utilization of Extracellular Proteins as Nutrients Is Suppressed by mTORC1. *Cell*, 162(2), 259–270. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2015.06.017
- Panina, S. B., Baran, N., Brasil da Costa, F. H., Konopleva, M., and Kirienko, N. V. (2019). A mechanism for increased sensitivity of acute myeloid leukemia to mitotoxic drugs. *Cell Death and Disease*, *10*(8).

Papaemmanuil, E., Gerstung, M., Bullinger, L., Gaidzik, V. I., Paschka, P., Roberts, N. D., ... Campbell, P. J. (2016). Genomic Classification and Prognosis in Acute Myeloid Leukemia. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 374(23), 2209–2221.

- Papandreou, I., Cairns, R. A., Fontana, L., Lim, A. L., and Denko, N. C. (2006). HIF-1 mediates adaptation to hypoxia by actively downregulating mitochondrial oxygen consumption. *Cell Metabolism*, 3(3), 187–197.
- Paradies, G., Paradies, V., Ruggiero, F. M., and Petrosillo, G. (2019). Role of Cardiolipin in Mitochondrial Function and Dynamics in Health and Disease: Molecular and Pharmacological Aspects. *Cells*, *8*(7), 728.

- Parackova, Z., Vrabcova, P., Zentsova, I., Kayserova, J., Richtrova, I., Sojka, L., Stechova, K., Sumnik, Z. and Sediva, A. (2020). Enhanced STAT3 phosphorylation and PD-L1 expression in myeloid dendritic cells indicate impaired IL-27Ralpha signaling in type 1 diabetes. *Scientific Reports*, 10(1).
- Parikh, H., Carlsson, E., Chutkow, W. A., Johansson, L. E., Storgaard, H., Poulsen, P., ... Groop, L. C. (2007). TXNIP Regulates Peripheral Glucose Metabolism in Humans. *PLoS Medicine*, *4*(5), e158.
- Park, H.-W., Park, H., Ro, S.-H., Jang, I., Semple, I. A., Kim, D. N., ... Lee, J. H. (2014). Hepatoprotective role of Sestrin2 against chronic ER stress. *Nature Communications*, 5(1). Park, S., Chang, C.-Y., Safi, R., Liu, X., Baldi, R., Jasper, Jeff S., ... McDonnell, Donald P. (2016). ERRα-Regulated Lactate Metabolism Contributes to Resistance to Targeted Therapies in Breast Cancer. *Cell Reports*, 15(2), 323–335.

Pastorino, J. G., Shulga, N., and Hoek, J. B. (2002). Mitochondrial Binding of Hexokinase II Inhibits Bax-induced Cytochrome c Release and Apoptosis. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277(9), 7610–7618.

Patra, K.C., Wang, Q., Bhaskar, P.T., Miller, L., Wang, Z., Wheaton, W., Chandel, N., Laakso, M., Muller, W.J., Allen, E.L., Jha, A.K., Smolen, G.A., Clasquin, M.F., Robey, B. and Hay, N. (2013). Hexokinase 2 is required for tumor initiation and maintenance and its systemic deletion is therapeutic in mouse models of cancer. *Cancer Cell*, 24(2), pp.213–228.

Patra, K. C., and Hay, N. (2014). The pentose phosphate pathway and cancer. Trends in Biochemical Sciences, 39(8), 347-354.

Pavlova, N. N., and Thompson, C. B. (2016). The Emerging Hallmarks of Cancer Metabolism. Cell Metabolism, 23(1), 27-47.

- Peake, K., Manning, J., Lewis, C.-A., Barr, C., Rossi, F. and Krieger, C. (2015). Busulfan as a Myelosuppressive Agent for Generating Stable High-level Bone Marrow Chimerism in Mice. J. Vis. Exp. (98).
- Pearce, E. L., Walsh, M. C., Cejas, P. J., Harms, G. M., Shen, H., Wang, L.-S., ... Choi, Y. (2009). Enhancing CD8 T-cell memory by modulating fatty acid metabolism. *Nature*, 460(7251), 103–107.
- Peggs, K. S., Quezada, S. A., Chambers, C. A., Korman, A. J., and Allison, J. P. (2009). Blockade of CTLA-4 on both effector and regulatory T cell compartments contributes to the antitumor activity of anti–CTLA-4 antibodies. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 206(8), 1717–1725.
- Pehmøller, C., Treebak, J. T., Birk, J. B., Chen, S., MacKintosh, C., Hardie, D. G., ... Wojtaszewski, J. F. P. (2009). Genetic disruption of AMPK signaling abolishes both contraction- and insulin-stimulated TBC1D1 phosphorylation and 14-3-3 binding in mouse skeletal muscle. *American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 297(3), E665–E675.
- Pei, S., Pollyea, D. A., Gustafson, A., Stevens, B. M., Minhajuddin, M., Fu, R., ... Jordan, C. T. (2020). Monocytic Subclones Confer Resistance to Venetoclax-Based Therapy in Patients with Acute Myeloid Leukemia. *Cancer Discovery*, 10(4), 536– 551.
- Pelengaris, S., Khan, M., and Evan, G. (2002). c-MYC: more than just a matter of life and death. *Nature Reviews Cancer*, 2(10), 764–776.
- Perciavalle, R. M., Stewart, D. P., Koss, B., Lynch, J., Milasta, S., Bathina, M., ... Opferman, J. T. (2012). Anti-apoptotic MCL-1 localizes to the mitochondrial matrix and couples mitochondrial fusion to respiration. *Nature Cell Biology*, 14(6), 575–583.
- Pereira, F. V., Melo, A. C. L., Low, J. S., de Castro, İ. A., Braga, T. T., Almeida, D. C., ... Câmara, N. O. S. (2018). Metformin exerts antitumor activity via induction of multiple death pathways in tumor cells and activation of a protective immune response. *Oncotarget*, 9(40).
- Pérez-García, A., Brunet, S., Berlanga, J. J., Tormo, M., Nomdedeu, J., Guardia, R., ... Gallardo, D. (2008). CTLA-4 genotype and relapse incidence in patients with acute myeloid leukemia in first complete remission after induction chemotherapy. *Leukemia*, 23(3), 486–491.
- Pérez-Pérez, R., Lobo-Jarne, T., Milenkovic, D., Mourier, A., Bratic, A., García-Bartolomé, A., ... Ugalde, C. (2016). COX7A2L Is a Mitochondrial Complex III Binding Protein that Stabilizes the III2+IV Supercomplex without Affecting Respirasome Formation. *Cell Reports*, 16(9), 2387–2398.
- Pernicova, I., and Korbonits, M. (2014). Metformin—mode of action and clinical implications for diabetes and cancer. *Nature Reviews Endocrinology*, *10*(3), 143–156.
- Perrot, I., Michaud, H.-A., Giraudon-Paoli, M., Augier, S., Docquier, A., Gros, L., ... Bonnefoy, N. (2019). Blocking Antibodies Targeting the CD39/CD73 Immunosuppressive Pathway Unleash Immune Responses in Combination Cancer Therapies. *Cell Reports*, 27(8), 2411-2425.e9.
- Peterson, T. R., Sengupta, S. S., Harris, T. E., Carmack, A. E., Kang, S. A., Balderas, E., ... Sabatini, D. M. (2011). mTOR Complex 1 Regulates Lipin 1 Localization to Control the SREBP Pathway. *Cell*, *146*(3), 408–420.
- Petit, C. S., Roczniak-Ferguson, A., and Ferguson, S. M. (2013). Recruitment of folliculin to lysosomes supports the amino aciddependent activation of Rag GTPases. *Journal of Cell Biology*, 202(7), 1107–1122.
- Pfeifer, C., Highton, A. J., Peine, S., Sauter, J., Schmidt, A. H., Bunders, M. J., ... Körner, C. (2018). Natural Killer Cell Education Is Associated With a Distinct Glycolytic Profile. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 9.
- Pirinen, E., Cantó, C., Jo, Y., Morato, L., Zhang, H., Menzies, Keir J., ... Sauve, Anthony A. (2014). Pharmacological Inhibition of Poly(ADP-Ribose) Polymerases Improves Fitness and Mitochondrial Function in Skeletal Muscle. *Cell Metabolism*, 19(6), 1034–1041.
- Pissios, P. (2017). Nicotinamide N -Methyltransferase: More Than a Vitamin B3 Clearance Enzyme. *Trends in Endocrinology & Metabolism, 28*(5), pp.340–353.
- Polański, R., Hodgkinson, C. L., Fusi, A., Nonaka, D., Priest, L., Kelly, P., ... Morrow, C. J. (2014). Activity of the Monocarboxylate Transporter 1 inhibitor AZD3965 in Small Cell Lung Cancer. *Clinical Cancer Research : An Official Journal of the American Association for Cancer Research*, 20(4), 926–937.
- Polet, F., Corbet, C., Pinto, A., Rubio, L. I., Martherus, R., Bol, V., ... Feron, O. (2015). Reducing the serine availability complements the inhibition of the glutamine metabolism to block leukemia cell growth. *Oncotarget*, 7(2).
- Pollyea, D. A., Stevens, B. M., Jones, C. L., Winters, A., Pei, S., Minhajuddin, M., ... Jordan, C. T. (2018). Venetoclax with azacitidine disrupts energy metabolism and targets leukemia stem cells in patients with acute myeloid leukemia. *Nature Medicine*, 24(12), 1859–1866.

- Polyak, K., Xia, Y., Zweier, J. L., Kinzler, K. W., and Vogelstein, B. (1997). A model for p53-induced apoptosis. *Nature*, 389(6648), 300–305.
- Poole, R. C., and Halestrap, A. P. (1990). Inhibition and labelling of the erythrocyte lactate transporter by stilbene disulphonates. *Biochemical Society Transactions, 18*(6), 1245–1246.
- Porstmann, T., Santos, C. R., Griffiths, B., Cully, M., Wu, M., Leevers, S., ... Schulze, A. (2008). SREBP Activity Is Regulated by mTORC1 and Contributes to Akt-Dependent Cell Growth. *Cell Metabolism*, 8(3), 224–236.
- Possemato, R., Marks, K. M., Shaul, Y. D., Pacold, M. E., Kim, D., Birsoy, K., ... Sabatini, D. M. (2011). Functional genomics reveal that the serine synthesis pathway is essential in breast cancer. *Nature*, *476*(7360), 346–350.
- Poulain, L., Sujobert, P., Zylbersztejn, F., Barreau, S., Stuani, L., Lambert, M., ... Chapuis, N. (2017). High mTORC1 activity drives glycolysis addiction and sensitivity to G6PD inhibition in acute myeloid leukemia cells. *Leukemia*, 31(11), 2326–2335.
- Powell, J. D., Pollizzi, K. N., Heikamp, E. B., and Horton, M. R. (2012). Regulation of Immune Responses by mTOR. Annual Review of Immunology, 30(1), 39–68.
- Preugschat, F., Carter, L. H., Boros, E. E., Porter, D. J. T., Stewart, E. L., & Shewchuk, L. M. (2014). A pre-steady state and steady state kinetic analysis of the N-ribosyl hydrolase activity of hCD157. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics*, 564, 156–163.
- Prior, I. A., Hood, F. E., and Hartley, J. L. (2020). The Frequency of Ras Mutations in Cancer. *Cancer Research*, 80(14), 2969–2974.
- Puisségur, M-P., Mazure, N. M., Bertero, T., Pradelli, L., Grosso, S., Robbe-Sermesant, K., ... Mari, B. (2010). miR-210 is overexpressed in late stages of lung cancer and mediates mitochondrial alterations associated with modulation of HIF-1 activity. *Cell Death and Differentiation*, 18(3), 465–478.
- Pylayeva-Gupta, Y., Grabocka, E., and Bar-Sagi, D. (2011). RAS oncogenes: weaving a tumorigenic web. *Nature Reviews Cancer*, 11(11), 761–774.
- Qian, X., Li, X., Tan, L., Lee, J.-H., Xia, Y., Cai, Q., ... Lu, Z. (2017). Conversion of PRPS Hexamer to Monomer by AMPK-Mediated Phosphorylation Inhibits Nucleotide Synthesis in Response to Energy Stress. *Cancer Discovery*, 8(1), 94–107.
- Quinn, W. J., Jiao, J., TeSlaa, T., Stadanlick, J., Wang, Z., Wang, L., ... Eruslanov, E. B. (2020). Lactate Limits T Cell Proliferation via the NAD(H) Redox State. *Cell Reports*, 33(11), 108500.
- Quintela-Fandino, M., Morales, S., Cortés-Salgado, A., Manso, L., Apala, J.V., Muñoz, M., Gasol Cudos, A., Salla Fortuny, J., Gion, M., Lopez-Alonso, A., Cortés, J., Guerra, J., Malón, D., Caleiras, E., Mulero, F. and Mouron, S. (2019). Randomized Phase 0/I Trial of the Mitochondrial Inhibitor ME-344 or Placebo Added to Bevacizumab in Early HER2-Negative Breast Cancer. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 26(1), pp.35–45.
- Quirós, P. M., Prado, M. A., Zamboni, N., D'Amico, D., Williams, R. W., Finley, D., ... Auwerx, J. (2017). Multi-omics analysis identifies ATF4 as a key regulator of the mitochondrial stress response in mammals. *Journal of Cell Biology*, 216(7), 2027– 2045.
- Quivoron, C., Couronné, L., Della Valle, V., Lopez, C. K., Plo, I., Wagner-Ballon, O., ... Bernard, O. A. (2011). TET2 Inactivation Results in Pleiotropic Hematopoietic Abnormalities in Mouse and Is a Recurrent Event during Human Lymphomagenesis. *Cancer Cell*, 20(1), 25–38.
- Raber, P., Ochoa, A. C., and Rodríguez, P. C. (2012). Metabolism of L-Arginine by Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells in Cancer: Mechanisms of T cell suppression and Therapeutic Perspectives. Immunological Investigations, 41(6–7), 614–634.
- Raffel, S., Falcone, M., Kneisel, N., Hansson, J., Wang, W., Lutz, C., ... Trumpp, A. (2017). BCAT1 restricts αKG levels in AML stem cells leading to IDH mut -like DNA hypermethylation. Nature, 551(7680), 384–388.
- Raimondi, V., Ciccarese, F., and Ciminale, V. (2019). Oncogenic pathways and the electron transport chain: a dangeROS liaison. British Journal of Cancer, 122(2), 168–181.
- Rajman, L., Chwalek, K. and Sinclair, D.A. (2018). Therapeutic Potential of NAD-Boosting Molecules: The In Vivo Evidence. *Cell Metabolism*, 27(3), pp.529–547.
- Ramsey, K. M., Yoshino, J., Brace, C. S., Abrassart, D., Kobayashi, Y., Marcheva, B., ... Bass, J. (2009). Circadian Clock Feedback Cycle Through NAMPT-Mediated NAD+ Biosynthesis. *Science*, *324*(5927), 651–654.
- Rand, T. A., Sutou, K., Tanabe, K., Jeong, D., Nomura, M., Kitaoka, F., ... Takahashi, K. (2018). MYC Releases Early
- Reprogrammed Human Cells from Proliferation Pause via Retinoblastoma Protein Inhibition. *Cell Reports*, 23(2), 361–375.
 Rao, X., Duan, X., Mao, W., Li, X., Li, Z., Li, Q., ... Yi, W. (2015). O-GlcNAcylation of G6PD promotes the pentose phosphate pathway and tumor growth. *Nature Communications*, 6(1).
- Rashidi, A., and DiPersio, J. F. (2015). Targeting the leukemia–stroma interaction in acute myeloid leukemia: rationale and latest evidence. Therapeutic Advances in Hematology, 7(1), 40–51.
- Rashkovan, M., and Ferrando, A. (2019). Metabolic dependencies and vulnerabilities in leukemia. Genes and Development, 33(21–22), 1460–1474.
- Rath, M., Müller, I., Kropf, P., Closs, E. I., and Munder, M. (2014). Metabolism via Arginase or Nitric Oxide Synthase: Two Competing Arginine Pathways in Macrophages. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 5.
- Rathmell, J. C., Fox, C. J., Plas, D. R., Hammerman, P. S., Cinalli, R. M., and Thompson, C. B. (2003). Akt-Directed Glucose Metabolism Can Prevent Bax Conformation Change and Promote Growth Factor-Independent Survival. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 23(20), 7315–7328.
- Rattan, R., Giri, S., Singh, A. K., and Singh, I. (2005). 5-Aminoimidazole-4-carboxamide-1-β-D-ribofuranoside Inhibits Cancer Cell Proliferation in Vitro and in Vivo via AMP-activated Protein Kinase. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 280(47), 39582– 39593.
- Ray Chaudhuri, A., & Nussenzweig, A. (2017). The multifaceted roles of PARP1 in DNA repair and chromatin remodelling. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology*, 18(10), 610–621.
- Rebsamen, M., Pochini, L., Stasyk, T., de Araújo, M. E. G., Galluccio, M., Kandasamy, R. K., ... Superti-Furga, G. (2015). SLC38A9 is a component of the lysosomal amino acid sensing machinery that controls mTORC1. *Nature*, 519(7544), 477–481.

Reddy, M. M., Fernandes, M. S., Salgia, R., Levine, R. L., Griffin, J. D., and Sattler, M. (2010). NADPH oxidases regulate cell growth and migration in myeloid cells transformed by oncogenic tyrosine kinases. Leukemia, 25(2), 281–289.

Rena, G., Hardie, D. G., and Pearson, E. R. (2017). The mechanisms of action of metformin. Diabetologia, 60(9), 1577–1585. Ricciardi, M. R., Mirabilii, S., Allegretti, M., Licchetta, R., Calarco, A., Torrisi, M. R., ... Tafuri, A. (2015). Targeting the

leukemia cell metabolism by the CPT1a inhibition: functional preclinical effects in leukemias. Blood, 126(16), 1925–1929. Ricketts, C., Woodward, E.R., Killick, P., Morris, M.R., Astuti, D., Latif, F. and Maher, E.R. (2008). Germline SDHB Mutations

- and Familial Renal Cell Carcinoma. JNCI Journal of the National Cancer Institute, 100(17), pp.1260–1262.
 Robinson, M. M., Mcbryant, S. J., Tsukamoto, T., Rojas, C., Ferraris, D. V., Hamilton, S. K., Hansen, J. C. and Curthoys, N. P. (2007). Novel mechanism of inhibition of rat kidney-type glutaminase by bis-2-(5-phenylacetamido-1,2,4-thiadiazol-2-yl)ethyl sulfide (BPTES). Biochemical Journal, 406(3), pp.407–414.
- Robitaille, A. M., Christen, S., Shimobayashi, M., Cornu, M., Fava, L. L., Moes, S., ... Hall, M. N. (2013). Quantitative Phosphoproteomics Reveal mTORC1 Activates de Novo Pyrimidine Synthesis. *Science*, *339*(6125), 1320–1323.
- Roczniak-Ferguson, A., Petit, C. S., Froehlich, F., Qian, S., Ky, J., Angarola, B., ... Ferguson, S. M. (2012). The Transcription Factor TFEB Links mTORC1 Signaling to Transcriptional Control of Lysosome Homeostasis. *Science Signaling*, *5*(228), ra42–ra42.
- Rodrik-Outmezguine, V. S., Chandarlapaty, S., Pagano, N. C., Poulikakos, P. I., Scaltriti, M., Moskatel, E., ... Rosen, N. (2011). mTOR Kinase Inhibition Causes Feedback-Dependent Biphasic Regulation of AKT Signaling. *Cancer Discovery*, 1(3), 248–259.

Rodrik-Outmezguine, V. S., Okaniwa, M., Yao, Z., Novotny, C. J., McWhirter, C., Banaji, A., ... Shokat, K. M. (2016). Overcoming mTOR resistance mutations with a new-generation mTOR inhibitor. *Nature*, *534*(7606), 272–276.

- Rodriguez, P. C., Quiceno, D. G., Zabaleta, J., Ortiz, B., Zea, A. H., Piazuelo, M. B., ... Ochoa, A. C. (2004). Arginase I Production in the Tumor Microenvironment by Mature Myeloid Cells Inhibits T-Cell Receptor Expression and Antigen-Specific T-Cell Responses. *Cancer Research*, 64(16), 5839–5849.
- Rodriguez, P. C., Quiceno, D. G., and Ochoa, A. C. (2007). L-arginine availability regulates T-lymphocyte cell-cycle progression. Blood, 109(4), 1568–1573.
- Rodríguez-Prados, J.-C., Través, P. G., Cuenca, J., Rico, D., Aragonés, J., Martín-Sanz, P., ... Boscá, L. (2010). Substrate Fate in Activated Macrophages: A Comparison between Innate, Classic, and Alternative Activation. *The Journal of Immunology*, 185(1), 605–614.
- Röhrig, F., and Schulze, A. (2016). The multifaceted roles of fatty acid synthesis in cancer. *Nature Reviews Cancer*, *16*(11), 732–749.
- Ron-Harel, N., Santos, D., Ghergurovich, J. M., Sage, P. T., Reddy, A., Lovitch, S. B., ... Haigis, M. C. (2016). Mitochondrial Biogenesis and Proteome Remodeling Promote One-Carbon Metabolism for T Cell Activation. *Cell Metabolism*, 24(1), 104– 117.
- Robergs, R. A., Ghiasvand, F., and Parker, D. (2004). Biochemistry of exercise-induced metabolic acidosis. *American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology*, 287(3), R502–R516.
- Ros, S., Flöter, J., Kaymak, I., Da Costa, C., Houddane, A., Dubuis, S., ... Schulze, A. (2017). 6-Phosphofructo-2kinase/fructose-2,6-biphosphatase 4 is essential for p53-null cancer cells. *Oncogene*, *36*(23), 3287–3299.
- Roux, P. P., Ballif, B. A., Anjum, R., Gygi, S. P., and Blenis, J. (2004). Tumor-promoting phorbol esters and activated Ras inactivate the tuberous sclerosis tumor suppressor complex via p90 ribosomal S6 kinase. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 101(37), 13489–13494.
- Rubiño, M.E.G., Carrillo, E., Alcalá, G.R., Domínguez-Martín, A., Marchal, J.A. and Boulaiz, H. (2019). Phenformin as an Anticancer Agent: Challenges and Prospects. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 20(13), p.3316.
- Russell, S. L., Lamprecht, D. A., Mandizvo, T., Jones, T. T., Naidoo, V., Addicott, K. W., ... Steyn, A. J. C. (2019). Compromised Metabolic Reprogramming Is an Early Indicator of CD8+ T Cell Dysfunction during Chronic Mycobacterium tuberculosis Infection. *Cell Reports*, 29(11), 3564-3579.e5.
- Ruvolo, P. P., Clark, W., Mumby, M., Gao, F., and May, W. S. (2002). A Functional Role for the B56 α-Subunit of Protein Phosphatase 2A in Ceramide-mediated Regulation of Bcl2 Phosphorylation Status and Function. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277(25), 22847–22852.
- Ryan, D. G., and O'Neill, L. A. J. (2020). Krebs Cycle Reborn in Macrophage Immunometabolism. *Annual Review of Immunology*, *38*(1), 289–313.
- Ryzhov, S., Novitskiy, S. V., Goldstein, A. E., Biktasova, A., Blackburn, M. R., Biaggioni, I., ... Feoktistov, I. (2011). Adenosinergic Regulation of the Expansion and Immunosuppressive Activity of CD11b+Gr1+Cells. *The Journal of Immunology*, 187(11), 6120–6129.
- Rytelewski, M., Harutyunyan, K., Baran, N., Mallampati, S., Zal, M. A., Cavazos, A., ... Konopleva, M. (2020). Inhibition of Oxidative Phosphorylation Reverses Bone Marrow Hypoxia Visualized in Imageable Syngeneic B-ALL Mouse Model. *Frontiers in Oncology*, 10.
- Sack, M. N., & Finkel, T. (2012). Mitochondrial Metabolism, Sirtuins, and Aging. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology*, 4(12), a013102–a013102.
- Saha, A., Connelly, S., Jiang, J., Zhuang, S., Amador, Deron T., Phan, T., ... Boss, Gerry R. (2014). Akt Phosphorylation and Regulation of Transketolase Is a Nodal Point for Amino Acid Control of Purine Synthesis. *Molecular Cell*, 55(2), 264–276.
- Sahu, D., Gupta, S., Hau, A.M., Nakashima, K., Leivo, M.Z., Searles, S.C., Elson, P., ... and Hansel, D.E. (2017). Argininosuccinate Synthetase 1 Loss in Invasive Bladder Cancer Regulates Survival through General Control Nonderepressible 2 Kinase–Mediated Eukaryotic Initiation Factor 2α Activity and Is Targetable by Pegylated Arginine Deiminase. *The American Journal of Pathology*, 187(1), pp.200–213.
- Sakamoto, K., and Holman, G. D. (2008). Emerging role for AS160/TBC1D4 and TBC1D1 in the regulation of GLUT4 traffic. American Journal of Physiology. *Endocrinology and Metabolism, 295(1)*, E29–E37.

- Salceda, S., and Caro, J. (1997). Hypoxia-inducible Factor 1α (HIF-1α) Protein Is Rapidly Degraded by the Ubiquitin-Proteasome System under Normoxic Conditions. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 272(36), 22642–22647.
- Saleem, A., Iqbal, S., Zhang, Y., and Hood, D. A. (2015). Effect of p53 on mitochondrial morphology, import, and assembly in skeletal muscle. *American Journal of Physiology-Cell Physiology*, 308(4), C319–C329.
- Samudio, I., Harmancey, R., Fiegl, M., Kantarjian, H., Konopleva, M., Korchin, B., ... Andreeff, M. (2010). Pharmacologic inhibition of fatty acid oxidation sensitizes human leukemia cells to apoptosis induction. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 120(1), 142–156.
- Samuels, Y., and Waldman, T. (2010). Oncogenic Mutations of PIK3CA in Human Cancers. Current Topics in Microbiology and Immunology, 21–41.
- Sancak, Y., Thoreen, C. C., Peterson, T. R., Lindquist, R. A., Kang, S. A., Spooner, E., ... Sabatini, D. M. (2007). PRAS40 Is an Insulin-Regulated Inhibitor of the mTORC1 Protein Kinase. *Molecular Cell*, 25(6), 903–915.
- Sancak, Y., Peterson, T. R., Shaul, Y. D., Lindquist, R. A., Thoreen, C. C., Bar-Peled, L., and Sabatini, D. M. (2008). The Rag GTPases Bind Raptor and Mediate Amino Acid Signaling to mTORC1. *Science*, 320(5882), 1496–1501.
- Sanchez-Macedo, N., Feng, J., Faubert, B., Chang, N., Elia, A., Rushing, E. J., ... Zaugg, K. (2013). Depletion of the novel p53target gene carnitine palmitoyltransferase 1C delays tumor growth in the neurofibromatosis type I tumor model. *Cell Death* and Differentiation, 20(4), 659–668.
- Sánchez-Mendoza, S. E., and Rego, E. M. (2017). Targeting the mitochondria in acute myeloid leukemia. *Applied Cancer Research*, *37*(1).
- Sancho, P., Burgos-Ramos, E., Tavera, A., Bou Kheir, T., Jagust, P., Schoenhals, M., Barneda, D., Sellers, K., Campos-Olivas, R., Graña, O., Viera, Catarina R., Yuneva, M., Sainz, B. and Heeschen, C. (2015). MYC/PGC-1α Balance Determines the Metabolic Phenotype and Plasticity of Pancreatic Cancer Stem Cells. *Cell Metabolism*, 22(4), pp.590–605.
- Santi, S. A., and Lee, H. (2010). The Akt isoforms are present at distinct subcellular locations. American Journal of Physiology-Cell Physiology, 298(3), C580–C591.
- Santos, C. R., and Schulze, A. (2012). Lipid metabolism in cancer. FEBS Journal, 279(15), 2610–2623.
- Saraei, P., Asadi, I., Kakar, M. A., and Moradi-Kor, N. (2019). The beneficial effects of metformin on cancer prevention and therapy: a comprehensive review of recent advances. *Cancer Management and Research*, (11), 3295–3313.
- Sarbassov, D. D., Ali, S. M., Kim, D.-H., Guertin, D. A., Latek, R. R., Erdjument-Bromage, H., ... Sabatini, D. M. (2004). Rictor, a Novel Binding Partner of mTOR, Defines a Rapamycin-Insensitive and Raptor-Independent Pathway that Regulates the Cytoskeleton. *Current Biology*, 14(14), 1296–1302.
- Sarbassov, D. D., Guertin, D. A., Ali, S. M., and Sabatini, D. M. (2005). Phosphorylation and Regulation of Akt/PKB by the Rictor-mTOR Complex. *Science*, *307*(5712), 1098–1101.
- Sauve, A. A. (2010). Sirtuin chemical mechanisms. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)1804(8), 1591-1603.
- Saveljeva, S., Cleary, P., Mnich, K., Ayo, A., Pakos-Zebrucka, K., Patterson, J. B., ... Samali, A. (2016). Endoplasmic reticulum stress-mediated induction of SESTRIN 2 potentiates cell survival. *Oncotarget*, 7(11).
- Saxton, R. A., Knockenhauer, K. E., Wolfson, R. L., Chantranupong, L., Pacold, M. E., Wang, T., ... Sabatini, D. M. (2015). Structural basis for leucine sensing by the Sestrin2-mTORC1 pathway. *Science*, 351(6268), 53–58.
- Saxton, R. A., Chantranupong, L., Knockenhauer, K. E., Schwartz, T. U., and Sabatini, D. M. (2016). Mechanism of arginine sensing by CASTOR1 upstream of mTORC1. *Nature*, *536*(7615), 229–233.
- Saxton, R. A., and Sabatini, D. M. (2017). mTOR Signaling in Growth, Metabolism, and Disease. Cell, 168(6), 960-976.
- Schägger, H., Coo, R., Bauer, M. F., Hofmann, S., Godinot, C., and Brandt, U. (2004). Significance of Respirasomes for the Assembly/Stability of Human Respiratory Chain Complex I. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, *279*(35), 36349–36353.
- Schadendorf, D., Hodi, F. S., Robert, C., Weber, J. S., Margolin, K., Hamid, O., ... Wolchok, J. D. (2015). Pooled Analysis of Long-Term Survival Data From Phase II and Phase III Trials of Ipilimumab in Unresectable or Metastatic Melanoma. *Journal* of Clinical Oncology, 33(17), 1889–1894.
- Scharping, N. E., Menk, A. V., Whetstone, R. D., Zeng, X., and Delgoffe, G. M. (2016). Efficacy of PD-1 Blockade Is Potentiated by Metformin-Induced Reduction of Tumor Hypoxia. *Cancer Immunology Research*, 5(1), 9–16.
- Scheibye-Knudsen, M., Mitchell, Sarah J., Fang, Evandro F., Iyama, T., Ward, T., ...Bohr, V. A. (2014). A High-Fat Diet and NAD + Activate Sirt1 to Rescue Premature Aging in Cockayne Syndrome. *Cell Metabolism*, 20(5), pp.840–855.
- Schenk, U., Westendorf, A. M., Radaelli, E., Casati, A., Ferro, M., Fumagalli, M., ... Grassi, F. (2008). Purinergic Control of T Cell Activation by ATP Released Through Pannexin-1 Hemichannels. *Science Signaling*, 1(39), ra6–ra6.
- Schlichtholz, B., Turyn, J., Goyke, E., Biernacki, M., Jaskiewicz, K., Sledzinski, Z., and Swierczynski, J. (2005). Enhanced Citrate Synthase Activity in Human Pancreatic Cancer. *Pancreas*, *30*(2), 99–104.
- Schnorfeil, F. M., Lichtenegger, F. S., Emmerig, K., Schlueter, M., Neitz, J. S., Draenert, R., ... Subklewe, M. (2015). T cells are functionally not impaired in AML: increased PD-1 expression is only seen at time of relapse and correlates with a shift towards the memory T cell compartment. *Journal of Hematology and Oncology*, 8(1).
- Schubert, K. M., Scheid, M. P., and Duronio, V. (2000). Ceramide Inhibits Protein Kinase B/Akt by Promoting
- Dephosphorylation of Serine 473. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 275(18), 13330–13335.
- Schwartzenberg-Bar-Yoseph, F., Armoni, M., and Karnieli, E. (2004). The Tumor Suppressor p53 Down-Regulates Glucose Transporters GLUT1 and GLUT4 Gene Expression. *Cancer Research*, 64(7), 2627–2633.
- Scotland, S., Saland, E., Skuli, N., de Toni, F., Boutzen, H., Micklow, E., ... Sarry, J.-E. (2013). Mitochondrial energetic and AKT status mediate metabolic effects and apoptosis of metformin in human leukemic cells. *Leukemia*, 27(11), 2129–2138.
- Scott, D.W. and Gascoyne, R.D. (2014). The tumour microenvironment in B cell lymphomas. *Nature Reviews Cancer, 14*(8), pp.517–534.
- Seim, G. L., Britt, E. C., John, S. V., Yeo, F. J., Johnson, A. R., Eisenstein, R. S., ... Fan, J. (2019). Two-stage metabolic remodelling in macrophages in response to lipopolysaccharide and interferon-γ stimulation. *Nature Metabolism*, 1(7), 731– 742.
Selak, M. A., Armour, S. M., MacKenzie, E. D., Boulahbel, H., Watson, D. G., Mansfield, K. D., ... Gottlieb, E. (2005). Succinate links TCA cycle dysfunction to oncogenesis by inhibiting HIF-α prolyl hydroxylase. *Cancer Cell*, 7(1), 77–85.

- Semenza, G.L., Roth, P.H., Fang, H.M. and Wang, G.L. (1994). Transcriptional regulation of genes encoding glycolytic enzymes by hypoxia-inducible factor 1. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 269(38), pp.23757–23763.
- Semenza, G. L., Jiang, B.-H., Leung, S. W., Passantino, R., Concordet, J.-P., Maire, P., and Giallongo, A. (1996). Hypoxia Response Elements in the Aldolase A, Enolase 1, and Lactate Dehydrogenase A Gene Promoters Contain Essential Binding Sites for Hypoxia-inducible Factor 1. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 271(51), 32529–32537.
- Semenza, G. L. (2001). HIF-1, O2, and the 3 PHDs. Cell, 107(1), 1-3.
- Semenza, G. L. (2003). Targeting HIF-1 for cancer therapy. Nature Reviews Cancer, 3(10), 721–732.
- Semenza, G. L. (2009). Regulation of Oxygen Homeostasis by Hypoxia-Inducible Factor 1. Physiology, 24(2), 97-106.
- Semenza, G. L. (2011). Regulation of Metabolism by Hypoxia-Inducible Factor 1. Cold Spring Harbor Symposia on Quantitative Biology, 76(0), 347–353.
- Semenza, G. L. (2013). HIF-1 mediates metabolic responses to intratumoral hypoxia and oncogenic mutations. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 123(9), 3664–3671.
- Seneviratne, A. K., Xu, M., Henao, J. J. A., Fajardo, V. A., Hao, Z., Voisin, V., ... Schimmer, A. D. (2019). The Mitochondrial Transacylase, Tafazzin, Regulates AML Stemness by Modulating Intracellular Levels of Phospholipids. *Cell Stem Cell*, 24(4), 621-636.e16.
- Settembre, C., Zoncu, R., Medina, D. L., Vetrini, F., Erdin, S., Erdin, S., ... Ballabio, A. (2012). A lysosome-to-nucleus signalling mechanism senses and regulates the lysosome via mTOR and TFEB. *The EMBO Journal*, *31*(5), 1095–1108.
- Škrtić, M., Sriskanthadevan, S., Jhas, B., Gebbia, M., Wang, X., Wang, Z., ... Schimmer, A. D. (2011). Inhibition of Mitochondrial Translation as a Therapeutic Strategy for Human Acute Myeloid Leukemia. *Cancer Cell*, 20(5), 674–688.
- Shackelford, D. B., and Shaw, R. J. (2009). The LKB1-AMPK pathway: metabolism and growth control in tumour suppression. *Nature Reviews Cancer*, 9(8), 563–575.
- Shackelford, D. B., Abt, E., Gerken, L., Vasquez, Debbie S., Seki, A., Leblanc, M., Wei, L., Fishbein, Michael C., Czernin, J., Mischel, Paul S. and Shaw, Reuben J. (2013). LKB1 Inactivation Dictates Therapeutic Response of Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer to the Metabolism Drug Phenformin. *Cancer Cell*, 23(2), pp.143–158.
- Shackelford, R.E., Mayhall, K., Maxwell, N.M., Kandil, E. and Coppola, D. (2013). Nicotinamide Phosphoribosyltransferase in Malignancy: A Review. *Genes & Cancer*, 4(11-12), pp.447–456.
- Shah, O. Jameel., Wang, Z., and Hunter, T. (2004). Inappropriate Activation of the TSC/Rheb/mTOR/S6K Cassette Induces IRS1/2 Depletion, Insulin Resistance, and Cell Survival Deficiencies. *Current Biology*, 14(18), 1650–1656.
- Shankland, K.R., Armitage, J.O. and Hancock, B.W. (2012). Non-Hodgkin lymphoma. The Lancet, 380(9844), pp.848-857.
- Sharma, P., Hu-Lieskovan, S., Wargo, J. A., and Ribas, A. (2017). Primary, Adaptive, and Acquired Resistance to Cancer Immunotherapy. *Cell*, 168(4), 707–723.
- Sharma, N., Vacher, J., and Allison, J. P. (2019). TLR1/2 ligand enhances antitumor efficacy of CTLA-4 blockade by increasing intratumoral Treg depletion. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 116(21), 10453–10462.
- Shaw, R.J., Bardeesy, N., Manning, B.D., Lopez, L., Kosmatka, M., DePinho, R.A. and Cantley, L.C. (2004). The LKB1 tumor suppressor negatively regulates mTOR signaling. *Cancer Cell*, *6*(1), pp.91–99.
- Shen, Z., Wen, X.-F., Lan, F., Shen, Z.-Z., and Shao, Z.-M. (2002). The Tumor Suppressor Gene LKB1 Is Associated with Prognosis in Human Breast Carcinoma. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 8(7), 2085–2090.
- Shen, K., and Sabatini, D. M. (2018). Ragulator and SLC38A9 activate the Rag GTPases through noncanonical GEF mechanisms. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 115(38), 9545–9550.
- Shi, J., Fu, H., Jia, Z., He, K., Fu, L., and Wang, W. (2016). High Expression of CPT1A Predicts Adverse Outcomes: A Potential Therapeutic Target for Acute Myeloid Leukemia. *EBioMedicine*, 14, 55–64.
- Shiloh, R., Gilad, Y., Ber, Y., Eisenstein, M., Aweida, D., Bialik, S., ... Kimchi, A. (2018). Non-canonical activation of DAPK2 by AMPK constitutes a new pathway linking metabolic stress to autophagy. *Nature Communications*, 9(1).
- Shim, H., Dolde, C., Lewis, B. C., Wu, C.-S. ., Dang, G., Jungmann, R. A., ... Dang, C. V. (1997). c-Myc transactivation of LDH-A: Implications for tumor metabolism and growth. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 94(13), 6658– 6663.
- Shin, B., Benavides, G. A., Geng, J., Koralov, S. B., Hu, H., Darley-Usmar, V. M., and Harrington, L. E. (2020). Mitochondrial Oxidative Phosphorylation Regulates the Fate Decision between Pathogenic Th17 and Regulatory T Cells. *Cell Reports*, 30(6), 1898-1909.e4.
- Shor, B., Wu, J., Shakey, Q., Toral-Barza, L., Shi, C., Follettie, M., and Yu, K. (2010). Requirement of the mTOR Kinase for the Regulation of Maf1 Phosphorylation and Control of RNA Polymerase III-dependent Transcription in Cancer Cells. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 285(20), 15380–15392.
- Si, X., Wang, J., Cheng, Y., Shi, J., Cui, L., Zhang, H., Huang, Y., Liu, W., Chen, L., Zhu, J., Zhang, S., Li, W., Sun, Y., Wang, H., Zhang, X., Wang, M., Yang, L. and Zhang, L. (2020). A phase III, randomized, double-blind, controlled trial of carboxyamidotriazole plus chemotherapy for the treatment of advanced non-small cell lung cancer. *Therapeutic Advances in Medical Oncology*, 12.
- Sica, V., Bravo-San Pedro, J.M., Stoll, G. and Kroemer, G. (2019). Oxidative phosphorylation as a potential therapeutic target for cancer therapy. *International Journal of Cancer*, 146(1), pp.10–17.
- Siegel, R.L., Miller, K.D. and Jemal, A. (2019). Cancer statistics, 2019. CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians, 69(1), pp.7-34.
- Singh, K. K., Desouki, M. M., Franklin, R. B., and Costello, L. C. (2006). Mitochondrial aconitase and citrate metabolism in malignant and nonmalignant human prostate tissues. *Molecular Cancer*, 5(1), 14.
- Singh, A.R., Gu, J.J., Zhang, Q., Torka, P., Sundaram, S., Mavis, C. and Hernandez-Ilizaliturri, F.J. (2020). Metformin sensitizes therapeutic agents and improves outcome in pre-clinical and clinical diffuse large B-cell lymphoma. *Cancer and Metabolism*, 8(1).

- Sitkovsky, M.V. (2020). Lessons from the A2A Adenosine Receptor Antagonist–Enabled Tumor Regression and Survival in Patients with Treatment-Refractory Renal Cell Cancer. *Cancer Discovery*, 10(1), pp.16–19.
- Smolarczyk, R., Cichoń, T., Pilny, E., Jarosz-Biej, M., Poczkaj, A., Kułach, N., and Szala, S. (2018). Combination of antivascular agent - DMXAA and HIF-1α inhibitor - digoxin inhibits the growth of melanoma tumors. *Scientific Reports*, 8(1).
- Sowter, H., Ratcliffe, P., Watson, P., Greenberg, A., and Harris, A. (2001). HIF-1-dependent Regulation of Hypoxic Induction of the Cell Death Factors BNIP3 and NIX in Human Tumors. *Cancer Research 61*, 6669–6673
- Son, H.-J., Lee, J., Lee, S.-Y., Kim, E.-K., Park, M.-J., Kim, K.-W., ... Cho, M.-L. (2014). Metformin Attenuates Experimental Autoimmune Arthritis through Reciprocal Regulation of Th17/Treg Balance and Osteoclastogenesis. *Mediators of Inflammation*, 2014, 1–13
- Son, J., Lyssiotis, C. A., Ying, H., Wang, X., Hua, S., Ligorio, M., ... Kimmelman, A. C. (2013). Glutamine supports pancreatic cancer growth through a KRAS-regulated metabolic pathway. *Nature*, 496(7443), 101–105.
- Song, T.L., Nairismägi, M.-L., Laurensia, Y., Lim, J.-Q., Tan, J., Li, Z.-M., Pang, W.-L., Kizhakeyil, A., Wijaya, G.-C., Huang, D.-C., Nagarajan, S., Chia, B.K.-H., Cheah, D., Liu, Y.-H., Zhang, F., Rao, H.-L., Tang, T., Wong, E.K.-Y., Bei, J.-X. and Iqbal, J. (2018). Oncogenic activation of the STAT3 pathway drives PD-L1 expression in natural killer/T-cell lymphoma. *Blood*, 132(11), pp.1146–1158.
- Sousa, J. S., Mills, D. J., Vonck, J., and Kühlbrandt, W. (2016). Functional asymmetry and electron flow in the bovine respirasome. *ELife*, 5.
- Southam, A. D., Khanim, F. L., Hayden, R. E., Constantinou, J. K., Koczula, K. M., Michell, R. H., ... Bunce, C. M. (2015). Drug Redeployment to Kill Leukemia and Lymphoma Cells by Disrupting SCD1-Mediated Synthesis of Monounsaturated Fatty Acids. *Cancer Research*, 75(12), 2530–2540.
- Spinelli, J. B., Yoon, H., Ringel, A. E., Jeanfavre, S., Clish, C. B., and Haigis, M. C. (2017). Metabolic recycling of ammonia via glutamate dehydrogenase supports breast cancer biomass. *Science*, *358*(6365), 941–946.
- Spinelli, J. B., and Haigis, M. C. (2018). The multifaceted contributions of mitochondria to cellular metabolism. *Nature Cell Biology*, 20(7), 745–754.
- Sreedhar, A., and Zhao, Y. (2017). Dysregulated metabolic enzymes and metabolic reprogramming in cancer cells. *Biomedical Reports*.
- Stahmann, N., Woods, A., Carling, D., and Heller, R. (2006). Thrombin Activates AMP-Activated Protein Kinase in Endothelial Cells via a Pathway Involving Ca2+/Calmodulin-Dependent Protein Kinase Kinase. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 26(16), 5933–5945.
- Stambolsky, P., Weisz, L., Shats, I., Klein, Y., Goldfinger, N., Oren, M., and Rotter, V. (2006). Regulation of AIF expression by p53. *Cell Death and Differentiation*, 13(12), 2140–2149. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.cdd.4401965
- Stein, L. R., and Imai, S. (2012). The dynamic regulation of NAD metabolism in mitochondria. *Trends in Endocrinology and Metabolism, 23*(9), 420–428.
- Stein, M. N., Bertino, J. R., Kaufman, H. L., Mayer, T., Moss, R., Silk, A., ... Gabel, C. (2017). First-in-Human Clinical Trial of Oral ONC201 in Patients with Refractory Solid Tumors. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 23(15), 4163–4169
- Steingold, J. M., and Hatfield, S. M. (2020). Targeting Hypoxia-A2A Adenosinergic Immunosuppression of Antitumor T Cells During Cancer Immunotherapy. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2020.570041
- Stincone, A., Prigione, A., Cramer, T., Wamelink, M. M. C., Campbell, K., Cheung, E., ... Ralser, M. (2014). The return of metabolism: biochemistry and physiology of the pentose phosphate pathway. *Biological Reviews*, 90(3), 927–963.
- Stryer L., Berg, J., Tymoczko, J., and Gatto, G. (2010). Biochemistry. New York Macmillan Learning Wh Freeman.
- Sudarshan, S., Shanmugasundaram, K., Naylor, S.L., Lin, S., Livi, C.B., O'Neill, C.F., Parekh, D.J., Yeh, I-Tien., Sun, L.-Z. and Block, K. (2011). Reduced Expression of Fumarate Hydratase in Clear Cell Renal Cancer Mediates HIF-2α Accumulation and Promotes Migration and Invasion. *PLoS ONE*, 6(6), p.e21037.
- Sullivan, L. B., Gui, D. Y., Hosios, A. M., Bush, L. N., Freinkman, E., and Vander Heiden, M. G. (2015). Supporting Aspartate Biosynthesis Is an Essential Function of Respiration in Proliferating Cells. *Cell*, 162(3), 552–563.
- Sun, L., Song, L., Wan, Q., Wu, G., Li, X., Wang, Y., ... Zhang, H. (2015). cMyc-mediated activation of serine biosynthesis pathway is critical for cancer progression under nutrient deprivation conditions. *Cell Research*, 25(4), 429–444.
- Sundqvist, A., Bengoechea-Alonso, M. T., Ye, X., Lukiyanchuk, V., Jin, J., Harper, J. W., and Ericsson, J. (2005). Control of lipid metabolism by phosphorylation-dependent degradation of the SREBP family of transcription factors by SCFFbw7. *Cell Metabolism, 1*(6), 379–391.
- Suzuki, S., Tanaka, T., Poyurovsky, M. V., Nagano, H., Mayama, T., Ohkubo, S., ... Prives, C. (2010). Phosphate-activated glutaminase (GLS2), a p53-inducible regulator of glutamine metabolism and reactive oxygen species. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 107(16), 7461–7466.
- Tabe, Y., Yamamoto, S., Saitoh, K., Sekihara, K., Monma, N., Ikeo, K., ... Andreeff, M. (2017). Bone Marrow Adipocytes Facilitate Fatty Acid Oxidation Activating AMPK and a Transcriptional Network Supporting Survival of Acute Monocytic Leukemia Cells. *Cancer Research*, 77(6), 1453–1464.
- Tabe, Y., Lorenzi, P. L., and Konopleva, M. (2019). Amino acid metabolism in hematologic malignancies and the era of targeted therapy. Blood, 134(13), 1014–1023.
- Tabe, Y., Konopleva, M., and Andreeff, M. (2020). Fatty Acid Metabolism, Bone Marrow Adipocytes, and AML. Frontiers in Oncology, 10.
- Tabernero, J., Rojo, F., Calvo, E., Burris, H., Judson, I., Hazell, K., ... Baselga, J. (2008). Dose- and Schedule-Dependent Inhibition of the Mammalian Target of Rapamycin Pathway With Everolimus: A Phase I Tumor Pharmacodynamic Study in Patients With Advanced Solid Tumors. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 26(10), 1603–1610.
- Takubo, K., Nagamatsu, G., Kobayashi, Chiharu I., Nakamura-Ishizu, A., Kobayashi, H., Ikeda, E., ... Suda, T. (2013). Regulation of Glycolysis by Pdk Functions as a Metabolic Checkpoint for Cell Cycle Quiescence in Hematopoietic Stem Cells. Cell Stem Cell, 12(1), 49–61.

- Tan, An S., Baty, James W., Dong, L.-F., Bezawork-Geleta, A., Endaya, B., Goodwin, J., Bajzikova, M., Kovarova, J., Peterka, M., Yan, B., Pesdar, E., Sobol, M., Filimonenko, A., Stuart, S., Vondrusova, M., Kluckova, K., Sachaphibulkij, K., Rohlena, J., Hozak, P. and Truksa, J. (2015). Mitochondrial Genome Acquisition Restores Respiratory Function and Tumorigenic Potential of Cancer Cells without Mitochondrial DNA. *Cell Metabolism, 21*(1), pp.81–94.
- Tanaka, H., Arakawa, H., Yamaguchi, T., Shiraishi, K., Fukuda, S., Matsui, K., ... Nakamura, Y. (2000). A ribonucleotide reductase gene involved in a p53-dependent cell-cycle checkpoint for DNA damage. *Nature*, 404(6773), 42–49.
- Tannahill, G. M., Curtis, A. M., Adamik, J., Palsson-McDermott, E. M., McGettrick, A. F., Goel, G., ... Beasley, F. C. (2013). Succinate is an inflammatory signal that induces IL-1β through HIF-1α. *Nature*, 496(7444), 238–242.
- Tannock, I. F., and Rotin, D. (1989). Acid pH in Tumors and Its Potential for Therapeutic Exploitation. *Cancer Research*, 49(16), 4373–4384.
- Tardito, S., Oudin, A., Ahmed, S. U., Fack, F., Keunen, O., Zheng, L., ... Gottlieb, E. (2015). Glutamine synthetase activity fuels nucleotide biosynthesis and supports growth of glutamine-restricted glioblastoma. *Nature Cell Biology*, 17(12), 1556–1568.
- Tarragó, M. G., Chini, C. C. S., Kanamori, K. S., Warner, G. M., Caride, A., de Oliveira, G. C., ... Chini, E. N. (2018). A Potent and Specific CD38 Inhibitor Ameliorates Age-Related Metabolic Dysfunction by Reversing Tissue NAD+ Decline. *Cell Metabolism*, 27(5), 1081-1095.e10.
- Taylor, W. M., and Halperin, M. L. (1973). Regulation of pyruvate dehydrogenase in muscle. Inhibition by citrate. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 248(17), 6080–6083.
- Tee, A. R., Manning, B. D., Roux, P. P., Cantley, L. C., and Blenis, J. (2003). Tuberous Sclerosis Complex Gene Products, Tuberin and Hamartin, Control mTOR Signaling by Acting as a GTPase-Activating Protein Complex toward Rheb. *Current Biology*, 13(15), 1259–1268.
- Tello, D., Balsa, E., Acosta-Iborra, B., Fuertes-Yebra, E., Elorza, A., Ordóñez, Á., ... Landázuri, Manuel O. (2011). Induction of the Mitochondrial NDUFA4L2 Protein by HIF-1α Decreases Oxygen Consumption by Inhibiting Complex I Activity. *Cell Metabolism*, 14(6), 768–779.
- Teng, L., Nakada, M., Zhao, S-G., Endo, Y., Furuyama, N., Nambu, E., ... Hamada, J-I. (2011). Silencing of ferrochelatase enhances 5-aminolevulinic acid-based fluorescence and photodynamic therapy efficacy. *British Journal of Cancer*, 104(5), 798–807.
- Thapa, B., and Lee, K. (2019). Metabolic influence on macrophage polarization and pathogenesis. BMB Reports, 52(6), 360-372.
- Thorpe, L. M., Yuzugullu, H., and Zhao, J. J. (2014). PI3K in cancer: divergent roles of isoforms, modes of activation and therapeutic targeting. *Nature Reviews Cancer*, *15*(1), 7–24.
- Tibes, R., Falchook, G. S., Von Hoff, D. D., Weiss, G. J., Iyengar, T., Kurzrock, R., ... Herbst, R. S. (2010). Results from a phase I, dose-escalation study of PX-478, an orally available inhibitor of HIF-1α. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 28(15_suppl), 3076–3076.
- Todisco, S., Agrimi, G., Castegna, A., and Palmieri, F. (2006). Identification of the Mitochondrial NAD+ Transporter in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 281(3), 1524–1531.
- Todisco, S., Convertini, P., Iacobazzi, V., and Infantino, V. (2019). TCA Cycle Rewiring as Emerging Metabolic Signature of Hepatocellular Carcinoma. *Cancers*, 12(1), 68.
- Tomita, N., Tokunaka, M., Nakamura, N., Takeuchi, K., Koike, J., Motomura, S., Miyamoto, K., Kikuchi, A., Hyo, R., Yakushijin, Y., Masaki, Y., Fujii, S., Hayashi, T., Ishigatsubo, Y. and Miura, I. (2009). Clinicopathological features of lymphoma/leukemia patients carrying both BCL2 and MYC translocations. *Haematologica*, 94(7), pp.935–943.
- Tomlinson IP, Alam NA, Rowan AJ, Barclay E, Jaeger EE, Kelsell D, Leigh I, Gorman P, Lamlum H, Rahman S, Roylance RR, Olpin S, Bevan S, Barker K, Hearle N, Houlston RS, Kiuru M, Lehtonen R, Karhu A, Vilkki S, Laiho P, Eklund C, Vierimaa O, Aittomäki K, Hietala M, Sistonen P, Paetau A, Salovaara R, Herva R, Launonen V, Aaltonen LA. Multiple Leiomyoma Consortium (2002). Germline mutations in FH predispose to dominantly inherited uterine fibroids, skin leiomyomata and papillary renal cell cancer. *Nature Genetics*, 30(4), pp.406–410.
- Tommasini-Ghelfi, S., Murnan, K., Kouri, F. M., Mahajan, A. S., May, J. L., and Stegh, A. H. (2019). Cancer-associated mutation and beyond: The emerging biology of isocitrate dehydrogenases in human disease. *Science Advances*, 5(5), eaaw4543.
- Tong, X., Zhao, F., Mancuso, A., Gruber, J. J., and Thompson, C. B. (2009). The glucose-responsive transcription factor ChREBP contributes to glucose-dependent anabolic synthesis and cell proliferation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 106(51), 21660–21665.
- Toyama, E. Q., Herzig, S., Courchet, J., Lewis, T. L., Loson, O. C., Hellberg, K., ... Shaw, R. J. (2016). AMP-activated protein kinase mediates mitochondrial fission in response to energy stress. *Science*, *351*(6270), 275–281.
- Tran, D.H., May, H.I., Li, Q., Luo, X., Huang, J., Zhang, G., Niewold, E., Wang, X., Gillette, T.G., Deng, Y. and Wang, Z.V. (2020). Chronic activation of hexosamine biosynthesis in the heart triggers pathological cardiac remodeling. *Nature Communications*, 11(1).
- Tron, A. E., Belmonte, M. A., Adam, A., Aquila, B. M., Boise, L. H., Chiarparin, E., ... Nooka, A. K. (2018). Discovery of Mcl-1-specific inhibitor AZD5991 and preclinical activity in multiple myeloma and acute myeloid leukemia. *Nature Communications*, 9(1).
- Tsai, C.-H., Hou, H.-A., Tang, J.-L., Kuo, Y.-Y., Chiu, Y.-C., Lin, C.-C., ... Tien, H.-F. (2017). Prognostic impacts and dynamic changes of cohesin complex gene mutations in de novo acute myeloid leukemia. *Blood Cancer Journal*, 7(12).
- Tsai, H.-J., Jiang, S. S., Hung, W.-C., Borthakur, G., Lin, S.-F., Pemmaraju, N., ... Chen, T.-Y. (2017). A Phase II Study of Arginine Deiminase (ADI-PEG20) in Relapsed/Refractory or Poor-Risk Acute Myeloid Leukemia Patients. *Scientific Reports*, 7(1).
- Tsun, Z.-Y., Bar-Peled, L., Chantranupong, L., Zoncu, R., Wang, T., Kim, C., ... Sabatini, David M. (2013). The Folliculin Tumor Suppressor Is a GAP for the RagC/D GTPases That Signal Amino Acid Levels to mTORC1. *Molecular Cell*, *52*(4), 495–505.

- Turyn, J., Schlichtholz, B., Dettlaff-Pokora, A., Presler, M., Goyke, E., Matuszewski, M., ... Swierczynski, J. (2003). Increased Activity of Glycerol 3-phosphate Dehydrogenase and Other Lipogenic Enzymes in Human Bladder Cancer. *Hormone and Metabolic Research*, 35(10), 565–569.
- Uehara, T., Eikawa, S., Nishida, M., Kunisada, Y., Yoshida, A., Fujiwara, T., ... Udono, H. (2018). Metformin induces CD11b+cell-mediated growth inhibition of an osteosarcoma: implications for metabolic reprogramming of myeloid cells and antitumor effects. *International Immunology*, 31(4), 187–198.
- Ulanovskaya, O.A., Zuhl, A.M. and Cravatt, B.F. (2013). NNMT promotes epigenetic remodeling in cancer by creating a metabolic methylation sink. *Nature Chemical Biology*, *9*(5), pp.300–306.
- Ullah, M. S., Davies, A. J., and Halestrap, A. P. (2006). The Plasma Membrane Lactate Transporter MCT4, but Not MCT1, Is Up-regulated by Hypoxia through a HIF-1α-dependent Mechanism. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 281(14), 9030-9037.
- Valle, S., Alcalá, S., Martin-Hijano, L., Cabezas-Sáinz, P., Navarro, D., Muñoz, E.R., Yuste, L.,...and Sainz, B. (2020). Exploiting oxidative phosphorylation to promote the stem and immunoevasive properties of pancreatic cancer stem cells. *Nature Communications*, 11(1).
- Valvezan, A. J., Turner, M., Belaid, A., Lam, H. C., Miller, S. K., McNamara, M. C., ... Manning, B. D. (2017). mTORC1 Couples Nucleotide Synthesis to Nucleotide Demand Resulting in a Targetable Metabolic Vulnerability. *Cancer Cell*, 32(5), 624-638.e5.
- Valvezan, A. J., and Manning, B. D. (2019). Molecular logic of mTORC1 signalling as a metabolic rheostat. *Nature Metabolism*, *1*(3), 321–333.
- Van der Windt, G. J. W., Everts, B., Chang, C.-H., Curtis, J. D., Freitas, T. C., Amiel, E., ... Pearce, E. L. (2012). Mitochondrial Respiratory Capacity Is A Critical Regulator Of CD8+ T Cell Memory Development. *Immunity*, 36(1), 68-78.
- Van Riggelen, J., Yetil, A., and Felsher, D. W. (2010). MYC as a regulator of ribosome biogenesis and protein synthesis. *Nature Reviews Cancer*, *10*(4), 301–309.
- Van Vranken, J. G., and Rutter, J. (2015). You Down With ETC? Yeah, You Know D! Cell, 162(3), 471-473.
- Vancura, A., Bu, P., Bhagwat, M., Zeng, J., and Vancurova, I. (2018). Metformin as an Anticancer Agent. Trends in Pharmacological Sciences, 39(10), 867–878.
- Vangapandu, H.V., Alston, B., Morse, J., Ayres, M.L., Wierda, W.G., Keating, M.J., Marszalek, J.R. and Gandhi, V. (2018). Biological and metabolic effects of IACS-010759, an OxPhos inhibitor, on chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells. *Oncotarget*, 9(38), pp.24980–24991.
- Vara-Ciruelos, D., Dandapani, M., Gray, A., Egbani, E. O., Evans, A. M., and Hardie, D. G. (2017). Genotoxic Damage Activates the AMPK-α1 Isoform in the Nucleus via Ca2+/CaMKK2 Signaling to Enhance Tumor Cell Survival. *Molecular Cancer Research*, 16(2), 345–357.
- Vara-Ciruelos, D., Russell, F. M., and Hardie, D. G. (2019). The strange case of AMPK and cancer: Dr Jekyll or Mr Hyde? Open Biology, 9(7), 190099.
- Varis, A., Wolf, M., Monni, O., Vakkari, M.-L., Kokkola, A., Moskaluk, C., ... El-Rifai, W. (2002). Targets of Gene Amplification and Overexpression at 17q in Gastric Cancer. *Cancer Research*, 62(9), 2625–2629.
- Vasamsetti SB, Karnewar S, Kanugula AK, Thatipalli AR, Kumar JM, Kotamraju S. Metformin inhibits monocyte-to macrophage differentiation via AMPK-mediated inhibition of STAT3 activation: potential role in atherosclerosis. *Diabetes.* 2015; 64:2028-2041.
- Vazquez-Martin, A., Oliveras-Ferraros, C., Cufi, S., Martin-Castillo, B., and Menendez, J. A. (2011). Metformin activates an Ataxia Telangiectasia Mutated (ATM)/Chk2-regulated DNA damage-like response. *Cell Cycle*, 10(9), 1499–1501.
- Vazquez, F., Lim, J.-H., Chim, H., Bhalla, K., Girnun, G., Pierce, K., Clish, Clary B., and Puigserver, P. (2013). PGC1α Expression Defines a Subset of Human Melanoma Tumors with Increased Mitochondrial Capacity and Resistance to Oxidative Stress. *Cancer Cell*, 23(3), pp.287–301.
- Vazquez, A., Kamphorst, J. J., Markert, E. K., Schug, Z. T., Tardito, S., and Gottlieb, E. (2016). Cancer metabolism at a glance. *Journal of Cell Science*, 129(18), 3367–3373.
- Veglia, F., Perego, M., and Gabrilovich, D. (2018). Myeloid-derived suppressor cells coming of age. *Nature Immunology*, 19(2), 108–119.
- Veglia, F., Tyurin, V. A., Blasi, M., De Leo, A., Kossenkov, A. V., Donthireddy, L., ... Guarino, M. (2019). Fatty acid transport protein 2 reprograms neutrophils in cancer. *Nature*, 569(7754), 73–78.
- Veglia, F., Sanseviero, E., and Gabrilovich, D. I. (2021). Myeloid-derived suppressor cells in the era of increasing myeloid cell diversity. *Nature Reviews Immunology*.
- Veiga, S.R., Ge, X., Mercer, C.A., Hernández-Álvarez, M.I., Thomas, H.E., Hernandez-Losa, J., ... and Kozma, S.C. (2018). Phenformin-Induced Mitochondrial Dysfunction Sensitizes Hepatocellular Carcinoma for Dual Inhibition of mTOR. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 24(15), pp.3767–3780.
- Vélez, J., Hail Jr., N., Konopleva, M., Zeng, Z., Kojima, K., Samudio, I., and Andreeff, M. (2013). Mitochondrial Uncoupling and the Reprogramming of Intermediary Metabolism in Leukemia Cells. *Frontiers in Oncology*, 3.
- Vijayan, D., Young, A., Teng, M. W. L., and Smyth, M. J. (2017). Targeting immunosuppressive adenosine in cancer. *Nature Reviews Cancer*, 17(12), 709–724.
- Viola, A., Munari, F., Sánchez-Rodríguez, R., Scolaro, T., and Castegna, A. (2019). The Metabolic Signature of Macrophage Responses. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 10.
- Vitiello, G.A., Medina, B.D., Zeng, S., Bowler, T.G., Zhang, J.Q., Loo, J.K., Param, N.J., ...and DeMatteo, R.P. (2017). Mitochondrial Inhibition Augments the Efficacy of Imatinib by Resetting the Metabolic Phenotype of Gastrointestinal Stromal Tumor. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 24(4), pp.972–984.
- Vlashi, E., Lagadec, C., Vergnes, L., Matsutani, T., Masui, K., Poulou, M., Popescu, R., and Pajonk, F. (2011). Metabolic state of glioma stem cells and nontumorigenic cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 108(38), pp.16062– 16067.

Waickman, A. T., Alme, A., Senaldi, L., Zarek, P. E., Horton, M., and Powell, J. D. (2011). Enhancement of tumor immunotherapy by deletion of the A2A adenosine receptor. *Cancer Immunology, Immunotherapy*, 61(6), 917–926.

- Waldhart, A. N., Dykstra, H., Peck, A. S., Boguslawski, E. A., Madaj, Z. B., Wen, J., ... Wu, N. (2017). Phosphorylation of TXNIP by AKT Mediates Acute Influx of Glucose in Response to Insulin. *Cell Reports*, 19(10), 2005–2013.
- Waldman, A. D., Fritz, J. M., and Lenardo, M. J. (2020). A guide to cancer immunotherapy: from T cell basic science to clinical practice. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 1–18.
- Wang, X., and Proud, C. G. (2006). The mTOR pathway in the control of protein synthesis. *Physiology (Bethesda, Md.)*, 21, 362–369.
- Wang, L., Harris, T. E., Roth, R. A., and Lawrence, J. C. (2007). PRAS40 Regulates mTORC1 Kinase Activity by Functioning as a Direct Inhibitor of Substrate Binding. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 282(27), 20036–20044.
- Wang, J.-B., Erickson, J. W., Fuji, R., Ramachandran, S., Gao, P., Dinavahi, R., ... Cerione, R. A. (2010). Targeting
 - Mitochondrial Glutaminase Activity Inhibits Oncogenic Transformation. Cancer Cell, 18(3), 207–219.
- Wang, B., Hasan, M.K., Alvarado, E., Yuan, H., Wu, H. and Chen, W.Y. (2010b). NAMPT overexpression in prostate cancer and its contribution to tumor cell survival and stress response. *Oncogene*, *30*(8), pp.907–921.
- Wang, R., Dillon, Christopher P., Shi, L., Milasta, S., Carter, R., Finkelstein, D., ... Green, Douglas R. (2011). The Transcription Factor Myc Controls Metabolic Reprogramming upon T Lymphocyte Activation. *Immunity*, 35(6), 871–
- Wang, P., Mai, C., Wei, Y., Zhao, J., Hu, Y., Zeng, Z., ... Huang, P. (2013). Decreased expression of the mitochondrial metabolic enzyme aconitase (ACO2) is associated with poor prognosis in gastric cancer. *Medical Oncology*, 30(2).
- Wang, Y.-H., Israelsen, W. J., Lee, D., Yu, V. W. C., Jeanson, N. T., Clish, C. B., ... Scadden, D. T. (2014). Cell-State-Specific Metabolic Dependency in Hematopoiesis and Leukemogenesis. *Cell*, 158(6), 1309–1323.
- Wang, S., Tsun, Z.-Y., Wolfson, R. L., Shen, K., Wyant, G. A., Plovanich, M. E., ... Sabatini, D. M. (2015). Lysosomal amino acid transporter SLC38A9 signals arginine sufficiency to mTORC1. *Science*, 347(6218), 188–194.
- Wang, T., Fahrmann, J.F., Lee, H., Li, Y.-J., Tripathi, S.C., Yue, C., Zhang, C., Lifshitz, V., Song, J., Yuan, Y., Somlo, G., Jandial, R., Ann, D., Hanash, S., Jove, R. and Yu, H. (2018). JAK/STAT3-Regulated Fatty Acid β-Oxidation Is Critical for Breast Cancer Stem Cell Self-Renewal and Chemoresistance. *Cell Metabolism*, 27(1), pp.136-150.e5.
- Wangpaichitr, M., Kandemir, H., Li, Y., Wu, C., Nguyen, D., Feun, L., Kuo, Mtk. and Savaraj, N. (2017). Relationship of Metabolic Alterations and PD-L1 Expression in Cisplatin Resistant Lung Cancer. Cell and Developmental Biology, 06(02).
- Ward, P. S., Patel, J., Wise, D. R., Abdel-Wahab, O., Bennett, B. D., Coller, H. A., ... Thompson, C. B. (2010). The Common Feature of Leukemia-Associated IDH1 and IDH2 Mutations Is a Neomorphic Enzyme Activity Converting α-Ketoglutarate to 2-Hydroxyglutarate. *Cancer Cell*, 17(3), 225–234.
- Watt, M.J., Clark, A.K., Selth, L.A., Haynes, V.R., Lister, N., Rebello, R., Porter, L.H.,...and Febbraio, M. (2019). Suppressing fatty acid uptake has therapeutic effects in preclinical models of prostate cancer. *Science Translational Medicine*, 11(478), p.eaau5758.
- Wei, S. C., Duffy, C. R., and Allison, J. P. (2018). Fundamental Mechanisms of Immune Checkpoint Blockade Therapy. *Cancer Discovery*, 8(9), 1069–1086.
- Wei, Z., Zhang, X., Yong, T., Bie, N., Zhan, G., Li, X., ... Yang, X. (2021). Boosting anti-PD-1 therapy with metformin-loaded macrophage-derived microparticles. *Nature Communications*, 12(1).
- Weinberg, F., Hamanaka, R., Wheaton, W. W., Weinberg, S., Joseph, J., Lopez, M., ... Chandel, N. S. (2010). Mitochondrial metabolism and ROS generation are essential for Kras-mediated tumorigenicity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 107(19), 8788–8793.
- Wen, S., Gao, J., Zhang, L., Zhou, H., Fang, D., and Feng, S. (2016). p53 increase mitochondrial copy number via up-regulation of mitochondrial transcription factor A in colorectal cancer. *Oncotarget*, 7(46).
- Whang, Y.M., Park, S.I., Trenary, I.A., Egnatchik, R.A., Fessel, J.P., Kaufman, J.M., Carbone, D.P. and Young, J.D. (2015). LKB1 deficiency enhances sensitivity to energetic stress induced by erlotinib treatment in non-small-cell lung cancer (NSCLC) cells. Oncogene, 35(7), pp.856–866.
- Wheatley, D. N. (2005). Arginine deprivation and metabolomics: Important aspects of intermediary metabolism in relation to the differential sensitivity of normal and tumour cells. *Seminars in Cancer Biology*, 15(4), 247–253.
- Wilk, A., Hayat, F., Cunningham, R., Li, J., Garavaglia, S., Zamani, L., Ferraris, D.M., Sykora, P.,...and Sobol, R.W. (2020). Extracellular NAD⁺ enhances PARP-dependent DNA repair capacity independently of CD73 activity. *Scientific Reports*, 10(1).
- Willems, L., Jacque, N., Jacquel, A., Neveux, N., Trovati Maciel, T., Lambert, M., ... Bouscary, D. (2013). Inhibiting glutamine uptake represents an attractive new strategy for treating acute myeloid leukemia. *Blood*, *122*(20), 3521–3532.
- Williams, N. C., and O'Neill, L. A. J. (2018). A Role for the Krebs Cycle Intermediate Citrate in Metabolic Reprogramming in Innate Immunity and Inflammation. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 9.
- Williams, P., Basu, S., Garcia-Manero, G., Hourigan, C. S., Oetjen, K. A., Cortes, J. E., ... Daver, N. G. (2018). The distribution of T-cell subsets and the expression of immune checkpoint receptors and ligands in patients with newly diagnosed and relapsed acute myeloid leukemia. *Cancer*, 125(9), 1470–1481. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.31896
- Willingham, S. B., Hotson, A. N., and Miller, R. A. (2020). Targeting the A2AR in cancer; early lessons from the clinic. *Current Opinion in Pharmacology*, *53*, 126–133.
- Wilson, M. C., Meredith, D., Fox, J. E. M., Manoharan, C., Davies, A. J., and Halestrap, A. P. (2005). Basigin (CD147) Is the Target for Organomercurial Inhibition of Monocarboxylate Transporter Isoforms 1 and 4. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 280(29), 27213–27221.
- Winder, W. W., and Hardie, D. G. (1996). Inactivation of acetyl-CoA carboxylase and activation of AMP-activated protein kinase in muscle during exercise. *American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 270(2), E299–E304. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.1996.270.2.e299
- Wingo, S. N., Gallardo, T. D., Akbay, E. A., Liang, M.-C., Contreras, C. M., Boren, T., ... Castrillon, D. H. (2009). Somatic LKB1 Mutations Promote Cervical Cancer Progression. *PLoS ONE*, 4(4), e5137.

- Wise, D. R., DeBerardinis, R. J., Mancuso, A., Sayed, N., Zhang, X.-Y., Pfeiffer, H. K., ... Thompson, C. B. (2008). Myc regulates a transcriptional program that stimulates mitochondrial glutaminolysis and leads to glutamine addiction. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 105(48), 18782–18787.
- Woehrle, T., Yip, L., Elkhal, A., Sumi, Y., Chen, Y., Yao, Y., ... Junger, W. G. (2010). Pannexin-1 hemichannel-mediated ATP release together with P2X1 and P2X4 receptors regulate T-cell activation at the immune synapse. *Blood*, 116(18), 3475–3484.

Wolfson, R. L., Chantranupong, L., Saxton, R. A., Shen, K., Scaria, S. M., Cantor, J. R., and Sabatini, D. M. (2015). Sestrin2 is a leucine sensor for the mTORC1 pathway. *Science*, 351(6268), 43–48. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aab2674

- Wonsey, D. R., Zeller, K. I., and Dang, C. V. (2002). The c-Myc target gene PRDX3 is required for mitochondrial homeostasis and neoplastic transformation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 99(10), 6649–6654.
- Woods, A., Johnstone, S. R., Dickerson, K., Leiper, F. C., Fryer, L. G. D., Neumann, D., ... Carling, D. (2003). LKB1 Is the Upstream Kinase in the AMP-Activated Protein Kinase Cascade. *Current Biology*, 13(22), 2004–2008.
- Woods, A., Dickerson, K., Heath, R., Hong, S.-P., Momcilovic, M., Johnstone, S. R., ... Carling, D. (2005). Ca2+/calmodulindependent protein kinase kinase-β acts upstream of AMP-activated protein kinase in mammalian cells. *Cell Metabolism*, 2(1), 21–33.
- Wu, N., Zheng, B., Shaywitz, A., Dagon, Y., Tower, C., Bellinger, G., ... Cantley, Lewis C. (2013). AMPK-Dependent Degradation of TXNIP upon Energy Stress Leads to Enhanced Glucose Uptake via GLUT1. *Molecular Cell*, 49(6), 1167– 1175.
- Wu, Y., Hurren, R., MacLean, N., Gronda, M., Jitkova, Y., Sukhai, M. A., ... Schimmer, A. D. (2015). Carnitine transporter CT2 (SLC22A16) is over-expressed in acute myeloid leukemia (AML) and target knockdown reduces growth and viability of AML cells. *Apoptosis*, 20(8), 1099–1108.
- Xiang, Y., Stine, Z.E., Xia, J., Lu, Y., O'Connor, R.S., Altman, B.J., Hsieh, A.L., Gouw, A.M.,... and Le, A. (2015). Targeted inhibition of tumor-specific glutaminase diminishes cell-autonomous tumorigenesis. Journal of Clinical Investigation, 125(6), pp.2293–2306.
- Xiao, M., Yang, H., Xu, W., Ma, S., Lin, H., Zhu, H., Liu, L., Liu, Y., Yang, C., Xu, Y., Zhao, S., Ye, D., Xiong, Y. and Guan, K.-L. (2012). Inhibition of -KG-dependent histone and DNA demethylases by fumarate and succinate that are accumulated in mutations of FH and SDH tumor suppressors. *Genes and Development*, 26(12), pp.1326–1338.
- Xie, N., Zhang, L., Gao, W., Huang, C., Huber, P. E., Zhou, X., ... Zou, B. (2020). NAD+ metabolism: pathophysiologic mechanisms and therapeutic potential. *Signal Transduction and Targeted Therapy*, *5*(227).
- Xu, F., Na, L., Li, Y., and Chen, L. (2020). Roles of the PI3K/AKT/mTOR signalling pathways in neurodegenerative diseases and tumours. *Cell and Bioscience*, 10(1).
- Xu, W., Yang, H., Liu, Y., Yang, Y., Wang, P., Kim, S.-H., ... Xiong, Y. (2011). Oncometabolite 2-Hydroxyglutarate Is a Competitive Inhibitor of α-Ketoglutarate-Dependent Dioxygenases. *Cancer Cell*, 19(1), 17–30.
- Xu, P., Yin, K., Tang, X., Tian, J., Zhang, Y., Ma, J., ... Wang, S. (2019). Metformin inhibits the function of granulocytic myeloid-derived suppressor cells in tumor-bearing mice. *Biomedicine and Pharmacotherapy*, *120*, 109458.
- Xue, Y., Liu, Y., Su, J., Li, J., Wu, Y., Guo, R., ... Li, Y. (2019). Zinc cooperates with p53 to inhibit the activity of mitochondrial aconitase through reactive oxygen species accumulation. *Cancer Medicine*, 8(5), 2462–2473.
- Yahagi, N., Shimano, H., Hasegawa, K., Ohashi, K., Matsuzaka, T., Najima, Y., ... Yamada, N. (2005). Co-ordinate activation of lipogenic enzymes in hepatocellular carcinoma. *European Journal of Cancer*, 41(9), 1316–1322.
- Yamauchi, T., Kamon, J., Minokoshi, Y., Ito, Y., Waki, H., Uchida, S., ... Kadowaki, T. (2002). Adiponectin stimulates glucose utilization and fatty-acid oxidation by activating AMP-activated protein kinase. *Nature Medicine*, 8(11), 1288–1295.
- Yan, S., and Wan, G. (2021). Tumor-associated macrophages in immunotherapy. The FEBS Journal.
- Yancy, H. F., Mason, J. A., Peters, S., Thompson, C. E., Littleton, G. K., Jett, M., and Day, A. A. (2007). Metastatic progression and gene expression between breast cancer cell lines from African American and Caucasian women. *Journal of Carcinogenesis*, 6(1), 8.
- Yang, W., Shen, J., Wu, M., Arsura, M., FitzGerald, M., Suldan, Z., ... Sonenshein, G. E. (2001). Repression of transcription of the p27Kip1 cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor gene by c-Myc. *Oncogene*, 20(14), 1688–1702.
- Yang, J.-Y., Jiang, S.-H., Liu, D.-J., Yang, X.-M., Huo, Y.-M., Li, J., ... Sun, Y.-W. (2015). Decreased LKB1 predicts poor prognosis in Pancreatic Ductal Adenocarcinoma. *Scientific Reports*, 5(1).
- Yang, L., Achreja, A., Yeung, T.-L., Mangala, Lingegowda S., Jiang, D., Han, C., ... Plackemeier, T. (2016). Targeting Stromal Glutamine Synthetase in Tumors Disrupts Tumor Microenvironment-Regulated Cancer Cell Growth. *Cell Metabolism*, 24(5), 685–700.
- Yang, L., Venneti, S., and Nagrath, D. (2017). Glutaminolysis: A Hallmark of Cancer Metabolism. Annual Review of Biomedical Engineering, 19(1), 163–194.
- Yang, M., and Vousden, K. H. (2016). Serine and one-carbon metabolism in cancer. Nature Reviews Cancer, 16(10), 650-662.
- Yang, M., Ding, Y., Wang, Y., Gu, J., Zhang, B., and Wang, H. (2017). Metformin regulates Th17/Treg cell balance and reduces hyperplastic synovium via activating AMPK and inhibiting mTOR in a collagen-induced arthritis rat model. *Int J Clin Exp Med*, 10(8), 11479–11487.
- Yang, H., Liang, S.-Q., Schmid, R.A. and Peng, R.-W. (2019). New Horizons in KRAS-Mutant Lung Cancer: Dawn After Darkness. Frontiers in Oncology, 9.
- Yang, L., Garcia Canaveras, J. C., Chen, Z., Wang, L., Liang, L., Jang, C., ... Rabinowitz, J. D. (2020). Serine Catabolism Feeds NADH when Respiration Is Impaired. *Cell Metabolism*, 31(4), 809-821.e6.
- Yang, M., Li, Z., Tao, J., Hu, H., Li, Z., Zhang, Z., Cheng, F., Sun, Y., Zhang, Y., Yang, J., Wei, H. and Wu, Z. (2021). Resveratrol induces PD-L1 expression through snail-driven activation of Wnt pathway in lung cancer cells. *Journal of Cancer Research and Clinical Oncology*, 147(4), pp.1101–1113.
- Yaniv, B., Sadraei, N. H., Palackdharry, S., Takiar, V., and Wise-Draper, T. (2018). Metformin Induces Pro-Tumorigenic Cytokines And Natural Killer Cells In Patients With Locally Advanced Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma. *International Journal of Radiation Oncology, Biology, Physics, 100*(5), 1369.

- Yap, T.A., Rodon Ahnert, J., Piha-Paul, S.A., Fu, S., Janku, F., Karp, D.D., Naing, A.,...and Meric-Bernstam, F. (2019). Phase I trial of IACS-010759 (IACS), a potent, selective inhibitor of complex I of the mitochondrial electron transport chain, in patients (pts) with advanced solid tumors. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 37(15 suppl), pp.3014–3014.
- Ye, H., Adane, B., Khan, N., Sullivan, T., Minhajuddin, M., Gasparetto, M., ... Jordan, C. T. (2016). Leukemic Stem Cells Evade Chemotherapy by Metabolic Adaptation to an Adipose Tissue Niche. *Cell Stem Cell*, 19(1), 23–37.
- Ye, H., Adane, B., Khan, N., Alexeev, E., Nusbacher, N., Minhajuddin, M., ... Jordan, C. T. (2018). Subversion of Systemic Glucose Metabolism as a Mechanism to Support the Growth of Leukemia Cells. *Cancer Cell*, *34*(4), 659-673.e6.
- Ye, F., Chen, Y., Xia, L., Lian, J., and Yang, S. (2018). Aldolase A overexpression is associated with poor prognosis and promotes tumor progression by the epithelial-mesenchymal transition in colon cancer. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 497(2), 639–645.
- Yendapally, R., Sikazwe, D., Kim, S.S., Ramsinghani, S., Fraser-Spears, R., Witte, A.P. and La-Viola, B. (2020). A review of phenformin, metformin, and imeglimin. *Drug Development Research*, 1-12.
- Yilmaz, M., Wang, F., Loghavi, S., Bueso-Ramos, C., Gumbs, C., Little, L., ... Ravandi, F. (2019). Late relapse in acute myeloid leukemia (AML): clonal evolution or therapy-related leukemia? *Blood Cancer Journal*, 9(2).
- Yin, Y., and Shen, W. H. (2008). PTEN: a new guardian of the genome. Oncogene, 27(41), 5443–5453.
- Yoo, H. C., Yu, Y. C., Sung, Y., and Han, J. M. (2020). Glutamine reliance in cell metabolism. Experimental and Molecular Medicine, 52(9), 1496–1516.
- Yoshida, Y., Izumi, H., Torigoe, T., Ishiguchi, H., Itoh, H., Kang, D., and Kohno, K. (2003). P53 physically interacts with mitochondrial transcription factor A and differentially regulates binding to damaged DNA. *Cancer Research*, 63(13), 3729– 3734.
- Young, A., Ngiow, S. F., Barkauskas, D. S., Sult, E., Hay, C., Blake, S. J., ... Smyth, M. J. (2016). Co-inhibition of CD73 and A2AR Adenosine Signaling Improves Anti-tumor Immune Responses. *Cancer Cell*, *30*(3), 391–403.
- Yu, P., Liu, Z., Yu, X., Ye, P., Liu, H., Xue, X., ... Yang, W. (2019). Direct Gating of the TRPM2 Channel by cADPR via Specific Interactions with the ADPR Binding Pocket. *Cell Reports*, 27(12), 3684-3695.e4.
- Yuan, T. L., and Cantley, L. C. (2008). PI3K pathway alterations in cancer: variations on a theme. Oncogene, 27(41), 5497-5510.
- Zaidi, N., Swinnen, J. V., and Smans, K. (2012). ATP-Citrate Lyase: A Key Player in Cancer Metabolism. *Cancer Research*, 72(15), 3709–3714.
- Zakikhani, M., Blouin, M.-J., Piura, E., and Pollak, M. N. (2010). Metformin and rapamycin have distinct effects on the AKT pathway and proliferation in breast cancer cells. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment, 123*(1), 271–279.
- Zarrouk, M., Finlay, D. K., Foretz, M., Viollet, B., and Cantrell, D. A. (2014). Adenosine-Mono-Phosphate-Activated Protein Kinase-Independent Effects of Metformin in T Cells. *PLoS ONE*, *9*(9), e106710.
- Zeng, J., Wu, W. K. K., Wang, H., and Li, X. (2019). Serine and one-carbon metabolism, a bridge that links mTOR signaling and DNA methylation in cancer. *Pharmacological Research*, *149*, 104352. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phrs.2019.104352
- Zerdes, I., Wallerius, M., Sifakis, E., Wallmann, T., Betts, S., Bartish, M., ... Foukakis, T. (2019). STAT3 Activity Promotes Programmed-Death Ligand 1 Expression and Suppresses Immune Responses in Breast Cancer. *Cancers*, 11(10), p.1479.
- Zhang, H., Bosch-Marce, M., Shimoda, L. A., Tan, Y. S., Baek, J. H., Wesley, J. B., ... Semenza, G. L. (2008). Mitochondrial Autophagy Is an HIF-1-dependent Adaptive Metabolic Response to Hypoxia. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 283(16), 10892–10903.
- Zhang, L., Gajewski, T. F., and Kline, J. (2009). PD-1/PD-L1 interactions inhibit antitumor immune responses in a murine acute myeloid leukemia model. *Blood*, *114*(8), 1545–1552.
- Zhang, X., Tang, N., Hadden, T. J., and Rishi, A. K. (2011). Akt, FoxO and regulation of apoptosis. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) Molecular Cell Research*, 1813(11), 1978–1986.
- Zhang, C., Lin, M., Wu, R., Wang, X., Yang, B., Levine, A. J., ... Feng, Z. (2011). Parkin, a p53 target gene, mediates the role of p53 in glucose metabolism and the Warburg effect. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 108(39), 16259–16264.
- Zhang, B., Wang, Z., Wu, L., Zhang, M., Li, W., Ding, J., ... Zhao, K. (2013). Circulating and Tumor-Infiltrating Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells in Patients with Colorectal Carcinoma. *PLoS ONE*, *8*(2), e57114.
- Zhang, P., Li, H., Tan, X., Chen, L., and Wang, S. (2013). Association of metformin use with cancer incidence and mortality: A meta-analysis. *Cancer Epidemiology*, 37(3), 207–218. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canep.2012.12.009
- Zhang, J.-Y., Zhang, F., Hong, C.-Q., Giuliano, A. E., Cui, X.-J., Zhou, G.-J., ... Cui, Y.-K. (2015). Critical protein GAPDH and its regulatory mechanisms in cancer cells. *Cancer Biology and Medicine*, *12*(1), 10–22.
- Zhang, C.-S., Hawley, S. A., Zong, Y., Li, M., Wang, Z., Gray, A., ... Lin, S.-C. (2017). Fructose-1,6-bisphosphate and aldolase mediate glucose sensing by AMPK. *Nature*, 548(7665), 112–116. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature23275
- Zhang, Y., Qian, Y., Zhang, J., Yan, W., Jung, Y.-S., Chen, M., ... Chen, X. (2017). Ferredoxin reductase is critical for p53dependent tumor suppression via iron regulatory protein 2. *Genes and Development*, *31*(12), 1243–1256.
- Zhang, J., Dang, F., Ren, J., and Wei, W. (2018). Biochemical Aspects of PD-L1 Regulation in Cancer Immunotherapy. *Trends in Biochemical Sciences*, 43(12), 1014–1032.
- Zhang, L., Liao, Y., and Tang, L. (2019). MicroRNA-34 family: a potential tumor suppressor and therapeutic candidate in cancer. Journal of Experimental and Clinical Cancer Research, 38(1).
- Zhang, L., Yao, Y., Zhang, S., Liu, Y., Guo, H., Ahmed, M., Bell, T., Zhang, H., Han, G., Lorence, E., Badillo, M., Zhou, S., Sun, Y., Di Francesco, M.E., Feng, N., Haun, R., Lan, R., Mackintosh, S.G., Mao, X. and Song, X. (2019b). Metabolic reprogramming toward oxidative phosphorylation identifies a therapeutic target for mantle cell lymphoma. *Science Translational Medicine*, 11(491), p.eaau1167.
- Zhang, L., Zhang, J., Ye, Z., Manevich, Y., Ball, L.E., Bethard, J.R., Jiang, Y.-L., Broome, A.-M., Dalton, A.C., Wang, G.Y., Townsend, D.M. and Tew, K.D. (2019c). Isoflavone ME-344 Disrupts Redox Homeostasis and Mitochondrial Function by Targeting Heme Oxygenase 1. Cancer Research, 79(16), pp.4072–4085.

- Zhang, J., Muri, J., Fitzgerald, G., Gorski, T., Gianni-Barrera, R., Masschelein, E., ... Kopf, M. (2020). Endothelial Lactate Controls Muscle Regeneration from Ischemia by Inducing M2-like Macrophage Polarization. *Cell Metabolism*, 31(6), 1136-1153.e7.
- Zhao, S., Lin, Y., Xu, W., Jiang, W., Zha, Z., Wang, P., ... Xiong, Y. (2009). Glioma-Derived Mutations in IDH1 Dominantly Inhibit IDH1 Catalytic Activity and Induce HIF-1. Science, 324(5924), 261–265. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1170944
- Zhao, T., Zhu, Y., Morinibu, A., Kobayashi, M., Shinomiya, K., Itasaka, S., ... Harada, H. (2014). HIF-1-mediated metabolic reprogramming reduces ROS levels and facilitates the metastatic colonization of cancers in lungs. *Scientific Reports*, 4(1).
- Zhao, D., Zhai, B., He, C., Tan, G., Jiang, X., Pan, S., ... Sun, X. (2014). Upregulation of HIF-2α induced by sorafenib contributes to the resistance by activating the TGF-α/EGFR pathway in hepatocellular carcinoma cells. *Cellular Signalling*, *26*(5), 1030–1039.
- Zhao, D., Long, X.-D., Lu, T.-F., Wang, T., Zhang, W.-W., Liu, Y.-X., ... Xia, Q. (2014). Metformin decreases IL-22 secretion to suppress tumor growth in an orthotopic mouse model of hepatocellular carcinoma. *International Journal of Cancer*, 136(11), 2556–2565.
- Zhao, S., Torres, A., Henry, R. A., Trefely, S., Wallace, M., Lee, J. V., ... Wellen, K. E. (2016). ATP-Citrate Lyase Controls a Glucose-to-Acetate Metabolic Switch. *Cell Reports*, 17(4), 1037–1052.
- Zhao, R., Jiang, S., Zhang, L., and Yu, Z. (2019). Mitochondrial electron transport chain, ROS generation and uncoupling (Review). *International Journal of Molecular Medicine*.
- Zhong, X., Malhotra, R., Woodruff, R., and Guidotti, G. (2001). Mammalian Plasma Membrane Ecto-nucleoside Triphosphate Diphosphohydrolase 1, CD39, Is Not Active Intracellularly the N-glycosylation state of CD39 correlates with surface activity and localization. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 276(44), 41518–41525.
- Zhou, K., Bellenguez, C., Spencer, C. C. A., Bennett, A. J., Coleman, R. L., ... Schofield, C. (2010). Common variants near ATM are associated with glycemic response to metformin in type 2 diabetes. *Nature Genetics*, *43*(2), 117–120
- Zhou, Y., Zhou, Y., Shingu, T., Feng, L., Chen, Z., Ogasawara, M., Keating, M.J., Kondo, S. and Huang, P. (2011). Metabolic Alterations in Highly Tumorigenic Glioblastoma Cells. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 286(37), pp.32843–32853.
- Zhou, X., Chen, J., Yi, G., Deng, M., Liu, H., Liang, M., ... Liu, J. (2015). Metformin suppresses hypoxia-induced stabilization of HIF-1α through reprogramming of oxygen metabolism in hepatocellular carcinoma. *Oncotarget*, 7(1), 873–884.
- Zuber, J., Radtke, I., Pardee, T.S., Zhao, Z., Rappaport, A.R., Luo, W., McCurrach, M.E., Yang, M.-M. ., Dolan, M.E., Kogan, S.C., Downing, J.R. and Lowe, S.W. (2009). Mouse models of human AML accurately predict chemotherapy response. *Genes* and Development, 23(7), pp.877–889.